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Fresenius Medical Care US Finance I, Inc. (the “Issuer”) is offering $900,000,000 aggregate principal amount of its
senior notes, consisting of $500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of its 4.125% senior notes due 2020 (the “Notes
due 2020”) and $400,000,000 aggregate principal amount of its 4.75% senior notes due 2024 (the “Notes due 2024” and,
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October 15 of each year, commencing April 15, 2015. The Notes due 2020 will mature on October 15, 2020, and the Notes
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The Notes will be senior unsecured obligations of the Issuer and will rank equally with all of its existing and future
senior unsecured indebtedness. The Notes will be guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis (the “Note Guarantees”) by
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA (the “Company”) as well as Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. and
Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH (together the “Subsidiary Guarantors” and, together with the Company,
the “Guarantors”). Other subsidiaries of the Company will not guarantee the Notes. The Notes and the Note
Guarantees will be effectively subordinated to all secured indebtedness of the Issuer and the Guarantors to the extent
of the value of the collateral securing such indebtedness and structurally subordinated to all liabilities of the
Company’s subsidiaries that are not guaranteeing the Notes.

The Notes are subject to the redemption provisions as set out elsewhere in this offering memorandum.

Application has been made to list the Notes on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to admit the
Notes to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, a market appearing on the list of
regulated markets issued by the European Commission pursuant to Directive 2004/39/EC of April 21, 2004 on markets
in financial instruments.

Investing in the Notes involves risks. See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 15.

Offering Price: Notes due 2020: 100.00%
Notes due 2024: 100.00%

Delivery of the Notes in book-entry form will be made through The Depository Trust Company, expected on or about
October 29, 2014.

The Notes and the Note Guarantees have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (the “Securities Act”). The Notes may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the
account or benefit of, U.S. persons, except to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on the exemption from
registration provided by Rule 144A under the Securities Act (“Rule 144A”) and to certain non-U.S. persons in
offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act (“Regulation S”). You are hereby notified
that sellers of the Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act
provided by Rule 144A. See “Notice to Investors” and “Transfer Restrictions” for additional information about
eligible offerees and transfer restrictions.
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You should rely only on the information contained in this offering memorandum. We have not
authorized anyone to provide you with any information that is different or represent anything about us or
this offering that is not contained in this offering memorandum. If given or made, any such other
information or representation should not be relied upon as having been authorized by us or Wells Fargo
Securities, LLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Scotia Capital (USA) Inc.,
HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., BBVA Securities Inc., BNP Paribas
Securities Corp., DNB Markets, Inc., Mitsubishi UFJ Securities (USA), Inc., PNC Capital Markets LLC,
Santander Investment Securities Inc., SMBC Nikko Capital Markets Limited and TD Securities
(USA) LLC (collectively, the “Initial Purchasers”). We are not, and the Initial Purchasers are not, making
an offer to sell these Notes in any jurisdiction where an offer or sale is not permitted. You should not assume
that the information contained in this offering memorandum is accurate as of any date other than the date
hereof. The business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects of the Issuer or the
Guarantors or any of their subsidiaries may have changed since that date.
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NOTICE TO NEW HAMPSHIRE RESIDENTS

NEITHER THE FACT THAT A REGISTRATION STATEMENT OR AN
APPLICATION FOR A LICENSE HAS BEEN FILED UNDER CHAPTER 421-B OF
THE NEW HAMPSHIRE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED, 1955, AS AMENDED
(“RSA 421-B”) WITH THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE NOR THE FACT THAT A
SECURITY IS EFFECTIVELY REGISTERED OR A PERSON IS LICENSED IN THE
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE CONSTITUTES A FINDING BY THE SECRETARY OF
STATE THAT ANY DOCUMENT FILED UNDER RSA 421-B IS TRUE, COMPLETE
AND NOT MISLEADING. NEITHER ANY SUCH FACT NOR THE FACT THAT AN
EXEMPTION OR EXCEPTION IS AVAILABLE FOR A SECURITY OR A
TRANSACTION MEANS THAT THE SECRETARY OF STATE HAS PASSED IN ANY
WAY UPON THE MERITS OR QUALIFICATIONS OF, OR RECOMMENDED OR
GIVEN APPROVAL TO, ANY PERSON, SECURITY OR TRANSACTION. IT IS
UNLAWFUL TO MAKE, OR CAUSE TO BE MADE, TO ANY PROSPECTIVE
PURCHASER, CUSTOMER, OR CLIENT, ANY REPRESENTATION INCONSISTENT
WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PARAGRAPH.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Issuer and the Guarantors accept responsibility for the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this offering memorandum and hereby declares that, having taken all reasonable care to
ensure that such is the case, the information contained or incorporated by reference in this offering
memorandum is, to the best of its knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely
to affect its import.

The information contained in Item 11, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risks — Management of Foreign Exchange and Interest Rate Risks — Foreign Exchange Risk” in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2013 incorporated by reference
into this offering memorandum (our “2013 Form 20-F”) and in this offering memorandum under the
heading “Capitalization — Exchange Rate Information” includes extracts from information and data
publicly released by official and other sources. While we accept responsibility for accurately summarizing
the information concerning exchange rate information, we accept no further responsibility in respect of
such information. The information set out in relation to sections of this offering memorandum describing
clearing arrangements, including the section entitled “Book-Entry, Delivery and Form,” is subject to any
change in or reinterpretation of the rules, regulations and procedures of The Depository Trust Company,
Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A., Luxembourg (“Clearstream”), as
currently in effect. While we accept responsibility for accurately summarizing the information concerning
The Depository Trust Company, Euroclear and Clearstream, we accept no further responsibility in respect
of such information.

Neither the Initial Purchasers nor any other person mentioned in this offering memorandum or any
incorporated documents, except for the Issuer and the Guarantors, is responsible for the information
contained or incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum, and accordingly, and to the extent
permitted by the laws of any relevant jurisdiction, none of these persons accepts any responsibility for the
accuracy and completeness of the information contained or incorporated by reference herein.

NOTICE TO INVESTORS

None of the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Initial Purchasers, the Trustee, or any of our or their
respective representatives, affiliates, advisers or agents is making any representation to you regarding the
legality of an investment in the Notes, and you should not construe anything in this offering memorandum
as legal, business or tax advice. You should consult your own advisors as to the legal, tax, business, financial
and related aspects of an investment in the Notes. You must comply with all laws applicable in any
jurisdiction in which you buy, offer or sell the Notes or possess or distribute this offering memorandum,
and you must obtain all applicable consents and approvals. None of the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Initial
Purchasers or the Trustee or any of their affiliates, representatives, advisors or agents shall have any
responsibility for any of the foregoing legal requirements.
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The Initial Purchasers make no representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy or
completeness of the information contained or incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum.
Nothing contained or incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum is or should be relied upon
as a promise or representation by any Initial Purchaser as to the past or the future. You agree to the
foregoing by accepting this offering memorandum.

Neither the Notes nor the Note Guarantees have been registered under the Securities Act or the
securities laws of any state of the United States, and may not be offered or sold within the United States or
to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act)
except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of
the Securities Act. We have not registered, and do not intend to register, the Notes or the Guarantees
under the Securities Act. Notwithstanding anything in this offering memorandum to the contrary, you (and
each of your employees, representatives or other agents) may disclose to any and all persons, without
limitation of any kind, the U.S. federal tax treatment and U.S. tax structure of the offering and all
materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided to you relating to such
U.S. federal tax treatment and U.S. tax structure. However, any such disclosure of the U.S. federal tax
treatment or U.S. tax structure may be subject to restrictions reasonably necessary to comply with any
applicable securities laws.

The Notes are being offered and sold outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S and within
the United States to “qualified institutional buyers” in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act.
Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that the sellers of the Notes may be relying on the exemption
from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. For a description of these
and certain other restrictions on offers, sales and transfers of the Notes and the distribution of this offering
memorandum, see “Notice to New Hampshire Residents,” “Notice to Investors in the European Economic
Area,” “Notice to Investors in Germany and Luxembourg,” “Notice to Investors in the Netherlands,” “Notice
to Investors in the United Kingdom,” “Notice to Certain Other European Investors,” “Plan of Distribution and
Offer of the Notes,” and “Transfer Restrictions”. By purchasing any Notes, you will be deemed to have
represented and agreed to all of the provisions contained in those sections of this offering memorandum.
You may be required to bear the financial risks of this investment for an indefinite period of time.

Each person receiving this offering memorandum acknowledges that (1) we have afforded it an
opportunity to request and to review, and it has received, all additional information considered by it to be
necessary to verify the accuracy of or to supplement the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this offering memorandum, (2) investing in the Notes involves risks, (3) it has not relied upon
the Initial Purchasers or any person affiliated with the Initial Purchasers in connection with its
investigation of the accuracy of such information or its investment decision, (4) this offering memorandum
relates to offerings exempt from registration under the Securities Act and does not comply in important
respects with Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules that would apply to an offering
document relating to a public offering of securities and (5) no person has been authorized to give
information or to make any representation concerning us, this offering or the Notes, other than as
contained in this offering memorandum, in connection with an investor’s examination of us and the terms
of this offering.

Neither the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, nor any U.S. state securities regulator, nor any
non-U.S. securities authority has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined that this
offering memorandum is accurate or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense in
the United States.

You may not use any information herein for any purpose other than considering an investment in the
Notes. We reserve the right to withdraw this offering of the Notes at any time. We and the Initial
Purchasers reserve the right to reject any offer to purchase the Notes in whole or in part for any reason or
for no reason and to allot to any prospective purchaser less than the full amount of the Notes sought by
such purchaser.

The offering memorandum may only be used for the purpose for which it has been established.

NOTICE TO INVESTORS IN THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the
Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”), each initial purchaser has represented and
agreed that with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in
that Relevant Member State (the “Relevant Implementation Date”) it has not made and will not make an
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offer of Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State, except that it may make an offer of such Notes
in that Relevant Member State:

(a) to any person or entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;

(b) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the
Prospectus Directive), as permitted under the Prospectus Directive, subject to obtaining the prior
consent of the relevant Initial Purchaser or Initial Purchasers nominated by the relevant Issuer for any
such offer; or

(c) in any other circumstances falling within Article 3 para. 2 of the Prospectus Directive,
provided that no such offer of Notes shall require the Issuer or any Initial Purchaser to publish a
prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer of Notes to the public” in relation to any
Notes in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient
information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to
purchase or subscribe the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure
implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State, the expression “Prospectus Directive”
means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, inter alia, by Directive 2010/73/EU of the European Parliament
and of the Council of November 24, 2010).

NOTICE TO INVESTORS IN GERMANY AND LUXEMBOURG
Germany

No public offer may be made in Germany. The Notes will only be available in Germany (i) to, and this
offering memorandum and any other offering material in relation to the Notes are directed only at,
persons who are qualified investors (qualifizierte Anleger) within the meaning of Section 2 No. 6 of the
German Securities Prospectus Act (Wertpapierprospektgesetz); or (i) under any other circumstances that do
not require the publication of a prospectus pursuant to Section 3 para. 2 of the Securities Prospectus Act.
Any resale of the Notes in Germany may only be made in accordance with the German Securities
Prospectus Act and other applicable laws.

Luxembourg

This offering memorandum has not been prepared in connection with a public offering of the Notes as
defined in Part I, Article 2 para. 1 I of the Luxembourg Prospectus Law and has therefore not been
approved by the CSSE The Notes may be offered only (i) to persons who are qualified investors within the
meaning of Part I, Article 5 para. 2 a) of the Luxembourg Prospectus Law or (ii) under any other
circumstances that do not require the publication of a prospectus pursuant to Part I, Article 5 para. 2 of the
Luxembourg Prospectus Law.

NOTICE TO INVESTORS IN THE NETHERLANDS
The Notes are not and may not be offered in The Netherlands other than to persons or entities who or
which are “Qualified Investors” as defined in the Prospectus Directive.

NOTICE TO INVESTORS IN THE UNITED KINGDOM

Members of the public are not eligible to take part in the offering. This offering memorandum is
directed only at persons in the United Kingdom who are qualified investors within the meaning of the
Prospectus Directive (including any implementing measure in the United Kingdom) (“Qualified
Investors”) and persons who are:

(a) investment professionals falling within articles 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000 (“FSMA”) (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended (the “Order”);

(b) persons falling within article 49(2)(a) to (d) (“high net worth companies, unincorporated
associations etc”) of the Order; or

(c) persons to whom an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the
meaning of section 21 of the FSMA in connection with the issue or sale of any securities may
otherwise be lawfully communicated or caused to be communicated.
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(all such persons together being referred to as “Relevant Persons™). This offering memorandum must not
be acted on or relied on in the United Kingdom by persons who are not Relevant Persons. Persons
distributing this offering memorandum must satisfy themselves that it is lawful to do so. Any investment or
investment activity to which this offering memorandum relates is available only to Relevant Persons and
will be engaged in only with Relevant Persons.

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed that:

(a) if a financial intermediary, as that term is used in Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,
the Notes purchased by it in the offering will not be acquired on a non-discretionary basis on behalf
of, nor will they be acquired with a view to their offer and resale to, persons in the United Kingdom
other than to Qualified Investors, or in circumstances in which the prior consent of the Issuer has
been given to the proposed offer or resale;

(b) (i) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or
disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business; and

(ii) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell the Notes in the United Kingdom other
than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or
disposing of investments (as principal or as agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is
reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent)
for the purposes of their businesses where the issue of the Notes has or would otherwise
constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of Section 85(1) of the FSMA by the Issuer;

(c) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause
to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning
of Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes in
circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer or the Guarantors;

(d) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to
anything done by it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom; and

(e) if it is located in the United Kingdom, it is a Qualified Investor.

NOTICE TO CERTAIN OTHER EUROPEAN INVESTORS
France

This offering memorandum has not been prepared in the context of a public offering in France within
the meaning of Article L.41 1-1 of the Code Monétaire et Financier and therefore has not been approved by,
registered or filed with the French Financial Market Authority (Autorité des Marchés Financiers or “AMF”).
Consequently, the Notes are not being offered, directly or indirectly, to the public in France and this
offering memorandum has not been and will not be released, issued or distributed or caused to be
released, issued or distributed to the public in France or used in connection with any offer for subscription
or sale of the Notes to the public in France.

The Notes may only be offered or sold in the Republic of France to qualified investors (investisseurs
qualifies) or to providers of investment services relating to portfolio management for the account of third
parties (personnes fournissant le service d’investissement de gestion de portefeuille pour compte de tiers), to the
exclusion of any individuals (cercle restraint d’investisseurs) all as defined in and in accordance with
articles L.41 1-2 and D. 411-1 to D. 411-4 of the French Code Monétaire et Financier.

Prospective investors are informed that:
(i) this offering memorandum has not been submitted for clearance to the AMF;

(ii) in compliance with Articles D. 411-1 to D. 411-4 of the French Code Monétaire et Financier,
any investors subscribing for the Notes should be acting for their own account; and

(iii) the direct and indirect distribution or sale to the public of the Notes acquired by them may
only be made in compliance with articles L.411-1, L.411-2, L412-1 and L.621-8 to L.621-8-3 of the
French Code Monétaire et Financier.

Italy

The offering of the Notes has not been registered pursuant to the Legislative Decree No. 58 of
February 24, 1998 (the “Financial Services Act”) and, accordingly, in the Republic of Italy the Notes may



not be offered, sold or delivered, nor may copies of this offering memorandum or of any other document
relating to the Notes be distributed in the Republic of Italy, except:

(i) to qualified investors (investitori qualificati), as defined in Article 34-ter of Commissione
Nazionale per la Societa e le Borsa Regulation No. 11971 of May 14, 1999 (“Regulation 119717), as
amended; or

(ii) in the other circumstances which are exempted from the rules on offers to the public
pursuant to Article 100 of the Financial Services Act and Article 34-ter, first paragraph, of
Regulation 11971, as amended.

Any offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copies of this offering memorandum or any
other document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy under (i) or (ii) above must be:

(i) made by an investment firm, bank or financial intermediary permitted to conduct such
activities in the Republic of Italy in accordance with Legislative Decree No. 385 of September 1, 1993
(the “Banking Act”), the Financial Services Act, the regulations implementing the Financial Services
Act and any other applicable laws and regulations; and

(ii) in compliance with any and all other applicable laws and regulations.

Spain

The Notes may not be offered or sold in Spain except in accordance with the requirements of the
Spanish Securities Market Law (Ley 24/1988, de 28 de Julio del Mercado de Valores) as amended and
restated and Royal Decree 1310/2005 of November 4 on matters of the admittance or negotiation of
securities in official stock exchanges, of public sale and subscription offerings and the required brochure
for such purposes (Real Decreto 1310/2005, de 4 de noviembre, en materia de admision o negociacion de
valores en mercados secundarios oficiales, ofertaspublicas de venta o suscripcion y del folleto exigible a tales
efectos) as amended and restated (“R.D. 1310/2005), and subsequent legislation.

This offering memorandum is neither approved nor registered in the administrative registries of the
Comision Nacional del Mercado de Valores, and therefore a public offer for subscription of the Notes will
not be carried out in Spain. Notwithstanding that and in accordance with Article 30.1 bis of the Spanish
Securities Market Law and Article 38 of R.D. 1310/2005, a private placement of the Notes addressed
exclusively to institutional investors (as defined in Article 39 of R.D. 1310/2005) may be carried out in
accordance with the requirements of R.D. 1310/2005.

CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS

In this offering memorandum, (1) the “Company” refers to both Fresenius Medical Care AG prior to
the transformation of legal form discussed in Item 4.A, “Information on the Company — History and
Development of the Company — History” in our 2013 Form 20-E and to Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA after the transformation; (2) “we”, “us” and “our” refers either to the Company or the
Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis both before and after the transformation, as the
context requires; (3) “Fresenius Medical Care AG” and “FMC-AG” refers to the Company as a German
stock corporation before the transformation of legal form and “FMC-AG & Co. KGaA” refers to the
Company as a German partnership limited by shares after the transformation; except that when used to
describe or identify the Company as a Guarantor of the Notes, the “Company,” “Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA” and “FMC AG & Co. KGaA” (and “we,” “us,” and “our” in such context) refer only to
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA individually in such capacity; (4) “FMCH” and “D-GmbH”
refer, respectively, to Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc., the holding company for our North American
operations and a guarantor of the Notes and to Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH, one of our
German subsidiaries and a guarantor of the Notes; In addition, “Fresenius SE” and “Fresenius SE & Co.
KGaA” refer to Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA, a German partnership limited by shares resulting from the
change of legal form of Fresenius SE (effective as of January 2011), a European Company (Societas
Europaea) previously called Fresenius AG, a German stock corporation. Fresenius SE owns 100% of the
share capital of our general partner and 94,380,382 of our ordinary shares, 31.2% based on 302,303,805
outstanding shares as of June 30, 2014 (prior to the transformation of our legal form, it held approximately
51.8% of our voting shares). In this offering memorandum, we use Fresenius SE to refer to that company
as a partnership limited by shares, effective on and after January 28, 2011, as well as both before and after
the conversion of Fresenius AG from a stock corporation into a European Company on July 13, 2007. The
phrase “Fresenius SE and its subsidiaries” refers to Fresenius SE and all of the companies of the Fresenius
SE group, other than FMC-AG & Co. KGaA and the subsidiaries of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA. Each of
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“Management AG”, “FMC Management AG” and the “General Partner” refers to Fresenius Medical
Care Management AG, FMC-AG & Co. KGaAs general partner and a wholly owned subsidiary of
Fresenius SE. “Management Board” and “our Management Board” refer to the members of the
management board of Management AG and, except as otherwise specified, “Supervisory Board” and “our
Supervisory Board” refer to the supervisory board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA. The term “North America
Segment” refers to our North America operating segment. The term “International Segment” refers to our
combined EMEALA (Europe, Middle East, Africa, and Latin America) and Asia-Pacific operating
segments. References in this offering memorandum to the notes to our financial statements are to the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP included in this
offering memorandum or to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with
IFRS, as the context may require.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This offering memorandum contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A
of the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the “Exchange
Act”. When used in this offering memorandum, the words “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,”
“believes,” “seeks,” “estimates” and similar expressions are generally intended to identify forward looking
statements. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are
reasonable, forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which
cannot be predicted with accuracy and some of which might not even be anticipated, and future events and
actual results, financial and otherwise, could differ materially from those set forth in or contemplated by
the forward-looking statements contained elsewhere in this offering memorandum. We have based these
forward-looking statements on current estimates and assumptions made to the best of our knowledge. By
their nature, such forward-looking statements involve risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors
which could cause actual results, including our financial condition and profitability, to differ materially and
be more negative than the results expressly or implicitly described in or suggested by these statements.
Moreover, forward-looking estimates or predictions derived from third parties’ studies or information may
prove to be inaccurate. Consequently, we cannot give any assurance regarding the future accuracy of the
opinions set forth in this offering memorandum or the actual occurrence of the developments described
herein. In addition, even if our future results meet the expectations expressed here, those results may not
be indicative of our performance in future periods.
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These risks, uncertainties, assumptions, and other factors that could cause actual results to differ from
our projected results include, among others, the following:

e changes in governmental and commercial insurer reimbursement for our complete products and
services portfolio, including the expanded United States (“U.S.”) Medicare reimbursement
system for dialysis services;

e changes in utilization patterns for pharmaceuticals and in our costs of purchasing
pharmaceuticals;

e the outcome of ongoing government and internal investigations;

e risks relating to compliance with the myriad government regulations applicable to our business
including, in the U.S., the Anti-Kickback Statute, the False Claims Act, the Stark Law and the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act and comparable regulatory
regimes in many of the 120 countries in which we supply dialysis services and / or products;

e the influence of private insurers and managed care organizations;

e the impact of recently enacted and possible future health care reforms;

e product liability risks;

e the outcome of ongoing potentially material litigation;

e risks relating to the integration of acquisitions and our dependence on additional acquisitions;
e the impact of currency fluctuations;

* introduction of generic or new pharmaceuticals that compete with our pharmaceutical products;
e changes in raw material and energy costs or the ability to procure raw materials; as well as

* the financial stability and liquidity of our governmental and commercial payors.
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Important factors that could contribute to such differences are noted in this offering memorandum in
the sections entitled “Risk Factors,” in Item 4.B, “Information on the Company — Business Overview,”
and Item 5, “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects” in our 2013 Form 20-F in the “Interim
Report of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the three and six-month periods ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013” in our Report on Form 6-K for the month of July 2014 dated July 31, 2014 (our
“July 2014 Form 6-K”), and in Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies,” of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in our 2013 Form 20-F and Note 11, “Commitments and Contingencies,” of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) in our July 2014 Form 6-K.

Our business is also subject to other risks and uncertainties that we describe from time to time in our
public filings. Developments in any of these areas could cause our results to differ materially from the
results that we or others have projected or may project.

Our reported financial condition and results of operations are sensitive to accounting methods,
assumptions and estimates that are the basis of our financial statements. The actual accounting policies,
the judgments made in the selection and application of these policies, and the sensitivities of reported
results to changes in accounting policies, assumptions and estimates, are factors to be considered along
with our financial statements and discussion in Item 5.A, “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects
— Results of Operations” in our 2013 Form 20-E For a discussion of our critical accounting policies, see
Item 5, “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — Results of Operations” in our 2013 Form 20-F.

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

Where information in this offering memorandum and the documents incorporated by reference has
been specifically identified as having been extracted from third party documents, the Issuer and each of the
Guarantors confirms that this information has been accurately reproduced and that as far as the Issuer and
the Guarantors are aware and are able to ascertain from information published by that third party, no facts
have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. In particular,
this offering memorandum and the documents incorporated by reference contain patient and other
statistical data related to end-stage renal disease and treatment modalities, including estimates regarding
the size of the patient population and growth in that population. These data have been compiled using our
Market & Competitor Survey (“MCS”), an internal information tool we created to collect, analyze and
communicate relevant market and competition data on the global dialysis market that utilizes annual
country-by-country surveys and publicly available information from our competitors. See Item 4B,
“Information on the Company — Business Overview — Renal Industry Overview” in our 2013 Form 20-F.
While we believe the information obtained in our surveys and competitor publications to be reliable, we
have not independently verified the data or any assumptions our MCS is derived from on which the
estimates they contain are based. None of the Issuer, the Guarantors or the Initial Purchasers makes any
representation as to the accuracy of such information. Market data not attributed to a specific source are
our estimates, compiled using our MCS.
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SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the more detailed information appearing elsewhere or in the documents
incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum. This summary should be read as an introduction to this
offering memorandum and the incorporated documents. It does not purport to be complete and is taken from,
and is qualified in its entirety by, the remainder of this offering memorandum and the incorporated documents.
Any decision by an investor to invest in the Notes should be based on consideration of this offering
memorandum as a whole, including the documents incorporated by reference. Where a claim relating to the
information contained or incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum is brought before a court in a
member State of the European Economic Area, the plaintiff investor might, under the national legislation of
such court, have to bear the costs of translating the offering memorandum or the incorporated documents
before the legal proceedings are initiated. Civil liability attaches to the Issuer, but only if this summary is
misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this offering memorandum,
including the incorporated documents. You should carefully read this entire offering memorandum, including
the “Risk Factors” section, the documents incorporated by reference and the financial statements and the
related notes contained in the incorporated documents. In this Summary, “Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co.
KGaA,” “FMC AG & Co. KGaA” and the “Company,” as well as “we,” “us” and “our,” refer either to the
Company individually or to the Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, as the context requires,
except that when used to describe or identify the Company as a Guarantor of the Notes, the “Company,”
“Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA” and “FMC AG & Co. KGaA” (and “we,” “us,” and “our” in such
context) refer only to Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA individually, in such capacity. The Issuer is a
direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. (“FMCH”) and
Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH (“D-GmbH”) are (indirectly) wholly owned subsidiaries of
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA. FMCH, which conducts business under the name Fresenius Medical
Care North America, is the holding company for the operations of our North America operating segment (the
“North America Segment”); D-GmbH is one of the principal operating companies within the group. The term
“International Segment” refers to the combination of our “EMEALA” (Europe, Middle East, Africa, and Latin
America) operating segment and our Asia-Pacific operating segment. You will find definitions of the capitalized
terms used in this offering memorandum in the section entitled “Description of the Notes” as well as elsewhere
in this offering memorandum. Except for (i) the amounts set forth under “Summary, Historical Consolidated
Financial Information Data and Other Data — IFRS” and under “Selected Historical Consolidated Financial
Data Prepared Under IFRS,” and (ii) the financial statements listed under the heading “Incorporation by
Reference — Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS Incorporated by Reference,” all financial
information of the Company contained in this offering memorandum and in the documents incorporated by
reference herein is presented in, or has been derived from our financial statements prepared in accordance with,
U.S. GAAP The financial statements of the Issuer included in this offering memorandum have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP,

Overview
Overview of Fresenius Medical Care and its Business

The Company, based on publicly reported sales and number of patients treated, is the world’s largest
kidney dialysis company, operating in both the field of dialysis products and the field of dialysis services.
Our dialysis business is vertically integrated, providing dialysis treatment at our own dialysis clinics and
supplying these clinics with a broad range of products. In addition, we sell dialysis products to other dialysis
service providers. At June 30, 2014, we provided dialysis treatment to 280,942 patients in 3,335 clinics
worldwide located in approximately 45 countries. In the U.S. we also provide inpatient dialysis services and
other services under contract to hospitals. In 2013, we provided 40,456,900 dialysis treatments, an increase
of approximately 5% compared to 2012, and for the six months ended June 30, 2014, we provided
20,632,860 dialysis treatments, an increase of approximately 4% over the comparable period in 2013. We
also develop and manufacture a full range of machines, systems and disposable products, which we sell to
customers in more than 120 countries. For the year ended December 31, 2013, we had net revenues of
$14.6 billion, a 6% increase (6% in constant currency) over 2012 revenues and for the six months ended
June 30, 2014, we had net revenues of $7.4 billion, a 5% increase (6% in constant currency) over the same
period in 2013. We derived 66% of our revenues in 2013 from our North America Segment and 34% from
our International Segment, which includes our operations in Europe (21%), Latin America (5%) and
Asia-Pacific (8%). Our ordinary shares are listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and American
Depositary Receipts evidencing our ordinary shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and on
September 30, 2014, we had a market capitalization of $21.3 billion.




The Company operates in both the field of dialysis care and the field of dialysis products for the
treatment of end-stage renal disease (“ESRD”). Our dialysis care business, in addition to providing dialysis
treatments to patients with ESRD, includes pharmacy services, vascular access surgery services, laboratory
testing services, physician services, health plan services and urgent care services (together, “Care
Coordination”). Our dialysis products business includes manufacturing and distributing products for the
treatment of ESRD. In the U.S., the Company also provides inpatient dialysis services as well as other
services under contract to hospitals. We estimate that providing dialysis care and distributing dialysis
products represents a worldwide market of approximately $75 billion with expected annual worldwide
market growth of approximately 4%, adjusted for currency.

The major trends affecting our industry are:

e the aging population and increased life expectancies, shortage of donor organs for kidney
transplants, increasing incidence and better treatment of and survival of patients with diabetes
and hypertension, which frequently precede the onset of ESRD, all of which contribute to patient
growth;

* improvements in treatment quality, which prolong patient life;
e stronger demand for innovative products and therapies;
e advances in medical technology;

* ongoing cost-containment efforts and ongoing pressure to decrease healthcare costs, resulting in
limited reimbursement rate increases;

e reimbursement for the majority of treatments by governmental institutions, such as Medicare and
Medicaid in the U.S.; and

* with certain exceptions, particularly in the U.S. under government reimbursement programs,
generally stable reimbursements for dialysis services globally, including the balancing of
unfavorable reimbursement changes in certain countries with favorable changes in other
countries.

In the emerging markets additional trends are:
* increasing national incomes and hence higher spending on health care; and

* improving standards of living in developing countries, which make life-saving dialysis treatment
available

Overview of Our Key Strengths

We focus our business activities on our patients’ health and hence on the quality of treatment and our
products with the objective of improving their quality of life and raising their life expectancy. Our aim is to
maintain our position as the world’s leading provider of dialysis treatment and products and to use that
position as a basis for sustainable, profitable growth. In this way, we seek to continuously increase our
corporate value and create added value for patients, healthcare systems and investors worldwide.

Overview of Our Strategy

Our strategy takes into account concrete, measurable growth targets as well as long-term trend
forecasts in the dialysis market. The Management Board uses a number of different tools and indicators to
evaluate our business performance, develop our strategy and make investment decisions. We not only
expect the number of patients to increase but also the quality of services provided and of the products
available to become even more important in the future. We think integrated care for kidney patients is
another area that will continue to grow in the future. In response to this, we will not only focus our
business on individual services or dialysis products, but also on combining the different areas of application
related to dialysis, such as combining treatment concepts with dialysis drugs.

Pillars for Strategic Growth

We rely upon four pillars in order to devise measures to govern the Company’s strategy and activities
and enable us to devise measures whereby we can continue to perform successfully in a broader spectrum
of the global dialysis market and achieve our growth and profitability objectives. Our four strategic pillars
are described below:




(1) Continuous Growth and Expansion

We are committed to shaping the development of the dialysis industry by giving more people access to
life-saving dialysis treatment, as well as developing innovative products and therapies that improve our
patients’ quality of life. This includes our execution of strategic alliances with various healthcare
institutions, which help to shape the development of the industry, while benefitting from the global growth
of the market. To strengthen our market position, we have developed various approaches ranging from
organic growth to the continuous assessment of acquisitions that create synergies with our existing
products and services.

To accomplish lasting, profitable growth we are also steering our business activities towards attractive
future markets. This includes expanding our presence through public private partnerships (“PPP”) in the
dialysis business. We are already involved in several PPP initiatives in Europe, Africa, Asia and Australia
with the intent to further expand these strategic alliances in the future.

(2) Development of New Business Areas

Our main focus continues to be on comprehensive care for dialysis patients and dialysis-related
treatments. In many regions, in addition to our products, dialysis treatments, and wide range of renal
pharmaceuticals, we offer an increasing amount of additional services for patient care. These include
laboratory and pharmacy services as well as services related to vascular access, an essential aspect of
treatment for dialysis patients. With an integrated healthcare approach, we can further develop these and
other services and meet the growing demand for comprehensive care of patients with kidney disease.

On July 1, 2014, we made an investment of approximately $550,000,000 net for a majority interest in
Sound Inpatient Physicians, Inc., a physician services organization focused on hospitalist and post-acute
care services, furthering our strategic investments in Care Coordination.

(3) Enhancing Products and Services

Our sustainable growth strategy includes the development of innovative products and continuous
improvement for dialysis treatments. We benefit from the vertically-integrated structure of our Company,
which enables our Research and Development department to apply our experience as the world’s largest
provider of dialysis treatments to product development, and our technical department benefits from our
daily practical experience as a provider of dialysis treatment and being directly in-touch with doctors,
nurses and patients to keep track of and meet customer and patient needs.

Our Global Research and Development department was reorganized in 2013, and we continue to
operate a global network of local research and development sites. This network provides us with an
advantage to familiarize ourselves with local requirements and respond to them quickly. However, chronic
kidney failure is also a global problem, with demand for improved, high-quality yet cost-efficient products
growing worldwide. The reorganization of our Research and Development department has leveraged
synergies for product development that will continue into the future by providing a global focus and
promoting the exchange of knowledge between regions. Our research also focuses on the vital aspects of
the quality and safety of our products and services. This continued focus on quality makes us a reliable
partner for patients, doctors, and care staff alike.

(4) Fostering Operational Excellence

In a challenging economic environment, we also place importance on enhancing our profitability in
the long term, while positioning and managing the Company more efficiently. In the future, we intend to
further optimize and modernize our administrative structures and processes and make greater use of
synergies, such as the establishment of our Global Manufacturing Operations and Global Research and
Development departments. This will enable us to meet the increased demand for our products and services
and create a flexible environment which fosters rapid response to changes in the dialysis market. At the
same time, we have benefited, and will continue to benefit, from our decentralized structure, allowing us to
remain a reliable local partner in patient treatment by providing quick responses to customer specific
needs, and changes to the local market and regulatory environment. We believe this flexibility coupled with
our localized decision making structure helps us to gain access to new markets.

The Issuer

Fresenius Medical Care US Finance II, Inc. is a corporation incorporated under the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, United States. The business or purposes to be conducted by it




are to “engage in any lawful financing act or activity, and any other acts related thereto or in furtherance
thereof, for which corporations may be organized and incorporated under the General Corporation Law of
the State of Delaware”. Its registered office is located c/o The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange
Street, Wilmington, County of New Castle, Delaware 19801, U.S.A. Its executive offices are located at 920
Winter Street, Waltham, Massachusetts, 02451-1457, U.S.A., and its telephone number is +1
(781) 699-9000. The Issuer is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and will on-lend the proceeds
from the sale of the Notes to other members of the group under intercompany loans. The Issuer intends to
service and repay the Notes out of the payments it receives under these intercompany loans. The Issuer has
no other material assets or sources of revenue except for its claims under various intercompany
receivables. Accordingly, the Issuer’s ability to service and repay the Notes depends on the ability of the
counterparties to the intercompany loans to service such indebtedness. Therefore, in meeting its payment
obligations under the Notes, the Issuer is wholly dependent on the profitability and cash flow of the
counterparties to the intercompany loans to which it is a party.

The Guarantor Subsidiaries
Overview of FMCH

Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of Fresenius Medical
Care AG & Co. KGaA. It was incorporated under the Business Corporation Law of the State of New York
on March 21, 1988. Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. is a holding company and is engaged, through
subsidiaries, in providing dialysis treatment at its own dialysis clinics, manufacturing dialysis products and
supplying those products to its clinics and selling dialysis products to other dialysis service providers, and
performing clinical laboratory testing and providing inpatient dialysis services and other services under
contract to hospitals. It is the principal holding company for our North American Operations. Its executive
offices are located at 920 Winter Street, Waltham, Massachusetts, 02451-1457, U.S.A., and its telephone
number is +1(781) 699-9000.

Overview of D-GmbH

Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH is a limited liability company (Gesellschaft mit
beschrankter Haftung) incorporated under the laws of Germany and registered with the commercial register
of the local court (Amtsgericht) of Bad Homburg vor der Hohe under HRB 5748. It was established on
June 5, 1996. Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA. As one of the principal operating companies within our group,
D-GmbH carries out its business activities on a global basis, but primarily in the European and Middle
Eastern markets. See “Overview of Fresenius Medical Care and its Business” above. The address and
registered office of Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH is at Else-Kroner-Strafie 1, 61352 Bad
Homburg vor der Hohe, Germany. The telephone number of its registered office is +49-6172-609-0.

Overview of our Corporate and Financing Structure

The following diagram depicts, in abbreviated form, the corporate structure and certain debt
obligations of the Company as of June 30, 2014 immediately after giving pro forma effect to the offering of
the Notes and to the issuance on September 19, 2014 of €400 million aggregate principal amount of
1.125% coupon Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds due 2020 (the “Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds”).
These debt obligations are our $3,850 million syndicated senior credit facility (the “2012 Credit
Agreement”), our 6%% Senior Notes due 2017 (the “6%:% Senior Notes”), our 5.50% Senior Notes due
2016 (the “5.50% Senior Notes”), our 5.75% Senior Notes due 2021 (the “5.75% Senior Notes”), our
5.25% Senior Notes due 2021 (the “5.25% Senior Notes due 20217), our 6.50% dollar-denominated Senior
Notes due 2018 and our 6.50% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2018 (collectively, our “6.50% Senior
Notes”), our floating rate Senior Notes due 2016 (the “Floating Rate Senior Notes™), our 5%% Senior
Notes due 2019 (the 5%% Senior Notes™), our 57%% Senior Notes due 2022 (the 5%% Senior Notes”), our
5.25% Senior Notes due 2019 (the “5.25% Senior Notes due 2019) and our Euro-denominated notes due
2014 (the “Euro Notes”). The 5.75% Senior Notes, the 67%% Senior Notes, the 5.25% Senior Notes due
2021, the 5.50% Senior Notes, the 6.50% Senior Notes, the Floating Rate Senior Notes, the 5%% Senior
Notes, the 574% Senior Notes and the 5.25% Senior Notes due 2019 are collectively referred to in this
offering memorandum as the Company’s “Outstanding Senior Notes.” The Guarantors and their
subsidiaries will be subject to the restrictive covenants in the relevant Indenture, e.g., limitation on
incurrence of indebtedness, limitation on sale and leaseback transactions and limitation on liens.
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The Notes will be senior unsecured obligations of the Issuer. The Notes will rank equally with all of the existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness of the Issuer. The Notes will be unconditionally
and irrevocably guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior unsecured basis by Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, FMCH, and D-GmbH. Other subsidiaries of Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA will not guarantee the Notes but Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and its subsidiaries will be subject to the restrictive covenants in the Indentures.

Each issue of our Outstanding Senior Notes constitutes senior unsecured obligations of the issuer of such notes, and ranks equally with all of such issuer’s existing and future senior unsecured
indebtedness. All of our Outstanding Senior Notes have been unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior unsecured basis by Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, FMCH and
D-GmbH. Other subsidiaries of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA have not guaranteed the Outstanding Senior Notes, but Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and all its subsidiaries are
subject to the restrictive covenants in the indentures governing our Outstanding Senior Notes.

The Euro Notes (Schuldscheindarlehen), which mature in 2014, are senior unsecured obligations of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and rank equally with all of its existing and future senior
unsecured indebtedness. The Euro Notes have been unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior unsecured basis by FMCH and D-GmbH. Other subsidiaries of Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA have not guaranteed the Euro Notes. At June 30, 2014, $38.4 million aggregate principal amount of Euro Notes was outstanding.

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and FMCH are both borrowers and guarantors under our 2012 Credit Agreement. D-GmbH and certain other North American and International subsidiaries
are guarantors under the 2012 Credit Agreement. Certain other North American subsidiaries of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA are also borrowers and/ or guarantors thereunder. The 2012
Credit Agreement is secured by the pledge of capital stock of certain direct and indirect subsidiaries of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA. On July 1, 2014, the Company increased the 2012
Credit Agreement by establishing an incremental term loan tranche of $600 million.

In January 2010, FMC Finance VI S.A. issued €250 million aggregate principal amount of 5.50% Senior Notes due 2016.

In October 2011, FMC Finance VIII S.A. issued €100 million aggregate principal amount of Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2016.

In July 2007, FMC Finance III S.A. issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of 67%4% Senior Notes due 2017. On June 20, 2011, these notes were assumed by FMC US Finance, Inc.
In September 2011, FMC Finance VIII S.A. issued €400 million aggregate principal amount of 6.50% Senior Notes due 2018.

In September 2011, FMC US Finance II, Inc. issued $400 million aggregate principal amount of 6.50% Senior Notes due 2018.

In January 2012, FMC US Finance II, Inc. issued $800 million aggregate principal amount of 5.625% Senior Notes due 2019.

In January 2012, FMC Finance VIII S.A. issued €250 million aggregate principal amount of 5.25% Senior Notes due 2019.

In February 2011, FMC US Finance, Inc. issued $650 million aggregate principal amount of 5.75% Senior Notes due 2021.

In February 2011, FMC Finance VII S.A. issued €300 million aggregate principal amount of 5.25% Senior Notes due 2021.

In January 2012, FMC US Finance II, Inc. issued $700 million aggregate principal amount of 5.875% Senior Notes due 2022.

On September 19, 2014, the Company issued €400 million aggregate principal amount of Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds due 2020, which are guaranteed by FMCH and D-GmbH. The conversion
price is €73.6448, which is 35% above the reference price for the Company’s ordinary shares. The reference price is the arithmetic average of the Company’s daily volume-weighted average XETRA
share prices over a period of fifteen consecutive XETRA trading days, commencing and including September 17, 2014. Concurrently with the bond issuance, the Company purchased cash-settled call
options on its shares to fully hedge its exposure under the bonds’ conversion rights, as a result of which the bonds will not result in the issuance of new shares at maturity.

Fresenius Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH is in the process of transferring the share capital of D-GmbH to Fresenius Medical Care Investment GmbH, a direct subsidiary of Fresenius
Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, with such transfer expected to be effective on or about the date of this offering memorandum.




Summary of the Offering

The summary below describes the principal terms of the Notes. Certain of the terms and conditions
described below are subject to important limitations and exceptions. The “Description of the Notes” section of
this offering memorandum contains a more detailed description of the terms and conditions of the Notes.

Issuer........................ Fresenius Medical Care US Finance II, Inc.

Guarantors. . .. ................ Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, Fresenius Medical
Care Holdings, Inc. and Fresenius Medical Care
Deutschland GmbH.

Notes Offered . ................ $900,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Notes
Notes due 2020 Offered. ... ..... $500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Notes due 2020
Notes due 2024 Offered......... $400,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Notes due 2024
Class . ........ . . The Notes will be senior unsecured obligations of the Issuer and

will rank equally with all of its existing and future senior
unsecured indebtedness. The Notes will be guaranteed on a
senior unsecured basis by the Guarantors.

Issue Date . ................... October 29, 2014

Denomination of the Notes . .. ... .. The Notes will be issued in minimum denomination of $2,000
and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof.

Form of the Notes .............. The Notes will be represented by one or more global notes
without interest coupons attached.

Delivery of the Notes . ........... Delivery of the Notes to investors in book-entry form will be
made through Depositary Trust Company on or about
October 29, 2014.

Interest Rate . ................. The Notes due 2020 will bear interest from and including
October 29, 2014 to, but excluding, October 15, 2020 at a rate of
4.125% per annum. The Notes due 2024 will bear interest from
and including October 29, 2014 to, but excluding October 15,
2024, at a rate of 4.75% per annum.

Interest Payment Dates . . .. ....... Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and
October 15 of each year, commencing April 15, 2015. The first
interest payment on April 15, 2015 will cover the period from
the Issue Date to April 15, 2015.

Maturity Date . ................ Notes due 2020: October 15, 2020
Notes due 2024: October 15, 2024

Ranking of the Notes . ........... The Notes will be senior unsecured obligations of the Issuer and
will:

e rank equally in right of payment with all of the Issuer’s
existing and future indebtedness that is not subordinated in
right of payment to the Notes, including other Outstanding
Senior Notes of which it is the issuer;

e be effectively subordinated in right of payment to all of the
Issuer’s existing and future indebtedness that is secured by
liens on assets to the extent of the value of the collateral
securing such indebtedness; and

e be structurally subordinated in right of payment to any
obligations of the Company’s subsidiaries that are not
Guarantors of the Notes.

Currency of the Notes. . .......... The Notes will be denominated in U.S. Dollars.




Governing Law. . . .............. The Notes, the related Indenture and the Note Guarantees will
be governed by the law of the State of New York, except that
certain matters concerning the limitations on the guarantees will
be construed in accordance with German law.

Indentures . ................... We will issue the Notes due 2020 and the Notes due 2024 under
separate indentures (each an “Indenture”) with U.S. Bank
National Association as Trustee. Copies of the forms of the
relevant Indenture are available upon request to the Issuer.

Certain Covenants .............. The Indentures contain various covenants that will limit our
ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to, among other things:

* incur debt;
* incur liens;
* engage in sale-leaseback transactions; and

* merge or consolidate with other companies or sell our or
our subsidiaries’ assets.

We will also be required to provide periodic financial reports to
the trustee under the Indentures. These covenants are subject to
significant exceptions and limitations.

Guarantees. . .................. The Company will unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee
the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes. FMCH and
D-GmbH (each, a “Subsidiary Guarantor” and, together with
the Company, the “Guarantors” and each a “Guarantor,” with
each such guarantee being a “Note Guarantee”), both of which
are subsidiaries of the Company, will each unconditionally and
irrevocably guarantee, jointly and severally with the Company,
the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes. At a time when a
Guarantor (other than the Company) is no longer an obligor
under the 2012 Credit Agreement (as amended, modified,
renewed, refunded, replaced, restated or refinanced from time
to time), such Guarantor will no longer be a guarantor of the
Notes. Each Subsidiary Guarantor’s Note Guarantee will not
exceed the maximum amount that can be guaranteed by the
applicable Subsidiary Guarantor without rendering the Note
Guarantee, as it relates to that Subsidiary Guarantor, voidable
or unenforceable under applicable laws affecting the rights of
creditors generally. In the case of D-GmbH, the maximum
amount of its Note Guarantee and its enforcement may be
limited in circumstances that could otherwise give rise to
personal liability of the managing directors under applicable
laws of Germany, including German Federal Supreme Court
decisions.

Ranking of the Guarantees ........ The Note Guarantees will be senior unsecured obligations of the
Guarantors and will:

 rank equally with all of the Guarantors’ respective
obligations that do not expressly provide that they are
subordinated to the Note Guarantees;

e rank equally with the Guarantors’ indebtedness under our
2012 Credit Agreement but will be effectively subordinated
to such indebtedness to the extent of the collateral securing
such indebtedness;

e rank equally with the Guarantors’ respective guarantees of
the indebtedness under our Outstanding Senior Notes;




Tax Redemption . ...............

Change of Control ..............

Transfer Restrictions . .. ..........

Use of Proceeds . . ..............

Trustee, Principal Paying Agent and
Registrar . ....................

Luxembourg Listing Agent ........

e be structurally subordinated to the indebtedness of our
subsidiaries that are not guarantors of the Notes (including
indebtedness of such subsidiaries under our 2012 Credit
Agreement and our accounts receivable financing facility
(“A/R Facility”)); and

e in the case of the Note Guarantee of Fresenius Medical
Care Deutschland GmbH, be effectively subordinated to
the claims of its third-party creditors as a result of
limitations applicable to the Note Guarantee.

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer, in
whole or in part, at any time at a price equal to 100% of the
principal amount thereof, together with accrued and unpaid
interest to the redemption date, plus a “make-whole” premium.
No “make-whole” premium will be payable in connection with a
redemption of the relevant issue of Notes during the 90 days
prior to the maturity date. See “Description of the Notes —
Optional Redemption.”

The Notes are also redeemable at the option of the Issuer, in
whole but not in part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal
amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the
redemption date, after certain changes in the law of any relevant
taxing jurisdiction become effective that would require the
payment of Additional Amounts with respect to any payments
on the Notes. No “make-whole” premium will be payable upon
such a redemption of the Notes. See “Description of the Notes
— Redemption for Changes in Withholding Taxes.”

Upon the occurrence of both a Change of Control and a Ratings
Decline (each as defined herein), investors have the right to
require us to redeem all or any part of your Notes at a
redemption price in cash equal to 101% of their principal
amount plus any accrued and unpaid interest. See Description of
the Notes — Change of Control.”

The Notes have not been registered under the Securities Act
and may not be offered or sold in the U.S. or to U.S. persons
except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not
subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act

The aggregate net proceeds from the sale of $500 million
principal amount of Notes due 2020 at 100% and $400 million
principal amount of Notes due 2024 at 100% will be
approximately $888.2 million, after the payment of fees and
estimated expenses in the total amount of approximately
$11.8 million. We intend to use the net proceeds of this offering
to repay Term Loan A-2 under our 2012 Credit Agreement as
well as other short term debt, and for acquisitions and general
corporate purposes.

U.S. Bank National Association.

BNP Paribas Securities Services.




Summary of Risk Factors

Investing in the Notes involves substantial risks. We are exposed to a number of risks that either
individually or collectively could have material adverse effects on our assets, financial condition and results
of operations, and on our ability to fulfill our obligations under the Notes. The following summarizes the
risks you should consider before investing in the Notes as they may impact the Issuer and the Guarantors.

Risks Relating to the Issuer

The Issuer has no material assets or sources of revenue except for claims against the Company
and/or its subsidiaries resulting from intercompany receivables.

Risks Relating to the Guarantors and the Note Guarantees

German insolvency laws may preclude the recovery of payments due under the Note Guarantees.

U.S. federal and state laws allow courts, under specific circumstances, to void guarantees and to
require you to return payments received from guarantors.

The Company obtains substantially all of its income from subsidiaries, and the holding company
structure may limit the Company’s ability to benefit from the assets of its subsidiaries.

Risks Relating to Our Business

A significant portion of our North America Segment profits is dependent on the services we
provide to a minority of our patients who are covered by private insurance.

We are exposed to product liability, patent infringement and other claims which could result in
significant costs and liability which we may not be able to insure on acceptable terms in the
future.

Our growth depends, in part, on our ability to continue to make acquisitions.
We face specific risks from international operations.

We could be adversely affected if we experience shortages of components or material price
increases from our suppliers.

If physicians and other referral sources cease referring patients to our dialysis clinics or cease
purchasing or prescribing our dialysis products, our revenues would decrease.

Our pharmaceutical product business could lose sales to generic drug manufacturers or new
branded drugs.

Our competitors could develop superior technology or otherwise impact our sales.

Global economic conditions as well as further disruptions in financial markets may have an
adverse effect on our businesses.

If we are unable to attract and retain skilled medical, technical and engineering personnel, we
may be unable to manage our growth or continue our technological development.

Diverging views of fiscal authorities could require us to make additional tax payments.

Risks Relating to Regulatory Matters

A change in U.S. government reimbursement for dialysis care could materially decrease our
revenues and operating profit.

The utilization of Erythropoietin stimulating agents, or ESAs, could materially impact our
revenue and operating profit. An interruption of supply or our inability to obtain satisfactory
terms for ESAs could reduce our revenues and operating profit.

If we do not comply with the many governmental regulations applicable to our business, we could
be excluded from government healthcare reimbursement programs or our authority to conduct
business could be terminated, either of which would result in a material decrease in our revenue.
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*  We operate in many different jurisdictions and we could be adversely affected by violations of the
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide anti-corruption laws.

e If our joint ventures violate the law, our business could be adversely affected.

*  Proposals for healthcare reform or relating to regulatory approvals, or budgetary measures, could
decrease our revenues and operating profit.

Risks Relating to the Notes

*  Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition, prevent us from
fulfilling our obligations under our debt securities or implementing certain elements of our
business strategy.

e Restrictive covenants in our debt instruments limit our ability to engage in certain transactions
and could diminish our ability to make payments on our indebtedness, including the Notes.

*  Despite our substantial indebtedness, we may still be able to incur significantly more debt; this
could intensify the risks described above.

* The Notes are structurally subordinated to other creditors of non-guarantors or to secured
creditors to the extent of the value of the collateral.

*  We may not be able to make a change of control redemption upon demand.

e If we default on our obligations to pay our indebtedness, we may not be able to make payments
on the Notes.

e There are restrictions on your ability to transfer or resell the Notes without registration under
applicable U.S. securities laws.

e There is presently no active trading market for the Notes.
*  You may face foreign exchange risks by investing in the Notes.

e Additional Notes that may be issued in subsequent offerings may have identical terms to the
Notes issued in this offering, but may not be fungible with the Notes for U.S. federal income tax
purposes, which may affect the market value of the Notes.

e Credit ratings may not reflect all risks of an investment in the Notes; they are not
recommendations to buy or hold securities, and are subject to revision, suspension, or withdrawal
at any time.

* An investment in the Notes inherently involves substantial risks, including the potential for
default.

Summary Historical Consolidated Financial Data and Other Data
US. GAAP

The following table summarizes the Company’s consolidated financial information and certain other
information for Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA for each of the years 2009 through 2013, and for
the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, and includes certain pro forma financial information that
gives effect to Term Loan A-2, the issuance of the Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds and the issuance and
sale of the Notes. For each of the years presented, the selected financial information of the Company has
been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
The selected consolidated financial data as of June 30, 2014 and 2013 and for the six months ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013 have been derived from our unaudited consolidated financial statements prepared
in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our unaudited consolidated financial statements were prepared on a basis
substantially consistent with our audited consolidated financial statements. You should read this
information together with our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements
incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum, the “Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects” in our 2013 Form 20-F and the “Interim Report of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013” in our July 2014 2011 Form 6-K.
You should regard the selected financial data below only as an introduction and should base your
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investment decision on a review of the entire offering memorandum, including the financial statements
and other documents incorporated by reference.

For the six months
ended June 30, Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in millions except ratios and operating data)

Statement of Operations Data:
Net revenues . . . ... ......o... $ 7,398 $ 7076 $ 14,610 $ 13,800 $ 12,570 $§ 11,844 $ 11,047
Cost of revenues. . . . .......... 5,105 4,809 9,872 9,199 8,418 8,009 7,504
Gross profit. . . .......... ... . 2,293 2,267 4,738 4,601 4,152 3,835 3,543
Selling, general and administrative . . 1,250 1,187 2,391 2,223 2,002 1,823 1,698
Gain on sale of dialysis clinics . . . . . — ) 9) (36) 4) — —
Research and development . . ... .. 61 61 126 112 111 97 94
Income from equity method investees (18) 9) (26) 17) (31) 9) 5)
Other operating expenses . . . ... .. — — — 100 — — —
Operating income . . . .. ........ 1,001 1,038 2,256 2,219 2,075 1,924 1,756
Investment gain . . ............ — — — 140 — — —
Interest expense, net . . ... ...... 195 208 409 426 297 280 300
Income before income taxes . ... .. 807 830 1,847 1,933 1,778 1,644 1,456
Net income attributable to

shareholders of FMC-AG & Co.

KGaA .. ....... ... ... ... $ 439 § 4838 $ 1,110 $ 1,187 $ 1,071 $ 979 $ 891

Other Financial Data:
EBITDA® . ... ... ... ....... $ 1,337 $ 1,353 § 2,904 $ 2,821 $ 2,632 $ 2,427 $ 2,213
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . 336 315 648 603 557 503 457
Net debt® .. ............... 8,495 7,760 7,735 7,610 6,754 5,357 5,267
Net debt excluding trust preferred

securities . ... ... ... L. 8,495 7,760 7,735 7,610 6,754 4,731 4,611
Capital expenditures . .. ........ 419 334 748 675 598 524 574
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges® 3.9 4.1 4.4 4.8 5.2 5.5 4.8
Free Cash flow® .. ........ ... 147 522 1,307 1,373 876 861 777
Ratio of EBITDA to interest expense,

Net . . oo 6.9x 6.5x 7.1x 6.6x 8.9x 8.7x 7.4x
Ratio of net debt to EBITDA®©® | | 2.9x 2.8x 2.7x 2.7x 2.6x 2.2x 2.4x
Pro Forma Data:

Net debt adjusted for Term Loan A-2,

the Equity-neutral Convertible

Bonds and the offering®? . . . . .. 9,095
Ratio of adjusted net debt to

EBITDA® . ... ... ... ....... 31
Operating Data:

No. of treatments . . . .......... 20,632,860 19,747,907 40,456,900 38,588,184 34,388,422 31,670,702 29,425,758
No. of patients . . . . ........... 280,942 264,290 270,122 257,916 233,156 214,648 195,651
No.of clinics . . . ............. 3,335 3,212 3,250 3,160 2,898 2,744 2,553

June 30, Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in millions)

Balance Sheet Data:

Total debt . .. ... .. ... ... .. . $9139 §$ 8346 $ 8417 $8298 $ 7211 §$ 5880 $ 5568
Total assets . .. ... ... ... ... . .. .. 24,145 22,328 23,120 22,326 19,533 17,095 15,821
Total equity . . . .. ..o 9,650 9,110 9,485 9,207 8,061 7,524 6,798

)

EBITDA (operating income plus depreciation and amortization) is the basis for determining compliance with certain covenants

contained in our 2012 Credit Agreement, the Euro Notes and the indentures relating to our Outstanding Senior Notes. You
should not consider EBITDA to be an alternative to net earnings determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP or to cash flow
from operations, investing activities or financing activities. In addition, not all funds depicted by EBITDA are available for
management’s discretionary use. For example, a substantial portion of such funds are subject to contractual restrictions and
functional requirements for debt service, to fund necessary capital expenditures and to meet other commitments from time to
time as described in more detail elsewhere in our public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

()

portion), less cash and cash equivalents.

®)

Net debt includes short-term borrowings, short-term borrowings from related parties and long-term debt (including current

In calculating the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings consist of income before taxes plus fixed charges. Fixed charges

consist of interest expense and amortization of deferred financing fees, plus an interest factor for operating leases calculated
using the Company’s weighted average cost of capital.
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(4) Free cash flow is the cash flow provided by (used in) operating activities after capital expenditures for property, plant and
equipment but before acquisitions and investments. Free cash flow in percentage of revenue is a key performance indicator
used by the Company’s management. This represents the percentage of revenue that is available for acquisitions, dividends to
shareholders, or the reduction of debt financing.

(5) The ratios of net debt to EBITDA at June 30, 2014 and 2013 are calculated utilizing EBITDA for the twelve-month periods
ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 of $2,888 million and $2,788 million respectively.

(6) In 2001, the Company issued trust preferred securities which were redeemed on June 15, 2011. The ratio of net debt excluding
trust preferred securities to EBITDA for the years ended 2009 and 2010 and the six months ended June 30, 2011 was 2.1x, 1.9x
and 2.1x, respectively.

IFRS

The Company uses IFRS to comply with the reporting requirements of the German Commercial Code
(Handelsgesetzbuch) and other German laws. The following table summarizes the consolidated financial
information and certain other information for our business prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the
European Union (“IFRS”) as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, for each of the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012, and as of June 30, 2014 and 2013, and for each of the six months ended June 30, 2014 and
2013. For the years presented, we derived the selected financial information from our audited consolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and incorporated by reference herein. We derived
the selected consolidated financial data as of June 30, 2014 and 2013 and for the six months ended June 30,
2014 and 2013 from our unaudited consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.
We prepared our unaudited consolidated financial statements on a basis substantially consistent with our
audited consolidated financial statements. You should read the selected financial data below only as an
introduction and should base your investment decision on a review of the entire offering memorandum,
including the financial statements and other documents incorporated by reference.

For the six months For the year ended
ended June 30, December 31,
2014 2013 2013 2012
(in millions except share and per share
amounts)
Statement of Operations Data:
Net TeVENUES . « o v v vt e e e et et e et e e e et e e €5,492 €5488 €11,215 €10,959
Operating income . .. ............ .0, . 722 796 1,683 1,732
Net income attributable to FMC-AG & Co. KGaA ......... € 309 € 375 € 811 € 925
Other Financial Data:
EBITDAD 968 1,037 2,173 2,203
Depreciation and amortization . . ...................... 246 241 490 471
Net debt® 6,183 5,879 5,568 5,668
Ratio of EBITDA to interest expense, net ............... 6.8x 6.6x 10.3x 10.2x
Ratio of net debt to EBITDA® . .. ... ... ... ........... 2.9x 2.6x 2.6x 2.6x
Capital expenditures . ............. ... ... ... ... .. .. 306 254 563 526
Acquisitions and investments . ........................ 271 71 373 1,402
June 30, December 31,
2014 2013 2013 2012

(in millions)
Balance Sheet Data:
Total ASSetS . . oo vt €17,573 €17,004 €16,704 €16,917
Total equity . . . .. oot € 7,155 € 7,000 € 6,991 € 7,120

(1) EBITDA (operating income plus depreciation and amortization) is the basis for determining compliance with certain covenants
contained within our 2012 Credit Agreement, Euro Notes and the indentures relating to our Outstanding Senior Notes. Each of
those instruments requires that we compute EBITDA from our operating income determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
You should not consider EBITDA to be an alternative to net earnings determined in accordance with IFRS or to cash flow from
operations, investing activities or financing activities. In addition, not all funds depicted by EBITDA are available for
management’s discretionary use. For example, a substantial portion of such funds are subject to contractual restrictions and
functional requirements for debt service, to fund necessary capital expenditures and to meet other commitments from time to
time as described in more detail elsewhere in our public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(2) Net debt includes short-term borrowings, short-term borrowings from related parties and long term debt (including current
portion), less cash and cash equivalents.
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(3) The ratios of net debt to EBITDA at June 30, 2014 and 2013 are calculated utilizing EBITDA for the twelve-month periods
ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 of €2,141 million (including non-cash charges of €37 million) and €2,246 million (including
non-cash charges €79 million) respectively.

Exchange Rate Information

The summary historical consolidated financial data set forth above under “Summary Historical
Consolidated Data and Other Data — U.S. GAAP” are derived from our consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, for which our reporting currency is the U.S. Dollar.
The summary historical consolidated financial data set forth above under “Summary Historical
Consolidated Data and Other Data — IFRS” are derived from our consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS, for which our reporting currency is the Euro. For information
regarding the exchange rate between the U.S. Dollar and the Euro for the preceding five years see
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk — Management of Foreign Exchange and
Interest Rate Risks — Foreign Exchange Risk” in our 2013 Form 20-F. For information regarding the
exchange rate between the U.S. Dollar and the Euro for the six months ended June 30, 2014, and the six
months preceding the date of this offering memorandum, see ‘“Capitalization — Exchange Rate
Information.”

Selected Financial Data for the Issuer

The following table summarizes the financial information and certain other information of the Issuer
as of and for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, and as of and for the six months ended June 30,
2014 and 2013. For each of the years presented, the selected financial information has been derived from
the audited financial statements of the Issuer prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The selected financial data as of June 30, 2014 and 2013 and for the
six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 have been derived from the Issuer’s unaudited financial
statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The Issuer’s unaudited financial statements were
prepared on a basis substantially consistent with its audited financial statements.

At June 30, At December 31,
The Issuer 2014 2013 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Notes receivable from affiliates .. ............. $2,081,003 $2,003,970 $2,094,003 $2,013,118
Interest receivables from affiliates .. ........... 45,442 43,869 45,802 44,177
Cash and cash equivalents . . . ................ 47 28 1 19
Accrued liabilities . . . ......... ... .. ... ... ... 42,208 40,639 42,570 40,948
Long term debt, net of discount .............. 1,896,690 1,895,904 1,896,297 1,895,511
Long term derivative liabilities. . .. ............ 186,637 84,007 168,605 66,879

For the six months For the year ended

ended June 30, December 31,
2014 2013 2013 2012

(in thousands)
Statement of Operations Data:

Interest €Xpense . . ... .ooi vt $(57,525) $(57,524) $(115,052) $(108,950)
Income tax . . ...t 10,758 9,983 17,306 8,127
Unrealized losses on derivative instruments . ......... (17,025)  (16,868) (127,199) (34,753)
Interest inCOME . . . .. ... vt i ittt 59,101 59,172 117,470 109,355

Financial Data for the Guarantors

Separate financial statements of the Guarantors FMCH and D-GmbH for the financial years 2012
and 2013 and for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 are not included in this offering
memorandum as such Guarantors do not publish separate financial statements. Our consolidated financial
statements, however, contain financial information for our group of companies on a consolidated basis
which includes Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. and Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH.
See Note 17, “Supplemental Condensed Combining Information,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements (unaudited) in our July 2014 Form 6-K and Note 25, “Supplemental Condensed Combining
Information,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2013 Form 20-F incorporated by
reference in this offering memorandum.
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RISK FACTORS

Before deciding to invest in the Notes, you should carefully consider each of the following risks and all of
the information set forth in this offering memorandum as they may impact the Issuer and the Guarantors. If any
of the following risks and uncertainties develops into actual events, our business, financial condition or results
of operations could suffer. In that case, the price of our Notes could decline and you could lose all or part of
your investment.

Risks Related to the Issuer

The Issuer has no material assets or sources of revenue except for claims against the Company and/or its
subsidiaries resulting from intercompany receivables.

The Issuer is a wholly owned finance subsidiary of the Company and will on-lend the proceeds from
the sale of the Notes under intercompany loans. The Issuer has been organized for the purpose of:

e issuing and selling debt securities, including the Notes to be issued by it, Additional Notes (as
defined in “Description of the Notes — Additional Notes™), and additional debt securities to the
extent permitted by the applicable Indentures and other indentures to which it is a party

e advancing the proceeds of the Notes issued back to us and our subsidiaries;
* acting as a guarantor under our 2012 Credit Agreement or any refinancing thereof; and
* engaging in only those other activities necessary, convenient or incidental thereto.

The Issuer intends to service and repay the Notes out of the payments it receives under these
intercompany loans. The Issuer has no other material assets or sources of revenue except for its claims
under various intercompany receivables. Accordingly, the Issuer’s ability to service and repay the Notes
depends on the ability of the counterparties to the intercompany loans to service such indebtedness.
Therefore, in meeting its payment obligations under the Notes, the Issuer is wholly dependent on the
profitability and cash flow of the counterparties to the intercompany loans to which it is a party which are,
in turn, subject to the risks, contingencies and other matters described in this offering memorandum.

Risks Relating to the Guarantors and the Note Guarantees

Inasmuch as FMCH and D-GmbH are part of our group of companies, the risks described below
under “Risks Relating to Our Business” and “Risks Relating to Regulatory Matters” also apply to them
with regard to their respective businesses. There are also specific risks relating to them and to the Note
Guarantees, including those set forth below.

FMCH does not publish non-consolidated financial statements separately from the consolidated
financial statements of the Company. Therefore, individual financial information for FMCH is not
included in this offering memorandum or incorporated herein by reference for the financial years 2012 and
2013 or any subsequent interim period. The Company’s consolidated financial statements, however,
contain financial information for the Company which includes FMCH as one of the main operating
subsidiaries of the Company.

D-GmbH also does not publish non-consolidated financial statements separately from the
consolidated financial statements of the Company. Therefore, individual financial information for
D-GmbH is not included in this offering memorandum or incorporated herein by reference for the
financial years 2012 and 2013 or any subsequent interim period. The Company’s consolidated financial
statements, however, contain financial information for the Company which include D-GmbH as one of the
main operating subsidiaries of the Company.

German insolvency laws may preclude the recovery of payments due under the Note Guarantees.

Insolvency proceedings with regard to the Company or D-GmbH would most likely be based on and
governed by the insolvency laws of Germany, the jurisdiction under which they are organized and in which
all of their assets are located. The provisions of such insolvency laws differ substantially from U.S.
bankruptcy laws and may in many instances be less favorable to holders of the Notes than comparable
provisions of U.S. law.

In particular, an insolvency administrator (Insolvenzverwalter) of the Company or D-GmbH may avoid
(anfechten) transactions which are detrimental to insolvency creditors and which were effected prior to the
commencement of insolvency proceedings. Such transactions can include the payment of any amounts to
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the holders of the Notes, as well as provision of security for their benefit. The administrator’s right to avoid
transactions under the German Insolvency Code (/nsolvenzordnung) can, depending on the circumstances,
extend to transactions during a period of up to ten-years prior to the petition for commencement of
insolvency proceedings. In the event such transactions were successfully avoided, the holders of the Notes
would be under an obligation to repay the amounts received plus interest or to waive the security provided
(as the case may be). In addition, before the opening of insolvency proceedings, a creditor who has
obtained an enforcement order has the right to avoid certain transactions, such as the payment of debt and
the granting of security pursuant to the German Code on Avoidance (Anfechtungsgesetz). In particular, a
transaction (which term includes the provision of security or the payment of debt) may be avoided in the
following cases:

* the transaction was entered into by the debtor (i.e., the Company or D-GmbH) and is directly
detrimental to its insolvency creditors if the transaction was effected (i) during the three-month
period prior to the petition for commencement of insolvency proceedings over the assets of the
debtor and the debtor was unable to make payments when due at the time of the transaction and
the beneficiary of the transaction (i.e., the holders of the Notes) had positive knowledge thereof
at such time, or (ii) after a petition for the commencement of insolvency proceedings and the
beneficiary of the transaction had knowledge of either the debtor’s inability to make payments
when due or of the petition for commencement of insolvency proceedings at the time of the
transaction; the transaction was entered into during the ten-year period prior to the petition for
the commencement of insolvency proceedings or following the petition with the debtor’s actual
intent to disadvantage creditors, provided that the beneficiary of such transaction had positive
knowledge of the debtor’s intent at the time of the transaction;

* the transaction granting an insolvency creditor security (including a guarantor) or satisfaction to
which such creditor had no right or no right to claim in such manner or at such time it was
entered into and such transaction took place (i) within the month prior to the petition for
commencement of insolvency proceedings; (ii) within the second or third month preceding such
petition and the debtor was unable to make payments when due at the time of such transaction;
or (iii) within the second and third month prior to the petition for commencement of insolvency
proceedings and the creditor had positive knowledge at the time of the transaction that it was
detrimental to the creditors of the debtor; or

e the transaction granting an insolvency creditor security or satisfaction to which such creditor had
a right and such transaction took place (i) within the three-month period prior to the petition for
the commencement of insolvency proceedings and the debtor was unable to make payments when
due at the time of the transaction and the beneficiary of the transaction had positive knowledge
thereof at such time, or (ii) following a petition for the commencement of insolvency proceedings
and the creditor had positive knowledge of either the debtor’s inability to make payments when
due or of the petition for commencement of insolvency proceedings at the time of the
transaction.

Generally, the Company or D-GmbH would be considered unable to make payments when due if they
are not able to meet at least 90% of their due financial obligations within a period of three weeks. If their
security were voided or held unenforceable for any other reason, the holders of the Notes would cease to
have any claim in respect of such security. Any amounts obtained from a transaction that has been voided
would have to be repaid plus interest. In addition, the Note Guarantees entered into by D-GmbH will
contain provisions intended to limit the maximum amount payable thereunder and its enforcement in
circumstances that could otherwise give rise to personal liability of the managing directors of D-GmbH
under German law, including German Federal Supreme Court decisions, and be effectively subordinated
to the claims of D-GmbH’s third-party creditors as a result of limitations applicable to the Note
Guarantees.

Where the voidability of a transaction depends on the beneficiary’s knowledge of certain
circumstances, it is possible that the beneficiary (i.e., the holders of the Notes) will be deemed to have
knowledge of aspects that are known to a third party. For example, it is likely that note holders will be
deemed to have knowledge of these circumstances that are known to the Trustee.

U.S. federal and state laws allow courts, under specific circumstances, to void guarantees and to require you to
return payments received from guarantors.

Although holders of the Notes offered hereby will be direct creditors of the Guarantors by virtue of
the Note Guarantees, existing or future creditors of any Guarantor could avoid or subordinate that
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Guarantor’s Note Guarantee under U.S. federal bankruptcy laws or under applicable state fraudulent
conveyance laws if they were successful in establishing that:

e the Note Guarantee was incurred with fraudulent intent; or

* the Guarantor did not receive fair consideration or reasonably equivalent value for issuing its
Note Guarantee and

— was insolvent at the time of the Note Guarantee;
— was rendered insolvent by reason of the Note Guarantee;

— was engaged in a business or transaction for which its assets constituted unreasonably small
capital to carry on its business; or

— intended to incur, or believed that it would incur, debt beyond its ability to pay such debt as
it matured.

The measures of insolvency for purposes of determining whether a fraudulent conveyance occurred
vary depending upon the laws of the relevant jurisdiction and upon the valuation assumptions and
methodology applied by the court. Generally, however, a company would be considered insolvent for
purposes of the foregoing if:

e the sum of the company’s debts, including contingent, unliquidated and unmatured liabilities, is
greater than all of such company’s property at a fair valuation; or

e if the present fair saleable value of the company’s assets is less than the amount that will be
required to pay the probable liability on its existing debts as they become absolute and matured.

We cannot assure you as to what standard a court would apply in order to determine whether a
Guarantor was “insolvent” as of the date its Note Guarantee was issued, and we cannot assure you that,
regardless of the method of valuation, a court would not determine that any Guarantors were insolvent on
that date. The subsidiary Note Guarantees could be subject to the claim that, since the Note Guarantees
were incurred for our benefit, and only indirectly for the benefit of the other Guarantors, the obligations of
the Subsidiary Guarantors thereunder were incurred for less than reasonably equivalent value or fair
consideration.

The Note Guarantees entered into by FMCH will contain a provision intended to limit FMCH’s
liability to the maximum amount that it could incur without causing the incurrence of obligations under its
Note Guarantees to be fraudulent transfers. However, this provision may not be effective to protect the
respective Note Guarantees from being voided under fraudulent transfer law, or may reduce FMCH’s
obligation to an amount that effectively makes its Note Guarantees worthless.

The Company obtains substantially all of its income from subsidiaries, and the holding company structure may
limit the Company’s ability to benefit from the assets of its subsidiaries.

The Company is a holding company and, consequently, it derives substantially all of its operating
income from subsidiaries. Each of the subsidiaries is a distinct legal entity and, under certain
circumstances, legal and contractual restrictions may limit the Company’s ability to obtain cash from its
subsidiaries. The subsidiaries may not be able, or be permitted, to make distributions to enable us to make
payments in respect of our indebtedness, including the Notes.

While the Notes are guaranteed by the Company, FMCH and D-GmbH, no other subsidiaries will
guarantee the Notes. Certain of our non-guarantor subsidiaries are obligors under our 2012 Credit
Agreement and other indebtedness and may incur additional indebtedness in the future. In addition to our
senior indebtedness, our non-guarantor subsidiaries have liabilities which would be structurally senior to
the Notes and the guarantees. Holders of the Notes will not have any direct claim on the cash flow or
assets of our non-guarantor subsidiaries and such subsidiaries will have no obligation, contingent or
otherwise, to pay amounts due under the Notes or the Note Guarantees or to make funds available to us or
the other guarantors to satisfy those payments.

In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or similar proceeding, the
Company’s and the other guarantors’ right to receive any assets of any of their respective subsidiaries or
other affiliates, as well as the right of the holders of the Notes to participate in the distribution of or realize
proceeds from those assets, will be structurally subordinated to the claims of creditors of those subsidiaries
and affiliates, including their trade creditors and holders of other indebtedness of our subsidiaries
(including, in the case of some of our and the guarantors’ principal subsidiaries, debt issued under our 2012
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Credit Agreement). Accordingly, there might be only a limited amount of assets available to satisfy your
claims as a holder of the Notes upon an acceleration of the maturity of the Notes.

For certain combining financial information for the Company, segregating information for Fresenius
Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, D-GmbH and FMCH as guarantors of our Outstanding Senior Notes, and
the Company’s non-guarantor subsidiaries, see Note 17, “Supplemental Condensed Combining
Information,” of the Notes Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) in our July 2014 Form 6-K, and
Note 25, “Supplemental Condensed Combining Information,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements on our 2013 Form 20-F.

In addition, FMCH, which is one of the Subsidiary Guarantors, functions exclusively as a holding
company, has no independent operations, and derives substantially all of its revenue and cash from its
operating subsidiaries. FMCH’s ability to meet its obligations on its Note Guarantees is dependent upon
the profitability and cash flow of its subsidiaries and payments by such subsidiaries to it in the form of
loans, dividends, fees, or otherwise, which are in turn subject to many of the same limitations, risks and
uncertainties described above.

Risks Relating to Our Business

A significant portion of our North America Segment profits is dependent on the services we provide to a minority of
our patients who are covered by private insurance.

Government reimbursement programs generally pay less than private insurance. Medicare only pays
us 80% of the Medicare allowable amount (the patient, Medicaid or secondary insurance being responsible
for the remaining 20% of which Medicaid and the patient frequently do not pay for all or part of the
remaining 20%), and Medicaid rates are comparable. As a result, the payments we receive from private
payors generate a substantial portion of the profits we report. We estimate that Medicare and Medicaid
are the primary payors for approximately 76% of the patients to whom we provide care in North America
but that for 2013, we derived 53% of our North America Segment Dialysis Care net revenues (amounting
to 32% of our worldwide revenue) from Medicare and Medicaid. Therefore, if the private payors who pay
for the care of the other 24% of our North America segment’s patients reduce their payments for our
services, or if we experience a material shift in our revenue mix toward Medicare or Medicaid
reimbursement, then our revenue, cash flow and earnings would materially decrease.

Over the last few years, we have generally been able to implement modest annual price increases for
private insurers and managed care organizations, but government reimbursement has remained flat or has
been increased at rates below typical consumer price index (“CPI”) increases. Under the End Stage Renal
Disease (“ESRD”) Prospective Payment System (“ESRD PPS”), Medicare payment rates are updated
annually based on the CPI of relevant market inputs, less an adjustment to account for productivity
improvements (0.4% for 2013). Medicare will implement further reductions pursuant to the American
Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (“ATRA”), to account for reduced drug utilizations. In 2014, Medicare’s base
payment rate will be reduced by $8.16 to account for this effect, and U.S. Centers for Medicare &
Medicaid Services (“CMS”) expects a total reduction, phased in over three to four years, of $29.93. On
April 1, 2014, the Protecting Access to Medicare Act of 2014, or “PAMA,” was signed into law. This law
modifies ATRA such that dialysis reimbursement for 2015 is intended to equal that for 2014. In addition,
the reimbursement reductions mandated by ATRA for 2016 and 2017 have been eliminated. Instead, the
market basket updates net of the productivity adjustment for each of 2016 and 2017 have been reinstated,
though they will be reduced by 1.25 percent each year. For 2018, the market basket update net of the
productivity adjustment will be reduced by 1 percent. In addition, the law mandates that ESRD-related
drugs with only an oral form, including our phosphate binder PhosLo®, are excluded from the ESRD PPS
and separately reimbursed until 2024. Finally, under the law, the reductions pursuant to U.S. Sequestration
for the first six months of 2024 will be 4 percent, and there will be no reductions for the second six months
of 2024. See Item 4, “Information on the Company — Regulatory and Legal Matters —
Reimbursement — U.S. — Budget Control Act and American Taxpayer Relief Act” on our 2013
Form 20-F and “Interim Report of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 — Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview” in
our July 2014 Form 6-K. There can be no assurance that we can achieve future price increases from private
insurers and managed care organizations comparable to those we have historically received. With
increased governmental reform and regulatory activity, reimbursement from private insurers may be
subject to downward pressure in the coming years. The advent of the federal and state health care
exchanges may also negatively impact reimbursement from private insurance. Any reductions in
reimbursement from private insurers and managed care organizations could materially and adversely
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impact our operating results. Any reduction in our ability to attract private pay patients to utilize our
dialysis services relative to historical levels could adversely impact our operating results. Any of the
following events, among others, could have a material adverse effect on our operating results:

e aportion of our business that is currently reimbursed by private insurers or hospitals may become
reimbursed by managed care organizations, which generally have lower rates for our services; or

e a portion of our business that is currently reimbursed by private insurers at rates based on our
billed charges may become reimbursed under contracts at lower rates.

We are exposed to product liability, patent infringement and other claims which could result in significant costs and
liability which we may not be able to insure on acceptable terms in the future.

Healthcare companies are typically subject to claims alleging negligence, product liability, breach of
warranty, malpractice and other legal theories that may involve large claims and significant defense costs
whether or not liability is ultimately imposed. Healthcare products may also be subject to recalls and
patent infringement claims which, in addition to monetary penalties, may restrict our ability to sell or use
our products. We cannot assure that such claims will not be asserted against us; for example, that
significant adverse verdicts will not be reached against us for patent infringements or that large scale
recalls of our products will not become necessary. In addition, the laws of some of the countries in which
we operate provide legal rights to users of pharmaceutical products that could increase the risk of product
liability claims. Product liability and patent infringement claims, other actions for negligence or breach of
contract and product recalls or related sanctions could result in significant costs. These costs could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. See Note 11 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited), “Commitments and Contingencies” on our July
2014 Form 6-K and Note 20 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Commitments and
Contingencies” in our 2013 Form 20-F.

While we have been able to obtain liability insurance in the past to partially cover our business risks,
we cannot assure that such insurance will be available in the future either on acceptable terms or at all. In
addition, FMCH, our largest subsidiary, is partially self-insured for professional, product and general
liability, auto liability and worker’s compensation claims, up to pre-determined levels above which our
third-party insurance applies. A successful claim in excess of the limits of our insurance coverage could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Liability
claims, regardless of their merit or eventual outcome, also may have a material adverse effect on our
business and reputation, which could in turn reduce our sales and profitability.

The Company is vigorously defending certain patent infringement lawsuits and certain wrongful death
and personal injury lawsuits alleging inadequate labeling and warnings for certain of our dialysate
concentrate products. See “Listing and General Information — Legal and Regulatory Matters,” below,
Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) in our July 2014 Form 6-K,
“Commitments and Contingencies — Legal and Regulatory Matters — Commercial Litigation” and
Note 20 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Commitments and Contingencies — Legal
and Regulatory Matters — Commercial Litigation” on our 2013 Form 20-F. While we believe we have valid
defenses to these claims, an adverse determination in any of these matters could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our growth depends, in part, on our ability to continue to make acquisitions.

The healthcare industry has experienced significant consolidation in recent years, particularly in the
dialysis services sector. Our ability to make future acquisitions depends, in part, on our available financial
resources and could be limited by restrictions imposed by the United States or other countries’ competition
laws or under our credit documents. If we make future acquisitions, we may need to incur additional debt
or assume significant liabilities, either of which might increase our financial leverage and cause the prices
of our debt securities to decline. In addition, any financing that we might need for future acquisitions
might be available to us only on terms that restrict our business. Acquisitions that we complete are also
subject to risks relating to, among other matters, integration of the acquired businesses (including
combining the acquired company’s infrastructure and management information systems with ours,
harmonization of its marketing, patient service and logistical procedures with ours and, potentially,
reconciling divergent corporate and management cultures), possible non-realization of anticipated
synergies from the combination, potential loss of key personnel or customers of the acquired companies,
the risk of assuming unknown liabilities not disclosed by the seller or not uncovered during due diligence
and, as we expand our Care Coordination business, the risks inherent in integrating businesses outside of
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our traditional core dialysis business. If we are not able to effect acquisitions on reasonable terms, there
could be an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We also compete with other dialysis products and services companies in seeking suitable acquisition
targets and the continuing consolidation of dialysis providers and combinations of dialysis providers with
dialysis product manufacturers could affect future growth of our product sales. If we are not able to
continue to effect acquisitions on reasonable terms, especially in the international area, this could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We face specific risks from international operations.

We operate dialysis clinics in approximately 45 countries and sell a range of products and services to
customers in more than 120 countries. Our international operations are subject to a number of risks,
including but not limited to the following:

e the economic situation in developing or other countries could deteriorate;
e fluctuations in exchange rates could adversely affect profitability;

e we could face difficulties in enforcing and collecting accounts receivable under some countries’
legal systems;

* we could be negatively impacted by the ability of certain European Union member states and
other countries to service their sovereign debt obligations;

e local regulations could restrict our ability to obtain a direct ownership interest in dialysis clinics or
other operations;

e political, social or economic instability, especially in developing and newly industrializing
countries, could disrupt our operations;

e some customers and governments could increase their payment cycles, with resulting adverse
effects on our cash flow;

e some countries could impose additional or higher taxes or fees or restrict the import or export of
our products;

e we could fail to receive or could lose required licenses, certifications or other regulatory
approvals for the operation of subsidiaries or dialysis clinics, sale of products and services or
acquisitions;

e civil unrest, turmoil, or outbreak of disease in one or more countries in which we have material
operations or material product revenue;

e differing labor regulations and difficulty in staffing and managing geographically widespread
operations;

e different or less robust regulatory regimes controlling the protection of our intellectual property;
and

e transportation delays or interruptions.

International growth and expansion into emerging markets, such as China, Eastern Europe, the
Middle East and Africa, could cause us difficulty due to greater regulatory barriers than in the United
States or Western Europe, the necessity of adapting to new regulatory systems, and problems related to
entering new markets with different economic, social, and political systems and conditions. For example,
unstable political conditions or civil unrest could negatively impact our operations and sales in a region or
our ability to collect receivables or reimbursements or operate or execute projects in a region.

Any one or more of these or other factors could increase our costs, reduce our revenues, or disrupt
our operations, with possible material adverse effects on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We could be adversely affected if we experience shortages of components or material price increases from our
suppliers.

The Company’s purchasing strategy is aimed at developing partnerships with strategic suppliers
through long-term contracts and at the same time ensuring, where reasonably practicable, that it has at
least two sources for all supply and price-critical primary products (dual sourcing, multiple sourcing). To
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prevent loss of suppliers, we monitor our supplier relationships on a regular basis. Suppliers which are
integral to our procurement functions are subject to performance and risk analyses. Through constant
market analyses, a demands-based design of supplier relationships and contracts, as well as the use of
financial instruments, we seek to mitigate disruptive component shortages and potential price increases. If
the Company is unable to counteract the risk of bottleneck situations at times of limited availability of
components and other materials in spite of its purchasing strategy in combination with ongoing monitoring
of market developments, this could result in delays in production and hence have an adverse effect on the
Company’s results of operations. Similarly, material price increases by suppliers could also adversely affect
the Company’s result of operations.

If physicians and other referral sources cease referring patients to our dialysis clinics or cease purchasing or
prescribing our dialysis products, our revenues would decrease.

Our dialysis services business is dependent upon patients choosing our clinics as the location for their
treatments. Patients may select a clinic based, in whole or in part, on the recommendation of their
physician. We believe that physicians and other clinicians typically consider a number of factors when
recommending a particular dialysis facility or vascular access center to an ESRD patient, including, but not
limited to, the quality of care at a clinic, the competency of a clinic’s staff, convenient scheduling, and a
clinic’s location and physical condition. Physicians may change their facility recommendations at any time,
which may result in the movement of new or existing patients to competing clinics, including clinics
established by the physicians themselves. At most of our clinics, a relatively small number of physicians
often account for the referral of all or a significant portion of the patient base. Our dialysis care business
also depends on recommendations by hospitals, managed care plans and other healthcare institutions. If a
significant number of physicians, hospitals or other healthcare institutions cease referring their patients to
our clinics, this would reduce our dialysis care revenue and could materially adversely affect our overall
operations.

The decision to purchase or prescribe our dialysis products and other services or competing dialysis
products and other services will be made in some instances by medical directors and other referring
physicians at our dialysis clinics and by the managing medical personnel and referring physicians at other
dialysis clinics, subject to applicable regulatory requirements. A decline in physician recommendations or
recommendations from other sources for purchases of our products or ancillary services would reduce our
dialysis product and other services revenue, and would materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our pharmaceutical product business could lose sales to generic drug manufacturers or new branded drugs.

Our branded pharmaceutical product business is subject to significant risk as a result of competition
from manufacturers of generic drugs and other new competing medicines or therapies. Through the end of
2013, we were obligated to make certain minimum annual royalty payments under certain of our
pharmaceutical product license agreements, regardless of our annual sales of the licensed products.
Thereafter, the Company is required to determine their minimum purchase requirements for the
subsequent year on a yearly basis. Any of the expiration or loss of patent protection for one of our
products, the “at-risk” launch by a generic manufacturer of a generic version of one of our branded
pharmaceutical products or the launch of new branded drugs that compete with one or more of our
products could result in the loss of a major portion of sales of that branded pharmaceutical product in a
very short time period, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our competitors could develop superior technology or otherwise impact our sales.

We face numerous competitors in both our dialysis services business and our dialysis products
business, some of which may possess substantial financial, marketing or research and development
resources. Competition and especially new competitive developments could materially adversely affect the
future pricing and sale of our products and services. In particular, technological innovation has historically
been a significant competitive factor in the dialysis products business. The introduction of new products by
competitors could render one or more of our products or services less competitive or even obsolete.
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Global economic conditions as well as further disruptions in financial markets may have an adverse effect on our
businesses.

Although there has been some improvement in the global economy and financial markets since the
market deterioration of the global economy and tightening of the financial markets in 2008 and 2009, the
overall global economic outlooks remains uncertain and current economic conditions could adversely
affect our business and our profitability. Among other things, the potential decline in federal and state
revenues that may result from such conditions may create additional pressures to contain or reduce
reimbursements for our services from public payors around the world, including Medicare, Medicaid in the
United States and other government sponsored programs in the United States and other countries around
the world.

Job losses or slow improvement in the unemployment rate in the United States may result in a smaller
percentage of our patients being covered by an employer group health plan and a larger percentage being
covered by lower paying Medicare and Medicaid programs. Employers and individuals who obtain
insurance through exchanges established under the ACA might also begin to select more restrictive
commercial plans with lower reimbursement rates. To the extent that payors are negatively impacted by a
decline in the economy, we may experience further pressure on commercial rates, a further slowdown in
collections and a reduction in the amounts we expect to collect.

We depend on the financial markets for access to capital, as do our renal product customers and
commercial healthcare insurers. Limited or expensive access to capital could make it more difficult for
these customers to do business with us, or to do business generally, which could adversely affect our
businesses. In addition, uncertainty in the financial markets could adversely affect the variable interest
rates payable under our credit facilities or could make it more difficult to obtain or renew such facilities or
to obtain other forms of financing in the future. Any or all of these factors, or other consequences of the
continuation, or worsening, of domestic and global economic conditions which cannot currently be
predicted, could continue to adversely affect our businesses and results of operations.

If we are unable to attract and retain skilled medical, technical and engineering personnel, we may be unable to
manage our growth or continue our technological development.

Our continued growth in the dialysis care business will depend upon our ability to attract and retain
skilled employees, such as highly skilled nurses and other medical personnel. Competition for those
employees is intense and the current nursing shortage has increased our personnel and recruiting costs.
Moreover, we believe that future success in the provider business will be significantly dependent on our
ability to attract and retain qualified physicians to serve as medical directors of our dialysis clinics. If we are
unable to achieve that goal or if doing so requires us to bear increased costs this could adversely impact
our growth and results of operations.

Our dialysis products business depends on the development of new products, technologies and
treatment concepts to be competitive. Competition is also intense for skilled engineers and other technical
research and development personnel. If we are unable to obtain and retain the services of key personnel,
the ability of our officers and key employees to manage our growth would suffer and our operations could
suffer in other respects. These factors could preclude us from integrating acquired companies into our
operations, which could increase our costs and prevent us from realizing synergies from acquisitions. Lack
of skilled research and development personnel could impair our technological development, which would
increase our costs and impair our reputation for production of technologically advanced products.

Diverging views of fiscal authorities could require us to make additional tax payments.

We are in dispute with the German tax authorities and the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS) on
certain tax deductions disallowed in past and current tax audits and from time to time with other
jurisdictions. We are also subject to ongoing tax audits in the U.S., Germany and other jurisdictions. We
have received notices of unfavorable adjustments and disallowances in connection with certain of these
audits and we may be subject to additional unfavorable adjustments and disallowances. We are contesting,
and in some cases appealing certain of the unfavorable determinations. If our objections, audit appeals or
court claims are unsuccessful, we could be required to make additional tax payments, which could have a
material adverse impact on our results of operations and operating cash flow in the relevant reporting
period. See Item 5.B, “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — Liquidity and Capital Resources”
in our 2013 Form 20-F as well as “Listing and General Information — Legal and Regulatory Matters,”
below, Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited), “Commitments and
Contingencies — Legal and Regulatory Matters” in our July 2014 on Form 6-K and Note 20 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Commitments and Contingencies — Legal and Regulatory
Matters” on our 2013 Form 20-F.
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Risks Relating to Regulatory Matters

A change in U.S. government reimbursement for dialysis care could materially decrease our revenues and operating
profit.

For the six months ended June 30, 2014 and for twelve months ended December 31, 2013,
approximately 32% of our consolidated revenues resulted from Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement.
Legislative changes or changes in government reimbursement practice may affect the reimbursement rates
for the services we provide, as well as the scope of Medicare and Medicaid coverage. A decrease in
Medicare or Medicaid reimbursement rates or covered services could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. For further information regarding Medicare and
Medicaid reimbursement, see “Interim Report of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 — Financial Condition and Results of Operations —
Overview” in our July 2014 Form 6-K, Item 4.B, “Information on the Company — Business Overview —
Regulatory and Legal Matters — Reimbursement” and Item 5, “Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects — Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview” in our 2013 Form 20-F.

The utilization of Erythropoietin stimulating agents, or ESAs, could materially impact our revenue and operating
profit. An interruption of supply or our inability to obtain satisfactory terms for ESAs could reduce our revenues and
operating profit.

Erythropoietin stimulating agents are produced in the U.S. by Amgen Inc., under the brand names
Epogen® (epoeitin alfa) and Aranesp® (darbepoetin alfa). Under the Medicare end stage renal disease
(“ESRD”) prospective payment system (“ESRD PPS”) effective January 1, 2011, payment for ESAs is
generally included in the bundled rate; previously, it was reimbursed separately. Any of the following
developments could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations:
(i) a reduction of the current overfill amount in ESA vials that we currently use (liquid medications, such
as ESAs, typically include a small overfill amount to ensure that the fill volume can be extracted from the
vial as administered to the patient), (ii) an interruption of supply of ESAs, or (iii) material increases in the
utilization of or acquisition costs for ESAs.

If we do not comply with the many governmental regulations applicable to our business, we could be excluded from
government healthcare reimbursement programs or our authority to conduct business could be terminated, either of
which would result in a material decrease in our revenue.

Our operations in both our dialysis care business and our products business are subject to extensive
governmental regulation in virtually every country in which we operate. We are also subject to other laws
of general applicability, including antitrust laws. The applicable regulations, which differ from country to
country, cover areas that include:

* the quality, safety and efficacy of medical and pharmaceutical products and supplies;
* the operation of manufacturing facilities, laboratories and dialysis clinics;

e product labeling, advertising and other promotion;

e accurate reporting and billing for government and third-party reimbursement; and

e compensation of medical directors, joint ventures and other financial arrangements with
physicians and other referral sources.

Failure to comply with one or more of these laws or regulations may give rise to a number of legal
consequences. These include, in particular, monetary and administrative penalties, increased costs for
compliance with government orders, complete or partial exclusion from government reimbursement
programs or complete or partial curtailment of our authority to conduct business. Any of these
consequences could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

The Company’s medical devices and drug products are subject to detailed, rigorous and frequently
changing regulation by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), and numerous other national,
supranational, federal and state authorities. These regulations include, among other things, regulations
regarding product approvals, manufacturing practices, product labeling and promotion, quality control,
quality assurance, and post-marketing safety reporting, including adverse event reporting and reporting of
certain field actions. We cannot assure that all necessary regulatory approvals for new products or product
improvements will be granted on a timely basis or at all. In addition, the Company’s facilities and
procedures and those of its suppliers are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA and other regulatory
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authorities. The FDA and comparable regulatory authorities outside the U.S. may suspend, revoke, or
adversely amend the authority necessary for manufacture, marketing, or sale of our products and those of
our suppliers. The Company and its suppliers must incur expense and spend time and effort to ensure
compliance with these complex regulations, and if such compliance is not maintained, they could be subject
to significant adverse administrative and judicial enforcement actions in the future. These possible
enforcement actions could include warning letters, recalls, injunctions, civil penalties, seizures of the
Company’s products, and criminal prosecutions as well as dissemination of information to the public about
such enforcement actions. These actions could result in, among other things, substantial modifications to
the Company’s business practices and operations; refunds; a total or partial shutdown of production while
the alleged violation is remedied; and withdrawals or suspensions of current products from the market.
Any of these events, in combination or alone, could disrupt the Company’s business and have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. For information
regarding the impact of certain FDA remediation activities we have undertaken, see “Interim Report of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and
2013 — Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Results of Operations” in our July 2014
Form 6-K. For a discussion of open FDA warning letters, see Item 4.B, “Information on the Company —
Business Overview — Regulatory and Legal Matters — Product Regulation — Medical Devices” in our
2013 Form 20-F.

We rely upon the Company’s management structure, regulatory and legal resources and the effective
operation of our compliance programs to direct, manage and monitor our operations to comply with
government regulations. If employees were to deliberately, recklessly or inadvertently fail to adhere to
these regulations, then our authority to conduct business could be terminated and our operations could be
significantly curtailed. Any such terminations or reductions could materially reduce our sales. If we fail to
identify in our diligence process or to promptly remediate any non-compliant business practices in
companies that we acquire, we could be subject to penalties, claims for repayment or other sanctions. Any
such terminations or reductions could materially reduce our sales, with a resulting material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

By virtue of this regulatory environment, our business activities and practices are subject to extensive
review by regulatory authorities and private parties, and continuing audits, subpoenas, other inquiries,
claims and litigation relating to the Company’s compliance with applicable laws and regulations. We may
not always be aware that an inquiry or action has begun, particularly in the case of “qui tam” or “whistle
blower” actions brought by private plaintiffs under the False Claims Act, which are initially filed under
seal. We are the subject of a number of governmental inquiries and civil suits by the federal government
and private plaintiffs. For information about certain of these pending investigations and lawsuits, see
“Listing and General Information — Legal and Regulatory Matters,” below, Note 11 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) in our July 2014 Form 6-K, “Commitments and
Contingencies — Other Litigation and Potential Exposures” and Note 20 of the Notes to our Consolidated
Financial Statements, “Commitments and Contingencies — Other Litigation and Potential Exposures” in
our 2013 Form 20-F

We operate in many different jurisdictions and we could be adversely affected by violations of the U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide anti-corruption laws.

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA’) and similar worldwide anti-corruption laws
generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to public officials
for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Our internal policies mandate compliance with these
anti-corruption laws. We operate many facilities throughout the United States and other parts of the world.
Our decentralized system has thousands of persons employed by many affiliated companies, and we rely on
our management structure, regulatory and legal resources and effective operation of our compliance
program to direct, manage and monitor the activities of these employees. Despite our training, oversight
and compliance programs, we cannot assure you that our internal control policies and procedures always
will protect us from deliberate, reckless or inadvertent acts of our employees or agents that contravene the
Company’s compliance policies or violate applicable laws. Our continued expansion, including in
developing countries, could increase the risk of such violations in the future. Violations of these laws, or
allegations of such violations, could disrupt our business and result in a material adverse effect on our
results of operations or financial condition. The Company has received communications alleging conduct
in countries outside the U.S. and Germany that may violate the FCPA or other anti-bribery laws. The
Audit and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company’s Supervisory Board is conducting an
investigation with the assistance of independent counsel. The Company voluntarily advised the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”). The
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Company’s investigation and dialogue with the SEC and DOJ are ongoing. The Company has received a
subpoena from the SEC requesting additional documents and a request from the DOJ for copies of the
documents provided to the SEC. The Company is cooperating with the requests. See “Listing and General
Information — Legal and Regulatory Matters,” below, “Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements (unaudited) in our July 2014 Form 6-K, “Commitments and Contingencies — Other Litigation
and Potential Exposures” and Note 20 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements,
“Commitments and Contingencies — Other Litigation and Potential Exposures” in our 2013 Form 20-F.

If our joint ventures violate the law, our business could be adversely affected.

A number of the dialysis centers and vascular access centers we operate are owned, or managed, by
joint ventures in which we hold a controlling interest and one or more hospitals, physicians or physician
practice groups hold a minority interest. Physician owners, who are usually nephrologists, may also provide
medical director services and physician owners may refer patients to those centers or other centers we own
and operate or to other physicians who refer patients to those centers or other centers we own and
operate. While we have structured our joint ventures to comply with many of the criteria for safe harbor
protection under the U.S. Federal Anti- Kickback Statute, our investments in these joint venture
arrangements do not satisfy all elements of such safe harbor, and, therefore, we do not qualify for safe
harbor protection. While we have established comprehensive compliance policies, procedures and
programs to ensure ethical and compliant joint venture business operations, if one or more of our joint
ventures were found to be in violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute or the Stark Law, we could be required
to restructure or terminate them. We also could be required to repay to Medicare amounts received by the
joint ventures pursuant to any prohibited referrals, and we could be subject to criminal and monetary
penalties and exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid and other U.S. federal and state healthcare programs.
Imposition of any of these penalties could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Proposals for healthcare reform or relating to regulatory approvals, or budgetary measures, could decrease our
revenues and operating profit.

Many of the countries in which we operate have been considering proposals to modify their current
healthcare systems to improve access to health care and to control costs. Policymakers in the U.S. and
elsewhere are also considering reforms that could change the methodology used to reimburse providers of
health care services, including dialysis. We cannot predict whether and when these reform proposals will be
adopted in countries in which we operate or what impact they might have on us. In the U.S., automatic
across-the-board spending cuts over nine fiscal years (2013-2021), projected to total $1.2 trillion for all U.S.
Federal government programs required under the Budget Control Act became effective as of March 1,
2013 and were implemented on April 1, 2013 for CMS reimbursement to providers. The Bipartisan Budget
Act of 2013 extended the cuts to mandatory spending programs such as Medicare for an additional two
years. The reduction in Medicare payments to providers and suppliers is limited to one adjustment of no
more than 2 percent through 2022 (the “U.S. Sequestration”), rising to 2.9 percent for the first half of FY
2023 and dropping to 1.11 percent for the second half of FY 2023. Pursuant to PAMA, the reductions
pursuant to U.S. Sequestration for the first six months of 2024 will be 4 percent, and there will be no
reductions for the second six months of 2024. The Medicare sequestration reimbursement reduction is
independent of annual inflation update mechanisms, such as the market basket update pursuant to the
ESRD PPS. The impact of the U.S. Sequestration on our dialysis care revenues from Medicare resulted in
a decrease of approximately $18 million in operating income for the six months ended June 30, 2014
compared to our prior year. The impact of the U.S. Sequestration for the twelve months ended June 30,
2014 has resulted in an aggregate reduction to our operating income of $74 million. Any decrease in
spending or other significant changes in state funding in countries in which we operate, particularly
significant changes in the U.S. Medicare and Medicaid programs, could reduce our sales and profitability
and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

See Item 4.B, “Information on the Company — Business Overview — Regulatory and Legal
Matters — Reimbursement” and “— Healthcare reform:” and Item 5, “Operating and Financial Review
and Prospects — Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview” in our 2013 Form 20-F for
information regarding the impact of the ESRD PPS on our business, our efforts to mitigate some of its
effects, and the anticipated effects of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (“ACA”) on our
business, as well as additional information regarding the legislation and other matters discussed above.

In addition, there may be legislative or regulatory proposals that could affect FDA procedures or
decision-making for approving medical device or drug products. Any such legislation or regulations, if
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enacted or promulgated, could result in a delay or denial of regulatory approval for our products. If any of
our products do not receive regulatory approval, or there is a delay in obtaining approval, this also could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In the United States, the ACA authorized state and federal health care exchanges to provide greater
access to private health insurance coverage. These exchanges went into effect in 2014, and it is not yet
known how the insurance coverage available through the exchanges will impact reimbursement for dialysis
and vascular access services, if at all. There can be no assurance that we can achieve future price increases
from private insurers and managed care organizations offering coverage through the federal and state
health care exchanges that are comparable to those we have historically received. Any reductions in
reimbursement from private insurers and managed care organizations could materially and adversely
impact our operating results.

Moreover, further changes in the U.S. healthcare reforms may be debated by Congress. Whether
significant changes in policy will result is unknown. Changes, if any, that may result from these events
could, depending on the details, have positive or adverse effects, possibly material, on our businesses and
results of operations. Any significant healthcare reforms that substantially change the financing and
regulation of the healthcare industry in countries in which we operate could reduce our sales and
profitability and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Risks Relating to the Notes

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition, prevent us from fulfilling our
obligations under our debt securities or implementing certain elements of our business strategy.

We currently have, and after this offering will continue to have, a substantial amount of indebtedness.
The following table shows important credit statistics for our Company. The table sets forth these statistics
on a pro forma basis to reflect the completion of this offering and application of the net proceeds of the
offering as described in “Use of Proceeds”:

As of June 30, 2014, as
adjusted for the issuance of
Term Loan A-2, the
Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds
and the Notes in this

Offering®
Total debt, including current maturities . . ... ..................... $9,739,487

Total equity . . ... ... $9,650,154

(1) Total debt reflects use of a portion of the proceeds of this offering to repay Term Loan A-2 and on an interim basis use of the
remaining proceeds to repay outstanding indebtedness under the Revolving Credit Facility under our 2012 Credit Agreement.
See “Use of Proceeds” and “Description of Certain Indebtedness — 2012 Credit Agreement.”

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition which could have
important consequences to you. For example, it could:

* make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations under our debt securities, including the
Notes;

* increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic conditions;

* limit our ability to obtain necessary financing and to fund future working capital, capital
expenditures and other general corporate requirements;

e require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations, as well as the
proceeds of certain financings and asset dispositions, to payments on our indebtedness, thereby
reducing the availability of our cash flow and such proceeds to fund working capital, capital
expenditures and for other general corporate purposes;

e limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in
which we operate;

e place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt;
e limit our ability to pursue acquisitions and sell assets; and

e limit our ability to borrow additional funds.
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Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our indebtedness, including the Notes, will depend
on our ability to generate cash in the future, which is dependent on various factors. These factors include
governmental and private insurer reimbursement rates for dialysis treatment, the growth of the dialysis
patient population and general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors
that are beyond our control. See Item 5, “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Overview” on our 2013 Form 20-F and “Interim Report of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and
2013 — Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview” in our July 2014 Form 6-K.

Restrictive covenants in our debt instruments limit our ability to engage in certain transactions and could diminish
our ability to make payments on our indebtedness, including the Notes.

Our 2012 Credit Agreement, the indentures for our Outstanding Senior Notes and the Euro Notes
include covenants that require us to maintain certain financial ratios or meet other financial tests in order
to incur indebtedness. Under our 2012 Credit Agreement, we are obligated to maintain a minimum
consolidated interest coverage ratio (ratio of EBITDA — consolidated earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) — to net interest expense) and subject to a maximum
consolidated leverage ratio (ratio of consolidated funded debt to EBITDA).

Our 2012 Credit Agreement includes other covenants which, among other things, restrict or have the
effect of restricting our ability to dispose of assets, incur debt, pay dividends and other restricted payments,
create liens or make investments or acquisitions. These covenants, as well as other covenants in the
indentures for the Notes and the indentures for our Outstanding Senior Notes, which limit our ability to
incur debt and enter into sale leaseback transactions, create liens and effect certain mergers, may
otherwise limit our activities. The breach of any of the covenants could result in a default and acceleration
of the indebtedness under the 2012 Credit Agreement or the indentures, which could, in turn, create
additional defaults and acceleration of the indebtedness under the agreements relating to our other
long-term indebtedness which would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Despite our substantial indebtedness, we may still be able to incur significantly more debt; this could intensify the
risks described above.

Despite our significant indebtedness, we may incur additional indebtedness in the future, provided
that such indebtedness does not exceed the limit on senior indebtedness imposed by, or is subordinate to
the indebtedness under, our 2012 Credit Agreement and such indebtedness is permitted to be incurred
under the indentures governing our Outstanding Senior Notes and the Notes. If additional debt is added to
our current substantial debt levels, the related risks that we now face could intensify. For more information
on our borrowing ability, see “Description of Certain Indebtedness” and “Description of the Notes.”

The Notes are structurally subordinated to other creditors of non-guarantors or to secured creditors to the extent of
the value of the collateral.

Generally, claims of creditors of a subsidiary, including trade creditors, secured creditors, and
creditors holding indebtedness and guarantees issued by the subsidiary, will have priority with respect to
the assets and earnings of the subsidiary over the claims of creditors of its parent company. However,
holders of the Notes will have direct claims against the Subsidiary Guarantors and the Company itself
under the Note Guarantees issued by the Company and the Subsidiary Guarantors guaranteeing the Notes
on a senior unsecured basis.

Accordingly, the Notes will be structurally subordinated to all creditors, including trade creditors, of
the Company’s subsidiaries other than the Subsidiary Guarantors and the Company’s financing subsidiaries
(including the Issuer). As of June 30, 2014, our subsidiaries which are not Subsidiary Guarantors or our
financing subsidiaries had $786 million of debt. Any right of the Company or any of the Subsidiary
Guarantors to receive assets of any subsidiary upon the insolvency or liquidation of the subsidiary (and the
consequent rights of the holders of the Notes to participate in those assets) will be structurally
subordinated to the claims of these subsidiary’s creditors, except to the extent the Company’s or the
Subsidiary Guarantor’s claims do not result from (i) their respective shareholdings, (ii) shareholder loans
(or their economic equivalent) subordinated by law, or (iii) contractually subordinated claims, in which
case their claims would still be subordinated with respect to any assets of the subsidiary pledged to secure
other indebtedness, and any indebtedness of the subsidiary senior to that held by the Company or the
Subsidiary Guarantors. In addition, holders of secured indebtedness of the Company or the Subsidiary
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Guarantors would have a claim on the assets securing such indebtedness that is prior to the holders of the
Notes and would have a claim that is pari passu with the holders of the Notes to the extent the security did
not satisfy such indebtedness. As of June 30, 2014, the Company and its subsidiaries had $3,702 million of
secured indebtedness.

The Notes will be subordinated to any secured debt of the Issuer or the Guarantors to the extent of
the value of the assets securing such debt. As a result, the Notes will be subordinated to the debt under the
2012 Credit Agreement, to the extent of the collateral granted to secure such debt. Certain Initial
Purchasers or their affiliates are agents and/or lenders under the 2012 Credit Agreement. See “Description
of Certain Indebtedness” and “Plan of Distribution and Offer of the Notes”.

We may not be able to make a change of control redemption upon demand.

Upon the occurrence of certain specified change of control events, we will be required to offer to
purchase the Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of their principal amount, plus accrued but unpaid
interest. We will also be required to offer to repurchase certain of our other outstanding obligations,
including our Outstanding Senior Notes. We cannot assure you that if an event that requires us to offer to
repurchase the Notes occurs that we will have or have access to, sufficient funds to pay the required
purchase price for all of the Notes tendered to us by the holders. Our failure to purchase tendered Notes
would constitute a default under the indentures governing the Notes, which, in turn, would constitute a
default under our 2012 Credit Agreement. In addition, our 2012 Credit Agreement provides that some
changes of control would constitute defaults under our 2012 Credit Agreement.

If we default on our obligations to pay our indebtedness, we may not be able to make payments on the Notes.

If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow and are otherwise unable to obtain funds necessary to
meet required payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness, or if we otherwise
fail to comply with the various covenants, including financial and operating covenants, in the instruments
governing our indebtedness (including covenants in the 2012 Credit Agreement, the indentures governing
the Notes, our Outstanding Senior Notes and our Euro Notes), we could be in default under the terms of
the agreements governing such indebtedness. In the event of such default, the holders of such indebtedness
could elect to declare all the funds borrowed thereunder to be immediately due and payable, together with
accrued and unpaid interest, and the lenders under the 2012 Credit Agreement could elect to terminate
their commitments thereunder, cease making further loans and institute foreclosure proceedings against
our assets. If our operating performance declines, we may in the future need to obtain waivers from the
required lenders under the 2012 Credit Agreement to avoid being in default. The required lenders may be
unwilling to grant any such waiver. If this occurs, we would be in default under the 2012 Credit Agreement
and the lenders could exercise their rights as described above.

There are restrictions on your ability to transfer or resell the Notes without registration under applicable U.S.
securities laws.

The Notes are being offered and sold pursuant to exemptions from registration under U.S. and
applicable state securities laws. Therefore, unless they are registered under such laws, you may transfer or
resell the Notes in compliance with U.S. and state securities laws only to persons outside the U.S. in
offshore transactions pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act or in a transaction exempt from
the registration requirements of U.S. and applicable state securities laws, and you may be required to bear
the risk of your investment for an indefinite period of time. See “Transfer Restrictions.” We have not
agreed to or otherwise undertaken to register the Notes under the Securities Act or state securities laws
and we have no intention to do so.

There is presently no active trading market for the Notes.

Although we have applied to admit the Notes to listing on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange and to admit the Notes to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange,
there can be no assurance regarding the future development of a market for the Notes or the ability of
holders of the Notes to sell their Notes or the price at which such holders may be able to sell their Notes. If
such a market were to develop, the Notes could trade at prices that may be higher or lower than the initial
offering price depending on many factors, including:

e prevailing interest rates;

*  our operating results; and
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¢ the market for similar securities.

Certain of the Initial Purchasers have advised the Issuer that they currently intend to make a market
in the Notes as permitted by applicable laws and regulations; however, the Initial Purchasers are not
obligated to do so, and any such market-making activities with respect to the Notes may be discontinued at
any time without notice. Therefore, there can be no assurance as to the liquidity of any trading market for
the Notes or that an active trading market for the Notes will develop.

You may face foreign exchange risks by investing in the Notes.

Notes will be denominated and payable in U.S. Dollars. An investment in the Notes will entail foreign
exchange-related risks due to, among other factors, possible significant changes in the value of the U.S.
Dollar relative to the Euro because of economic, political and other factors over which we have no control.
Depreciation of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro could cause a decrease in the effective yield of the Notes
below their stated coupon rates and could result in a loss to you on a Euro basis.

For information regarding historical exchange rates between the Euro and the U.S. Dollar for the
preceding five years, for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and the six months preceding the date of this
offering memorandum, and the exchange rates used in preparing the consolidated financial statements
included in this offering memorandum, see Item 11 “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about
Market Risk — Management of Foreign Exchange and Interest Rate Risks — Foreign Exchange Risk” in
our 2013 Form 20-F and “Capitalization — Exchange Rate Information” in this offering memorandum.

Additional Notes that may be issued in subsequent offerings may have identical terms to the Notes issued in this
offering, but may not be fungible with the Notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which may affect the market
value of the Notes

We may issue additional Notes that have identical terms to the Notes issued in this offering, but are
not fungible with the Notes issued in this offering for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Depending on the
price at which any additional Notes are offered, U.S. holders of additional Notes may be required to
accrue original issue discount on the additional notes into income whether or not they receive cash
payments. Because the additional Notes may not be distinguishable from the previously outstanding Notes,
the market value of all of the Notes may be adversely affected. (See “Taxation Considerations — U.S.
Federal Income Tax Considerations — Additional Notes.”)

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks of an investment in the Notes; they are not recommendations to buy or hold
securities, and are subject to revision, suspension, or withdrawal at any time

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings
may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to the structure, market, additional risk factors
discussed herein, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell, or hold securities and may be subject to revision, suspension, or withdrawal
by the rating agency at any time. No assurance can be given that a credit rating will remain constant for any
given period of time or that a credit rating will not be reduced or withdrawn entirely by the credit rating
agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. As an example, Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”)
announced on November 19, 2013 that it had updated its criteria for rating corporate industrial companies
and utilities and, accordingly, previously issued S&P ratings could change as a result. Any suspension,
reduction, or withdrawal of the credit rating assigned to the Notes by one or more of the credit rating
agencies may adversely affect the cost and terms and conditions of our financings and could adversely
affect the value and trading of the Notes.

An investment in the Notes inherently involves substantial risks, including the potential for default.

Notes offerings have historically involved substantial risks. While certain larger or institutional
investors may be able to hedge against default risk by diversifying their investments across a wide variety of
securities, smaller and retail investors may not have sufficient capital to do so, and may also be more
severely affected than a larger or more diversified investor in the event of a substantial or total loss of
value in one particular investment. Each investor of the notes should therefore be comfortable that he or
she can afford to bear the loss of a substantial portion or all of the investment before deciding to invest in
the Notes.
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PRESENTATION OF CERTAIN FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The financial statements and other financial information of the Company contained herein and in the
documents incorporated by reference have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), unless it is expressly indicated herein
that financial statements or other financial information have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as
adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”). The Company uses U.S. GAAP to prepare the financial
statements that it files with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) pursuant
to the reporting requirements of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”). It uses IFRS to comply with the reporting requirements of the German Commercial Code
(Handelsgesetzbuch) and other German laws. The financial statements of the Issuer included in this
offering memorandum have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Financial statements and other financial information prepared in accordance with IFRS are not
comparable to, and could differ from, financial statements and other financial information prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP. For a discussion of some of the significant differences between IFRS and
U.S. GAAP that affect the Company, see “Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data Prepared
Under IFRS — Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS Financial Information.”
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NON-GAAP AND NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES
Constant currency

Our July 2014 Form 6-K and our 2013 Form 20-F each present percentage changes in our revenues at
Constant Currency. See “Interim Report of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 — Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Results
of Operations” in our July 2014 Form 6-K and Item 5.A, “Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects — Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Results of Operations” in our 2013
Form 20-F. Changes in revenue include the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We use
the non-GAAP financial measure at Constant Exchange Rates or Constant Currency (each as defined on
page 2 of our July 2014 Form 6-K) in our filings to show changes in our revenue without giving effect to
period-to-period currency fluctuations. Under U.S. GAAP, revenues received in local (non-U.S. dollar)
currency are translated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rate for the period presented. Once we
translate the current period local currency revenues for the Constant Currency, we then calculate the
change, as a percentage, of the current period revenues using the prior period exchange rates versus the
prior period revenues. This resulting percentage is a non-GAAP measure referring to a percentage change
at Constant Currency.

We believe that revenue growth is a key indication of how a company is progressing from period to
period and that the non-GAAP financial measure Constant Currency is useful to investors, lenders, and
other creditors because such information enables them to gauge the impact of currency fluctuations on a
company’s revenue from period to period. However, we also believe that the usefulness of data on
Constant Currency period-over-period changes is subject to limitations, particularly if the currency effects
that are eliminated constitute a significant element of our revenue and significantly impact our
performance. We therefore limit our use of Constant Currency period-over-period changes to a measure
for the impact of currency fluctuations on the translation of local currency revenue into U.S. dollars. We do
not evaluate our results and performance without considering both Constant Currency period-over-period
changes in non-U.S. GAAP revenue on the one hand and changes in revenue prepared in accordance with
U.S. GAAP on the other. We caution the readers of this offering memorandum to follow a similar
approach by considering data on Constant Currency period-over-period changes only in addition to, and
not as a substitute for or superior to, changes in revenue prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We
present the fluctuation derived from U.S. GAAP revenue next to the fluctuation derived from non-GAAP
revenue. Because the reconciliation of non-GAAP to U.S. GAAP measures is inherent in the disclosure,
we believe that a separate reconciliation would not provide any additional benefit.

EBITDA

EBITDA, as presented in this offering memorandum and the documents incorporated by reference, is
a supplemental measure of our performance that is not required by, or presented in accordance with,
U.S. GAAP or IFRS. It is not a measurement of our financial performance under U.S. GAAP or IFRS and
should not be considered as an alternative to net income or any other performance measures derived in
accordance with U.S. GAAP or IFRS or as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities.

We define “EBITDA” as operating income plus depreciation and amortization. We caution investors
that amounts presented in accordance with our definition of EBITDA may not be comparable to similar
measures disclosed by other issuers, because not all issuers and analysts calculate EBITDA in the same
manner, and may not be presented in accordance with the SEC’s rules regarding the use of non-GAAP
financial measures. We present EBITDA because it is the basis for determining compliance with certain
covenants contained in our syndicated credit facility (the “2012 Credit Agreement”), our 67%% Senior
Notes due 2017 (the “6%% Senior Notes”), our 5.50% Senior Notes due 2016 (the “5.50% Senior Notes”),
our 5.75% Senior Notes due 2021 (the “5.75% Senior Notes”), our 5.25% Senior Notes due 2021 (the
“5.25% Senior Notes due 2021”), our 6.50% dollar-denominated Senior Notes due 2018 and our 6.50%
Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2018 (collectively, our “6.50% Senior Notes”), our floating rate
Senior Notes due 2016 (the “Floating Rate Senior Notes”), our 5%% Senior Notes due 2019 (the “5%%
Senior Notes”), our 5%% Senior Notes due 2022 (the “57% Senior Notes”), our 5.25% Senior Notes due
2019 (the “5.25% Senior Notes due 2019) and our Euro-denominated notes due 2014 (the “Euro Notes™)
and will be the basis for determining our compliance with comparable covenants in the indentures for the
Notes. The 5.75% Senior Notes, the 6748% Senior Notes, the 5.25% Senior Notes due 2021, the 5.50%
Senior Notes, the 6.50% Senior Notes, the Floating Rate Senior Notes, the 57%%Senior Notes, the 573%
Senior Notes and the 5.25% Senior Notes due 2019 are collectively referred to in this offering
memorandum as the Company’s “Outstanding Senior Notes.” You should not consider EBITDA to be an
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alternative to net earnings determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP or IFRS or to cash flow from
operations, investing activities or financing activities. In addition, not all funds depicted by EBITDA are
available for management’s discretionary use. For example, a substantial portion of such funds is subject to
contractual restrictions and functional requirements for debt service, to fund necessary capital
expenditures and to meet other commitments from time to time as described in more detail elsewhere in
our public filings. For a reconciliation of EBITDA to cash flow provided by operating activities, which we
consider to be our most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure, see Item 5, “Operating and
Financial Review and Prospects — Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Non-U.S. GAAP
Measures — EBITDA” in our 2013 Form 20-F and “Interim Report of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 — Financial Condition and Results
of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Non-U.S. GAAP Measures — EBITDA” in our July
2014 Form 6-K.

Cash flow measures

Free cash flow is the cash flow provided by (used in) operating activities after capital expenditures for
property, plant and equipment but before acquisitions and investments. The key performance indicator
used by management is free cash flow in percentage of revenue. This represents the percentage of revenue
that is available for acquisitions, dividends to shareholders, or the reduction of debt financing.
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SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA PREPARED UNDER U.S. GAAP
AND OTHER DATA

The following table summarizes the consolidated financial information and certain other information
for Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA for each of the years 2009 through 2013, as of June 30, 2014
and 2013, and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, and includes certain pro forma
financial information that gives effect to the issuance and sale of the Notes and certain other transactions.
For each of the years presented, we derived the selected financial information from our consolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). We derived the selected consolidated financial data as of June 30, 2014
and 2013, and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 from our unaudited consolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance with the U.S. GAAP. We prepared our unaudited consolidated
financial statements on a basis substantially consistent with our audited consolidated financial statements.
You should read this information together with our consolidated financial statements and the notes to
those statements incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum, Item 5, “Operating and
Financial Review and Prospects” in our 2013 Form 20-F and the “Interim Report of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013” in our July 2014
Form 6-K.

For the six months

ended
June 30, Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in millions except ratios and operating data)
Statement of Operations Data:

Net revenues . . .. .......... $ 7398 $ 7,076 $ 14,610 $ 13,800 $ 12,570 $ 11,844 $ 11,047
Cost of revenues . . . ......... 5,105 4,809 9,872 9,199 8,418 8,009 7,504
Gross profit . .. ............ 2,293 2,267 4,738 4,601 4,152 3,835 3,543
Selling, general and administrative . 1,250 1,187 2,391 2,223 2,002 1,823 1,698
Gain on sale of dialysis clinics . . . . — ) 9) (36) ) — —
Research and development . . . . . . 61 61 126 112 111 97 94
Income from equity method

investees . . . . ... ... (18) ) (26) 17) 31) 9) 5)
Other operating expenses. . . . . . . — — — 100 — — —
Operating income . . .. ....... 1,001 1,038 2,256 2,219 2,075 1,924 1,756
Investment gain . . . .......... — — — 140 — — —
Interest expense, net. . . .. ... .. 195 208 409 426 297 280 300
Income before income taxes . . . . . 807 830 1,847 1,933 1,778 1,644 1,456
Net income attributable to

shareholders of FMC-AG & Co.

KGaA . ................ $ 439 § 488 $ 1,110 § 1,187 $ 1,071 $ 979 $ 891
Other Financial Data:
EBITDA® . .. ... ... ....... $ 1,337 $ 1,353 § 2,904 $ 2,821 $ 2,632 $ 2,427 $ 2,213
Depreciation and amortization . . . 336 315 648 603 557 503 457
Net debt® . .. ... ... ....... 8,495 7,760 7,735 7,610 6,754 5,357 5,267
Net debt excluding trust preferred

securities . ... ... 8,495 7,760 7,735 7,610 6,754 4,731 4,611
Capital expenditures . . . . ... ... 419 334 748 675 598 524 574
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges® 3.9 4.1 4.4 4.8 5.2 5.5 4.8
Free Cash flow® . .. ... ...... 147 522 1,307 1,373 876 861 777
Ratio of EBITDA to interest

expense, net .. ........... 6.9x 6.5x 7.1x 6.6 x 8.9x 8.7x 7.4x
Ratio of net debt to EBITDA®® 2.9x 2.8x 2.7x 2.7x 2.6x 2.2x 2.4x
Pro Forma Data:
Net debt adjusted for Term Loan

A-2, the Equity-neutral

Convertible Bonds and the

offering®? . . ... ... ... 9,095
Ratio of adjusted net debt to

EBITDA® . .. ........... 31
Operating Data:
No. of treatments . ... ....... 20,632,860 19,747,907 40,456,900 38,588,184 34,388,422 31,670,702 29,425,758
No. of patients . . ........... 280,942 264,290 270,122 257,916 233,156 214,648 195,651
No.of clinics .. ............ 3,335 3,212 3,250 3,160 2,898 2,744 2,553
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June 30, Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

(in millions)

Balance Sheet Data:

Totaldebt........................ $ 9,139 $ 8346 $ 8,417 § 8,298 $ 7,211 $ 5,880 $ 5,568
Total assets. . ..................... 24,145 22,328 23,120 22,326 19,533 17,095 15,821

Total equity ...................... 9,650 9,110 9,485 9,207 8,061 7,524 6,798

(1) EBITDA (operating income plus depreciation and amortization) is the basis for determining compliance with certain covenants
contained in our 2012 Credit Agreement, the Euro Notes and the indentures relating to our Outstanding Senior Notes. You
should not consider EBITDA to be an alternative to net earnings determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP or to cash flow
from operations, investing activities or financing activities. In addition, not all funds depicted by EBITDA are available for
management’s discretionary use. For example, a substantial portion of such funds are subject to contractual restrictions and
functional requirements for debt service, to fund necessary capital expenditures and to meet other commitments from time to
time as described in more detail elsewhere in our public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. For a
reconciliation of cash flow provided by operating activities to EBITDA, see Item 5, “Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects — Final Conditions and Results of Operations — Non-U.S. GAAP Measures — EBITDA” in our 2013 Form 20-F
and the “Interim Report of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 —
Liquidity and Capital Resources — Non-U.S. GAAP Measures- EBITDA in our July 2014 Form 6-K.

(2) Net debt includes short-term borrowings, short-term borrowings from related parties and long-term debt (including current
portion), less cash and cash equivalents.

(3) In calculating the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings consist of income before taxes plus fixed charges. Fixed charges
consist of interest expense and amortization of deferred financing fees, plus an interest factor for operating leases calculated
using the Company’s weighted average cost of capital.

(4) Free cash flow is the cash flow provided by (used in) operating activities after capital expenditures for property, plant and
equipment but before acquisitions and investments. Free cash flow in percentage of revenue is a key performance indicator
used by the Company’s management. This represents the percentage of revenue that is available for acquisitions, dividends to
shareholders, or the reduction of debt financing.

(5) The ratios of net debt to EBITDA at June 30, 2014 and 2013 are calculated utilizing EBITDA for the twelve-month periods
ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 of $2,888 million and $2,788 million respectively.

(6) In 2001, the Company issued trust preferred securities which were redeemed on June 15, 2011. The ratio of net debt excluding
trust preferred securities to EBITDA for the years ended 2009 and 2010 and the six months ended June 30, 2011 was 2.1x, 1.9x
and 2.1x, respectively.
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SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA PREPARED UNDER IFRS

The Company uses IFRS to comply with the reporting requirements of the German Commercial Code
(Handelsgesetzbuch) and other German laws. The following table summarizes the consolidated financial
information and certain other information for Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA prepared in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards of the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) as of December 31, 2013 and 2012,
for each of the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, as of June 30, 2014 and 2013, and for the
six-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013. For the years presented, we derived the selected financial
information from our audited consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and
incorporated by reference herein. We derived the selected consolidated financial data as of June 30, 2014
and 2013 and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 from our unaudited consolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. We prepared our unaudited consolidated financial
statements on a basis substantially consistent with our audited consolidated financial statements. You
should read this information together with our consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance
with IFRS and the notes to those statements incorporated by reference into this offering memorandum.

For the six months For the year ended
ended June 30, December 31,
2014 2013 2013 2012
(in millions except share and per share
amounts)
Statement of Operations Data:
Net TeVENUECS . « o v v vt et e e e e e et et e et e e e e €5,492 €5488 €11,215 €10,959
Operating income . .. ............. ... 722 796 1,683 1,732
Net income attributable to FMC-AG & Co. KGaA ......... € 309 € 375 € 811 € 925
Other Financial Data:
EBITDAD 968 1,037 2,173 2,203
Depreciation and amortization . . ...................... 246 241 490 471
Net debt® 6,183 5,879 5,568 5,668
Ratio of EBITDA to interest expense, net . .............. 6.8x 6.6x 10.3x 10.2x
Ratio of net debt to EBITDA® . . ... ... ... ... ........... 2.9x 2.6x 2.6x 2.6x
Capital expenditures . ............. ... ... .. .. ... .. 306 254 563 526
Acquisitions and investments . ........................ 271 71 373 1,402
June 30, December 31,
2014 2013 2013 2012

(in millions)
Balance Sheet Data:
Total ASSetS . . oo vttt €17,573 €17,004 €16,704 €16,917
Total equity . .. .. oot € 7,155 € 7,000 € 6,991 € 7,120

(1) EBITDA (operating income plus depreciation and amortization) is the basis for determining compliance with certain covenants
contained within our 2012 Credit Agreement, Euro Notes and the indentures relating to our Outstanding Senior Notes. Each of
those instruments requires that we compute EBITDA from our operating income determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
You should not consider EBITDA to be an alternative to net earnings determined in accordance with IFRS or to cash flow from
operations, investing activities or financing activities. In addition, not all funds depicted by EBITDA are available for
management’s discretionary use. For example, a substantial portion of such funds are subject to contractual restrictions and
functional requirements for debt service, to fund necessary capital expenditures and to meet other commitments from time to
time as described in more detail elsewhere in our public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(2) Net debt includes short-term borrowings, short-term borrowings from related parties and long term debt (including current
portion), less cash and cash equivalents.

(3) The ratios of net debt to EBITDA at June 30, 2014 and 2013 are calculated utilizing EBITDA for the twelve-month periods
ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 of €2,141 million (including non-cash charges of €37 million) and €2,246 million (including
non-cash charges of €79 million) respectively.

Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS Financial Information

Financial statements and other financial information prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP are not
comparable to, and could differ from, financial statements and other financial information prepared in
accordance with IFRS. The following represents a summary of certain of the significant differences
between U.S. GAAP and IFRS as they affect determination of our consolidated net income. The summary
has been prepared to assist a reader in understanding the nature of the differences between U.S. GAAP
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and IFRS as they relate to our Company. This summary does not provide a description of all of the
significant differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS that could impact our financial statements will most likely
result from differences in the accounting treatment under U.S. GAAP and IFRS relating to (1) recognition
of the gains resulting from operating sale and leaseback transactions, (2) accounting requirements for
deferred taxes related to stock options, (3) amortization of actuarial losses of employee benefit plans,
(4) capitalization of development cost and the subsequent amortization of these costs, (5) different
accounting requirements for bad debt provisions associated with patient service revenue and (6) different
accounting requirements for contingent considerations arising from acquisitions. Each of these items is
discussed below. This list is not intended as a complete discussion of the differences between U.S. GAAP
and IFRS; it addresses only the differences that could have an impact on our financial statements.

1. Recognition of gains resulting from operating sale and leaseback transactions

We sell assets to leasing companies and lease them back under operating lease agreements. Under
U.S. GAAP, the gain from the sale is deferred over the term of the lease whereas IFRS requires an
immediate recognition of the gain. If the selling price is higher than the fair value, this difference is also
deferred under IFRS.

2. Different accounting requirements for deferred taxes on stock options

Under U.S. GAAP, deferred taxes on compensation expense for stock options are based on the fair
value of stock options. Under IFRS, deferred taxes on stock options are based on the intrinsic value of
stock options. The resulting difference between deferred tax expense, deferred tax assets and additional
paid in capital under IFRS and U.S. GAAP is usually completely offset at the date of the exercise of stock
options and the associated receipt of tax benefits. However, there is an exception, if the intrinsic value of
the stock options at the date of exercise is lower than their originally estimated fair value; a tax expense
would be recorded under IFRS whereas under U.S. GAAP this effect would be offset with the APIC pool.

3. Amortization of actuarial losses of employee benefit plans

IAS 19R eliminated the corridor approach to accounting for actuarial gains and losses and requires
their recognition in accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) without recycling to profit and loss.
As a result the pension expense recognized under IFRS is lower or higher than the expense recognized
under U.S. GAAP. Additionally, there is a difference in the calculation of the return on plan assets.
According to U.S. GAAP this return is comprised of the expected profit out of plan assets. According to
IFRS the return is calculated by discounting the fair value of a plan asset at the beginning of a period by
using the interest rate for determining pension liabilities. As a result the return on plan assets recognized
under IFRS is lower than the return on plan assets recognized under U.S. GAAP.

4.  Capitalization of development costs if specific requirements are fulfilled

Costs for the development of new products or technologies are capitalized in accordance with IFRS
whereas U.S. GAAP does not allow capitalization. Subsequent to initial measurement under IFRS, the
costs for development of successful products or technologies are amortized over the useful life while the
costs for development of unsuccessful products or technologies are written off.

5. Presentation of a health care entity’s bad debt provisions associated with patient service revenue

As of January 1, 2012 the Company adopted the new U.S. GAAP Accounting Standards Update
“ASU No. 2011-07” Health Care Entities — Revenue Recognition (formerly EITF 09-H). Unlike current
IFRS requirements, ASU No. 2011-07 requires the provisions for bad debt associated with patient service
revenue to be separately disclosed on the face of the income statement as a component of net revenue for
health care entities that provide services regardless of a patient’s ability to pay. Such provisions for bad
debt apply to NA Provider business only. In accordance with IFRS those provisions for bad debt associated
with patient service revenue continue to be shown as part of SG&A.

6. Contingent consideration arising from acquisitions

A contingent consideration arising from the acquisition of an associate is recognized initially at fair
value as part of the cost of acquisition according to IFRS. Any subsequent fair value adjustments to the
liability, and its ultimate settlement, are accounted for through profit or loss. Under U.S. GAAP a
contingent consideration is generally not recognized until the contingency is resolved. Once resolved, the
contingent consideration is recognized as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment.
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We consider the differences between our net income determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP and
our net income determined in accordance with IFRS to be immaterial for each of the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012. We note a significant difference in the year over year comparison of the six
months ended June 30, 2014 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2013, as the first six months of
2014 were impacted by a contingent payment adjustment which is expensed under IFRS and not allowed
under U.S. GAAP. We consider this difference to only be significant on the quarterly basis and will not
result in a material difference from an annual perspective.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA RELATING TO THE ISSUER

The following table summarizes the financial information and certain other information of the Issuer
as of and for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, and as of and for the six months ended June 30,
2014 and 2013. For each of the years presented, the selected financial information has been derived from
the audited financial statements of the Issuer prepared in conformity in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The
selected consolidated financial data as of June 30, 2014 and 2013 and for the six months ended June 30,
2014 and 2013 have been derived from the Issuer’s unaudited financial statements prepared in accordance
with U.S. GAAP. The Issuer’s unaudited financial statements were prepared on a basis substantially
consistent with its audited financial statements.

At June 30, At December 31,
The Issuer 2014 2013 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Notes receivable from affiliates .. ............. $2,081,003 $2,003,970 $2,094,003 $2,013,118
Interest receivables from affiliates . ............ 45,442 43,869 45,802 44,177
Cash and cash equivalents . . . ................ 47 28 1 19
Accrued liabilities . . . ........... ... .. ...... 42,208 40,639 42,570 40,948
Long term debt, net of discount .............. 1,896,690 1,895,904 1,896,297 1,895,511
Long term derivative liabilities. . .. ............ 186,637 84,007 168,605 66,879

For the six months For the year ended

ended June 30, December 31,
2014 2013 2013 2012

(in thousands)
Statement of Operations Data:

Interest €Xpense . ... ...ov vt $(57,525) $(57,524) $(115,052) $(108,950)
Income tax ......... ... i i i 10,758 9,983 17,306 8,127
Unrealized losses on derivative instruments . ......... (17,025)  (16,868)  (127,199)  (34,753)
Interest inCOME . . . ... ..ot i ittt 59,101 59,172 117,470 109,355

Financial Data for the Guarantors

Separate financial statements of the Guarantors Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. and Fresenius
Medical Care Deutschland GmbH for the financial years 2012 and 2013 and for the six months ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013 are not included in this offering memorandum as such Guarantors do not prepare
and publish separate financial statements. Our consolidated financial statements, however, contain
financial information for our group of companies on a consolidated basis which includes Fresenius Medical
Care Holdings, Inc. and Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH as our principal subsidiaries. See
Note 17, “Supplemental Condensed Combining Information,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements (unaudited) in our July 2014 Form 6-K and Note 25, “Supplemental Condensed Combining
Information,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2013 Form 20-F incorporated by
reference in this offering memorandum.
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THE ISSUER

The Issuer is a wholly owned subsidiary of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA. The Issuer was
incorporated under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, United States, on August 22,
2011, with the identification number 5021129. The Issuer has an authorized share capital of 1,000 shares,
par value $0.01 per share. The Issuer has issued 100 shares of common stock and will receive additional
capital contributions of $50.0 million. The outstanding shares of the Issuer are fully paid and
non-assessable.

Under Article III of the Issuer’s certificate of incorporation, the business or purposes to be conducted
by it are to “engage in any lawful financing act or activity, and any other acts related thereto or in
furtherance thereof, for which corporations may be organized and incorporated under the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware”. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each of the
following activities, agreements and undertakings specified below is expressly stated to be in furtherance of
the purpose of the Issuer:

* incurring, issuing and selling debt securities, including the Notes, Additional Notes and additional
debt securities to the extent permitted by the Indentures governing the Notes and other
indentures to which it may be a party (see “Description of the Notes — Additional Notes,”
“— Certain Covenants — Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness” and “— Certain
Covenants — Ownership of the Issuer”);

e advancing the proceeds of the Notes to us and our subsidiaries;
* becoming a guarantor under our 2012 Credit Agreement or any refinancing thereof; and

e engaging in any lawful act or activity and exercising any lawful power necessary, incidental or
convenient to enable the Issuer to carry out the foregoing purposes.

As a result of its purpose as described above, the Issuer does not compete in any markets and cannot
make a statement regarding its competitive position in any markets. A change of the activities of the Issuer
as described in this offering memorandum is currently not expected.

The Issuer will advance or distribute the proceeds of the Notes to Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co.
KGaA and/or its subsidiaries on the issue date of the Notes. Therefore, the only assets of the Issuer will be
the intercompany receivables that will be created when the Issuer advances or distributes to us and our
subsidiaries the proceeds from the Notes and any additional equity contributions it receives, and other
intercompany receivables created or acquired in connection with any additional indebtedness of the Issuer.
The Issuer’s ability to make interest and other payments on the Notes and any other obligations it may
create or incur is wholly dependent upon us and our subsidiaries making payments on the intercompany
obligations that we owe to the Issuer as and when required which is, in turn, subject to the risks and other
matters described in this offering memorandum.

The Issuer’s executive offices are located at 920 Winter Street, Waltham, Massachusetts, 02451-1457,
U.S.A., and its telephone number is +1 (781) 699-9000. Its registered office is located c/o The Corporation
Trust Company, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, County of New Castle, Delaware, 19801.

The current directors of the Issuer are Mr. Ronald Kuerbitz and Dr. Angelo MoBlang. The directors
can be contacted at the executive offices of the Issuer. Mr. Kuerbitz is Chief Executive Officer of Fresenius
Medical Care North America. Dr. MoBlang is Chief Financial Officer of Fresenius Medical Care North
America. There are no conflicts of interest between the private interests of the directors and other duties
of the directors and their duties vis-a-vis the Issuer.

The Issuer has appointed KPMG LLP, 60 South Street, Boston, Massachusetts, U.S.A., 02111, as its
independent auditors. KPMG LLP is registered with the U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board and is a member of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Issuer does not have an
audit committee.

The financial year of the Issuer starts on January 1 and ends on December 31 of each year.

The certificate of incorporation and by-laws of the Issuer as well as the complete documentation
relating to the Notes referred to in this offering memorandum under “Listing and General Information —
Listing and Admission to Trading” are available and can be obtained free of charge by any interested
person at the executive office of the Issuer or at the specified office of the listing agent in Luxembourg
during normal business hours.
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As there is no general federal corporation law in the United States, the law of the state of
incorporation of a corporation establishes the framework for its corporate governance. The Issuer’s
certificate of incorporation is consistent with the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. The
shares of the Issuer are not listed or traded on any stock exchange.

The Issuer has not entered into any contracts outside the ordinary course of business which could
result in any member of the Fresenius Medical Care group of companies being under an obligation or
entitlement that is material to the Issuer’s ability to meet its obligations in respect of the Notes.

The annual financial statements of the Issuer will be available when published. The audited financial
statements of the Issuer at and for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the audit report of
KPMG LLP thereon, and the unaudited financial statements of the Issuer as of June 30, 2014 and 2013 as
well as for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 are included in this offering memorandum.
The Issuer does not hold any participations in other undertakings and does not prepare consolidated
financial statements.

Since the day of its incorporation, the Issuer has not held any participations in other undertakings and
has not issued any convertible debt securities, exchangeable debt securities or securities with warrants
attached. For information regarding Outstanding Senior Notes of the Issuer, see “Description of Certain
Indebtedness — Senior Notes”. The Issuer does not currently own any interest in real estate.

Financial notices concerning the Issuer and intended for holders of the Notes will be published on the
website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange www.bourse.lu.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The aggregate net proceeds from the sale of $500 million principal amount of Notes due 2020 at 100%
and $400 million aggregate principal amount of Notes due 2024 at 100% will be approximately
$888.2 million, after the payment of fees and estimated expenses in the total amount of approximately
$11.8 million. We intend to use the net proceeds of this offering to repay Term Loan A-2 under our 2012
Credit Agreement as well as other short term debt, and for acquisitions and general corporate purposes.
Certain of the Initial Purchasers and/or their affiliates are agents and/or lenders under our 2012 Credit
Agreement. Certain of the Initial Purchasers and/or their affiliates are lenders under the Term Loan A-2
and will receive a portion of the net proceeds of this offering in such capacity. See “Use of Proceeds” and
“Plan of Distribution and Offer of the Notes.” For information regarding our 2012 Credit Agreement, see
“Description of Certain Indebtedness.”
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table presents the unaudited consolidated capitalization of Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA as of June 30, 2014 and as adjusted to reflect Term Loan A-2, the issuance of
€400 million aggregate principal amount of Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds on September 19, 2014 and
the offering of the Notes and our application of the net proceeds to reduce indebtedness as described
under “Use of Proceeds.”

You should read the following table in conjunction with “Use of Proceeds,” “Selected Historical
Consolidated Financial Data Prepared Under U.S. GAAP and Other Data,” “Item 5, “Operating and
Financial Review and Prospects” in our 2013 Form 20-F, the “Interim Report of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013” in our July 2014
Form 6-K,” and our financial statements and related notes thereto incorporated by reference in this
offering memorandum. Except as noted below, Euro-denominated and other non-Dollar-denominated
indebtedness has been translated into U.S. Dollars at the exchange rates of June 30, 2014.

As adjusted for
As adjusted on  the issuance of
September 19, Notes in this

June 30, 2014 20147 offering

(in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents . ..................o.uu.. $ 644,538 $§ 644,538 $ 644,538
Other short-term borrowings . ..................... 197,804 197,804 197,804
Short-term borrowings from related parties . . .......... 161,984 161,984 161,984
Total short-term debt . ... .......... ... $ 359,788 $ 359,788 $ 359,788
2012 Credit Agreement — Revolving Credit Facility® . . . . 867,812 355,812 55,812
2012 Credit Agreement — Term Loan A . ............ 2,400,000 2,400,000 2,400,000
2012 Credit Agreement — Term Loan A-2® . . ... ... ... 600,000 —
Notes offered hereby® . . ... ... ... ............... — 900,000
Floating rate Senior Notes . . . ..................... 136,580 136,580 136,580
67% Senior NOTES . . . . v v v e e e e et e 497,337 497,337 497,337
5.50% Senior NOteS . . . ..o i it 339,987 339,987 339,987
5.75% Senior NOteS . . . ..o vttt 645,978 645,978 645,978
5.25% Senior Notes € .. ......... .. .. .. ... 341,450 341,450 341,450
5.25% Senior Notes € .. ......... .. .. .. ... 409,740 409,740 409,740
6.50% Senior NOtES . . . . v v it e e e 396,691 396,691 396,691
6.50% Senior Notes € . .. ... ... . ... 541,797 541,797 541,797
5%% Senior NOteS . . . ..ot e 800,000 800,000 800,000
57%% Senior NOteS . . . . oo oo e 700,000 700,000 700,000
Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds € ... ............. 512,000 512,000
Euro Notes . . ... .. 38,413 38,413 38,413
A/RFacility. . ... ... 423,250 423,250 423,250
Capital lease obligations. . .. ......... ... ... ... ..... 46,861 46,861 46,861
Other . ... 193,803 193,803 193,803
Total debt . . ... ... . 9,139,487 9,739,487 9,739,487
Total net debt® . . ... .. ... $ 8,494,949 $ 9,094,949 $ 9,094,949
Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions ....... 672,234 672,234 672,234
Noncontrolling interests not subject to put provisions. . . . . 268,486 268,486 268,486
Total FMC-AG & Co. KGaA shareholders’ equity . . ... .. 9,381,668 9,381,668 9,381,668
Total capitalization® ... ......................... $20,106,413  $20,706,413  $20,706,413

(1) For information regarding amounts available under the Revolving Credit Facility of our 2012 Credit Agreement, see Note 6,
“Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) in our July
2014 Form 6-K and “Description of Certain Indebtedness.”

(2) On July 1, 2014, after the June 30, 2014 balance sheet date but before the issuance of the Notes offered hereby, the Company
increased its 2012 Credit Agreement, establishing an incremental term loan tranche of $600 million which was used to acquire a
majority interest in Sound Inpatient Physicians, Inc. and for general corporate purposes. See Note 16, “Subsequent Events” in
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) in our July 2014 Form 6-K and the “Interim Report on
Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013” in our July 2014
Form 6-K. We intend to use a portion of the proceeds of this offering to repay Term Loan A-2 under our 2012 Credit
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Agreement in full as well as other short-term debt and for acquisitions and general corporate purposes. On an interim basis, the
remaining proceeds will be applied to the Revolving Credit Facility under our 2012 Credit Agreement. See “Use of Proceeds”
and “Description of Certain Indebtedness.”

(3) Represents the gross principal amount of the Notes offered hereby (excluding estimated fees and expenses of $11.8 million).

(4) The aggregate principal amount of the Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds has been determined using the exchange rate on
September 19, 2014 (date of issuance).

(5) Net debt includes total debt less cash and cash equivalents.

(6) Total capitalization includes cash and cash equivalents, total debt, noncontrolling interest, and total FMC-AG & Co. KGaA
shareholders’ equity.

(7)  As adjusted for the issuance of Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds and Term Loan A-2.

Exchange Rate Information

For a summary of the high and low exchange rates for the euro to U.S. dollars and the average
exchange rates for the last five years, see Item 11, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risk — Management of Foreign Exchange and Interest Rate Risks — Foreign Exchange Risk” in our 2013
Form 20-F. Information regarding the exchange rate between the U.S. Dollar and the Euro for the six
months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, and the six months preceding the date of this offering
memorandum is set forth below. The European Central Bank (“ECB”) determines such rates (“Reference
Rates”) based on the regular daily averaging of rates between central banks within and outside the
European banking system. The ECB normally publishes the Reference Rates daily at 2:15 p.m. (CET). In
preparing our consolidated financial statements and in converting certain U.S. dollar amounts in this
report, we have used the Year’s Average Reference Rate of $1.3281 or Year’s Close Reference Rate of
$1.3791 per €1.00. In preparing our unaudited consolidated financial statements incorporated by reference
in this offering memorandum, we have used the Average Reference Rates for the six months ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013 of $1.3703 and 1.3134, respectively, or the closing Reference Rate as of June 30,
2014 of $1.3658 per €1.00.

Six Months  Six Months  Six Months  Six Months

Six months ended June 30, High Low Average Close
2014 US$perEUR ......................... 1.3953 1.3495 1.3703 1.3658
2013 US$perEUR ......................... 1.3644 1.2768 1.3134 1.3080
Month High Low Average Close
September 2014 . . . . .. L 1.3151 1.2583 1.2901 1.2583
August 2014 . . .. 1.3422  1.3192 1.3316 1.3188
July 2014 . . o 1.3688 1.3379 1.3539 1.3379
June 2014 . .. 1.3658 1.3528 1.3592 1.3658
May 2014 . .o 1.3953 1.3607 1.3732 1.3607
April 2014 . . 1.3872 1.3700 1.3813 1.3850
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BUSINESS — RECENT DEVELOPMENTS AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

On October 21, 2014 the Company acquired Laurus Healthcare L.P, which does business under the
trade name National Cardiovascular Partners “NCP”. NCP is the leading operator of outpatient cardiac
catheterization and vascular laboratories in the U.S. In line with this acquisition the Company increased its
guidance for acquisition spending to approximately $1.3 billion for 2014.

As of the date of this offering memorandum, except as disclosed in this offering memorandum,
including “Listing and General Information — Legal and Regulatory Matters” and the documents
incorporated by reference, there are no material updates to the information provided in our Annual
Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2013 and in our Report on Form 6-K dated July 31,
2014 containing our financial statements as of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and
2013, which are incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum.
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MANAGEMENT
Directors and Senior Management
General

As a partnership limited by shares, under the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), our
corporate bodies are our General Partner, our Supervisory Board and our general meeting of
shareholders. Our sole General Partner is Management AG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fresenius SE.
Management AG is required to devote itself exclusively to the management of Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA.

Our General Partner has a supervisory board and a management board. These two boards are
separate and no individual may simultaneously be a member of both boards. A person may, however, serve
on both the supervisory board of our General Partner and on our Supervisory Board.

The General Partner’s Supervisory Board

The supervisory board of Management AG consists of six members who are elected by Fresenius SE
(acting through its general partner, Fresenius Management SE), the sole shareholder of Management AG.
Pursuant to a pooling agreement for the benefit of the public holders of our shares, at least one-third (but
no fewer than two) of the members of the General Partner’s supervisory board are required to be
independent directors as defined in the pooling agreement, i.e., persons with no substantial business or
professional relationship with us, Fresenius SE, the general partner, or any affiliate of any of them.

Unless resolved otherwise by the general meeting of shareholders, the terms of each of the members
of the supervisory board of Management AG will expire at the end of the general meeting of shareholders
held during the fourth fiscal year following the year in which the Management AG supervisory board
member was elected by Fresenius SE, but not counting the fiscal year in which such member’s term begins.
Fresenius SE, as the sole shareholder of Management AG, is at any time entitled to re-appoint members of
the Management AG supervisory board. The most recent election of members of the General Partner’s
supervisory board took place in July 2011. Members of the General Partner’s supervisory board may be
removed only by a resolution of Fresenius SE in its capacity as sole shareholder of the General Partner.
Neither our shareholders nor the separate Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA has any influence
on the appointment of the supervisory board of the General Partner.

The General Partner’s supervisory board ordinarily acts by simple majority vote and the Chairman has
a tie-breaking vote in case of any deadlock. The principal function of the general partner’s supervisory
board is to appoint and to supervise the General Partner’s management board in its management of the
Company, and to approve mid-term planning, dividend payments and matters which are not in the
ordinary course of business and are of fundamental importance to us.

The table below provides the names of the members of the supervisory board of Management AG and
their ages as of January 1, 2014.

Age as of

January 1,
Name 2014
Dr. UIf M. Schneider, Chairman® . . . . . ... .. 48
Dr. Dieter Schenk, Vice Chairman® . . . . ... ... 61
Dr. Gerd Krick(D ) | 75
Mr. Rolf A. Classon® ) 68
Dr. Walter L. Weisman(D@0) 78
Mr. William P. JohnstonM@®&) 69

(1) Members of the Human Resources Committee of the supervisory board of Management AG
(2) Members of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA
(3) Independent director for purposes of our pooling agreement

(4) Member of the Regulatory and Reimbursement Assessment Committee of the supervisory board of Management AG
DR. ULF M. SCHNEIDER has been Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Management AG, the
Company’s General Partner, since April 2005. He is also Chairman of the Management Board of Fresenius

Management SE, the general partner of Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA, and Chairman or member of the
Board of a number of other Fresenius SE group companies. Additionally, he was Group Finance Director
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for Gehe UK plc., a pharmaceutical wholesale and retail distributor, in Coventry, United Kingdom. He has
also held several senior executive and financial positions since 1989 with Gehe’s majority shareholder,
Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH, Duisburg, a diversified German multinational company.

DR. DIETER SCHENK has been Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Management AG since
2005 and is also Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA and a member of the
Supervisory Board of Fresenius Management SE. He is an attorney and tax advisor and has been a partner
in the law firm of Noerr LLP (formerly Norr Stiefenhofer Lutz) since 1986. Additionally, he also serves as
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Gabor Shoes AG and TOPTICA Photonics AG and as a
Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Greiffenberger AG. Dr. Schenk is also Chairman of the
Advisory Board of Else Kroner-Fresenius-Stiftung, the sole shareholder of Fresenius Management SE,
which is the sole general partner of Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA.

DR. GERD KRICK has been a member of the Supervisory Board of Management AG since
December 2005 and the Chairman of the Company’s Supervisory Board since February 2006. He is the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Management SE and of Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA and is
also Chairman of the Board of Vamed AG, Austria.

MR. ROLF A. CLASSON has been a member of the Supervisory Board of Management AG since
July 7, 2011 and a member of the Company’s Supervisory Board since May 12, 2011. Mr. Classon is the
Chairman of the Board of Directors for Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Tecan Group Ltd.
Additionally, Mr. Classon is the Chairman of the Board of Directors for Hill-Rom Holdings, Inc.

DR. WALTER L. WEISMAN has been a member of the Supervisory Board of Management AG since
December 2005 and also serves on the Company’s Supervisory Board. Additionally, he is the former
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of American Medical International, Inc., and was a member of the
Board of Directors of Occidental Petroleum Corporation until May 4, 2012. He is also a Senior Trustee of
the Board of Trustees for the California Institute of Technology, a Life Trustee of the Board of Trustees of
the Los Angeles County Museum of Art, a Trustee of the Oregon Shakespeare Festival and Chairman of
the Board of Trustees of the Sundance Institute.

MR. WILLIAM P. JOHNSTON has been a member of the Supervisory Board of Management AG
since August 2006 and also serves on the Company’s Supervisory Board. Mr. Johnston has been an
Operating Executive of The Carlyle Group since June 2006. He is also a member of the Board of Directors
of The Hartford Mutual Funds, Inc. and HCR-Manor Care, Inc.

The General Partner’s Management Board

Each member of the Management Board of Management AG is appointed by the Supervisory Board
of Management AG for a maximum term of five years and is eligible for reappointment thereafter. Their
terms of office expire in the years listed below.

The table below provides names, positions and terms of office of the current members of the
Management Board of Management AG and their ages as of January 1, 2014.

Age as of
January 1, Year term
Name 2014 Position expires
Rice Powell .................... 58 Chief Executive Officer and Chairman 2017
of the Management Board
Michael Brosnan. . ............... 58 Chief Financial Officer 2017
Roberto Fusté . ................. 61 Chief Executive Officer for Asia Pacific 2016
Ronald Kuerbitz . . ............... 54 Chief Executive Officer, Fresenius 2015
Medical Care North America
Dr. Olaf Schermeier . ............. 41 Chief Officer of Global Research & 2017
Development
Kent Wanzek ................... 54 Head of Global Manufacturing 2017
Operations
Dominik Wehner . ............... 45 Chief Executive Officer for EMEA 2017

RICE POWELL has been with the Company since 1997. He became Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Management Board of Management AG effective January 1, 2013. He is also a member of
the Board of Administration of Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma, Ltd., Switzerland. He was the
Chief Executive Officer and director of Fresenius Medical Care North America until December 31, 2012.
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Mr. Powell has over 30 years of experience in the healthcare industry, which includes various positions with
Baxter International Inc., Biogen Inc., and Ergo Sciences Inc.

MICHAEL BROSNAN has been with the Company since 1998. He is a member of the Management
Board and Chief Financial Officer of Management AG. He is member of the Board of Administration of
Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma, Ltd., Switzerland. He is a member of the Board of Directors
of Fresenius Medical Care North America. Prior to joining Fresenius Medical Care, Mr. Brosnan held
senior financial positions at Polaroid Corporation and was an audit partner at KPMG.

ROBERTO FUSTE has been with the Company since 1991 and his present positions include member
of the Management Board of Management AG and Chief Executive Officer for Asia Pacific. Additionally,
he founded the company Nephrocontrol S.A. in 1983. In 1991, Nephrocontrol was acquired by Fresenius
SE, where Mr. Fusté has since worked. Mr. Fusté has also held several senior positions within the
Company in Europe and the Asia Pacific region.

RONALD KUERBITZ has been with the Company since 1997. He became a member of the
Management Board of Management AG and Chief Executive Officer of Fresenius Medical Care North
America on January 1, 2013. Mr. Kuerbitz is a member of the board of directors for Fresenius Medical
Care North America and member of the board of directors for Specialty Care Services Group, LLC.
Mr. Kuerbitz has more than 20 years of experience in the health care field, having held positions in law,
compliance, business development, government affairs and operations.

DR OLAF SCHERMEIER was appointed Chief Executive Officer for Global Research and
Development on March 1, 2013. Previously, he served as President of Global Research and Development
for Draeger Medical, Liibeck, Germany. Dr. Schermeier has many years of experience in various areas of
the health care industry, among others at Charite-clinic and Biotronik, Germany.

KENT WANZEK has been with the Company since 2003. He is a member of the Management Board
of Management AG with responsibility for Global Manufacturing Operations and prior to joining the
Management Board was in charge of North American Operations for the Renal Therapies Group at
Fresenius Medical Care North America since 2004. Additionally, Mr. Wanzek held several senior executive
positions with companies in the healthcare industry, including Philips Medical Systems, Perkin-Elmer, Inc.
and Baxter Healthcare Corporation.

DOMINIK WEHNER was appointed Chief Executive Officer for Europe, Middle East and Africa
(EMEA) on April 1, 2014. He began his career at Fresenius Medical Care in 1994 as Junior Sales Manager
and served recently as Executive Vice President responsible for the regions Eastern Europe, Middle East
and Africa as well as Renal Pharma EMEALA and People, Organizational Change and Implementation
EMEALA. He also serves on the Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. Board of Directors.

The business address of all members of our Management Board and Supervisory Board is
Else-Kroner-Strasse 1, 61352 Bad Homburg, Germany.

The Supervisory Board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA

The Supervisory Board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA consists of six members who are elected by the
shareholders of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA in a general meeting. The most recent Supervisory Board elections
occurred in May of 2011. Fresenius SE, as the sole shareholder of Management AG, the general partner, is
barred from voting for election of the Supervisory Board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA, but it nevertheless has
and will retain significant influence over the membership of the FMC-AG & Co. KGaA Supervisory Board
in the foreseeable future. See Item 16.G, “Corporate Governance — The Legal Structure of
FMC-AG & Co. KGaA” in our 2013 Form 20-F.

The current Supervisory Board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA consists of six persons, five of whom —
Messrs. Krick (Chairman), Schenk (Vice-Chairman), Classon, Johnston, and Weisman — are also
members of the supervisory board of our General Partner. For information regarding those members of
the Supervisory Board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA, see “The General Partner’s Supervisory Board,” above.
The sixth member of the Supervisory Board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA is Prof. Dr. Bernd Fahrholz.
Information regarding his age, term of office and business experience is as follows:

PROE DR. BERND FAHRHOLZ, age 66 was a member of the Supervisory Board of Management
AG from April 2005 until August 2006 and was a member of the Supervisory Board of FMC-AG from 1998
until the transformation of legal form to KGaA and has been a member of the Supervisory Board of
FMC-AG & Co. KGaA since the transformation. He is Vice Chairman of our Audit and Corporate

47



Governance Committee. Additionally, he was of counsel and a partner in several large law firms. He also is
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of SMARTRAC N.V.

The terms of office of the aforesaid members of the Supervisory Board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA will
expire at the end of the general meeting of shareholders of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA, in which the
shareholders discharge the Supervisory Board held during the fourth fiscal year following the year in which
they were elected, but not counting the fiscal year in which such member’s term begins. Fresenius SE, as
sole shareholder of our general partner, does not participate in the vote on discharge of the Supervisory
Board. Members of the FMC-AG & Co. KGaA Supervisory Board may be removed only by a resolution of
the shareholders of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA with a majority of three quarters of the votes cast at such
general meeting. Fresenius SE is barred from voting on such resolutions. The Supervisory Board of
FMC-AG & Co. KGaA ordinarily acts by simple majority vote and the Chairman has a tie-breaking vote in
case of any deadlock.

The principal function of the Supervisory Board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA is to oversee the
management of the Company but, in this function, the supervisory board of a partnership limited by shares
has less power and scope for influence than the supervisory board of a stock corporation. The Supervisory
Board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA is not entitled to appoint the General Partner or its executive bodies, nor
may it subject the general partner’s management measures to its consent or issue rules of procedure for the
general partner. Only the supervisory board of Management AG, elected solely by Fresenius SE, has the
authority to appoint or remove members of the General Partner’s Management Board. See Item 16.G,
“Corporate Governance — The Legal Structure of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA” in our 2013 Form 20-F. Among
other matters, the Supervisory Board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA will, together with the general partner, fix
the agenda for the AGM and make recommendations with respect to approval of the Company’s financial
statements and dividend proposals. The Supervisory Board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA will also propose
nominees for election as members of its Supervisory Board. The Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee also recommends to the Supervisory Board a candidate as the Company’s auditors to audit our
German statutory financial statements to be proposed by the Supervisory Board to our shareholders for
approval and, as required by the SEC and NYSE audit committee rules, retains the services of our
independent auditors to audit our U.S. GAAP financial statements.

Except for potential conflicts which could arise due to the relationships described in Item 7.B, “Major
Shareholders and Related Party Transactions — Related Party Transactions” in our 2013 Form 20-F there
are no conflicts of interest between the private interests of the members of the Supervisory Board of
FMC-AG & Co. KGaA and other duties of the Supervisory Board of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA and their
duties vis-a-vis the Issuer and the Guarantors.

Significant Shareholders

Our outstanding share capital consists of ordinary shares issued only in bearer form. Accordingly,
unless we receive information regarding acquisitions of our shares through a filing with the Securities and
Exchange Commission or through the German statutory requirements referred to below, or except as
described below with respect to our shares held in American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) form, we face
difficulties precisely determining who our shareholders are at any specified time or how many shares any
particular shareholder owns. Because we are a foreign private issuer under the rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, our directors and officers are not required to report their ownership of our equity
securities or their transactions in our equity securities pursuant to Section 16 of the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934. However, persons who become “beneficial owners” of more than 5% of our
ordinary shares are required to report their beneficial ownership pursuant to Section 13(d) of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. In addition, under the German Securities Trading Act
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz or “WpHG”), persons who discharge managerial responsibilities within an issuer
of shares are obliged to notify the issuer and the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority
(Bundesanstalt fiir Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht or “BaFin”) of their own transactions in shares of the
issuer. This obligation also applies to persons who are closely associated with the persons discharging
managerial responsibility. Additionally, holders of voting securities of a German company listed on the
regulated market (Regulierter Markt) of a German stock exchange or a corresponding trading segment of a
stock exchange within the European Union are obligated to notify the company of the level of their
holding whenever such holding reaches, exceeds or falls below certain thresholds, which have been set at
3%, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 30%, 50% and 75% of a company’s outstanding voting rights. Such
notification obligations will also apply to other financial instruments that result in an entitlement to
acquire shares or that causes the hedging of shares (excluding the 3% threshold).
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We have been informed that as of September 30, 2014, Fresenius SE owned 94,380,382, approximately
31.1%, of our ordinary shares. The following schedule lists other shareholders, which, to the best of our
knowledge, hold more than 3% of our share capital as at the date of this offering memorandum. The
percentage of voting rights noted in the table is calculated based on the 310,709,848 shares issued by the
Company (including shares held in treasury) as of September 30, 2014 and on the notifications furnished to
us by third parties pursuant to the German Securities Trading Act.

Voting Rights Notifications (Last Reported Status)

Number of
Date of voting
reaching, rights at
exceeding or Reporting Percentage of notification
Notifying party falling bellow threshold Reporting criteria voting rights date
BlackRock Financial
Management, Inc., .  September 25, 2014 5% falling Attribution pursuant to 4.035 12,537,228
New York, USA below, 3% Section 22 (1) sentence 1
exceeding  No. 6 as well as (1) sentence 2
WpHG
BlackRock Holdco September 25, 2014 5% falling Attribution pursuant to 4.040 12,554,058
2,Inc., ......... below, 3% Section 22 (1) sentence 1
Wilmington, USA exceeding  No. 6 as well as (1) sentence 2
WpHG
BlackRock, Inc.,. . . ... September 25, 2014 5% falling Attribution pursuant to 4.104 12,750,189
New York, USA below, 3% Section 22 (1) sentence 1
exceeding  No. 6 as well as (1) sentence 2
WpHG

All of our ordinary shares have the same voting rights. However, as the sole shareholder of our
General Partner, Fresenius SE is barred from voting its ordinary shares on certain matters. See Item 16.G,
“Corporate Governance — Supervisory Board” in our 2013 Form 20-F.

Bank of New York Mellon, our ADR depositary, informed us, that as of December 31, 2013,
25,705,490 ordinary ADSs, each representing one half of an ordinary share, were held of record by 3,713
U.S. holders. For more information regarding ADRs and ADSs see Item 10.B, “Additional Information —
Articles of Association — Description of American Depositary Receipts” in our 2013 Form 20-F.

Security Ownership of Management

As of September 30, 2014, no member of the Supervisory Board or the Management Board
beneficially owned 1% or more of our outstanding shares. At September 30, 2014, Management Board
members of the General Partner held options to acquire 1,605,324 ordinary shares of which options to
purchase 644,484 ordinary shares were exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of €45.92 ($57.79).

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners of Fresenius SE

Fresenius SE’s share capital consists solely of ordinary shares, issued only in bearer form. Accordingly,
Fresenius SE has difficulties precisely determining who its shareholders are at any specified time or how
many shares any particular shareholder owns. However, under the German Securities Trading Act, holders
of voting securities of a German company listed on the regulated market (Regulierter Markt) of a German
stock exchange or a corresponding trading segment of a stock exchange within the European Union are
obligated to notify the company of certain levels of holdings, as described above.

The Else Kroner-Fresenius Stiftung is the sole shareholder of Fresenius Management SE, the general
partner of Fresenius SE, and has sole power to elect the supervisory board of Fresenius Management SE.
In addition, based on the most recent information available, Else Kroner-Fresenius Stiftung owns
approximately 26.8% of the Fresenius SE ordinary shares. See Item 7.B, “Major Shareholders and Related
Party Transactions — Related party transactions — Other interests” in our 2013 Form 20-F. According to
the last information received from Allianz SE, they hold, indirectly, approximately 4.26% of the Fresenius
SE ordinary shares.
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THE GUARANTORS
Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc.

FMCH is an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA. FMCH
was incorporated on March 23, 1988 as W.R. Grace & Co. — New York and is organized and existing
under the Business Corporation Law of the State of New York. The State of New York does not issue
corporate identification numbers to companies organized under New York law. It subsequently changed its
name to W.R. Grace & Co. In September 1996, in connection with the Company’s acquisition of all of the
outstanding common stock of W.R. Grace & Co., it changed its name to Fresenius National Medical Care
Holdings, Inc. and in June 1997, it changed its name to Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. It conducts
business under the name Fresenius Medical Care North America. At the time it was acquired by the
Company in 1996, FMCH was primarily engaged in the packaging and specialty chemicals businesses and,
through NMC, in the health care business, providing kidney dialysis services, manufacturing products and
equipment for dialysis treatment and performing laboratory testing, and home health care services. FMCH
spun off its non-health care businesses to its shareholders immediately before the Company acquired
FMCH.

In January 2001, FMCH acquired Everest Healthcare Services Corporation, which was engaged in
providing dialysis services in the eastern and central United States and providing extracorporeal blood
services and the acute dialysis business. On March 31, 2006, FMCH acquired Renal Care Group, Inc., then
the fourth largest provider of outpatient renal care and ancillary services in the United States, based on
patients treated, for a net all cash purchase price of approximately $4.2 billion. On February 28, 2012,
FMCH acquired Liberty Dialysis Holdings, Inc., a leading provider of dialysis services in the United States,
for a purchase price of approximately $2.2 billion consisting of approximately $1.7 billion net cash and
$485 million non-cash consideration. On July 1, 2014, FMCH made an investment of approximately
$550,000,000 net for a majority interest in Sound Inpatient Physicians, Inc., a physician services
organization focused on hospitalist and post-acute care services, furthering our strategic investments in
Care Coordination.

FMCH’s executive offices are located at 920 Winter Street, Waltham, Massachusetts, 02451-1457,
U.S.A., and its telephone number is +1 (781) 699-9000. Pursuant to Article Second of FMCH’s restated
certificate of incorporation, FMCH’s business or purposes to be conducted by it is to engage in any lawful
act or activity for which corporations may be formed under the New York Business Corporations Law.

As of June 30, 2014, FMCH had an authorized share capital of 300,000,000 shares of common stock,
5,000,000 shares of Class C Preferred Stock, 2,653,560 shares of Class E Preferred Stock, and 2,100,000
shares of Class F Preferred Stock, each such class having a par value of $1.00 per share. FMCH has issued
90,000,000 shares of common stock. All of the outstanding shares of stock of FMCH, of all classes, are
indirectly owned by FMC-AG & Co. KGaA. The outstanding shares of FMCH are fully paid and
non-assessable.

FMCH is a holding company and is engaged, through subsidiaries, in providing dialysis treatment at
its own dialysis clinics, manufacturing dialysis products and supplying those products to its clinics and
selling dialysis products to other dialysis service providers, and performing clinical laboratory testing and
providing inpatient dialysis services and other services under contract to hospitals. FMCH operates in the
North American market. FMCH will unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee, jointly and severally with
FMC-AG & Co. KGaA and D-GmbH, the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes. In addition, FMCH is
a guarantor of our Outstanding Senior Notes and the Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds.

The current directors of FMCH are Rice Powell, Michael Brosnan, Ronald J. Kuerbitz, Kent Wanzek,
and Oliver Maier. Mr. Kuerbitz is the Chief Executive Officer of Fresenius Medical Care North America.
Mr. Maier is the Senior Vice President Investor Relations of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA and does not hold
principal positions outside of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA. For the principal positions outside FMCH of
Messrs. Powell, Brosnan, Kuerbitz and Wanzek, see “Management — The General Partner’s Management
Board.”

The business address of the directors is at the executive offices of FMCH. The FMCH board does not
have an audit committee. Except for matters which could arise due to the relationships described in
Note 2, “Related Party Transactions,” of the notes to our unaudited consolidated financial statements in
our July 2014 Form 6-K, and Note 3, “Related Party Transactions” of the notes to our audited consolidated
financial statements in our 2013 Form 20-F, incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum, there
are no potential conflicts of interest between the duties of each of the directors of FMCH and their private
interests or other duties of the directors and their duties vis-a-vis FMCH. At the date of this offering
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memorandum there are no loans granted or guarantees provided by FMCH to any director. As there is no
general federal corporation law in the United States, the law of the state of incorporation of a corporation
establishes the framework for its corporate governance. FMCH’s certificate of incorporation is consistent
with the Business Corporation Law of the State of New York. FMCH’s shares are not listed or traded on
any stock exchange.

The financial year of FMCH starts on January 1 and ends on December 31 of each year. Separate
financial statements of FMCH for the financial years 2012 and 2013 and for the six months ended June 30,
2014 and 2013 are not included in this offering memorandum as FMCH does not publish financial
statements. The Company’s consolidated financial statements, however, contain financial information for
our group which includes FMCH as one of the principal operating subsidiaries of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA.
In addition, the footnotes to our financial statements contain certain combining financial information for
the Company and the other Guarantors. See Note 17, “Supplemental Condensed Combining
Information,” of the notes to our unaudited consolidated financial statements in our July 2014 Form 6-K,
and Note 25, “Supplemental Condensed Combining Information,” of the notes to our audited
consolidated financial statements in our 2013 Form 20-F incorporated by reference in this offering
memorandum.

FMCH is the principal holding company for our North American Operations. See “Information on
the Company — Business Overview,” “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” “Financial Information — Legal Proceedings” and “Exhibits” in
our 2013 Form 20-F for further information on FMCH’s business, investments (including principal future
investments), the market it operates in, trend information and an outlook, legal and arbitration
proceedings and material contracts entered into by FMCH.

Financial notices concerning FMCH and intended for holders of the Notes will be published on the
website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange www.bourse.lu.

Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH

D-GmbH is a limited liability company (Gesellschaft mit beschrinkter Haftung) incorporated in and
organized and existing under the laws of Germany and registered with the commercial register of the local
court (Amtsgericht) of Bad Homburg vor der Hohe under HRB 5748. D-GmbH was established on June 5,
1996 under the name Fresenius Medical Care Dialysetechnik GmbH and was registered with the
commercial register of the local court (Amtsgericht) of Hof an der Saale under HRB 2452. It changed its
name to Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH and relocated its seat to Bad Homburg vor der Hohe
in October 1996.

The address and registered office of D-GmbH is at Else-Kroner-Straf3e 1, 61352 Bad Homburg v.d.
Hohe. The telephone number of its registered office is +49-6172-609-0. D-GmbH is an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. The share capital of D-GmbH totals €40,903,400.00 and as of the date
of this offering memorandum is divided into two shares of €40,877,800.00 and €25,600.00 both held by
Fresenius Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH. The share capital has been fully paid. Fresenius
Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH is in the process of transferring the share capital of D-GmbH
to Fresenius Medical Care Investment GmbH, a direct subsidiary of Fresenius Medical Care
Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, with such transfer expected to be effective on or about the date of this
offering memorandum. For a description of the Fresenius Medical Care AG& Co. KGaA group of
companies, see Item 4.B, “Information on the Company — Business Overview” in our 2013 Form 20-F.

In § 2 of the articles of association of D-GmbH the objects of the company are described as follows:

e the development, manufacturing and distribution as well as the trading of products, systems and
procedures of health care, including dialysis;

e the projection, planning, construction, acquisition and operation of undertakings in the health
care sector, including dialysis centers, also in separate companies or by third parties as well as the
shareholding in such dialysis centers;

e the development, manufacturing and distribution of other pharmaceutical products and the
rendering of services in this sector;

e the advisory service in the medical and pharmaceutical sector as well as the scientific information
and documentation; and

e the manufacturing and distribution of software systems
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D-GmbH will unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee, jointly and severally with Fresenius Medical
Care AG & Co. KGaA and FMCH, the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes. In addition, D-GmbH is
a guarantor of our Outstanding Senior Notes and the Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds. D-GmbH entered
into a profit and loss pooling agreement with Fresenius Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH as
parent (Organtriger), and Fresenius Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH entered into a profit and
loss pooling agreement with the Company as parent (Organtrdger). After the transfer of the share capital of
D-GmbH to Fresenius Medical Care Investment GmbH, D-GmbH intends to enter into a domination and/
or profit and loss pooling agreement with Fresenius Medical Care Investment GmbH which shall become
effective no earlier than January 1, 2015 and the current profit and loss pooling agreement between
Fresenius Medical Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH and D-GmbH will terminate effective as of December 31,
2014. In addition, Fresenius Medical Care Investment GmbH entered into a profit and loss pooling
agreement with Fresenius Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH on July 1, 2014. See “The
Guarantors — Additional Information for Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA — Profit and Loss
Pooling Agreements” below.

As one of the principal operating companies within our group, D-GmbH carries out its business
activities on a global basis, but primarily in the European and Middle Eastern markets. See Item 4.B,
“Information on the Company — Business Overview” in our 2013 Form 20-F for further information on
D-GmbH’s business, investments (including principal future investments), the market it operates in, trend

information and an outlook, legal and arbitration proceedings and material contracts entered into by
D-GmbH.

Pursuant to its articles of association (Gesellschaftsvertrag), D-GmbH is represented by two managing
directors acting together or by one managing director action together with an authorized representative
(Prokurist). The current managing directors of D-GmbH are Roberto Fusté, Dominik Wehner, Dr. Olaf
Schermeier, Marco Kiene and Kent Wanzek (acting managing director). Mr. Marco Kiene is the vice
president of controlling for EMEALA of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA. Mr. Kiene holds
principal positions outside of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA. For the principal positions outside D-GmbH of
Messrs. Fusté, Wehner, Wanzek and Dr. Schermeier, see “Management — the General Partner’s
Management Board.”

The business address of the managing directors is the business address of D-GmbH mentioned above.
There are no potential conflicts of interest between the duties of each of the managing directors of
D-GmbH and their private interests or other duties of the managing directors and their duties vis-a-vis
D-GmbH. At the date of this offering memorandum there are no loans granted or guarantees provided by
D-GmbH to any managing director. D-GmbH does not have a supervisory board or an advisory board.
D-GmbH has no audit committee.

The German Corporate Governance Code is not applicable to D-GmbH as D-GmbH is a company
with limited liability the shares in which are not admitted to trading on a regulated market. Separate
financial statements of D-GmbH for the financial years 2012 and 2013 and for the six-month periods ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013 are not included in this offering memorandum as D-GmbH does not publish
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements, however, contain financial information for our
group which includes D-GmbH as one of the main operating subsidiaries of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA. In
addition, the footnotes to our financial statements contain certain combining financial information for the
Company and the other Guarantors. See Note 17, “Supplemental Condensed Combining Information,” of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) in our July 2014 Form 6-K, and Note 23,
“Supplemental Condensed Combining Information,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in
our 2013 Form 20-E incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum.

The financial year of D-GmbH starts on January 1 and ends on December 31 of each year.
Financial notices concerning D-GmbH and intended for holders of the Notes will be published on the
website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange www.bourse.lu.
Additional Information for Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA or the Company is a holding company incorporated in and
organized and existing under the laws of Germany. The Company was originally incorporated on August 5,
1996 as a stock corporation and transformed into a partnership limited by shares upon registration on
February 10, 2006. It is registered with the commercial register of the local court (Amtsgericht) of Hof an
der Saale, Germany, under the registration number HRB 4019. The registered office (Sitz) of the Company
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is Hof an der Saale, Germany. The Company’s business address is Else-Kroner-Strale 1, 61352 Bad
Homburg, Germany, telephone +49-6172-609-0.

The Company operates under the commercial name Fresenius Medical Care. Under Article 2 of its
articles of association, the objects of the Company are:

e The development, production and distribution of as well as the trading in health care products,
systems and procedures, including dialysis;

e The projecting, planning, establishment, acquisition and operation of health care businesses,
including dialysis centers, also in separate enterprises or through third parties as well as the
participation in such dialysis centers;

* The development, production and distribution of other pharmaceutical products and the
provision of services in this field;

e The provision of advice in the medical and pharmaceutical areas as well as scientific information
and documentation;

e The provision of laboratory services for dialysis and non-dialysis patients and homecare medical
services.

The articles of association provide that Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA will operate itself or
through subsidiaries at home and abroad. Under Article 2 of its articles of association, Fresenius Medical
Care AG & Co. KGaA shall be entitled to enter into any and all business transactions and take any and all
measures which seem to be necessary or useful to achieve the objects of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co.
KGaA and may, in particular, participate in other enterprises of the same or similar kind, take over the
management and/or the representation of such enterprises, transfer company divisions, including essential
company divisions, to enterprises in which it holds an interest and establish branches at home and abroad.

Fresenius Medical Care AG& Co. KGaA will unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee, jointly and
severally with FMCH and D-GmbH, the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes. In addition, Fresenius
Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA is a guarantor of our Outstanding Senior Notes.

The Company’s registered share capital (Grundkapital) consists solely of ordinary shares without par
value (Stiickaktien). These shares are issued in bearer form and are fully paid up. As of September 30,
2014, our registered share capital amounted to approximately €310,709,848 divided into 310,709,848
ordinary shares without par value. Each share represents a nominal value of €1.00 of the registered share
capital.

The financial year of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA starts on January 1 and ends on
December 31 of each year. The independent auditors of the Company are KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Klingelhoferstrae 18, 10785 Berlin, Germany, a member of the German
Chamber of Public Accountants, Berlin, Germany (Wirtschaftspriiferkammer). KPMG and its antecessors
have been the responsible auditors for the Company since 1996. See “Independent Auditors.”

Profit and loss pooling agreements

D-GmbH entered into a profit and loss pooling agreement (Ergebnisabfiihrungsvertrag) with Fresenius
Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH as parent (Organtriger) on March 20, 2009. D-GmbH’s
shareholder meeting approved the conclusion of the profit and loss pooling agreement on March 27, 2009
and Fresenius Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH’s shareholder meeting granted its approval on
March 26, 2009. Fresenius Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH is in the process of transferring the
share capital of D-GmbH to Fresenius Medical Care Investment GmbH, a direct subsidiary of Fresenius
Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, with such transfer expected to be effective on or about the
date of this offering memorandum. After the transfer of the share capital of D-GmbH to Fresenius
Medical Care Investment GmbH, D-GmbH intends to enter into a domination and/or profit and loss
pooling agreement with Fresenius Medical Care Investment GmbH which shall become effective no earlier
than January 1, 2015 and the current profit and loss pooling agreement between Fresenius Medical
Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH and D-GmbH will terminate effective as of December 31, 2014. In addition,
Fresenius Medical Care Investment GmbH entered into a profit and loss pooling agreement with Fresenius
Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH on July 1, 2014. Fresenius Medical Care Investment GmbH’s
shareholder meeting approved the conclusion of the profit and loss pooling agreement on July 22, 2014.
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Fresenius Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH entered into a profit and loss pooling
agreement with the Company as parent (Organtriger) on December 23, 1997. The shareholders meeting of
Fresenius Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH approved the conclusion of this profit and loss
pooling agreement on August 4, 1998. On May 15, 2014, the shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA approved amendments to the 1998 agreement to take into account changes in local tax
regulations. Pursuant to a profit and loss pooling agreement (Ergebnisabfiihrungsvertrag), a company (profit
transferor) undertakes to transfer its entire profits to another company (profit transferee), which in turn
undertakes to compensate any annual net loss of the profit transferor that is incurred during the term of
the profit and loss pooling agreement. Taxation of the corporate income of both companies takes place
jointly at the level of the profit transferee level.

54



DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN INDEBTEDNESS

The following table shows the indebtedness outstanding under our short-term borrowings, 2012 Credit
Agreement and other long-term debt, and net debt, at June 30, 2014 and at December 31, 2013 and 2012.®

At June 30, At December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in millions)
Short-term borrowings® and other financial liabilities . . . . ... .. .. 197,804 96,648 117,850
Short-term borrowings from related parties . ................. 161,984 62,342 3,973
2012 Credit Agreement© ... ... . ... .. .. ... ... 3,267,812 2,707,145 2,659,340
Floating Rate Senior Notes . . .. ...... ..o, 136,580 137,910 131,940
6.50% Dollar Senior NOtES . . . .. oot i it it et et et e 396,691 396,297 395,511
6.50% Euro Senior NOtes . . . ... 541,797 546,531 521,834
67% Senior NOtES . . . . o vttt 497,337 496,894 496,006
5.50% Senior NOtES . . .o vt e 339,987 342,944 327,420
5.75% Senior NOtES . . .o v it e 645,978 645,672 645,061
5.25% Senior Notes due 2021 .. ....... ... .. 409,740 413,730 395,820
5%% Senior NOtES . . . .o v e e 800,000 800,000 800,000
57% Senior NOtES . . . o v v e e 700,000 700,000 700,000
5.25% Senior Notes due 2019 .. ......... .. ... .. . ... .. 341,450 344,775 329,850
Euro NOtes . ... .. i e 38,413 46,545 51,951
AR Facility .. ..o 423,250 351,250 162,000
EIB Agreements® . ... ... ... ... . ... — 193,074 324,334
Capital Lease Obligations . .. ............oiiinenneo... 46,861 24,264 15,618
Other. . .. e 193,803 111,259 163,802
Long-term debt from related parties . ...................... 56,174
Total short-term borrowings & long-term debt® . ... ........... 9,139,487 8,417,280 8,298,484
Less: cash and cash equivalents . . ......................... (644,538)  (682,777)  (688,040)
Net debt® . 8,494,949 7,734,503 7,610,444

(a) Euro-denominated and other non-Dollar-denominated indebtedness has been translated into U.S. Dollars at period-end or
year-end exchange rates for the period and years presented.

(b) Includes short-term borrowings by its subsidiaries from local banks.

(¢) On July 1, 2014, the Company increased the 2012 Credit Agreement by establishing an incremental term loan tranche of
$600 million not included in the table. See “2012 Credit Agreement” below.

(d) We repaid the entire remaining indebtedness outstanding under the EIB Agreements in February of 2014. Note 11, “Long-term
Debt and Capital Lease Obligations and Long-term Debt from Related Parties” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in our 2013 Form 20-F incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum.

(e) Total short-term borrowings & long-term debt and Net debt exclude Term Loan A-2 and €400 million aggregate principal
amount of Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds issued on September 19, 2014. See “Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds,” below.

In addition, at June 30, 2014, December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, $7.14 million, $9.4 million
and $77.2 million, respectively of letters of credit were issued under the revolving credit facility of the 2012
Credit Agreement. The Company also had letters of credit outstanding under the A/R Facility in the
amount of $66.6 million at June 30, 2014 and $65.6 million at December 31, 2013. The letters of credit
outstanding under both the A/R Facility and the revolving credit facility are not included above as part of
the balances outstanding at such dates; however, they reduced available borrowings under their respective
facilities.

2012 Credit Agreement

The Company entered into a $3,850 million syndicated credit facility (the “2012 Credit Agreement”)
with a large group of banks and institutional investors (collectively, the “Lenders”) on October 30, 2012
which replaced a prior credit agreement. The credit facilities under the 2012 Credit Agreement consist of:

e a 5-year revolving credit facility of approximately $1,250 million comprising a $400 million
multicurrency revolving facility, a $200 million revolving facility and a €500 million revolving
facility which will be due and payable on October 30, 2017.
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* a 5-year term loan facility of originally $2,600 million, also scheduled to mature on October 30,
2017, requiring 17 quarterly payments of $50 million each, which began in the third quarter of
2013 that permanently reduce the term loan facility. The remaining balance is due on October 30,
2017.

Interest on the credit facilities is, at the Company’s option, at a rate equal to either (i) LIBOR or
EURIBOR (as applicable) plus an applicable margin or (ii) the Base Rate as defined in the 2012 Credit
Agreement plus an applicable margin. At December 31, 2013, the dollar-denominated tranches
outstanding under the 2012 Credit Agreement had a weighted average interest rate of 2.00%. The
euro-denominated tranche had an interest rate of 1.95%.

The applicable margin is variable and depends on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio which
is a ratio of its Consolidated Funded Debt less cash and cash equivalents held by the Consolidated Group
to Consolidated EBITDA (as these terms are defined in the 2012 Credit Agreement). In addition to
scheduled principal payments, indebtedness outstanding under the 2012 Credit Agreement will be reduced
by portions of the net cash proceeds received from certain sales of assets and the issuance of certain
additional debt.

Obligations under the 2012 Credit Agreement are secured by pledges of capital stock of certain
material subsidiaries in favor of the Lenders.

The 2012 Credit Agreement contains affirmative and negative covenants with respect to the Company
and its subsidiaries and other payment restrictions. Certain of the covenants limit indebtedness of the
Company and investments by the Company, and require the Company to maintain certain financial ratios
defined in the agreement. Additionally, the 2012 Credit Agreement provides for a limitation on dividends
and other restricted payments which is €330 million ($455 million based upon the December 31, 2013 spot
rate) for dividends to be paid in 2014, and increases in subsequent years. In default, the outstanding
balance under the 2012 Credit Agreement becomes immediately due and payable at the option of the
Lenders. The Company was in compliance with all covenants at June 30, 2014 and at December 31, 2013.

On July 1, 2014 the Company increased the 2012 Credit Agreement by establishing Term Loan A-2 to
finance the purchase of a majority interest in the U.S. into Sound Inpatient Physicians, Inc., which closed
in July of 2014, and for general corporate purposes. Term Loan A-2 has a one year maturity and must be
mandatorily prepaid with 100% of the net cash proceeds of US$ — denominated bonds or syndicated term
loans, to the extent that these proceeds exceed a certain threshold. The interest rate under the Term Loan
A-2 is a rate equal to either (i) LIBOR plus an applicable margin or (ii) the Base Rate as defined in the
2012 Credit Agreement plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin increases after 90 days and
180 days following disbursement. We intend to use a portion of the net proceeds of this offering to repay
Term Loan A-2. See “Use of Proceeds.”

Senior Notes

The following table sets forth information regarding our Outstanding Senior Notes. Additional
information regarding each issue of Senior Notes is provided after the table.

Senior Note Maturity Face

Issuer Issue and Coupon Issue Date Date Amount
Fresenius Medical Care US

Finance, Inc. (“FMC US

Finance”) . ............... 6%% Senior Notes July 2, 2007 July 15, 2017 $500,000,000
FMC Finance VIS A. .. ....... 5.50% Senior Notes January 20, 2010 July 15, 2016 €250,000,000
FMC US Finance ............ 5.75% Senior Notes February 3, 2011 February 15, 2021 $650,000,000
FMC Finance VII SA. .. ....... 5.25% Senior Notes February 3, 2011 February 15, 2021 €300,000,000
Fresenius Medical Care US Finance

IL, Inc. (“FMC US Finance II”’) . . 6.50% Senior Notes September 14, 2011  September 15,2018 $400,000,000
FMC Finance VIII SA. ........ 6.50% Senior Notes September 14, 2011  September 15,2018 €400,000,000

Floating Rate Senior

FMC Finance VIII SA. ........ Notes(" October 17, 2011 October 15, 2016 €100,000,000
FMC US Finance IT . . . .. ...... 5%% Senior Notes January 26, 2012 July 31, 2019 $800,000,000
FMC US Finance IT . . . .. ...... 57%% Senior Notes January 26, 2012 January 31, 2022 $700,000,000

FMC Finance VIII SA. ........ 5.25% Senior Notes January 26, 2012 July 31, 2019 €250,000,000

(1) This note carries a variable interest rate which was 3.828% at June 30, 2014.

In July 2007, FMC Finance III S.A. (“FMC Finance II1”) issued $500 million principal amount of
6% Senior Notes. The 674% Notes were issued with a coupon of 67%% at a discount, resulting in an
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effective interest rate of 7%4%. In June 2011, Fresenius Medical Care US Finance, Inc. acquired
substantially all of the assets of FMC Finance III and assumed all obligations of FMC Finance III under
the 674% Notes and the related indenture. The guarantees of the Company and its subsidiaries, FMCH
and D-GmbH (together, the “Guarantor Subsidiaries™) for the 675% Senior Notes have not been amended
and remain in full force and effect.

€250 million principal amount of 5.50% Senior Notes were issued in January 2010 at an issue price of
98.6636%, resulting in a yield to maturity of 5.75%. Proceeds were used to repay short-term indebtedness
and for general corporate purposes.

$650 million principal amount of 5.75% Senior Notes and €300 million principal amount
($412.35 million at date of issuance) of 5.25% Senior Notes were issued in February 2011 at issue prices of
99.060% and par, respectively. The dollar-denominated senior notes had a yield to maturity of 5.875%. We
used the net proceeds of approximately $1,035 million to repay indebtedness outstanding under our A/R
Facility and the revolving credit facility of our prior Credit Agreement, for acquisitions, including payments
under our acquisition of International Dialysis Centers, and for general corporate purposes to support our
renal dialysis products and services business.

In September 2011, FMC US Finance II issued $400 million principal amount of dollar-denominated
6.50% Senior Notes and the Issuer issued €400 million principal amount of euro-denominated 6.50%
Senior Notes. Both issues of 6.50% Senior Notes were issued at an issue price of 98.623%, resulting in a
yield to maturity of 6.75%. We used the net proceeds of approximately $927.2 million for acquisitions, to
repay indebtedness outstanding under our A/R Facility and the revolving credit facility of our prior credit
agreement, and for general corporate purposes to support our renal dialysis products and services business.

In October 2011, FMC Finance VIII S.A. issued €100 million principal amount ($138 million at date
of issuance) of floating rate senior notes at par, with an interest rate of three-month EURIBOR plus 350
basis points. Proceeds were used for acquisitions, to refinance indebtedness and for general corporate
purposes.

The $800 million principal amount of 5%% Senior Notes, the $700 million principal amount of 57%%
Senior Notes and the €250 million principal amount ($329 million at date of issuance) of 5.25% Senior
Notes issued in January 2012 were issued at par. We used the net proceeds of approximately $1,807 million
for acquisitions, including the acquisition of Liberty Dialysis Holdings, Inc., to refinance indebtedness and
for general corporate purposes.

All Outstanding Senior Notes are unsecured and guaranteed on a senior basis jointly and severally by
FMC AG & Co. KGaA and the Guarantor Subsidiaries. The issuers may redeem their Outstanding Senior
Notes (except for the Floating Rate Senior Notes) at any time at 100% of principal plus accrued interest
and a “make-whole” premium calculated pursuant to the terms of the applicable indenture, and all
Outstanding Senior Notes may be redeemed at 100% of principal plus accrued interest upon certain
changes in tax withholding requirements after issuance. The holders have the right to request that the
respective issuers repurchase the Outstanding Senior Notes at 101% of principal plus accrued interest
upon the occurrence of a change of control of the Company followed by a decline in the ratings of the
respective Outstanding Senior Notes.

Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds

On September 19, 2014, the Company issued €400 million aggregate principal amount ($512 million
on date of issuance) of euro-denominated Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds due 2020, which are
guaranteed by FMCH and D-GmbH. The conversion price is €73.6448, which is 35% above the reference
price for the Company’s ordinary shares. The reference price is the arithmetic average of the Company’s
daily volume-weighted average XETRA share prices over a period of fifteen consecutive XETRA trading
days, commencing and including September 17, 2014. Holders of the bonds have the right to request that
the Company repurchase the Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds at 101% of principal plus accrued interest
upon the occurrence of a change of control of the Company followed by a ratings decline with respect to
the bonds. The definitions of “change of control” and “ratings decline” in the bonds are substantially
similar to the definitions of such terms set forth under “Description of the Notes,” below. In the bonds, we
have agreed that we will not provide (and we will procure that our subsidiaries do not provide) any
collateral security for any “Capital Market Indebtedness” (indebtedness that trades or is capable of trading
on a securities exchange or other securities market) unless the bondholders share equally and ratably in
such security. Events of default under the Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds include failure to pay
principal or interest when due, failure to pay any other amount in respect of the bonds within 30 days of
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the relevant due date, a failure to observe any other material obligation with respect to the bonds for
60 days after notice thereof from a holder of the bonds, failure to make payments under certain other
indebtedness in excess of $100 million that results in the acceleration of such indebtedness or would
constitute a payment default thereunder, final judgments (not covered by insurance) against the Company
or any subsidiary not discharged for a period of 60 consecutive days, certain bankruptcy events or
corporate action to authorize or effect such events, and the guarantees of FMCH or D-GmbH ceasing to
be in full force and effect. Upon such events, a bondholder is entitled to declare his bonds due and
payable, in whole or in part, together with interest to the date of repayment. Concurrently with the bond
issuance, the Company purchased cash-settled call options on its shares to fully hedge its exposure under
the bonds’ conversion rights, as a result of which the bonds will not result in the issuance of new shares at
maturity. We used the net proceeds of approximately $476 million to repay short-term indebtedness and to
repay indebtedness outstanding under the revolving credit facility of our 2012 Credit Agreement, and for
general corporate purposes to support our renal dialysis products and services business.

Euro Notes (Schuldscheindarlehen)

In April 2009, the Company issued euro-denominated notes (“Euro Notes”) totaling €200 million,
which are senior, unsecured and guaranteed by FMCH and D-GmbH, which originally consisted of 4
tranches having terms of 3.5 and 5.5 years with floating and fixed interest rate tranches. At June 30, 2014,
only 2 tranches remain outstanding, which are due October 27, 2014. At June 30, 2014 and December 31,
2013, the Company was in compliance with all of its covenants under the Euro Notes.

A/R Facility

The Company has an accounts receivable facility (the “A/R Facility”) which was most recently
refinanced on January 17, 2013 for a term expiring on January 15, 2016 with the available borrowings at
$800 million. Under the A/R Facility, certain receivables are sold to NMC Funding Corporation (“NMC
Funding”), a wholly-owned subsidiary. NMC Funding then assigns percentage ownership interests in the
accounts receivable to certain bank investors. Under the terms of the A/R Facility, NMC Funding retains
the right, at any time, to recall all the then outstanding transferred interests in the accounts receivable.
Consequently, the receivables remain on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet and the proceeds
from the transfer of percentage ownership interests are recorded as long-term debt.

At June 30, 2014, December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, there were outstanding borrowings
under the A/R Facility of $423.5 million, $351 million and $162 million, respectively. NMC Funding pays
interest to the bank investors calculated based on the commercial paper rates for the particular tranches
selected. The average interest rate during 2013 was 1.044%.

Borrowings from Fresenius SE

The Company receives short-term financing from and provides short-term financing to Fresenius SE.
In addition, the Company utilizes Fresenius SE’s cash management system for the settlement of certain
intercompany receivables and payables with its subsidiaries and other related parties. As of June 30, 2014
and December 31, 2013, the Company had accounts receivables from Fresenius SE in the amount of
$153 million and $113 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company had
accounts payables to Fresenius SE in the amount of $136 million and $103 million, respectively. The
interest rates for these cash management arrangements are set on a daily basis and are based on the
then-prevailing overnight reference rate for the respective currencies.

On June 30, 2014, the Company borrowed from Fresenius SE €116 million ($158 million at June 30,
2014) on an unsecured basis at an interest rate of 1.612%. Subsequent to June 30, 2014, the Company
received additional advances from Fresenius SE increasing the amount borrowed to €298.5 million.

On August 19, 2009, the Company borrowed €1.5 million ($2 million at June 30, 2014) from the
General Partner on an unsecured basis at 1.335%. The loan repayment has been extended periodically and
is currently due August 20, 2015 with an interest rate of 1.849%. On November 28, 2013, the Company
borrowed an additional €1.5 million ($2 million at June 30, 2014) from the General Partner at 1.875%. This
loan is due on November 28, 2014.

On May 23, 2014, the maturity date, the Company repaid a Chinese Yuan Renminbi (“CNY”’) loan,
with interest, of CNY 361 million ($57.9 million) to a subsidiary of Fresenius SE.
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Description of the Group and the Issuer’s position within the Group

The Issuer is a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Fresenius Medical Care & Co. KGaA. FMCH
and D-GmbH are (indirectly) wholly owned subsidiaries of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA.
FMCH is the holding company for the operations of the North America Segment; D-GmbH is one of the
principal operating companies within the group. The following diagram depicts, in abbreviated form, the
corporate structure and certain debt obligations of the Company as of June 30, 2014 immediately after
giving effect to the offering of the Notes. The Guarantors and their subsidiaries will be subject to the
restrictive covenants in the Indenture, e.g., limitation on incurrence of indebtedness, limitation on sale and
leaseback transactions and limitation on liens.

59



09

M

Bonds due 2020"'¢

Senior Notes due 2021

Equity-neutral Convertible

Senior Notes due 2017

(3).(8)

(3).(13)

Fresenius
Medical Care US
Finance, Inc.

As of June 30, 2014, giving pro forma effect to the offering of the Notes and to the issuance of the Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds.

Summary Corporate and Finance Structure”

Fresenius SE
approximately 31.2% of
ordinary shares

Public Shareholders
approximately 68.8% of
ordinary shares

100%
Fresenius
Medical Care Sole
Management AG General

Fresenius
Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA

100%
indirect

Fresenius

“)
Euro Notes

2012 Cmdf% Medical Care Holdings, Inc.
Agreement I |
National Medical Renal Care
Care, Inc. Group, Inc.
North North
American American
Operating Operating
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries

(), (10)

Senior Notes due 2018
3), (11
Senior Notes due 2019' -

(3).(15)
Senior Notes due 2022

$900 million of
Notes offered
hereby®

Senior Notes due 2018

(3).(6)

Fresenius
Medical Care US
Finance II, Inc.

FMC Finance

VIS.A.

International
Operating
Subsidiaries

Fresenius
Medical Care
Beteiligungs-

gesellschaft
mbH

100%
indirect!”

International
Operating
Subsidiaries

Senior Notes due 2021

(3), (14)

Fresenius
Medical Care
Deutschland GmbH

Guarantors of the Notes offered
hereby and the Outstanding
Senior Notes.

. 6.0
Senior Notes due 2016

3,0

Senior Notes due 2018

Senior Notes due 2019 '

FMC Finance
VIIS.A.

FMC Finance
VIIIS.A.




19

(@)

®)

4)

®)

(6)
™)
®)
)
(10)
(1)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)

17)

The Notes will be senior unsecured obligations of the Issuer. The Notes will rank equally with all of the existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness of the Issuer. The Notes will be unconditionally
and irrevocably guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior unsecured basis by Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, FMCH, and D-GmbH. Other subsidiaries of Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA will not guarantee the Notes but Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and its subsidiaries will be subject to the restrictive covenants in the Indentures.

Each issue of our Outstanding Senior Notes constitutes senior unsecured obligations of the issuer of such notes, and ranks equally with all of such issuer’s existing and future senior unsecured
indebtedness. All of our Outstanding Senior Notes have been unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior unsecured basis by Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, FMCH and
D-GmbH. Other subsidiaries of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA have not guaranteed the Outstanding Senior Notes, but Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and all its subsidiaries are
subject to the restrictive covenants in the indentures governing our Outstanding Senior Notes.

The Euro Notes (Schuldscheindarlehen), which mature in 2014, are senior unsecured obligations of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and rank equally with all of its existing and future senior
unsecured indebtedness. The Euro Notes have been unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior unsecured basis by FMCH and D-GmbH. Other subsidiaries of Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA have not guaranteed the Euro Notes. At June 30, 2014, $38.4 million aggregate principal amount of Euro Notes was outstanding.

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and FMCH are both borrowers and guarantors under our 2012 Credit Agreement. D-GmbH and certain other North American and International subsidiaries
are guarantors under the 2012 Credit Agreement. Certain other North American subsidiaries of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA are also borrowers and/ or guarantors thereunder. The 2012
Credit Agreement is secured by the pledge of capital stock of certain direct and indirect subsidiaries of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA. On July 1, 2014, the Company increased the 2012
Credit Agreement by establishing an incremental term loan tranche of $600 million.

In January 2010, FMC Finance VI S.A. issued €250 million aggregate principal amount of 5.50% Senior Notes due 2016.

In October 2011, FMC Finance VIII S.A. issued €100 million aggregate principal amount of Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2016.

In July 2007, FMC Finance III S.A. issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of 67%% Senior Notes due 2017. On June 20, 2011, these notes were assumed by FMC US Finance, Inc.
In September 2011, FMC Finance VIII S.A. issued €400 million aggregate principal amount of 6.50% Senior Notes due 2018.

In September 2011, FMC US Finance II, Inc. issued $400 million aggregate principal amount of 6.50% Senior Notes due 2018.

In January 2012, FMC US Finance II, Inc. issued $800 million aggregate principal amount of 5.625% Senior Notes due 2019.

In January 2012, FMC Finance VIII S.A. issued €250 million aggregate principal amount of 5.25% Senior Notes due 2019.

In February 2011, FMC US Finance, Inc. issued $650 million aggregate principal amount of 5.75% Senior Notes due 2021.

In February 2011, FMC Finance VII S.A. issued €300 million aggregate principal amount of 5.25% Senior Notes due 2021.

In January 2012, FMC US Finance II, Inc. issued $700 million aggregate principal amount of 5.875% Senior Notes due 2022.

On September 19, 2014, the Company issued €400 million aggregate principal amount of Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds due 2020, which are guaranteed by FMCH and D-GmbH. The conversion
price is €73.6448, which is 35% above the reference price for the Company’s ordinary shares. The reference price is the arithmetic average of the Company’s daily volume-weighted average XETRA
share prices over a period of fifteen consecutive XETRA trading days, commencing and including September 17, 2014. Concurrently with the bond issuance, the Company purchased cash-settled call
options on its shares to fully hedge its exposure under the bonds’ conversion rights, as a result of which the bonds will not result in the issuance of new shares at maturity.

Fresenius Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH is in the process of transferring the share capital of D-GmbH to Fresenius Medical Care Investment GmbH, a direct subsidiary of Fresenius
Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, with such transfer expected to be effective on or about the date of this offering memorandum. See “The Guarantors — Additional Information for Fresenius
Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA — Profit and loss pooling agreements.”



DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES

The Notes due 2020 and the Notes due 2024 will be issued under and will be governed by separate
Indentures, each to be dated October 29, 2014 (individually, an “Indenture” and collectively, the
“Indentures”). Each Indenture will be entered into by the Issuer, the Guarantors and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee and as Paying Agent. Copies of the forms of the Indentures are available upon
request to the Issuer.

You will find the definitions of capitalized terms used in this description either in the body of this
section or at the end of this section under “— Certain Definitions.” For purposes of this description,
references to “the Company” refer only to Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and not to its
subsidiaries.

We have applied to list the Notes on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and for
admission for trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

The Indenture will not be qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. The terms of
the Notes will include those stated in the Indenture and those made part of the Indenture by reference to
the Trust Indenture Act.

General
The Notes due 2020

The Notes due 2020:

e are general unsecured, senior obligations of the Issuer;

e are being offered in an aggregate principal amount of $500 million;

e mature on October 15, 2020;

e will be issued in denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof;

* will be represented by one or more registered Notes in global form, but in certain circumstances
may be represented by registered Notes in definitive form. See “Book-Entry, Delivery, and
Form”;

e rank equally in right of payment to any existing and future senior Indebtedness of the Issuer; and

*  will be repaid at par in U.S. Dollars at maturity and not be subject to any sinking fund provision.

The Notes due 2024
The Notes due 2024:
e are general unsecured, senior obligations of the Issuer;
e are being offered in an aggregate principal amount of $400 million;
e mature on October 15, 2024;
e will be issued in denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof;

e will be represented by one or more registered Notes due 2024 in global form, but in certain
circumstances may be represented by registered Notes due 2024 in definitive form. See
“Book-Entry, Delivery, and Form”;

e rank equally in right of payment to any existing and future senior Indebtedness of the Issuer; and

e will be repaid at par in dollars at maturity and not be subject to any sinking fund provision.

Additional Notes

The Issuer in a supplemental indenture relating to additional notes may issue additional notes
(“Additional Notes”) from time to time after this offering subject to the provisions of the applicable
Indenture described below under “— Certain Covenants,” including, without limitation, the covenant set
forth under “— Certain Covenants — Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness.” The Notes offered
hereby and, if issued, any Additional Notes due 2020 or Additional Notes due 2024 subsequently issued
under an Indenture will be treated as a single class for all purposes under that Indenture, including,
without limitation, waivers, amendments, redemptions and offers to purchase (provided that, if any
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Additional Notes are not fungible with existing notes of the same class for U.S. federal income tax
purposes (as to which, see “Taxation Considerations — U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations —
Additional Notes”), such Additional Notes shall have a separate CUSIP number, if any).

Interest
Interest on the Notes due 2020 and the Notes due 2024 will:
e accrue at the rate of 4.125% per annum and 4.75% per annum, respectively;
e accrue from the date of issuance or the most recent interest payment date;

*  be payable semi-annually on April 15 and October 15 of each year, commencing on April 15, 2015
to the holders of record on April 1 and October 1, respectively, as the case may be, immediately
preceding the related interest payment dates; and

*  be computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months.

The yield calculated at issuance of the Notes due 2020 and the Notes due 2024 will be 4.125% and
4.75%, respectively. Such yields are calculated in accordance with the ICMA (International Capital Market
Association) method, which determines the effective interest rate of notes taking into account accrued
interest on a daily basis. Your yield will depend on the price at which you purchase Notes.

Description of the Note Guarantees

The obligations of the Issuer under the Notes, including the repurchase obligation of the Issuer
resulting from a Change of Control, will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed, on a joint and
several basis, by Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH
and Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. (the “Guarantors”). At a time when a Guarantor (other than
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA) is no longer an obligor under the Credit Facility, such
Guarantor will no longer be a Guarantor of the Notes. Each Note Guarantee by a subsidiary will not
exceed the maximum amount that can be guaranteed by the applicable subsidiary Guarantor without
rendering the subsidiary’s Note Guarantee, as it relates to the subsidiary Guarantor, voidable or
unenforceable under applicable laws affecting the rights of creditors generally. In the case of Fresenius
Medical Care Deutschland GmbH, the maximum amount of its Note Guarantee and its enforcement may
be limited in circumstances that could otherwise give rise to personal liability of the managing directors
under applicable laws of Germany, including German Federal Supreme Court decisions. In this offering
memorandum, we refer to the guarantee of each of the Guarantors as the “Note Guarantees.”

Under each Indenture, a Guarantor may consolidate with, merge with or into, or transfer all or
substantially all of its assets to any other Person as described below under “— Certain Covenants —
Limitation on Mergers and Sales of Assets.” However, if the other Person is not the Issuer or a Guarantor,
such Guarantor’s obligations under its Note Guarantees must be expressly assumed by such other Person.
Upon the sale or other disposition (including by way of consolidation or merger) of a Guarantor, or the
sale or disposition of all or substantially all the assets of a Guarantor, such Guarantor will be released and
relieved from all its obligations under its Note Guarantees, subject to the limitations below under
“— Certain Covenants — Limitation on Mergers and Sales of Assets.”

For certain combining financial information for the Company segregating information for Fresenius
Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, D-GmbH and FMCH, the guarantors of our Outstanding Senior Notes,
and the Company’s non-guarantor subsidiaries, see Note 17, “Supplemental Condensed Combining
Information,” of the notes to our unaudited consolidated financial statements in our July 2014 Form 6-K,
and Note 25, “Supplemental Condensed Combining Information,” of the notes to our audited
consolidated financial statements in our 2013 Form 20-F incorporated by reference in this offering
memorandum.

Ranking

The Notes will be senior unsecured obligations of the Issuer and the Note Guarantees will be senior
unsecured obligations of the Guarantors. The payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on
the Notes and the obligations of the Guarantors under the Note Guarantees will:

* rank pari passu in right of payment with all other Indebtedness of the Issuer and the Guarantors,
as applicable, that is not by its terms expressly subordinated to other Indebtedness of the Issuer
and the Guarantors, as applicable;
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e rank senior in right of payment to all Indebtedness of the Issuer and the Guarantors, as
applicable, that is, by its terms, expressly subordinated to the senior Indebtedness of the Issuer
and the Guarantors, as applicable;

* be effectively subordinated to the Secured Indebtedness of the Issuer and the Guarantors, as
applicable, to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such Indebtedness, and to the
Indebtedness of the Subsidiaries that are not Guarantors of the Notes; and

* in the case of the Note Guarantees of Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH, be effectively
subordinated to the claims of such Guarantor’s third-party creditors as a result of limitations
applicable to the Note Guarantee.

Form of Notes

The Notes will be represented initially by global notes in registered form. Notes initially offered and
sold in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act (“Rule 144A”) will be represented by global Notes
(the “Rule 144A Global Notes”); Notes initially offered and sold in reliance on Regulation S under the
Securities Act (“Regulation S””) will be represented by additional global Notes (the “Regulation S Global
Notes”). The combined principal amounts of the Rule 144A Global Notes due 2020 and the Regulation S
Global Notes due 2020 (together, the “Global Notes due 2020) will at all times represent the total
outstanding principal amount of the Notes due 2020 represented thereby. The combined principal amounts
of the Rule 144A Global Notes due 2024 and the Regulation S Global Notes due 2024 (together, the
“Global Notes due 2024”) will at all times represent the total outstanding principal amount of the Notes
due 2024 represented thereby.

Holders of beneficial interest in the Notes will be entitled to receive definitive Notes in registered
form (“Definitive Registered Notes”) in exchange for their holdings of beneficial interest in the Notes only
in the limited circumstances set forth in “Book Entry, Delivery, and Form — Issuance of Definitive
Registered Notes.” Title to the Definitive Registered Notes will pass upon registration of transfer in
accordance with the provisions of the applicable Indenture. In no event will definitive Notes in bearer form
be issued. Ownership of registered Notes shall be established by an entry in the noteholders’ register
maintained under each Indenture.

Payment on the Notes

Principal of, premium, if any, interest and Additional Amounts, if any, on the Global Notes will be
payable at the office of the Paying Agent for the Notes, and the Global Notes may be exchanged or
transferred at the corporate trust office or agency of the Trustee. Payment of principal of, premium, if any,
interest and Additional Amounts, if any, on Notes in global form registered in the name of or held by DTC
or its nominee will be made in immediately available funds to DTC or its nominee, as the case may be, as
the registered holder of the Global Notes, provided, that at the option of the Issuer, payment of interest on
the Notes may be made by check mailed to the holders of such Notes as such addresses appear in the Note
register. Upon the issuance of Definitive Registered Notes, holders of the Notes will be able to receive
principal and interest on the Notes at the office of the Paying and transfer agent, subject to the right of the
Issuer to mail payments in accordance with the terms of the Indenture. The Issuer will pay interest on the
Notes to Persons who are registered holders at the close of business on the record date immediately
preceding the interest payment date for such interest. Such holders must surrender the Notes to the Paying
Agent to collect principal payments.

Paying Agent and Registrar

The Trustee will initially act as paying agent (the “Paying Agent”) and registrar (the “Registrar”) for
the Notes. The Issuer may change the Paying Agent or Registrar for the Notes, and the Issuer may act as
Registrar for the Notes.

Transfer and Exchange

A holder of Notes may transfer or exchange Notes in accordance with the Indenture. The Registrar
and the Trustee for the Notes may require a holder of a Note, among other things, to furnish appropriate
endorsements and transfer documents, and the Issuer may require such holder to pay any taxes and fees
required by law or permitted by the applicable Indenture. The Issuer is not required to transfer or
exchange any Note selected for redemption. Also, the Issuer is not required to transfer or exchange any
Note for a period of 15 days before a selection of Notes to be redeemed. The registered holder of a Note
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will be treated as the owner of it for all purposes. No service charge will be made for any registration of
transfer or exchange of Notes, but the Issuer may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any transfer
tax or other similar governmental charge payable in connection therewith.

Optional Redemption

The Issuer may redeem all or, from time to time, a part of the Notes issued by it, at its option, at
redemption prices equal to 100% of the principal amount of such Notes being redeemed plus accrued
interest, if any, to the redemption date, plus the excess of:

e as determined by the calculation agent (which shall initially be the Trustee), the sum of the
present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the Notes being
redeemed not including any portion of such payment of interest accrued on the date of
redemption, from the redemption date to the maturity date, discounted to the redemption date
on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the
Treasury Rate, plus 50 basis points; over

*  100% of the principal amount of the Notes being redeemed.

In addition, the Notes due 2020 may be redeemed, in whole or in part, by the Issuer on or after
July 17, 2020 (90 days prior to the Stated Maturity of the Notes due 2020) upon not less than 30 nor more
than 60 days’ prior notice, at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption. The Notes due 2024 may be redeemed, in whole or
in part, by the Issuer on or after July 17, 2024 (90 days prior to the Stated Maturity of the Notes due 2024)
upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ prior notice, at a redemption price of 100% of the principal
amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption.

If the optional redemption date is on or after an interest record date and on or before the related
interest payment date, the accrued and unpaid interest, if any, will be paid to the Person in whose name the
Note is registered at the close of business on such record date, and no additional interest will be payable to
beneficial holders whose Notes will be subject to redemption by the Issuer.

In the case of any partial redemption, the Trustee will select the Notes due 2020 or the Notes due
2024, as applicable, for redemption in compliance with the requirements of the principal securities
exchange, if any, on which the Notes are listed or, if the Notes are not listed, then on a pro rata basis, by lot
or by such other method as the Trustee in its sole discretion will deem to be fair and appropriate, although
no Note of $2,000 in original principal amount or less will be redeemed in part. If any Note is to be
redeemed in part only, the notice of redemption relating to that Note will state the portion of the principal
amount thereof to be redeemed. A new Note in principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion thereof
will be issued and delivered to the Trustee, or in the case of Definitive Registered Notes, issued in the
name of the holder thereof upon cancellation of the original Note.

Redemption for Changes in Withholding Taxes

The Issuer will be entitled to redeem the Notes due 2020 or the Notes due 2024, at its option, in whole
but not in part, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice, at 100% of the principal amount of
such Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest (if any) to the date of redemption (subject to the right of
holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment
date), in the event the Issuer has become or would become obligated to pay, on the next date on which any
amount would be payable with respect to such Notes, any additional amounts as a result of:

(a) any change in or amendment to the laws, treaties or regulations of any Relevant Taxing
Jurisdiction (as defined below); or

(b) any change in or amendment to any official position regarding the application,
administration or interpretation of such laws, treaties or regulations (including by virtue of a holding,
judgment or order by a court of competent jurisdiction);

which change or amendment to such laws, treaties, regulations or official position is announced and
becomes effective after the issuance of the Notes (or, if the applicable Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction did not
become a Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction until a later date, after such later date); provided, that the Issuer
determines, in its reasonable judgment, that the obligation to pay such additional amounts cannot be
avoided by the use of reasonable measures available to it; provided, further, that at the time such notice is
given, such obligation to pay Additional Amounts (as defined below) remains in effect.
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Notice of any such redemption must be given within 270 days of the later of the announcement or
effectiveness of any such change.

Additional Amounts

All payments made under or with respect to the Notes under an Indenture or pursuant to any Note
Guarantee must be made free and clear of and without withholding or deduction for or on account of any
present or future tax, duty, levy, impost, assessment or other governmental charge (including penalties,
interest and other liabilities related thereto) imposed or levied by or on behalf of the (1) the United States,
Germany, Luxembourg, the United Kingdom or any political subdivision or governmental authority
thereof or therein having the power to tax, (2) any jurisdiction from or through which payment on the
Notes or any Note Guarantee is made, or any political subdivision or governmental authority thereof or
therein having the power to tax or (3) any other jurisdiction in which the payor is organized or otherwise
considered to be a resident or engaged in business for tax purposes, or any political subdivision or
governmental authority thereof or therein having the power to tax (each a “Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction”),
collectively, “Taxes”, unless the Issuer, relevant Guarantor or other applicable withholding agent is
required to withhold or deduct Taxes by law or by the interpretation or administration thereof by the
relevant government authority or agency. If the Issuer, a Guarantor or other applicable withholding agent
is so required to withhold or deduct any amount for or on account of Taxes from any payment made under
or with respect to the Notes or any Note Guarantee, the Issuer or such Guarantor, as the case may be, will
be required to pay such amount — “Additional Amounts” — as may be necessary so that the net amount
(including Additional Amounts) received by each beneficial owner after such withholding or deduction
(including any withholding or deduction on such Additional Amounts) will not be less than the amount
such beneficial owner would have received if such Taxes had not been withheld or deducted; provided,
however, that no Additional Amounts will be payable with respect to payments made to any beneficial
owner to the extent such Taxes are imposed by reason of (i) such beneficial owner being considered to be
or to have been connected with a Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction, otherwise than by the acquisition,
ownership, holding or disposition of the Notes, the enforcement of rights under the Notes or under any
Note Guarantee or the receipt of payments in respect of the Notes or any Note Guarantee, or (ii) such
beneficial owner not completing any procedural formalities that it is legally eligible to complete and are
necessary for the Issuer, Guarantors or other applicable withholding agent to make or obtain authorization
to make payments without such Taxes (including, without limitation, providing prior to the receipt of any
payment on or in respect of a Note or any Note Guarantee a complete, correct and executed IRS
Form W-8 or W-9 or successor form, as applicable, with all appropriate attachments or a comparable form
required by another Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction). Further, no Additional Amounts shall be payable with
respect to (i) any Tax imposed on interest by the United States or any political subdivision or governmental
authority thereof or therein by reason of any beneficial owner holding or owning, actually or constructively,
10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Issuer or any Guarantor
entitled to vote, (ii) any Tax imposed on interest by the United States or any political subdivision or
governmental authority thereof or therein by reason of any beneficial owner being a controlled foreign
corporation that is a related person within the meaning of Section 864(d)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code
with respect to the Issuer or any Guarantor, (iii) any Tax imposed on interest by the United States or any
political subdivision or governmental authority thereof or therein by reason of any beneficial owner being a
bank extending credit pursuant to a loan agreement entered into in the ordinary course of its trade or
business or (iv) any United States federal tax imposed pursuant to current sections 1471 through 1474 of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) or any amended or successor version that is
substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with (collectively, “FATCA”). The
Issuer or any Guarantor (as applicable) required to withhold any Taxes will make such withholding or
deduction and remit the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant authority as and when required
in accordance with applicable law. The Issuer or any Guarantor (as applicable) will use all reasonable
efforts to obtain certified copies of tax receipts evidencing the payment by the Issuer or such Guarantor (as
applicable) of any Taxes so deducted or withheld from each Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction imposing such
Taxes and will provide such certified copies to the Trustee.

No such Additional Amounts shall be payable with respect to the Notes under either Indenture or
pursuant to any Note Guarantee where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an
individual and is required to be made pursuant to the EU Savings Directive (see “Taxation
Considerations — Luxembourg Tax Considerations — Withholding Tax”) on the taxation of savings income
or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive.
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Wherever in the Indenture or the Notes or any Note Guarantee there are mentioned, in any context,
(1) the payment of principal, (2) purchase prices in connection with a purchase of Notes under the
Indenture or the Notes, (3) interest or (4) any other amount payable on or with respect to any of the Notes
or any Note Guarantee, such reference shall be deemed to include payment of Additional Amounts as
described under this heading to the extent that, in such context, Additional Amounts are, were or would be
payable in respect thereof.

At least 30 days prior to each date on which payment of principal, premium, if any, interest or other
amounts on the Notes is to be made (unless an obligation to pay Additional Amounts arises shortly before
or after the 30th day prior to such date, in which case it shall be promptly thereafter), if the Issuer or a
Guarantor will be obligated to pay Additional Amounts with respect to any such payment, the Issuer will
promptly furnish the Trustee and the Paying Agent, if other than the Trustee, with an Officers’ Certificate
stating that such Additional Amounts will be payable and the amounts so payable, and will set forth such
other information necessary to enable the Trustee or the Paying Agent to pay such Additional Amounts to
the holders on the payment date. The Issuer or a Guarantor (as applicable) will pay to the Trustee or the
Paying Agent such Additional Amounts and, if paid to a Paying Agent other than the Trustee, shall
promptly provide the Trustee with documentation evidencing the payment of such Additional Amounts.
Copies of such documentation shall be made available to the holders upon request.

The Issuer will pay any present stamp, court or documentary taxes, or any other excise, property or
similar taxes, charges or levies (including any penalties, interest or other liabilities related thereto) which
arise in any Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction from the execution, delivery and registration of Notes upon
original issuance and initial resale of the Notes or any other document or instrument referred to therein, or
in connection with any payment with respect to, or enforcement of, the Notes or any Note Guarantee or
any other document or instrument referred to therein. If at any time the Issuer changes its place of
organization to outside of the United States or there is a new issuer organized outside of the United States,
the Issuer or new issuer, as applicable, will pay any stamp, court or documentary taxes, or any other excise,
property or similar taxes, charges or levies (including any penalties, interest or other liabilities related
thereto) which arise in the jurisdiction in which the Issuer or new issuer is organized (or any political
subdivision thereof or therein) and are payable by the holders of the Notes in respect of the Notes or any
Note Guarantee or any other document or instrument referred to therein under any law, rule or regulation
in effect at the time of such change or thereafter.

The foregoing obligations in this section (“— Additional Amounts”) will survive any termination,
defeasance or discharge of the Indenture. References in this section (“— Additional Amounts”) to the
Issuer or any Guarantor shall apply to any successor(s) thereto.

Change of Control

Each holder of the Notes, upon the occurrence of a Change of Control Triggering Event, will have the
right to require that the Issuer of such Notes repurchase such holder’s Notes, at a purchase price in cash
equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of
purchase (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on
the relevant interest payment date).

Within 30 days following a Change of Control Triggering Event, the Issuer will mail a notice to each
holder of the Notes with a copy to the Trustee stating:

(1) that a Change of Control Triggering Event has occurred and that such holder has the right to
require the Issuer to purchase such holder’s Notes, at a purchase price in cash equal to 101% of the
principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase (subject to
the right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest on the relevant interest
payment date);

(2) the circumstances and relevant facts regarding such Change of Control Triggering Event
(including information with respect to pro forma historical income, cash flow and capitalization after
giving effect to such Change of Control Triggering Event);

(3) the repurchase date (which shall be no earlier than 30 days nor later than 60 days from the
date such notice is mailed);

(4) that each Note will be subject to repurchase only in integral multiples of $2,000; and

(5) the instructions determined by the Issuer, consistent with the covenant described hereunder,
that a holder must follow in order to have its Notes purchased.
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The Issuer will comply, to the extent applicable, with the requirements of Section 14(e) of the
Exchange Act and any other securities laws or regulations in connection with the repurchase of Notes
pursuant to this covenant. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations or
applicable listing requirements conflict with the provisions of this covenant, the Issuer will comply with the
applicable securities laws and regulations and will not be deemed to have breached its obligations under
this covenant by virtue thereof.

The Change of Control Triggering Event repurchase feature is a result of negotiations between the
Company and the initial purchasers. We have no present intention to engage in a transaction involving a
Change of Control, although it is possible that we would decide to do so in the future. In November 2011,
Fresenius SE announced that it planned to acquire approximately 3,500,000 additional ordinary shares of
the Company and that it intends to maintain its ownership of the Company’s ordinary shares above 30%.
Fresenius SE completed such share purchases in February 2012 and at September 30, 2014, was the owner
of approximately 31.1% of our ordinary shares. Subject to the limitations discussed below, we could, in the
future, enter into certain transactions, including acquisitions, refinancings or other recapitalizations, that
would not constitute a Change of Control under the Indenture, but that could increase the amount of
Indebtedness outstanding at such time or otherwise affect our capital structure or credit ratings.
Restrictions on our ability to Incur additional Indebtedness are contained in the covenant described under
“— Certain Covenants — Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness.” These restrictions can only be
waived with the consent of the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding
under the Indenture governing such Notes. Except so long as the limitations contained in such covenants
are effective, the Indentures will not contain any covenants or provisions that may afford holders of the
Notes protection in the event of a highly leveraged transaction.

The Issuer’s ability to repurchase Notes upon a Change of Control Triggering Event may be limited by
a number of factors. The occurrence of some of the events that constitute a Change of Control would
constitute a default under the Credit Facility and could constitute a default under certain other
Indebtedness of the Company or its Subsidiaries which, in the event of a Change of Control, could make it
difficult for the Issuer to repurchase the Notes. Our future Indebtedness may contain prohibitions on the
occurrence of certain events that would constitute a Change of Control Triggering Event or require such
Indebtedness to be repurchased upon a Change of Control Triggering Event. Moreover, the exercise by the
holders of their right to require the Issuer to repurchase Notes could cause a default under such
Indebtedness, even if the Change of Control Triggering Event itself does not, due to the financial effect of
such repurchase on us. Finally, the Issuer’s ability to pay cash to the holders of Notes following the
occurrence of a Change of Control Triggering Event may be limited by our then existing financial
resources. We cannot assure you that sufficient funds will be available when necessary to make any
required repurchases. The provisions under an Indenture relating to the Issuer’s obligation to make an
offer to repurchase Notes as a result of a Change of Control Triggering Event may be waived or modified
with the written consent of the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes issued under the
Indenture.

Certain Covenants

Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness

(a) Neither the Issuer nor the Company shall, and they shall not permit any of their Subsidiaries to,
Incur, directly or indirectly, any Indebtedness; provided, however, that the Company and any Subsidiary
may Incur Indebtedness (and the Company and any Subsidiary may Incur Acquired Indebtedness) if on the
date thereof:

(1) the Consolidated Coverage Ratio of the Company is at least 2.0 to 1.0; and

(2) no Default or Event of Default will have occurred and be continuing or would occur as a
consequence of Incurring the Indebtedness.

(b) The foregoing limitations contained in paragraph (a) do not apply to the Incurrence of any of the
following Indebtedness:

(1) Indebtedness Incurred as revolving credit facilities under the Credit Facility in an aggregate
amount not to exceed $1.7 billion outstanding at any time;

(2) Indebtedness in respect of Receivables Financings in an aggregate principal amount which,
together with all other Indebtedness in respect of Receivables Financings outstanding on the date of
such Incurrence (other than Indebtedness permitted by paragraph (a) or clause (3) of this
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paragraph (b)), does not exceed 85% of the sum of (1) the total amount of accounts receivables shown
on the Company’s most recent consolidated quarterly balance sheet, plus (2) without duplication, the
total amount of accounts receivable already subject to a Receivables Financing;

(3) Indebtedness of the Company owed to and held by another Guarantor, Indebtedness of a
Wholly Owned Subsidiary owed to and held by another Wholly Owned Subsidiary or Indebtedness of
a Wholly Owned Subsidiary owing to and held by the Company; provided, however, that any
subsequent issuance or transfer of any Capital Stock that results in any such Indebtedness being held
by a Person other than the Company or another Wholly Owned Subsidiary or any subsequent transfer
of such Indebtedness (other than to the Company or another Wholly Owned Subsidiary) shall be
deemed, in each case, to constitute the Incurrence of such Indebtedness by the Company or the
Subsidiary, as the case may be;

(4) Indebtedness in respect of the Notes issued on the Issue Date, and the related Note
Guarantees by the Company and the other Guarantors;

(5) Capital Lease Obligations and Indebtedness Incurred, in each case, to provide all or a
portion of the purchase price or cost of construction of an asset or, in the case of a Sale and
Leaseback Transaction, to finance the value of such asset owned by the Company or a Subsidiary;

(6) Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness of the type covered by clause (1) or clause (2))
outstanding on the Issue Date after giving effect to the application of proceeds from the Notes;

(7) Refinancing Indebtedness in respect of Indebtedness Incurred pursuant to paragraph (a) or
pursuant to clause (4) or (6) of this paragraph (b);

(8) Hedging Obligations entered into in the ordinary course of the business and not for
speculative purposes as determined in good faith by the Company;

(9) customer deposits and advance payments received from customers for goods purchased in
the ordinary course of business;

(10) Indebtedness arising under the Cash Management Arrangements; and

(11) Indebtedness Incurred by the Company or a Subsidiary in an aggregate principal amount
which, together with all other Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries outstanding on the
date of such Incurrence (other than Indebtedness permitted by paragraph (a) or clauses (1) through
(10) of this paragraph (b)), does not exceed $1.5 billion.

(c) For purposes of determining compliance with the foregoing covenant:

(1) in the event that an item of Indebtedness meets the criteria of more than one of the types of
Indebtedness described above, the Company, in its sole discretion, will classify and from time to time
may reclassify such item of Indebtedness and only be required to include the amount and type of such
Indebtedness in one of the above clauses, provided that any Indebtedness outstanding on the Issue
Date and Indebtedness Incurred under clause (b)(5) above may not be reclassified to clause (a) above;
and

(2) an item of Indebtedness may be divided and classified, or reclassified, in more than one of
the types of Indebtedness described above, provided that any Indebtedness outstanding on the Issue
Date and Indebtedness Incurred under clause (b)(5) above may not be reclassified to clause (a) above.

(d) If during any period the Notes have achieved and continue to maintain Investment Grade Status
and no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing (such period is referred to herein as an
“Investment Grade Status Period”), then upon notice by the Company to the Trustee by the delivery of an
Officers’ Certificate that it has achieved Investment Grade Status, this covenant will be suspended and will
not during such period be applicable to the Company and its Subsidiaries and shall only be applicable if
such Investment Grade Status Period ends.

As a result, during any such period, the Notes will lose the protection initially provided under this
covenant. No action taken during an Investment Grade Status Period or prior to an Investment Grade
Status Period in compliance with this covenant will require reversal or constitute a default under the Notes
in the event that this covenant is subsequently reinstated or suspended, as the case may be. An Investment
Grade Status Period will not commence until the Company has delivered the Officers’ Certificate referred
to above and will terminate immediately upon the failure of the Notes to maintain Investment Grade
Status or upon an Event of Default.
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Limitation on Liens

Each Indenture provides that the Issuer and the Company may not, and may not permit any
Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries to directly, or indirectly, create, Incur or suffer to exist
any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) upon any of its property or assets (including Capital Stock), whether
owned on the date of the Indenture or acquired after that date, securing any Indebtedness, unless
contemporaneously with (or prior to) the Incurrence of the Liens effective provision is made to secure the
Indebtedness due under the Indenture and the Notes, equally and ratably with (or prior to in the case of
Liens with respect to Subordinated Obligations) the Indebtedness secured by such Lien for so long as such
Indebtedness is so secured.

Limitation on Mergers and Sales of Assets

Each Indenture provides that the Issuer and the Company may not, and may not permit any
Guarantor to consolidate or merge with or into (whether or not the Issuer or such Guarantor is the
Surviving Person), or sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its
properties and assets in one or more related transactions, to another Person unless:

(1) the Surviving Person is an entity organized and existing under the laws of Germany, the
United Kingdom, any other member state of the European Union (as of December 31, 2003),
Luxembourg, Switzerland, the United States of America, or any State thereof or the District of
Columbia, or the jurisdiction of formation of the Issuer or any Guarantor; or, if the Surviving Person
is an entity organized and existing under the laws of any other jurisdiction, the Issuer delivers to the
Trustee an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that the rights of the holders of the Notes would not be
affected adversely as a result of the law of the jurisdiction of organization of the Surviving Person,
insofar as such law affects the ability of the Surviving Person to pay and perform its obligations and
undertakings in connection with the Notes (in a transaction involving the Issuer) or its Note
Guarantee or the ability of the Surviving Person to obligate itself to pay and perform such obligations
and undertakings or the ability of the holders to enforce such obligations and undertakings;

(2) the Surviving Person (if other than the Issuer or a Guarantor) shall expressly assume, (A) in
a transaction or series of transactions involving the Issuer, by a supplemental indenture in a form
satisfactory to the Trustee, all of the obligations of the Issuer under the relevant Indenture, or (B) in a
transaction or series of transactions not involving the Issuer, by a Guarantee Agreement, in a form
satisfactory to the Trustee, all of the obligations of such Guarantor under its Note Guarantee;

(3) at the time of and immediately after such transaction, no Default or Event of Default shall
have occurred and be continuing; and

(4) the Issuer or such Guarantor delivers to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion
of Counsel, each stating that such consolidation, merger, transfer, assignment, sale, lease, conveyance
or other disposition and such supplemental indenture and Guarantee Agreement, if any, comply with
the Indenture.

Limitation on Sale and Leaseback Transactions

Each Indenture provides that the Issuer and the Company may not, and may not permit any
Guarantor or any Subsidiary to, enter into any Sale and Leaseback Transaction unless:

(1) the Issuer or such Guarantor or Subsidiary, as the case may be, could have created a Lien on
the property subject to such Sale and Leaseback Transaction if such transaction was financed with
Indebtedness without securing the Notes by the covenant described under “— Limitation on Liens”;
and

(2) the Issuer or such Guarantor or Subsidiary, as the case may be, can Incur an amount of
Indebtedness equal to the Attributable Debt in respect of such Sale and Leaseback Transaction.
Reports
For so long as any Notes are outstanding, the Company will provide the Trustee with:

(1) its annual financial statements and related notes thereto for the most recent two fiscal years
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP (or IFRS or any other internationally generally acceptable
accounting standard in the event the Company is required by applicable law to prepare its financial
statements in accordance with IFRS or such other standard or is permitted and elects to do so, with
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appropriate reconciliation to U.S. GAAP, unless not then required under the rules of the SEC) and
including segment data, together with an audit report thereon, together with a discussion of the
“Operating Results” and “Liquidity” for such fiscal years prepared in a manner substantially
consistent with the “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects” required by Form 20-F under the
Exchange Act (or any replacement or successor form) incorporated by reference herein and a
“Business Summary of the Financial Year” and discussion of “Business Segments” provided in a
manner consistent with its annual report, a description of “Related Party Transaction”, and a
description of Indebtedness, within 90 days of the end of each fiscal year; and

(2) quarterly financial information as of and for the period from the beginning of each year to
the close of each quarterly period (other than the fourth quarter), together with comparable
information for the corresponding period of the preceding year, and a summary “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” to the extent and in the
form required under the Exchange Act providing a brief discussion of the results of operations for the
period within 45 days following the end of the fiscal quarter.

In addition, so long as any of the Notes remain outstanding and during any period when the Issuer or
the Company is not subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act other than by virtue of the
exemption therefrom pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b), the Company will furnish to any holder or beneficial
owner of Notes initially offered and sold in the United States to “qualified institutional buyers” as defined
in Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 pursuant to such rule and any prospective purchaser in
the United States designated by such holder or beneficial owner, upon request, any information required
to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933.

Ownership of the Issuer

Each Indenture provides that the Company will continue to directly or indirectly maintain 100%
ownership of the Capital Stock of the Issuer or any permitted successor of the Issuer; provided, that any
permitted successor of the Company under an indenture may succeed to the Company’s ownership of such
Capital Stock.

The Company will cause the Issuer or its successor to engage only in those activities that are
necessary, convenient or incidental to issuing and selling the Notes and any additional Indebtedness
permitted by the Indenture (including the Issuer’s Guarantee of the Credit Facility and any Additional
Notes), and advancing or distributing the proceeds thereof to the Company and its Subsidiaries and
performing its obligations relating to the Notes and any such additional Indebtedness, pursuant to the
terms thereof and of the Indenture and any other applicable indenture.

Substitution of an Issuer

The Company, any other Guarantor or a Finance Subsidiary (a “Successor”) may assume the
obligations of the Issuer under the Notes by executing and delivering to the Trustee (a) a supplemental
indenture which subjects such person to all of the provisions of the Indenture and (b) an Opinion of
Counsel to the effect that such supplemental indenture has been duly authorized and executed by such
Person, and constitutes the legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligation of such Person, subject to
customary exceptions; provided, that (i) the Successor is formed under the laws of the United States of
America, or any State thereof or the District of Columbia, Germany, the United Kingdom or any other
member state of the European Union as of December 31, 2003 and (ii) no Additional Amounts would be
or become payable with respect to the Notes at the time of such assumption, or as result of any change in
the laws of the jurisdiction of formation of such Successor that was reasonably foreseeable at such time.
The Successor shall succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power of, the
Issuer under the Indenture with the same effect as if it were the Issuer thereunder, and the former Issuer
shall be discharged from all obligations and covenants under the Indenture and the Notes.

Events of Default

Each Indenture provides that any one or more of the following described events, which has occurred
and is continuing, constitutes an “Event of Default” with respect to the Notes issued under such Indenture:

(1) failure for 30 days to pay interest on any of the Notes, including any Additional Amounts in
respect thereof, when due; or

(2) failure to pay principal of or premium, if any, on any of the Notes when due, whether at
maturity, upon redemption, by declaration or otherwise; or
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(3) failure to observe or perform any other covenant contained in the Indenture for 60 days after
notice as provided in the Indenture; or

(4) default under any mortgage, indenture or instrument under which there may be issued or by
which there may be secured or evidenced any Indebtedness for money borrowed by the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries (or the payment of which is Guaranteed by the Company), whether such
Indebtedness or Guarantee now exists or is Incurred after the Issue Date, if (A) such default results in
the acceleration of such Indebtedness prior to its express maturity or will constitute a default in the
payment of such Indebtedness and B) the principal amount of any such Indebtedness that has been
accelerated or not paid at maturity, when added to the aggregate principal amount of all other such
Indebtedness, at such time, that has been accelerated or not paid at maturity, exceeds $100 million; or

(5) any final judgment or judgments (not covered by insurance) which can no longer be
appealed for the payment of money in excess of $100 million shall be rendered against the Issuer or
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and shall not be discharged for any period of 60 consecutive
days during which a stay of enforcement shall not be in effect; or

(6) any Note Guarantee shall cease to be in full force and effect in accordance with its terms for
any reason except pursuant to the terms of the Indenture governing the release of Note Guarantees or
the satisfaction in full of all the obligations thereunder or shall be declared invalid or unenforceable
other than as contemplated by its terms, or any Guarantor shall repudiate, deny or disaffirm any of its
obligations thereunder; or

(7) certain events in bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of the Company, the Guarantors,
the Issuer or any of the Company’s Significant Subsidiaries.

A default under clause (3) of this paragraph will not constitute an Event of Default under an
Indenture unless the Trustee or holders of 25% in principal amount of the outstanding Notes under such
Indenture notify the Issuer and the Company of such default and such default is not cured within the time
specified in clause (3).

The Trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate outstanding principal amount of the
Notes under the relevant Indenture may declare the principal of, premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid
interest (including any Additional Amounts) on such Notes due and payable immediately on the
occurrence of an Event of Default (other than under clause (7)); provided, however, that, after such
acceleration, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes may, under
certain circumstances, rescind and annul such acceleration if the rescission would not conflict with any
judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction and all Events of Default, other than the
nonpayment of accelerated principal, premium, if any and interest have been cured or waived as provided
in the applicable Indenture. If an Event of Default described in clause (7) above occurs and is continuing,
the principal of, premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid interest on all the Notes will become and be
immediately due and payable without any declaration or other act on the part of the Trustee or any
holders. For information as to waiver of defaults, see “— Amendments and Waivers.”

Subject to the provisions of each Indenture relating to the duties of the Trustee, in case an event of
default shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or
powers under the Indenture at the request or direction of any holders of Notes issued thereunder unless
such holders shall have offered to the Trustee reasonable indemnity. Subject to the provisions for the
indemnification of the Trustee, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes issued
thereunder then outstanding, will have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any
proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred on the
Trustee.

No holder of any Note will have any right to institute any proceeding with respect to the Indenture
governing such Note or for any remedy thereunder, unless written notice of a continuing Event of Default
shall have previously been given in accordance with the terms of such Indenture and reasonable indemnity
shall have been offered, to the Trustee to institute such proceeding as Trustee, and the Trustee will not
have received from the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes under
such Indenture a direction inconsistent with such request and shall have failed to institute such proceeding
within 60 days. However, such limitations do not apply to a suit instituted by a holder of a Note for
enforcement of payment of the principal of and premium, if any, or interest on such Note on or after the
respective due dates expressed in such Note.
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The holders of a majority in aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Notes due 2020 or the
Notes due 2024 affected thereby may, on behalf of the holders of all the applicable issue of Notes, waive
any existing default, except a default in the payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest or a default
in respect of a covenant or provision that cannot be modified or amended without consent of the holder of
each Note affected. The Issuer and the Company are required to file annually with the Trustee a certificate
as to whether or not the Issuer and the Company are in compliance with all the conditions and covenants
under the applicable Indenture.

Amendments and Waivers

Subject to certain exceptions, each Indenture may be amended or supplemented with the consent of
the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding under such Indenture
(including without limitation, consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, or tender offer or
exchange offer for, such Notes) and, subject to certain exceptions, any existing default or compliance with
any provisions may be waived with the consent of the holders of a majority in principal amount of the
Notes then outstanding (including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection with a purchase of,
or tender offer or exchange offer for, such Notes). However, without the consent of each holder of an
outstanding Note adversely affected, no amendment or waiver may, among other things:

(1) reduce the percentage of principal amount of any Note whose holders must consent to an
amendment;

(2) reduce the stated rate of or extend the stated time for payment of interest on any Note;
(3) reduce the principal of or extend the Stated Maturity of any Note;

(4) reduce the premium payable upon the redemption of any Note or change the time at which
any Note may be redeemed as described above under “Optional Redemption”;

(5) reduce the premium payable upon the repurchase of any Note, change the time at which any
Note may be repurchased, or change any of the associated definitions related to the provisions of
“Change of Control” once the obligation to repurchase the Notes has arisen;

(6) make any Note payable in money other than that stated in the Note;

(7) impair the right of any holder to receive payment of premium, if any, principal of and
interest on such holder’s Notes on or after the due dates therefor or to institute suit for the
enforcement of any payment on or with respect to such holder’s Notes;

(8) make any change in the amendment provisions which require each holder’s consent or in the
waiver provisions; or

(9) release the Company from its Note Guarantee applicable to any Note.
Without the consent of any holder, the Issuer and the Trustee may amend the Indenture to:
(1) cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or inconsistency;

(2) provide for the assumption by an entity of the obligations of the Issuer under the Indenture
or of a Guarantor (other than the Company) under the Note Guarantees;

(3) provide for uncertificated Notes in addition to or in place of certificated Notes;
(4) add Note Guarantees with respect to the Notes;
(5) secure the Notes;

(6) add to the covenants of the Issuer and the Guarantors for the benefit of the holders or
surrender any right or power conferred upon the Issuer;

(7) evidence and provide for the acceptance and appointment of a successor trustee;
(8) comply with the rules of any applicable securities depositary;

(9) issue Additional Notes in accordance with the Indenture; or

(10) make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any holder.

The consent of the holders is not necessary under an Indenture to approve the particular form of any
proposed amendment or waiver to or under such Indenture. It is sufficient if such consent approves the
substance of the proposed amendment or waiver. After an amendment, supplement or waiver under an
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Indenture becomes effective, the Issuer is required to mail to the holders of the Notes issued thereunder a
notice briefly describing such amendment, supplement or waiver. However, the failure to give such notice
to all the holders, or any defect in the notice, will not impair or affect the validity of the amendment,
supplement or waiver.

Defeasance

The Issuer at any time may terminate all its obligations under the Notes due 2020 or the Notes due
2024 and, in each case, under the related Indenture (“legal defeasance”), except for certain obligations,
including those respecting the defeasance trust and obligations to register the transfer or exchange of any
Notes, to replace mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Notes and to maintain a registrar and paying agent in
respect of any Notes.

The Issuer at any time may terminate its obligations under covenants described under “Certain
Covenants” (other than “— Limitation on Mergers and Sales of Assets”), the operation of the cross-
default upon a payment default, cross-acceleration provisions, the bankruptcy provisions with respect to
Subsidiaries, the judgment default provision described under “Events of Default” above and the
limitations contained in clause (4) under “Certain Covenants — Limitation on Mergers and Sales of
Assets” above (“covenant defeasance”).

The Issuer may exercise its legal defeasance option notwithstanding its prior exercise of its covenant
defeasance option. If the Issuer exercises its legal defeasance option, payment of the defeased Notes may
not be accelerated because of an Event of Default with respect to such Notes. If the Issuer exercises its
covenant defeasance option, payment of the defeased Notes may not be accelerated because of an Event of
Default specified in clause (3), (4), (5) or (7) under “Events of Default” above or because of the failure of
the Issuer to comply with clause (4) under “Certain Covenants — Limitation on Mergers and Sales of
Assets” above.

In order to exercise either defeasance option, the Issuer must irrevocably deposit in trust (the
“defeasance trust”’) with the Trustee for the benefit of the holders Designated Government Obligations for
the payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes to be defeased to redemption or
maturity, as the case may be, and must comply with certain other conditions, including delivery to the
Trustee of:

(a) an Opinion of Counsel (subject to customary exceptions and exclusions) to the effect that
holders of such Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a
result of such deposit and defeasance and will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the same
amount and in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such deposit
and defeasance had not occurred. In the case of legal defeasance only, such Opinion of Counsel must
be based on a ruling of the Internal Revenue Service or other change in applicable U.S. Federal
income tax law;

(b) an Opinion of Counsel in the Federal Republic of Germany (subject to customary exceptions
and exclusions) to the effect that holders of such Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for
income tax purposes of the Federal Republic of Germany as a result of such deposit and defeasance
and will be subject to income tax in the Federal Republic of Germany on the same amount and in the
same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such deposit and defeasance had
not occurred; and

(c) an Opinion of Counsel in Luxembourg (subject to customary exceptions and exclusions) to
the effect that holders of such Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for income tax purposes of
Luxembourg as a result of such deposit and defeasance and will be subject to income tax in
Luxembourg on the same amount and in the same manner and at the same times as would have been
the case if such deposit and defeasance had not occurred.

No Personal Liability of Directors, Officers, Employees and Stockholders

No member of the Board of Directors, director, officer, employee, incorporator or stockholder of the
Issuer, Fresenius SE, the general partner of Fresenius SE, the Company, its General Partner or the
Guarantors, as such, shall have any liability for any obligations of the Issuer or any Guarantor under the
Notes, the Indentures or the Note Guarantees or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of,
such obligations or their creation. Each holder by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability
and agrees not to enforce any claim in respect of the Notes, the Indentures or the Note Guarantees to the
extent that it would give rise to such personal liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration
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for issuance of the Notes and the Note Guarantees. Such waiver and release may not be effective to waive
liabilities under the U.S. federal securities laws and it is the view of the SEC that such a waiver is against
public policy. In addition, such waiver and release may not be effective under the laws of the Federal
Republic of Germany.

Consent to Jurisdiction and Service of Process

Each Indenture provides that the Issuer and the Company irrevocably agree to accept notice and
service of process in any suit, action or proceeding with respect to the Indenture and the Notes, as the case
may be, brought in any U.S. federal or state court located in the Borough of Manhattan in the City of New
York and that the Issuer and the Company submit to the jurisdiction thereof.

Concerning the Trustee

U.S. Bank National Association is the Trustee under each Indenture and has been appointed by the
Issuer as Paying Agent and Registrar (in the case of Definitive Registered Notes) with regard to the Notes.
The Trustee is a national banking association organized under the laws of the United States of America.
The Trustee’s principal office is located at 800 Nicollet Mall, Minneapolis, Minnesota, U.S.A., 55402 and
its corporate trust office is at 225 Asylum Street, 23rd Floor, Hartford, Connecticut, U.S.A., 06103. The
Trustee authenticates each Global Note and each Definitive Registered Note and, as Registrar, is
responsible for the transfer and registration of Notes exchanged in accordance with the Indentures. Upon
the occurrence of an Event of Default as defined under an Indenture, the Trustee must notify the holders
of the Notes issued thereunder of such default and thereafter the Trustee may pursue various actions and
remedies on behalf of the holders of such Notes as set out in the Indenture and approved by the holders of
the Notes. In its capacity as Trustee, the Trustee may sue on its own behalf the holders of the Notes. The
Trustee will not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith which it reasonably believes
to be authorized under the Indenture. The Trustee is further entitled to require and rely in good faith on
an Officers’ Certificate, Issuer Order (as applicable) or Opinion of Counsel before taking action. The
Trustee is indemnified by the Issuer under each Indenture for any and all loss, damage, claim proceedings,
demands, costs, expenses or liability including taxes incurred by the Trustee without negligence or willful
misconduct on its part in connection with the acceptance of administration of the trust under each
Indenture. The Trustee may resign at any time by notifying the Issuer in writing. The Trustee may be
removed by the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes due 2020 or the Notes due 2024, as
the case may be, by notifying the Issuer and the Trustee in writing, and such majority holders may appoint a
successor trustee with the Issuer’s consent. In addition, the Issuer may remove the Trustee upon certain
bankruptcy and similar events relating to the Trustee or if the Trustee becomes incapable of acting with
respect to its duties under the Indenture.

Validity of Claims

The time of validity for a payment of interest, principal, the redemption price or another amount
payable under each Indenture is six years from the date on which such payment is due.

Governing Law

Each Indenture and the Notes will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the
State of New York. The Note Guarantees will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws
of the State of New York, except that certain matters concerning the limitations thereof will be construed
in accordance with the laws of the Federal Republic of Germany.

Certain Definitions
As used in the Indenture (except as specifically noted below):

“Accounting Principles” means U.S. GAAP, or, upon adoption thereof by the Company and notice to
the Trustee, IFRS or any other accounting standards which are generally acceptable in the jurisdiction of
organization of the Company, approved by the relevant regulatory or other accounting bodies in that
jurisdiction and internationally generally acceptable and, in the case of IFRS or such other accounting
standards, as in effect from time to time.

“Acquired Indebtedness” means Indebtedness of a Person existing at the time such Person becomes a
Subsidiary or is merged into or consolidated with any other Person or that is assumed in connection with
the acquisition of assets from such Person and, in each case, not Incurred by such Person in connection
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with, or in anticipation or contemplation of, such Person becoming a Subsidiary or such merger,
consolidation or acquisition.

“A/R Facility” means the accounts receivable facility established pursuant to the Sixth Amended and
Restated Transfer and Administration Agreement dated as of January 17, 2013, by and among NMC
Funding Corporation, as transferor, National Medical Care, Inc., as initial collection agent, Liberty Street
Funding LLC and the other conduit investors party thereto, the financial institutions party thereto, The
Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ Ltd., New York Branch, Barclays Bank PLC, Credit Agricole Corporate
and Investment Bank, New York Branch, and Royal Bank of Canada, as administrative agents, and The
Bank of Nova Scotia, as administrative agent and as agent (as amended, modified, renewed, refunded,
replaced, restated or refinanced from time to time).

“Affiliate” of any specified Person means:
(1) any other Person, directly or indirectly, controlling or controlled by, or
(2) under direct or indirect common control with such specified Person.

For the purposes of this definition, “control” when used with respect to any Person means the power
to direct the management and policies of such Person, directly or indirectly, whether through the
ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; and the terms “controlling” and “controlled” have
meanings correlative to the foregoing.

“Asset Disposition” means any direct or indirect sale, issuance, conveyance, transfer, lease (other than
operating leases entered into in the ordinary course of business), assignment or other transfer for value by
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including any Sale and Leaseback Transaction) to any Person other
than the Company or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company, including any disposition by means of a
merger, consolidation or similar transaction (each referred to for the purposes of this definition as a
“disposition”), of:

(1) any shares of Capital Stock of any Subsidiary (other than directors qualifying shares or
shares required by applicable law to be held by a Person other than the Company or a Subsidiary),

(2) all or substantially all the assets of any division or line of business of the Company or any
Subsidiary, or

(3) any other assets of the Company or any Subsidiary outside of the ordinary course of business
of the Company or such Subsidiary,

other than, in the case of (1), (2) and (3) above,

(A) a disposition of assets or issuance of Capital Stock by a Subsidiary to the Company or by the
Company or a Subsidiary to a Wholly Owned Subsidiary,

(B) transactions permitted under “Certain Covenants — Limitation on Mergers and Sales of
Assets”, and

(C) dispositions in connection with Permitted Liens, foreclosures on assets and any release of
claims which have been written down or written off.

“Attributable Debt” means, in respect of any Sale and Leaseback Transaction, as of the time of
determination, the total obligation (discounted to present value at the rate per annum equal to the
discount rate which would be applicable to a Capital Lease Obligation with the like term in accordance
with Accounting Principles) of the lessee for rental payments (other than amounts required to be paid on
account of property taxes, maintenance, repairs, insurance, water rates and other items which do not
constitute payments for property rights) during the remaining portion of the initial term of the lease
included in such Sale and Leaseback Transaction.

“Average Life” means, as of the date of determination, with respect to any Indebtedness or Preferred
Stock, the quotient obtained by dividing:

(1) the sum of the products of numbers of years from the date of determination to the dates of
each successive scheduled principal payment of such Indebtedness or redemption or similar payment
with respect to such Preferred Stock multiplied by the amount of such payment by,

(2) the sum of all such payments.

“Board of Directors” means, with respect to the Issuer or any Guarantor, as the case may be, the
Board of Directors (or other body performing functions similar to any of those performed by a Board of
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Directors including those performed, in the case of a German stock corporation, by the management
board, or in the case of a KGaA, by the General Partner) of such Person or any committee thereof duly
authorized to act on behalf of such Board (or other body).

“Business Day” means any day other than:
(1) a Saturday or Sunday,

(2) a day on which banking institutions in New York City, Frankfurt am Main or the jurisdiction
of organization of the Issuer or of the office of a Paying Agent (other than the Trustee) are authorized
or required by law or executive order to remain closed, or

(3) a day on which the corporate trust office of the Trustee is closed for business.

“Capital Lease Obligations” means an obligation that is required to be classified and accounted for as
a capital lease for financial reporting purposes in accordance with Accounting Principles, and the amount
of Indebtedness represented by such obligation shall be the capitalized amount of such obligation
determined in accordance with Accounting Principles; and the Stated Maturity thereof shall be the date of
the last payment of rent or any other amount due under such lease prior to the first date upon which such
lease may be terminated by the lessee without payment of a penalty.

“Capital Stock” of any Person means any and all shares, interests, rights to purchase, warrants,
options, participations or other equivalents of or interests in (however designated) equity of such Person,
including any Preferred Stock, but excluding any debt securities convertible into such equity.

“Cash Management Arrangements” means any cash management arrangement (including cash pool,
virtual cash pool, treasury, depository, overdraft, credit or debit card, electronic funds transfer or other
arrangements in respect of cash (including restricted cash) and cash equivalents or similar assets) of the
Company and its Affiliates (including any Indebtedness arising thereunder) which arrangement (i) is in the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (ii) designed to provide cash management
services, designed to enhance the rate of return of available cash and cash equivalents and entered into for
investment and not speculative purposes as determined in good faith by the Company, or (iii) designed to
reduce the overall tax liability of the Company and its Affiliates and for which the Company determines in
good faith to be in compliance with tax laws applicable to it.

“Change of Control” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

(1) so long as the Company is organized as a KGaA, if the General Partner of the Company
charged with management of the Company shall at any time fail to be a Subsidiary of Fresenius SE, or
if Fresenius SE shall fail at any time to own and control more than 25% of the capital stock with
ordinary voting power in the Company;

(2) if the Company is no longer organized as a KGaA, any event the result of which is that
(A) any “person” or “group” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange
Act), other than Fresenius SE, is or becomes the beneficial owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and
13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except that such Person or group shall be deemed to have “beneficial
ownership” of all shares that any such Person or group has the right to acquire, whether such right is
exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time), directly or indirectly, of more than 35% of
the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Company and (B) the Permitted Holders do not
“beneficially own” (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 of the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, in
the aggregate a greater percentage of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Company;

(3) any sale, lease, exchange or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related
transactions) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company to any Person or group of related
Persons for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act (a “Group”), together with any Affiliates
thereof (whether or not otherwise in compliance with the provisions of the Indenture).

“Change of Control Triggering Event” means the occurrence of a Change of Control and a Ratings
Decline.

“Consolidated Coverage Ratio” of any Person as of any date of determination means the ratio of
(x) the aggregate amount of EBITDA for such Person’s most recently ended four full fiscal quarters for
which internal financial statements are available immediately preceding the date of such determination to
(y) Consolidated Interest Expense for such four fiscal quarters; provided, however, that:

(1) if such Person or any of its Subsidiaries has Incurred or repaid, repurchased, defeased or
otherwise discharged (in each case other than Indebtedness under any revolving credit facility unless
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such Indebtedness has been permanently repaid and any related commitment has been terminated)
any Indebtedness since the beginning of such period that remains outstanding or discharged or if the
transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Consolidated Coverage Ratio is an Incurrence or
discharge of Indebtedness, or both, EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expense for such period shall
be calculated after giving effect on a pro forma basis to such Indebtedness as if such Indebtedness had
been Incurred or discharged on the first day of such period and the Incurrence or discharge of any
other Indebtedness as if such Incurrence or discharge had occurred on the first day of such period,

(2) if since the beginning of such period such Person or any of its Subsidiaries shall have made
any Asset Disposition, the EBITDA for such period shall be reduced by an amount equal to the
EBITDA (if positive) directly attributable to the assets which are the subject of such Asset Disposition
for such period, or increased by an amount equal to the EBITDA (if negative), directly attributable
thereto for such period and Consolidated Interest Expense for such period shall be reduced by an
amount equal to the Consolidated Interest Expense directly attributable to any Indebtedness of such
Person or any of its Subsidiaries repaid, repurchased, defeased or otherwise discharged with respect to
such Person and its continuing Subsidiaries in connection with such Asset Disposition for such period
(or, if the Capital Stock of any Subsidiary is sold, the Consolidated Interest Expense for such period of
credit and directly attributable to the Indebtedness of such Subsidiary to the extent such Person and
its continuing Subsidiaries are no longer liable for such Indebtedness after such Asset Disposition),

(3) if since the beginning of such period such Person or any of its Subsidiaries (by merger or
otherwise) shall have made an Investment in any Subsidiary (or any Person which becomes a
Subsidiary) or an acquisition of assets, which constitutes all or substantially all of an operating unit of
a business, EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expense for such period shall be calculated after
giving pro forma effect thereto (including the Incurrence of any Indebtedness) as if such Investment
or acquisition occurred on the first day of such period, and

(4) if since the beginning of such period any Person (that subsequently became a Subsidiary or
was merged with or into such Person or any of its Subsidiaries since the beginning of such period) shall
have made any Asset Disposition, any Investment or acquisition of assets that would have required an
adjustment pursuant to clause (2) or (3) above if made by such Person or a Subsidiary of such Person
during such period, EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expense for such period shall be calculated
after giving pro forma effect thereto as if such Asset Disposition, Investment or acquisition occurred
on the first day of such period.

For purposes of this definition, whenever pro forma effect is to be given to an acquisition of assets, the
amount of income or earnings relating thereto and the amount of Consolidated Interest Expense
associated with any Indebtedness Incurred in connection therewith, the pro forma calculations shall be
determined in good faith by a responsible financial or accounting officer of the Company, as applicable. If
any Indebtedness bears a floating rate of interest and is being given pro forma effect, the interest of such
Indebtedness shall be calculated as if the rate in effect on the date of determination had been the
applicable rate for the entire period (taking into account any Interest Rate Agreement applicable to such
Indebtedness if such Interest Rate Agreement has a remaining term in excess of 12 months).

“Consolidated Interest Expense” means, with respect to any Person for any period, the total interest
expense of such Person and its consolidated Subsidiaries, including the amortization of debt discount and
premium, the interest component under capital leases and the implied interest component (if any) under
any Receivables Financing, in each case on a consolidated basis determined in accordance with Accounting
Principles.

“Consolidated Net Income” means, with respect to any Person for any period, the net income of such
Person and its consolidated Subsidiaries (including any net income attributable to non-controlling interest
of such Person and its consolidated Subsidiaries), in each case as determined on a consolidated basis in
accordance with Accounting Principles; provided, that extraordinary gains and losses shall be excluded
from Consolidated Net Income.

“Credit Facility” means the credit agreement entered into as of October 30, 2012 among, inter alios,
the Company, Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc., the other borrowers and guarantors identified
therein, the lenders party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, as amended,
modified, renewed, refunded, replaced, restated or refinanced from time to time.

“Currency Agreement” means any foreign currency exchange contract, currency swap agreement or
other similar agreement or arrangement.
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“Default” means any event that is, or after notice or passage of time or both would be, an Event of
Default (as defined herein).

“Designated Government Obligations” means direct non-callable and non-redeemable obligations (in
each case, with respect to the issuer thereof) issued by any state that is, as of the Issue Date, a member of
the European Union, or by the United States of America (including, in each case, any agency or
instrumentality thereof), as the case may be, the payment of which is secured by the full faith and credit of
the applicable member state or of the United States of America, as the case may be.

“Disqualified Stock” means, with respect to any Person, any Capital Stock that by its terms (or by the
terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable) or upon the happening of
any event:

(1) matures or is mandatorily redeemable pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise;
(2) is convertible or exchangeable for Indebtedness or Disqualified Stock; or
(3) is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part;

in each case on or prior to the first anniversary of the Stated Maturity of the Notes; provided, however, that
any Capital Stock that would not constitute Disqualified Stock but for provisions thereof giving holders
thereof the right to require such Person to repurchase or redeem such Capital Stock upon the occurrence
of an “asset sale” or “change of control” occurring prior to the first anniversary of the Stated Maturity of
the Notes shall not constitute Disqualified Stock if the “asset sale” or “change of control” provisions
applicable to such Capital Stock are not more favorable to the holders of such Capital Stock than the
provisions described under “— Change of Control.”

“EBITDA” for any Person for any period means the sum of Consolidated Net Income of such Person,
plus Consolidated Interest Expense of such Person plus the following to the extent deducted in calculating
such Consolidated Net Income:

(1) all income tax expense of such Person and its Subsidiaries;
(2) depreciation expense;
(3) amortization expense, in each case for such period; and

(4) other non-cash charges (excluding (1) restructuring charges which do not initially involve a
cash payment but as for which there will be a subsequent cash payment and (2) charges resulting from
accruals of costs incurred in the ordinary course of business, other than those relating to pension
liabilities).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provision for taxes based on the income or profits of, and the
depreciation, amortization and other non-cash charges of, a Subsidiary that is not a Wholly Owned
Subsidiary shall be added to Consolidated Net Income to compute EBITDA only to the extent (and in the
same proportion) that the net income of such Subsidiary was included in calculating Consolidated Net
Income and only if a corresponding amount would be permitted at the date of determination to be
dividended to such Person by such Subsidiary without prior approval (that has not been obtained),
pursuant to the terms of its charter and all agreements, instruments, judgments, decrees, orders, statutes,
rules and governmental regulations applicable to such Subsidiary or its stockholders.

“Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
“Fitch” means Fitch, Inc. and its successors.
“FME EBITDA” means the EBITDA for the Company, provided that:

(1) if since the beginning of such period the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall have made
any Asset Disposition, the EBITDA for such period shall be reduced by an amount equal to the
EBITDA (if positive) directly attributable to the assets which are the subject of such Asset Disposition
for such period, or increased by an amount equal to the EBITDA (if negative), directly attributable
thereto for such period,

(2) if since the beginning of such period the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (by merger or
otherwise) shall have made an Investment in any Subsidiary (or any Person which becomes a
Subsidiary) or an acquisition of assets, including any acquisition of assets occurring in connection with
a transaction requiring a calculation to be made hereunder, which constitutes all or substantially all of

79



an operating unit of a business, EBITDA for such period shall be calculated after giving pro forma
effect thereto as if such Investment or acquisition occurred on the first day of such period, and

(3) if since the beginning of such period the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (that
subsequently became a Subsidiary or was merged with or into the Company or such Subsidiary since
the beginning of such period) shall have made any Asset Disposition, any Investment or acquisition of
assets that would have required an adjustment pursuant to clause (1) or (2) above if made by the
Company or such Subsidiary during such period, EBITDA for such period shall be calculated after
giving pro forma effect thereto as if such Asset Disposition, Investment or acquisition occurred on the
first day of such period.

For purposes of this definition (but not, for the avoidance of doubt, for the purpose of any other
defined terms used in this definition), whenever pro forma effect is to be given to an acquisition of assets,
or the amount of income or earnings relating thereto, the pro forma calculations shall be determined in
good faith by a responsible financial or accounting officer of the Company, as applicable.

“Finance Subsidiary” means any Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company created for the sole
purpose of issuing evidences of Indebtedness and which is subject to similar restrictions on its activities as
the Issuer.

“Fresenius SE” means Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA, a partnership limited by shares
(Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien).

“General Partner” means Fresenius Medical Care Management AG, a German stock corporation,
including its successors and assigns and other Persons, in each case who serve as the general partner
(personlich haftender Gesellschafter) of the Company from time to time.

“Guarantee” means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of any Person directly or indirectly
guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation of any Person (other than, in the case of Subsidiaries,
obligations which would not constitute Indebtedness) and any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent or
otherwise, of such Person:

(1) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such
Indebtedness or other obligation of such Person (whether arising by virtue of partnership
arrangements, or by agreements to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to
take-or-pay or to maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise), or

(2) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee of such
Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in
respect thereof (in whole or in part);

provided, however, that the term “Guarantee” shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in
the ordinary course of business. The term “Guarantee” used as a verb has a corresponding meaning. The
term “guarantor” shall mean any Person Guaranteeing any obligation.

“Guarantee Agreement” means, in the context of a consolidation, merger or sale of all or substantially
all of the assets of a Guarantor, an agreement by which the Surviving Person from such a transaction
expressly assumes all of the obligations of such Guarantor under its Note Guarantee.

“Hedging Obligations” of any Person means the obligations of such Person pursuant to any Interest
Rate Agreement or Currency Agreement.

“IFRS” means international financial reporting standards and interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the European Commission, as in effect from
time to time.

“Incur” means issue, assume, guarantee, incur or otherwise become liable for; provided, however, that
any Indebtedness or Capital Stock of a Person existing at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary
(whether by merger, consolidation, acquisition or otherwise) shall be deemed to be Incurred by such
Subsidiary at the time it becomes a Subsidiary. The term “Incurrence” when used as a noun shall have a
correlative meaning. The accretion of principal of a non-interest bearing or other discount security shall be
deemed the Incurrence of Indebtedness.
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“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Person on any date of determination (without duplication):

(1) the principal of and premium (if any) in respect of (A) Indebtedness of such Person for
money borrowed and (B) Indebtedness evidenced by notes, debentures, bonds or other similar
instruments for the payment of which such Person is responsible or liable,

(2) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person,

(3) all obligations of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property
or services, all conditional sale obligations of such Person and all obligations of such Person under any
title retention agreement (other than (x) customary reservations or retentions of title under
agreements with suppliers entered into in the ordinary course of business, (y) trade debt Incurred in
the ordinary course of business and not overdue by 90 days or more and (z) obligations Incurred
under a pension, retirement or deferred compensation program or arrangement regulated under the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or the laws of a foreign
government),

(4) all obligations of such Person for the reimbursement of any obligor on any letter of credit,
bank guarantee, banker’s acceptance or similar credit transaction (except to the extent such
reimbursement obligation relates to trade debt in the ordinary course of business and such
reimbursement obligation is paid within 30 days after payment of the trade debt),

(5) the amount of all obligations of such Person with respect to the redemption, repayment or
other repurchase of any Disqualified Stock or, with respect to any subsidiary of such Person, any
Preferred Stock (but excluding, in each case, any accrued dividends),

(6) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (1) through (5) of other Persons and all
dividends of other Persons for the payment of which, in either case, such Person is responsible or
liable, directly or indirectly, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise, including by means of any Guarantee,

(7) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (1) through (6) of other Persons secured by
any Lien on any property or asset of such Person (whether or not such obligation is assumed by such
Person), the amount of such obligation being deemed to be the lesser of the value of such property or
assets or the amount of the obligation so secured, and

(8) to the extent not otherwise included in this definition, Hedging Obligations of such Person.

The amount of Indebtedness of any Person at any date shall be the outstanding balance at such date of
all unconditional obligations as described above and the maximum liability, upon the occurrence of the
contingency giving rise to the obligation, of any contingent obligations at such date. For the avoidance of
doubt, the following will not be treated as Indebtedness:

(1) Indebtedness Incurred in respect of workers’ compensation claims, self insurance
obligations, performance, surety and similar bonds and completion guarantees provided in this
ordinary course of business;

(2) Indebtedness arising from agreements providing for indemnification, adjustment of purchase
price or similar obligations, in each case, Incurred or assumed in connection with the disposition or
acquisition of any business, assets or Capital Stock of a Subsidiary, provided, that the maximum
aggregate liability in respect of all such Indebtedness (other than in respect of tax and environmental
indemnities) shall at no time exceed, in the case of a disposition, the gross proceeds actually received
by the Company and its Subsidiaries in connection with such disposition and, in the case of an
acquisition, the fair market value of any business assets or Capital Stock acquired;

(3) Indebtedness arising from the honoring by a bank or other financial institution of a check,
draft or similar instrument (except in the case of daylight overdrafts) drawn against insufficient funds
in the ordinary course of business, provided that such Indebtedness is extinguished within five
Business Days of the Incurrence.

“Interest Rate Agreement” means any interest rate swap agreement, interest rate cap agreement or
other similar financial agreement or arrangement.

“Investment” in any Person means any direct or indirect advance, loan (other than advances to
customers in the ordinary course of business that are recorded as accounts receivable on the balance sheet
of such Person) or other extensions of credit (including by way of Guarantee or similar arrangement) or
capital contribution to (by means of any transfer of cash or other property to others or any payment for
property or services for the account or use of others), or any purchase or acquisition of Capital Stock,
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Indebtedness or other similar instruments issued by such Person; provided, however, that advances, loans or
other extensions of credit arising under the Cash Management Arrangements shall not be deemed
Investments.

“Investment Grade” means a rating of (i) BBB— or higher by S&P, (ii) Baa3 or higher by Moody’s
and (iii) BBB— or higher by Fitch, or the equivalent of such ratings by S&P, Moody’s or Fitch and the
equivalent in respect of rating categories of any Rating Agencies substituted for S&P, Moody’s or Fitch.

“Investment Grade Status” exists as of any time if at such time any two of the following three are
satisfied: (i) the rating assigned to the Notes by Moody’s is at least Baa3 (or the equivalent) or higher,
(ii) the rating assigned to the Notes by S&P is at least BBB— (or the equivalent) or higher or (iii) the
rating assigned to the Notes by Fitch is at least BBB— (or the equivalent) or higher, or in each case, the
equivalent in respect of rating categories of any Rating Agences substituted for S&P, Moody’s or Fitch.

“Issue Date” means October 29, 2014.
“KGaA’ means a German partnership limited by shares (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien).

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, security interest, encumbrance, lien or charge of any kind
(including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement or lease in the nature thereof).

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and its successors.
“Note Guarantee” means the Guarantee by a Guarantor of the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes.

“Officers’ Certificate” means a certificate signed by two Responsible Officers of the Issuer or of any
Guarantor.

“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion from legal counsel who is reasonably acceptable to the
Trustee. The counsel may be an employee of or counsel to the Issuer, a Guarantor or the Trustee.

“Permitted Holders” means Fresenius SE.
“Permitted Liens” means, with respect to any Person:

(1) pledges or deposits by such Person under workmen’s compensation laws, unemployment
insurance laws or similar legislation, or good faith deposits in connection with bids, tenders, contracts
(other than for the payment of Indebtedness) or leases to which such Person is a party, or deposits to
secure public or statutory obligations of such Person or deposits or cash or Designated Government
Obligations to secure surety or appeal bonds to which such Person is a party, or deposits as security for
contested taxes or import or customs duties or for the payment of rent, in each case Incurred in the
ordinary course of business;

(2) Liens imposed by law, including carriers’, warchousemen’s and mechanics’ Liens, in each
case for sums not yet due or being contested in good faith if a reserve or other appropriate provisions,
if any, as are required by Accounting Principles have been made in respect thereof;

(3) Liens for taxes, assessments or other governmental charges not yet subject to penalties for
nonpayment or which are being contested in good faith provided appropriate reserves, if any, as are
required by Accounting Principles have been made in respect thereof;

(4) Liens in favor of issuers of surety or performance bonds or letters of credit or bankers’
acceptances issued pursuant to the request of and for the account of such Person in the ordinary
course of its business;

(5) encumbrances, easements or reservations of, or rights of others for, licenses, rights of way,
sewers, electric lines, telegraph and telephone lines and other similar purposes, or zoning or other
restrictions as to the use of real properties or liens incidental to the conduct of the business of such
Person or to the ownership of its properties which do not in the aggregate materially adversely affect
the value of said properties or materially impair their use in the operation of the business of such
Person;

(6) Liens securing Hedging Obligations so long as the related Indebtedness is, and is permitted
to be under the Indenture, secured by a Lien on the same property securing such Hedging Obligation
or Interest Rate Agreement;

(7) leases, subleases and licenses of real property which do not materially interfere with the
ordinary conduct of the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and leases, subleases and
licenses of other assets in the ordinary course of business;
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(8) judgment Liens not giving rise to an Event of Default so long as such Lien is adequately
bonded and any appropriate legal proceedings which may have been duly initiated for the review of
such judgment have not been finally terminated or the period within which such proceedings may be
initiated has not expired;

(9) Liens for the purpose of securing the payment (or the refinancing of the payment) of all or a
part of the purchase price of, or Capital Lease Obligations with respect to, assets or property acquired
or constructed in the ordinary course of business; provided, that:

(a) the aggregate principal amount secured by such Liens does not exceed the cost of the
assets or property so acquired or constructed; and

(b) such Liens are created within 180 days of construction or acquisition of such assets or
property (or, upon a refinancing, replace Liens created within such period) and do not encumber
any other assets or property of the Company or any Subsidiary other than such assets or property
and assets affixed or appurtenant thereto;

(10) Liens arising solely by virtue of any statutory or common law provisions relating to banker’s
Liens, rights of set-off or similar rights and remedies as to deposit accounts or other funds maintained
with a depositary institution; provided, that such deposit account is not intended by the Company or
any Subsidiary to provide collateral to the depositary institution;

(11) Liens arising from United States Uniform Commercial Code financing statement filings (or
similar filings in other applicable jurisdictions) regarding operating leases entered into by the
Company and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business;

(12) Liens existing on the Issue Date (other than Liens under clause (19));

(13) Liens on property or shares of stock of a Person at the time such Person becomes a
Subsidiary; provided, however, that such Liens are not created, Incurred or assumed in connection
with, or in contemplation of, such other Person becoming a Subsidiary; provided further, however,
that any such Lien may not extend to any other property owned by the Company or any Subsidiary;

(14) Liens on property at the time the Company or a Subsidiary acquired the property, including
any acquisition by means of a merger or consolidation with or into the Company or any Subsidiary;
provided, however, that such Liens are not created, Incurred or assumed in connection with, or in
contemplation of, such acquisition; provided further, however, that such Liens may not extend to any
other property owned by the Company or any Subsidiary;

(15) Liens securing Indebtedness or other obligations of the Company to a Subsidiary or of a
Subsidiary owing to the Company or a Subsidiary;

(16) Liens securing the Notes and all other Indebtedness which by its terms must be secured if the
Notes are secured;

(17) Liens securing Indebtedness Incurred to refinance Indebtedness that was previously secured
(other than Liens under clause (19)); provided, that such Lien is limited to all or part of the same
property or assets that secured the Indebtedness refinanced;

(18) Liens arising by operation of law or by agreement to the same effect in the ordinary course
of business;

(19) Liens securing (x) Indebtedness under the Credit Facility or (y) Indebtedness permitted to
be incurred in accordance with paragraph (a) of “— Certain Covenants — Limitation on Incurrence
of Indebtedness”, in an aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness secured thereby not to exceed the
greater of (i) $6.0 billion and (ii) 2.5 times the FME EBITDA for the most recently ended four full
fiscal quarters for which internal financial statements are available;

(20) Liens securing the A/R Facility;

(21) other Liens securing Indebtedness having an aggregate principal amount, measured as of the
date of creation of any such Lien and the date of Incurrence of any such Indebtedness, not to exceed
$1.5 billion at any one time outstanding; and

(22) Liens securing any Cash Management Agreement.
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“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock
company, trust, unincorporated organization, government or any agency, instrumentality or political
subdivision thereof, or any other entity.

“Preferred Stock”, as applied to the Capital Stock of any corporation, means Capital Stock of any
class or classes (however designated) which is preferred as to the payment of dividends, or as to the
distribution of assets upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation or dissolution of such corporation, over
shares of Capital Stock of any other class of such corporation.

“Qualified Capital Stock” means any Capital Stock which is not Disqualified Stock.
“Rating Agencies” means:

(1) S&P and

(2) Moody’s, and

(3) Fitch, or

(4) if S&P, Moody’s or Fitch or all three shall not make a rating of the Notes publicly available,
despite the Company using its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such a rating, a nationally
recognized securities rating agency or agencies, as the case may be, selected by the Company, which
shall be substituted for S&P, Moody’s, Fitch or all three, as the case may be.

“Rating Category” means:

(1) with respect to S&P, any of the following categories: BB, B, CCC, CC, C and D (or
equivalent successor categories),

(2) with respect to Moody’s, any of the following categories: Ba, B, Caa, Ca, C and D (or
equivalent successor categories),

(3) with respect to Fitch, any of the following categories: BB, B, CCC, CC, C and D (or
equivalent successor categories); and

(4) the equivalent of any such category of S&P, Moody’s or Fitch used by another rating agency.
In determining whether the rating of the Notes has decreased by one or more gradations, gradations
within rating categories (+ and — for S&P, 1, 2 and 3 for Moody’s, + and — for Fitch; or the
equivalent gradations for another rating agency) shall be taken into account (e.g., with respect to S&P,
a decline in a rating from BB+ to BB, as well as from BB— to B+, which constitute a decrease of
one gradation).

“Rating Date” means the date which is 90 days prior to the earlier of (1) a Change of Control and
(2) public notice of the occurrence of a Change of Control or of the intention by the Company or any
Person to effect a Change of Control.

“Ratings Decline” means the occurrence on or within 90 days after the date of the first public notice
of either the occurrence of a Change of Control or of a transaction which will effect a Change of Control,
whichever is earlier (which period shall be extended so long as any Rating Agency has publicly announced
that it is considering a possible downgrade of the Notes) of (1) in the event the Notes are rated by at least
two of the three Rating Agencies on the Rating Date as Investment Grade, a decrease in the rating of the
Notes by two of the three Rating Agencies to a rating that is below Investment Grade, or (2) in the event
that the Notes are rated below Investment Grade by at least two of the three Rating Agencies on the
Rating Date, a decrease in the rating of the Notes by any one such Rating Agency by one or more
gradations (including gradations within Rating Categories as well as between Rating Categories).

“Receivables Financings” means:
(1) the A/R Facility, and

(2) any financing transaction or series of financing transactions that have been or may be
entered into by the Company or a Subsidiary pursuant to which the Company or a Subsidiary may sell,
convey or otherwise transfer to a Subsidiary or Affiliate, or any other Person, or may grant a security
interest in, any receivables or interests therein secured by the merchandise or services financed
thereby (whether such receivables are then existing or arising in the future) of the Company or such
Subsidiary, as the case may be, and any assets related thereto, including without limitation, all security
interests in merchandise or services financed thereby, the proceeds of such receivables, and other
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assets which are customarily sold or in respect of which security interests are customarily granted in
connection with securitization transactions involving such assets.

“Refinance” means, in respect of any Indebtedness, to refinance, extend, renew, refund, repay,
prepay, redeem, defease or retire, or to issue other Indebtedness in exchange or replacement for, such
Indebtedness. “Refinanced” and “Refinancing” shall have correlative meanings.

“Refinancing Indebtedness” means Indebtedness that Refinances any Indebtedness of the Company
or any Subsidiary existing on the Issue Date or Incurred in compliance with the Indenture including
Indebtedness that Refinances Refinancing Indebtedness; provided, however, that:

(1) such Refinancing Indebtedness has a Stated Maturity no earlier than the Stated Maturity of
the Indebtedness being Refinanced,

(2) such Refinancing Indebtedness has an Average Life at the time such Refinancing
Indebtedness is Incurred that is equal to or greater than the Average Life of the Indebtedness being
Refinanced, and

(3) such Refinancing Indebtedness has an aggregate principal amount (or if Incurred with
original issue discount, an aggregate issue price) that is equal to or less than the aggregate principal
amount (or if Incurred with original issue discount, the aggregate accreted value) then outstanding or
committed (plus fees and expenses, including any premium and defeasance costs) under the
Indebtedness being Refinanced; provided further, however, that Refinancing Indebtedness shall not
include (x) Indebtedness of a Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor that Refinances Indebtedness of a
Guarantor or (y) Indebtedness of a Guarantor that Refinances Indebtedness of a Subsidiary that is
not a Guarantor.

“Responsible Officer” means the chief executive officer, president, chief financial officer, senior vice
president-finance, treasurer, assistant treasurer, managing director, management board member or
director of a company (or in the case of the Company, a Responsible Officer of its General Partner, other
managing entity or other Person authorized to act on its behalf, and if such Person is also a partnership,
limited liability company or similarly organized entity, a Responsible Officer of the entity that may be
authorized to act on behalf of such Person).

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Corporation and its successors.

“Sale and Leaseback Transaction” means any direct or indirect arrangement with any Person or to
which any such Person is a party, providing for the leasing to the Issuer or any Guarantor or a Subsidiary of
any property, whether owned by the Issuer, a Guarantor or any Subsidiary at the Issue Date or later
acquired, which has been or is to be sold or transferred by the Issuer, a Guarantor or such Subsidiary to
such Person or to any other Person from whom funds have been or are to be advanced by such Person on
the security of such property.

“SEC” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
“Secured Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness of the Company secured by a Lien.

“Significant Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any Subsidiary of such Person that satisfies
the criteria for a “significant subsidiary” set forth in Rule 1.02 of Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act.

“Stated Maturity” means, with respect to any security, the date specified in such security as the fixed
date on which the final payment of principal of such security is due and payable, including pursuant to any
mandatory redemption provision (but excluding any provision providing for the repurchase of such security
at the option of the holder thereof upon the happening of any contingency unless such contingency has
occurred).

“Subordinated Obligation” means any Indebtedness of the Issuer or a Guarantor (whether
outstanding on the Issue Date or thereafter Incurred) that is subordinate or junior in right of payment to
the Notes or such Guarantor’s Note Guarantee pursuant to a written agreement to that effect.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, limited liability company,
association, partnership or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total voting power of
shares of Voting Stock is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by:

(1) such Person;

(2) such Person and one or more Subsidiaries of such Person; or
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(3) one or more Subsidiaries of such Person.
Unless otherwise provided, all references to a Subsidiary shall be a Subsidiary of the Company.

“Surviving Person” means, with respect to any Person involved in any merger, consolidation or other
business combination or the sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition of all or
substantially all of such Person’s assets, the Person formed by or surviving such transaction or the Person to
which such disposition is made.

“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to a Redemption Date, the yield to maturity at the time of
computation of United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in
the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H. 15(519) that has become publicly available at least
two Business Days prior to such Redemption Date (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published,
any publicly available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from such
Redemption Date to October 15, 2020 (for the Notes due 2020) or October 15, 2024 (for the Notes due
2024); provided, however, that if the period from the Redemption Date to such date is not equal to the
constant maturity of a United States Treasury security for which a weekly average yield is given, the
Treasury Rate shall be obtained by linear interpolation (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth of a year)
from the weekly average yields of United States Treasury securities for which such yields are given, except
that if the period from the Redemption Date to such date is less than one year, the weekly average yield on
actually traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year shall be used.

“U.S. GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America as in
effect from time to time, including those set forth in:

(1) the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants,

(2) statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board,

(3) such other statements by such other entity as approved by a significant segment of the
accounting profession, and

(4) the rules and regulations of the SEC governing the inclusion of financial statements
(including pro forma financial statements) in periodic reports required to be filed pursuant to
Section 13 of the Exchange Act, including opinions and pronouncements in staff accounting bulletins
and similar written statements from the accounting staff of the SEC.

“Voting Stock” of a Person means all classes of Capital Stock or other interests (including partnership
interests) of such Person then outstanding and normally entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any
contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof.

“Wholly Owned Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary all the Capital Stock of which (other than directors’
qualifying shares and shares held by other Persons to the extent such shares are required by applicable law
to be held by a Person other than its parent or a Subsidiary of its parent) is owned by the Company or by
one or more Wholly Owned Subsidiaries, or by the Company and one or more Wholly Owned Subsidiaries.
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BOOK-ENTRY, DELIVERY AND FORM
Form of Notes

The Notes are being offered and sold to persons reasonably believed to be qualified institutional
buyers in reliance on Rule 144A (the “Rule 144A Notes”) under the Securities Act will be represented by
one or more global notes in registered form without interest coupons attached (collectively, the “Rule
144A Global Notes”). The Rule 144A Global Notes representing the Notes will be deposited with a
custodian for The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as
nominee of DTC.

The Notes sold in reliance on Regulation S (the “Regulation S Notes”) under the Securities Act will
be represented by one or more global notes in registered form without interest coupons attached
(collectively, the “Regulation S Global Notes” and, together with the Rule 144A Global Notes, the
“Global Notes”). The Regulation S Global Notes representing the Notes will be registered in the name of
Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC and deposited with a custodian for DTC, for credit to Euroclear
Bank S.A/N.V. (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A., Luxembourg (“Clearstream”).

Ownership of interests in the 144A Global Notes (“Restricted Book-Entry Interests”) and in the
Regulation S Global Notes (the “Regulation S Book-Entry Interests” and, together with the Restricted
Book-Entry Interests, the “Book-Entry Interests”) will be limited to persons that have accounts with DTC,
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, or persons that hold interests through such participants. Prior to the
40th day after the later of the commencement of this offering and the date the Notes were originally issued
(the “Distribution Compliance Period”), interests in the Regulation S Global Notes may only be held
through Euroclear or Clearstream. DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream will hold interests in the Global
Notes on behalf of their participants through customers’ securities accounts in their respective names on
the books of their respective depositaries. Except under the limited circumstances described below, owners
of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of certificated
notes.

Book-Entry Interests will be shown on, and transfers thereof will be done only through, records
maintained in book-entry form by DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream and their participants. The foregoing
limitations may impair your ability to own, transfer or pledge Book-Entry Interests. In addition, while the
Notes are in global form, holders of Book-Entry Interests will not be considered the owners or “holders”
of Notes for any purpose.

So long as the Notes are held in global form, DTC (or its nominee), will be considered the sole
holders of Global Notes for all purposes under the Indenture. In addition, participants in DTC, Euroclear
and/or Clearstream must rely on the procedures of DTC, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, as the case may
be, and indirect participants must rely on the procedures of DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream and the
participants through which they own Book-Entry Interests, to transfer their interests or to exercise any
rights of holders under an Indenture. Neither the Issuer nor the Trustee will have any responsibility or be
liable for any aspect of the records relating to the Book-Entry Interests.

None of the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Trustee, the Registrar, the Paying Agent or any other agent
will have any responsibility or be liable for any aspect of the records relating to the Book-Entry Interests.

Redemption of the Global Notes

In the event any Global Note (or any portion thereof) is redeemed, DTC, Euroclear and/or
Clearstream (or their respective nominees), as applicable, will redeem an equal amount of the Book-Entry
Interests in such Global Note from the amount received by it in respect of the redemption of such Global
Note. The redemption price payable in connection with the redemption of such Book-Entry Interests will
be equal to the amount received by DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, as applicable, in connection with the
redemption of such Global Note (or any portion thereof). The Issuer understands that, under existing
practices of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, if fewer than all of the Notes are to be redeemed at any
time, DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream will credit their respective participants’ accounts on a
proportionate basis (with adjustments to prevent fractions) or by lot or on such other basis as they deem
fair and appropriate; provided, however, that no Book-Entry Interest of US$2,000 principal amount or less
may be redeemed in part.
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Payments on Global Notes

The Issuer will make payments of any amounts owing in respect of the Global Notes (including
principal, premium, if any, interest, Additional Amounts, if any) to DTC or its nominee (in the case of the
Global Notes), which will distribute such payments to participants in accordance with their procedures;
provided that, at the option of the Issuer, payment of interest may be made by check mailed to the address
of the holders of the Notes as such address appears in the note register. The Issuer will make payments of
all such amounts without deduction or withholding for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature except as may be required by law. The Issuer
expects that standing customer instructions and customary practices will govern payments by participants
to owners of Book-Entry Interests held through such participants.

Under the terms of each Indenture, the Issuer and the Trustee will treat the registered holder of the
Global Notes (i.e., DTC or its nominee) as the owner thereof for the purpose of receiving payments and
for all other purposes. Consequently, none of the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Trustee or any of their
respective agents has or will have any responsibility or liability for:

e any aspect of the records of DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream or any participant or indirect
participant relating to payments made on account of a Book-Entry Interest or for maintaining,
supervising or reviewing the records of DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream or any participant or
indirect participant relating to or payments made on account of a Book-Entry Interest; or

*  DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream or any participant or indirect participant.

Payments by participants to owners of Book-Entry Interests held through participants are the
responsibility of such participants.

Currency of Payment for the Global Notes

Except as may otherwise be agreed between DTC and any holder, the principal of, premium, if any,
and interest on, and all other amounts payable in respect of, the Global Notes will be paid to holders of
interests in such Notes (the “DTC Holders”) through DTC in U.S. dollars.

Payments will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws and regulations (including any
regulations of the applicable clearing system) applicable thereto. None of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Initial
Purchasers or any of their respective agents will be liable to any holder of a Global Note or any other
person for any commissions, costs, losses or expenses in relation to or resulting from any currency
conversion or rounding effected in connection with any such payment.

Action by Owners of Book-Entry Interests

DTC has advised the Issuer that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of Notes
(including the presentation of Notes for exchange as described below) only at the direction of one or more
participants to whose account the Book-Entry Interests in the Global Notes are credited and only in
respect of such portion of the aggregate principal amount of Notes as to which such participant or
participants has or have given such direction. DTC will not exercise any discretion in the granting of
consents, waivers or the taking of any other action in respect of the Global Notes. However, if there is an
event of default under the Notes, DTC reserves the right to exchange the Global Notes for definitive
registered notes in certificated form (the “Definitive Registered Notes”), and to distribute Definitive
Registered Notes to its participants.

Transfers

Transfers of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will be subject to the applicable rules and
procedures of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream and their respective direct or indirect participants, which
rules and procedures may change from time to time.

The Global Notes will bear a legend to the effect set forth in “Transfer Restrictions.” Book-Entry
Interests in the Global Notes will be subject to the restrictions on transfers as discussed in “Transfer
Restrictions”.

During the Distribution Compliance Period, any sale or transfer of ownership of a Regulation S
Book-Entry Interest to a U.S. person shall not be permitted unless such resale or transfer is made pursuant
to Rule 144A. Subject to the foregoing, a Regulation S Book-Entry Interest may be transferred to a person
who takes delivery in the form of a Restricted Book-Entry Interest in a Global Note of the same series only
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upon delivery by the transferor of a written certification (in the form provided in the Indenture) to the
effect that such transfer is being made to a person who the transferor reasonably believes is a “qualified
institutional buyer” within the meaning of Rule 144A in a transaction meeting the requirements of
Rule 144A or otherwise in accordance with the transfer restrictions described under “Transfer
Restrictions”, and in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state of the United States or any
other jurisdiction.

Transfers of Restricted Book-Entry Interests to persons wishing to take delivery of Restricted
Book-Entry Interests will at all times be subject to the transfer restrictions contained in the legend
appearing on the face of the 144A Global Note, as set forth in “Transfer Restrictions”. Restricted
Book-Entry Interests may be transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of a Regulation S
Book-Entry Interest in a Global Note of the same series upon delivery by the transferor of a written
certification (in the form provided in the Indenture) to the effect that such transfer is being made in
accordance with Regulation S and that, if such transfer occurs prior to the expiration of the Distribution
Compliance Period, the interest transferred will be held immediately thereafter through Euroclear or
Clearstream. See “Transfer Restrictions”.

Any Book-Entry Interest in one of the Global Notes that is transferred to a person who takes delivery
in the form of a Book-Entry Interest in any other Global Note of the same series will, upon transfer, cease
to be a Book-Entry Interest in the first-mentioned Global Note and become a Book- Entry Interest in such
other Global Note, and accordingly will thereafter be subject to all transfer restrictions, if any, and other
procedures applicable to Book-Entry Interests in such other Global Note for as long as it remains such a
Book-Entry Interest. In connection with such transfer, appropriate adjustments will be made to reflect a
decrease in the principal amount of the first mentioned Global Note and a corresponding increase in the
principal amount of the other Global Note, as applicable.

Issuance of Definitive Registered Notes

Under the terms of each Indenture, owners of the Book-Entry Interests will receive Definitive
Registered Notes:

» if DTC notifies the Issuer that it is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for the Global
Note, or DTC ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act and, in either
case, a qualified successor depositary is not appointed by the Issuer within 120 days;

e if DTC so requests following an event of default under such Indenture; or

» if the owner of a Book-Entry Interest requests such exchange in writing delivered through DTC
following an event of default under such Indenture.

For so long as any of the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and its rules so require,
if Definitive Registered Notes are issued, the Issuer will provide the Luxembourg Stock Exchange with a
notice for publication on the exchange’s website. In the case of the issuance of Definitive Registered Notes,
the holder of a Definitive Registered Note may transfer such Note by surrendering it at the offices of the
transfer agent or the Registrar. In the event of a partial transfer or a partial redemption of a holding of
Definitive Registered Notes represented by one Definitive Registered Note, a Definitive Registered Note
shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part transferred, and a new Definitive Registered Note in
respect of the balance of the holding not transferred or redeemed shall be issued to the transferor or the
holder, as applicable; provided that no Definitive Registered Note in a denomination less than $2,000 shall
be issued. The Issuer will bear the cost of preparing, printing, packaging and delivering the Definitive
Registered Notes.

The Issuer shall not be required to register the transfer or exchange of Definitive Registered Notes for
a period of 15 calendar days preceding (a) the record date for any payment of interest on the Notes,
(b) any date fixed for redemption of the Notes or (c) the date fixed for selection of the notes to be
redeemed in part. Also, the Issuer is not required to register the transfer or exchange of any Notes selected
for redemption or that the registered holder of Notes has tendered (and not withdrawn) for repurchase in
connection with a Change of Control. In the event of the transfer of any Definitive Registered Note, the
transfer agent may require a holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer
documents as described in the Indentures. The Issuer may require a holder to pay any taxes and fees
required by law or permitted by the Indenture and the Notes.

Upon the issuance of Definitive Registered Notes, and for so long as the Notes are listed on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of such stock exchange so require, holders of the Notes will be
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able to receive principal and interest on the Notes at the Luxembourg office of the Paying Agent, subject to
the right of the Issuer to mail payments in accordance with the terms of the Indenture. The Issuer will pay
interest on the Notes to Persons who are registered holders at the close of business on the record date
immediately preceding the interest payment date for such interest. Such holders must surrender the Notes
to a Paying Agent to collect principal payments.

If Definitive Registered Notes are issued and a holder thereof claims that such Definitive Registered
Notes have been lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken or if such Definitive Registered Notes are mutilated
and are surrendered to the Registrar or at the office of a transfer agent, the Issuer shall issue and the
Trustee shall authenticate a replacement Definitive Registered Note if the Trustee’s and the Issuer’s
requirements are met. The Trustee or the Issuer may require a holder requesting replacement of a
Definitive Registered Note to furnish an indemnity bond sufficient in the judgment of both the Trustee and
the Issuer to protect the Issuer, the Trustee or any Paying Agent appointed pursuant to the Indenture from
any loss which any of them may suffer if a Definitive Registered Note is replaced. The Issuer may charge
for its expenses in replacing a Definitive Registered Note.

In case any such mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Definitive Registered Note has become or is
about to become due and payable, or is about to be redeemed or purchased by the Issuer pursuant to the
provisions of the applicable Indenture, the Issuer in its discretion may, instead of issuing a new Definitive
Registered Note, pay, redeem or purchase such Definitive Registered Note, as the case may be. Definitive
Registered Notes may be transferred and exchanged for Book-Entry Interests in a Global Note only in
accordance with the Indenture and, if required, only after the transferor first delivers to the transfer agent
a written certification (in the form provided in the Indenture) to the effect that such transfer will comply
with the transfer restrictions applicable to such Notes and the Issuer may require a holder to pay any taxes
and fees required by law or permitted by the Indenture and the Notes. See “Transfer Restrictions”.

Information Concerning DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream

The following description of the operations and procedures of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream are
provided solely as a matter of convenience. These operations and procedures are solely within the control
of the relevant settlement systems and are subject to changes by them. The Issuer takes no responsibility
for these operations and procedures and investors should contact the systems or their participants directly
to discuss these matters.

The Issuer understands as follows with respect to DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream:

DTC. DTC is:

e a limited purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law;

* a “banking organization” under New York Banking Law;

* a member of the Federal Reserve System;

e a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code; and

e a “clearing agency” registered under Section 17A of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.

DTC was created to hold securities for its participants and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of
transactions among its participants. It does this through electronic book-entry changes in the accounts of
securities participants, eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. DTC
participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and
certain other organizations. DTC’s owners are the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock
Exchange, Inc. and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and a number of its direct
participants. Others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a
custodial relationship with a direct participant also have access to the DTC system and are known as
indirect participants.

Because DTC can only act on behalf of participants, who in turn act on behalf of indirect participants
and certain banks, the ability of an owner of a beneficial interest to pledge such interest to persons or
entities that do not participate in the DTC system, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interest,
may be limited by the lack of a definitive certificate for that interest. To the extent that certain persons
require delivery in definitive form, the ability to transfer beneficial interests to such persons may be
limited. In addition, owners of beneficial interests through the DTC system will receive distributions
attributable to the Global Notes only through DTC participants.
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Euroclear and Clearstream. Like DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream hold securities for participating
organizations. They also facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between their
respective participants through electronic book-entry changes in the accounts of such participants.
Euroclear and Clearstream provide various services to their participants, including the safekeeping,
administration, clearance, settlement, lending and borrowing of internationally traded securities. Euroclear
and Clearstream interface with domestic securities markets. Euroclear and Clearstream participants are
financial institutions such as underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and
certain other organizations. Indirect access to Euroclear or Clearstream is also available to others such as
banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a
Euroclear or Clearstream participant, either directly or indirectly.

Global Clearance and Settlement Under the Book-Entry System

The Notes represented by the Global Notes are expected to be listed on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange. The Notes are expected to trade in DTC’s Same-Day Funds Settlement System, and any
permitted secondary market trading activity in such Notes will, therefore, be required by DTC to be settled
in immediately available funds. The Issuer expects that secondary trading in any certificated Notes will also
be settled in immediately available funds. Subject to compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to
the Global Notes, cross-market transfers of Book-Entry Interests in the Notes between the participants in
DTC, on the one hand, and Euroclear or Clearstream participants, on the other hand, will be done through
DTC in accordance with DTC’s rules on behalf of each of Euroclear or Clearstream by its Common
Depositary; however, such cross-market transactions will require delivery of instructions to Euroclear or
Clearstream by the counterparty in such system in accordance with the rules and procedures and within the
established deadlines (Brussels time) of such system. Euroclear or Clearstream will, if the transaction
meets its settlement requirements, deliver instructions to the Common Depositary to take action to effect
final settlement on its behalf by delivering or receiving interests in the Global Notes in DTC, and making
or receiving payment in accordance with normal procedures for same-day funds settlement applicable to
DTC. Euroclear and Clearstream participants may not deliver instructions directly to the Common
Depositary.

Because of time zone differences, the securities account of a Euroclear or Clearstream participant
purchasing an interest in a Global Note from a participant in DTC will be credited, and any such crediting
will be reported to the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream participant, during the securities settlement
processing day (which must be a business day for Euroclear and Clearstream) immediately following the
settlement date of DTC. Cash received in Euroclear and Clearstream as a result of a sale of an interest in a
Global Note by or through a Euroclear or Clearstream participant to a participant in DTC will be received
with value on the settlement date of DTC but will be available in the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream
cash account only as at the business day for Euroclear or Clearstream following DTC’s settlement date.

Although DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream are expected to follow the foregoing procedures in order to
facilitate transfers of interests in the Global Notes among participants in DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream,
as the case may be, they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and
such procedures may be discontinued at any time. None of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Initial Purchasers,
the Registrar, any transfer agent or any Paying Agent will have any responsibility for the performance by
DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, or their respective participants or indirect participants, of their respective
obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.
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TAXATION CONSIDERATIONS
German Tax Considerations
General

The following tax section deals in a general manner with the taxation of interest income and capital
gains derived from the Notes and the deduction of withholding tax to be made under German law from the
proceeds from the investment in the Notes. This tax section is based on the laws in force on the date of this
offering memorandum, and it is of general nature only and neither intended as, nor to be understood as,
legal or tax advice. Any information given hereafter reflects the opinion of the Issuer. It must not be
misunderstood as a representation or guarantee with regard to a specific tax treatment, and courts or other
relevant authorities may come to different interpretations of applicable law. Further, this tax section is not
intended as the sole basis for an investment in the Notes, and the individual tax position of the investor
should always be investigated because the tax consequences depend on the individual facts and
circumstances at the level of the investor and may be subject to alteration due to future changes in law,
possibly with retroactive effect.

Prospective investors are recommended to consult their own tax advisors as to the individual tax
consequences arising from the investment in the Notes.

Taxation of German Tax Residents
Withholding Tax

For German tax residents (e.g., persons whose residence, habitual abode, statutory seat or place of
management is located in Germany), interest payments on the Notes are generally subject to withholding
tax, provided that the Notes are held in custody with a German custodian, who is required to deduct the
withholding tax from such interest payments (the “Disbursing Agent”) or are presented for an
over-the-counter payment to a Disbursing Agent. Disbursing Agents are German resident credit
institutions, financial services institutions (including German permanent establishments of foreign
institutions), securities trading companies or securities trading banks. The applicable withholding tax rate
is 25% (plus 5.5% solidarity surcharge thereon and, if applicable, church tax). Individuals subject to church
tax may apply in writing for church tax to be levied by way of withholding. Absent such application,
individuals subject to church tax have to include their investment income in their income tax return and
will then be assessed to church tax. An electronic information system for church withholding tax purposes
will apply in relation to investment income received after 31 December 2014, with the effect that church
tax will be collected by the Disbursing Agent by way of withholding unless the investor has filed a blocking
notice (Sperrvermerk) with the German Federal Central Tax Office (Bundeszentralamt fiir Steuern) in which
case the investor will be assessed to church tax.

The withholding tax regime should also apply to any gains from the sale or redemption of the Notes
realized by private investors holding the Notes as private (and not as business) assets in custody with a
Disbursing Agent. Subject to exceptions, the amount of capital gains on which the withholding tax charge is
applied is generally determined by taking the difference between the proceeds received upon the
disposition or redemption of the Notes (after the deduction of actual expenses directly related thereto)
and the acquisition costs. Since the Notes are issued in a currency other than Euro, any currency gains or
losses are part of the capital gains. If the interest claims are disposed of separately (i.e. without the Notes),
the proceeds from the disposition are subject to withholding tax. The same applies to the proceeds from
the redemption of interest claims if the Notes have been disposed of separately.

If custody has changed since the acquisition and the acquisition data is not proved or not permitted to
be proved to the Disbursing Agent, the tax at a rate of 25% (plus 5.5% solidarity surcharge and, if
applicable, church tax) will be imposed on an amount equal to 30% of the proceeds from the sale or
redemption of the Notes. If the Issuer exercises the right to substitute the debtor of the Notes, the
substitution might, for German tax purposes, be treated as an exchange of the Notes for new notes issued
by the Successor and might be subject to similar taxation rules as the Notes. In particular, such a
substitution could result in the recognition of a taxable gain or loss for any holder of a Note.

Accrued interest (Stiickzinsen) received by the investor upon disposal of the Notes between two
interest payment dates is considered as part of the sales proceeds thus increasing a capital gain or reducing
a capital loss from the Notes. Accrued interest paid by the investor upon an acquisition of the Notes after
the issue date qualifies as negative investment income either to be deducted from positive investment
income generated in the same assessment period or to be carried forward to future assessment periods.

92



The withholding tax is not applied to the extent the total investment income of a private investor is not
exceeding the lump sum deduction (Sparer-Pauschbetrag) of €801 (€1,602 for married couples filing jointly)
provided the investor has filed a corresponding withholding tax exemption certificate (Freistellungsauftrag)
with the Disbursing Agent but only to the extent the annual aggregate investment income does not exceed
the lump sum deduction amount stated in the withholding tax exemption certificate. Expenses actually
incurred are not deductible. Similarly, no withholding tax is deducted if the investor has submitted to the
Disbursing Agent a certificate of non-assessment (Nichtveranlagungs-Bescheinigung) issued by the
competent local tax office of the investor.

German resident corporate and, upon application, other German resident business investors should in
essence not be subject to the withholding tax on gains from the disposition, sale or redemption of the
Notes subject to certain formal requirements (i.e., for these investors only interest payments, but not gains
from the sale or redemption of the Notes are subject to the withholding tax regime). The Issuer of the
Notes should under German law not be required to deduct withholding tax from the proceeds from the
investment in the Notes. The Issuer does not assume any responsibility for the deduction of German
withholding tax at the source (including solidarity surcharge and, where applicable, church tax thereon).

Private Investors

For German tax resident private investors the withholding tax is — without prejudice to certain
exceptions — definite under a special flat tax regime (Abgeltungsteuer). Private investors can apply to have
their income from the investment into the Notes assessed in accordance with the general rules on
determining an individual’s tax bracket if this results in a lower tax burden. An assessment is mandatory for
income from the investment into the Notes where the Notes are not held in custody by a Disbursing Agent.

Losses resulting from the sale or redemption of the Notes can only be offset against other investment
income. In the event that a set-off is not possible in the assessment period in which the losses have been
realized, such losses can be carried forward into future assessment periods only and can be offset against
investment income generated in future assessment periods. According to the German tax authorities,
losses resulting from a sale where the sales proceeds do not exceed the transaction costs are treated as
non-deductible for German taxation purposes. Further, losses resulting from a bad debt loss
(Forderungsausfall) in the case of an Issuer default or from a waiver of a receivable (Forderungsverzicht) in
relation to the Notes are not treated as tax-deductible if the Notes are held as a private investment
(Privatvermogen).

Business Investors

Interest payments and capital gains from the disposition or redemption of the Notes held as business
assets by German tax resident business investors are generally subject to German income tax or corporate
income tax (plus 5.5% solidarity surcharge thereon and, if applicable in the case of an individual holding
the Notes as business assets, church tax). Any withholding tax deducted from interest payments is —
subject to certain requirements — creditable. To the extent the amount withheld exceeds the (corporate)
income tax liability, the withholding tax is — as a rule — refundable.

The interest payments and capital gains are also subject to trade tax if the Notes are attributable to a
trade or business.

Taxation of Foreign Tax Residents

Investors not tax resident in Germany should, in essence, not be taxable in Germany with the proceeds
from the investment in the Notes, and no German withholding tax should be withheld from such income,
even if the Notes are held in custody with a German credit (or comparable) institution. Exceptions apply,
e.g., where the Notes are held as business assets in a German permanent establishment or by a German
permanent representative of the investor or are presented for an over-the-counter payment to a Disbursing
Agent.

Inheritance and Gift Tax

Inheritance or gift taxes with respect to a gratuitous transfer of Notes will generally apply under the
laws of Germany if, in the case of inheritance tax, either the decedent or the beneficiary, or, in the case of
gift tax, either the donor or the done, is a tax resident of Germany or such Notes are attributable to a
German trade or business for which a permanent establishment is maintained or for which a permanent
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representative has been appointed in Germany. Special rules apply to certain German citizens who
previously maintained a residence in Germany.

Other Taxes

No stamp, issue, registration or similar taxes or duties will be payable in Germany in connection with
the issuance, delivery or execution of the Notes. Currently, net wealth tax (Vermdgensteuer) is not levied in
Germany.

Luxembourg Tax Considerations

The following is an overview of certain material Luxembourg tax consequences of purchasing, owning
and disposing of the Notes. It does not purport to be a complete analysis of all possible tax situations that
may be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or deposit the Notes. It is included herein solely for
preliminary information purposes and is not intended to be, nor should it construed to be, legal or tax
advice. Prospective purchasers of the Notes should consult their own tax advisers as to the applicable tax
consequences of the ownership of the Notes, based on their particular circumstances. The following
description of Luxembourg tax law is based upon the Luxembourg law and regulations as in effect and as
interpreted by the Luxembourg tax authorities on the date of this offering memorandum and is subject to
any amendments in law (or in interpretation) later introduced, whether or not on a retroactive basis.

Please be aware that the residence concept used under the respective headings below applies for
Luxembourg income tax assessment purposes only. Any reference in the present section to a tax, duty, levy
impost or other charge or withholding of a similar nature refers to Luxembourg tax laws and/or concepts
only. Also, please note that a reference to Luxembourg income tax encompasses corporate income tax
(impot sur le revenu des collectivités), municipal business tax (impot commercial communal), a solidarity
surcharge (contribution au fonds pour 'emploi) and personal income tax (impot sur le revenu) generally.
Corporate taxpayers may further be subject to net wealth tax (impot sur la fortune), as well as other duties,
levies or taxes. Corporate income tax, municipal business tax, as well as the solidarity surcharge invariably
applies to most corporate taxpayers resident of Luxembourg for tax purposes.

Individual taxpayers are generally subject to personal income tax and the solidarity surcharge. Under
certain circumstances, where an individual taxpayer acts in the course of the management of a professional
or business undertaking, municipal business tax may apply as well.

Withholding Tax
Non-resident holders of Notes

Under current Luxembourg tax laws and subject to the application of the Luxembourg laws dated
June 21, 2005 (the “June 2005 Laws”) implementing Council Directive 2003/48/EC of June 3, 2003 on
taxation of savings income in the form of interest payments (the “EU Savings Directive”) and related
agreements (the “Agreements”) concluded between Luxembourg and certain dependent and associated
territories of the European Union (i.e. Aruba, British Virgin Islands, Guernsey, Isle of Man, Jersey,
Montserrat, Curagao and Sint Maarten — collectively the “Associated Territories”), there is no withholding
tax on interest (paid or accrued) and other payments (e.g., repayment of principal) to non-resident holders
of Notes.

Under the June 2005 Laws, a Luxembourg-based paying agent (within the meaning of the EU Savings
Directive) is required since July 1, 2005 to withhold tax on interest and similar income paid by it to (or
under certain circumstances, to the benefit of) an individual or a residual entity in the sense of article 4.2.
of the EU Savings Directive (i.e. an entity (i) without legal personality, except for a Finnish avoin yhtio and
kommandiittiyhtio | oppet bolag and kommanditbolag and a Swedish handelsbolag and kommanditbolag,
(ii) whose profits are not taxed under the general arrangements for the business taxation and (iii) that is
not, or has not opted to be considered as, an undertaking for collective investment in transferable
securities (“UCITS”) recognized in accordance with Council Directive 2009/65/EC), resident or
established in another EU Member State as Luxembourg or in any of the Associated Territories, unless the
beneficiary of the interest payments elects for the exchange of information procedure or for the tax
certificate procedure.

The withholding tax is currently levied at the rate of 35% and responsibility for the withholding tax
will be assumed by the Luxembourg paying agent. The withholding tax system should be applicable for a
transitional period only. It has been publicly announced by the Luxembourg government that as from
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January 1st, 2015 the withholding tax system will be replaced in Luxembourg by the exchange of
information.

The EU Savings Directive is currently under review and the impact of possible amendments should be
closely monitored. Holders of Notes should inform themselves of, and where appropriate take advice on,
the impact of the EU Savings Directive on their investment.

Resident holders of Notes

The terms “interest”, “paying agent” and “residual entity” used hereafter have the same meaning as
in the June 2005 Laws. Under current Luxembourg tax laws and subject to the application of the
Luxembourg law dated December 23, 2005 (the “December 2005 Law”) there is no withholding tax on
interest (paid or accrued) and other payments (e.g., repayment of principal) made by the Issuer (or its
paying agent, if any) to Luxembourg resident holders of Notes.

According to the December 2005 Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on payments of interest or
similar income made by Luxembourg paying agents to (or for the benefit of) Luxembourg resident
individuals holders of Notes or to certain foreign residual entities securing the interest for such
Luxembourg resident individuals holders of Notes. This withholding tax also applies on accrued interest
received upon sale, disposal, redemption or repurchase of the Notes. Such withholding tax is in full
discharge of income tax if the beneficial owner is an individual acting in the course of the management of
his/her private wealth who does not hold the Notes as business assets. Responsibility for the withholding
tax will be assumed by the Luxembourg paying agent.

Luxembourg resident individuals beneficial owners of payments of interest or similar income made by
a paying agent established outside Luxembourg in a Member State of the European Union or the
European Economic Area or in a jurisdiction having concluded an agreement with Luxembourg in
connection with the EU Savings Directive may opt for a final 10% levy. In such case, the 10% levy is
calculated on the same amounts as for the payments made by Luxembourg paying agents. The option for
the 10% final levy must cover all interest payments made by paying agents to the beneficial owner during
the entire civil year.

Taxation of the holders of Notes
Tax Residence

A holder of Notes will not become resident, or be deemed to be resident, in Luxembourg by reason
only of the holding of such Notes or the execution, performance, delivery and/or enforcement of the Notes.
Income Tax

For the purposes of this paragraph, a disposal may include a sale, an exchange, a contribution, a
redemption and any other kind of transfer of the Notes.
Non-Resident holder of Notes

A non-resident holder of Notes, who has neither a permanent establishment nor a permanent
representative in Luxembourg to which or whom the Notes are attributable, is not liable to any
Luxembourg income tax on interest received or accrued on the Notes, or on capital gains realized on the
disposal of the Notes.

A non-resident holder of Notes who has a permanent establishment or a permanent representative in
Luxembourg to which or whom the Notes are attributable, must include any interest accrued or received,
as well as any gain realised on the disposal of the Notes, in his taxable income for Luxembourg tax
assessment purposes.

Resident Individual holders of Notes

An individual holder of the Notes acting in the course of the management of his/her private wealth, is
subject to Luxembourg income tax in respect of interest received, redemption premiums or issue discounts
under the Notes except if the 10% final withholding tax has been levied on such payments.

Under Luxembourg domestic tax law, gains realized upon the disposal of the Notes by an individual
holder of the Notes, who is a resident of Luxembourg for tax purposes and who acts in the course of the
management of his/her private wealth, are not subject to Luxembourg income tax, provided the disposal
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takes place more than six months after the acquisition of the Notes and the Notes do not constitute zero
coupon Notes. Gain realized by an individual holder of zero coupon Notes who acts in the course of the
management of his/her private wealth and who is a resident of Luxembourg for tax purposes must include
the difference between the sale, repurchase, exchange or redemption price and the issue price of a zero
coupon Note in his/her taxable income.

An individual holder of the Notes, who acts in the course of the management of his/her private wealth
and who is a resident of Luxembourg for tax purposes, has further to include the portion of the gains
realized on the Notes corresponding to accrued but unpaid income in respect of the Notes in his/her
taxable income, insofar as the accrued but unpaid interest is indicated separately in the agreement.

Gains realized upon a disposal of the Notes by an individual holder of the Notes acting in the course
of the management of a professional or business undertaking and who is resident of Luxembourg for tax
purposes are subject to Luxembourg income taxes.

Resident Corporate holders of Notes

Luxembourg resident corporate holders of Notes must include any interest received or accrued, as
well as any gain realized on the disposal of the Notes, in their taxable income for Luxembourg income tax
assessment purposes.

Resident holders of Notes benefiting from a special tax regime

Luxembourg resident holders of Notes benefiting from a special tax regime, such as (i) undertakings
for collective investment governed by the amended law of December 17, 2010, (ii) specialized investment
funds governed by the amended law of February 13, 2007 or (iii) family wealth management companies
governed by the amended law of May 11, 2007, are exempt from income tax in Luxembourg. Interest, paid
or accrued on the Notes, as well as gains realized thereon, are thus not subject to Luxembourg income
taxes in their hands.

Net Wealth Tax

Luxembourg resident holders of Notes, as well as non-resident holders of Notes who have a
permanent establishment or a permanent representative in Luxembourg to which the Notes are
attributable, are subject to Luxembourg net wealth tax on such Notes, except if the holder of Notes is (i) a
resident or non-resident individual taxpayer, (ii) an undertaking for collective investment subject to the
amended law of December 17, 2010, (iii) a securitization company governed by the amended law of
March 22, 2004 on securitization, (iv) a company governed by the amended law of June 15, 2004 on
venture capital vehicles, (v) a specialized investment fund governed by the amended law of February 13,
2007 or (vi) a family wealth management company governed by the amended law of May 11, 2007.

Other Taxes

No estate or inheritance taxes are levied on the transfer of the Notes, upon death of a holder of Notes,
in cases where the deceased was not a resident of Luxembourg for inheritance tax purposes. Gift tax may
be due on a gift or donation of the Notes, if the gift is recorded in a Luxembourg notarial deed or
otherwise registered in Luxembourg.

There is no Luxembourg registration tax, stamp duty or any other similar tax or duty payable in
Luxembourg by the holders of Notes as a consequence of the issuance of the Notes, nor will any of these
taxes be payable as a consequence of a subsequent transfer or redemption of the Notes. There is no
Luxembourg value added tax payable in respect of payments in consideration for the issue of the Notes or
in respect of payments under the Notes or the transfer of the Notes.

EU Savings Directive

Under the EU Savings Directive, each EU Member State must require paying agents (within the
meaning of such directive) established within its territory to provide to the competent authority of the
relevant state details of the payment of interest made to any individual resident in another EU Member
State as the beneficial owner of the interest. The competent authority of the EU Member State of the
paying agent is then required to communicate this information to the competent authority of the EU
Member State of which the beneficial owner of the interest is a resident.
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For a transitional period, Austria and Luxembourg may instead operate a withholding system in
relation to such payments (unless they elect otherwise during that period). Belgium elected to abandon the
transitional withholding system and to provide information in accordance with the EU Savings Directive as
of January 1, 2010. Luxembourg has announced to abandon the transitional withholding system as of
January 1, 2015.

Conforming with the prerequisites for the application of the EU Savings Directive, a number of
non-EU countries and territories, including Switzerland and Liechtenstein, agreed to apply measures
equivalent to those contained in such directive (in particular, a withholding system).

On 24 March 2014 the EU Council of Ministers adopted a revised version of the EU Savings
Directive. Council has requested that national rules for transposing the revised EU Savings Directive
should be adopted by Member States by January 1, 2016 (which national legislation must apply as of
January 1, 2017). The Commission will aim to reach agreement by the end of 2014 on updating of the
existing savings agreements with five European third countries (Andorra, Liechtenstein, Monaco, San
Marino and Switzerland), in line with developments at EU and at an international level.

The Proposed Financial Transaction Tax (“FTT”)

The European Commission has published a proposal for a Directive for a common FTT in certain
participating Member States.

The proposed FTT has very broad scope and could apply to certain dealings in financial instruments
(including secondary market transactions). The FTT could apply to persons both within and outside of the
participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in financial instruments where
at least one party is a financial institution, and either (i) at least one party is established or deemed to be
established in a participating Member State or (ii) the financial instruments are issued in a participating
Member State.

The proposed Directive remains subject to negotiation between the participating Member States. It
may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear (if an
implementation at all takes place).

U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following discussion sets forth certain U.S. federal income tax considerations relating to the
purchase, ownership and disposition of the Notes. This discussion is based on the Code, applicable U.S.
Treasury regulations, published rulings, administrative pronouncements and court decisions, all as of the
date of this offering memorandum and all of which are subject to change or differing interpretations at any
time, possibly with retroactive effect. We have not and will not seek any rulings from the Internal Revenue
Service (“IRS”) regarding the matters discussed below. There can be no assurance that the IRS will not
take positions concerning the tax consequences of the purchase, ownership or disposition of the Notes that
are different from those discussed below. The discussion below addresses only investors who purchase
Notes in the original offering at the original offering price and hold the Notes as capital assets. This
summary does not discuss all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to a prospective
investor in light of the investor’s particular circumstances, or to certain types of investors subject to special
treatment under U.S. federal income tax laws, such as banks or other financial institutions, tax-exempt
entities, insurance companies, regulated investment companies, partnerships or other pass through entities
(or investors in such entities), U.S. expatriates, persons subject to the alternative minimum tax, dealers,
persons holding notes as part of a straddle or a hedging transaction, investors whose functional currency
(as defined in section 985 of the Code) is not the U.S. dollar, or U.S. Holders who hold their Notes
through non-U.S. intermediaries. In addition, this discussion does not consider the effect of any non-U.S.
laws or U.S. state or local income tax laws and it does not discuss U.S. federal tax considerations other
than income tax considerations (e.g., estate or gift tax considerations).

If an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds the
Notes, the tax treatment of a partner in such partnership will generally depend on the status of the partner
and the activities of the partnership. Any such partner should consult its own tax advisors about the U.S.
federal income tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of the Notes.

The following discussion does not purport to be legal advice to prospective investors generally or to any
particular prospective investor. Each prospective investor in the Notes is urged to consult its own tax
advisors concerning the application of U.S. federal income tax laws to its particular situation.
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Certain debt instruments that provide for one or more contingent payments are subject to Treasury
regulations governing contingent payment debt instruments. Payments are not treated as contingent
payments under these regulations if, as of the issue date of the debt instrument, the likelihood that such
payments will be made (in the aggregate) is remote or the payments (in the aggregate) are incidental. In
certain circumstances, we may pay amounts on the Notes that are in excess of the stated interest or
principal of the Notes. We intend to take the position that the possibility that such payments will be made
is remote and/or the payments are incidental and therefore the Notes are not subject to the rules governing
contingent debt instruments. Our determination that these contingencies are remote and/or incidental is
binding on you unless you disclose your contrary position to the IRS in the manner that is required by
applicable Treasury regulations. Our determination is not, however, binding on the IRS. It is possible that
the IRS might take a different position from that described above, in which case the timing, character and
amount of taxable income in respect of the Notes may differ adversely from that described herein. The
remainder of this discussion assumes that the Notes will not be treated as contingent payment debt
instruments.

U.S. Holders

As used herein, the term (“U.S. Holder”’) means a beneficial owner of a Note that is for U.S. federal
income tax purposes (i) an individual who is a citizen or resident of the U.S,, (ii) a corporation (or other
entity treated as a corporation for purposes of the Code) created or organized under the laws of the U.S.,
any state thereof or the District of Columbia, (iii) an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal
income taxation regardless of its source, or (iv) a trust the administration of which is subject to the primary
supervision of a U.S. court and with respect to which one or more United States persons (within the
meaning of section 7701(a)(30) of the Code) have the authority to control all substantial decisions, or a
trust that has a valid election in effect to be treated as a U.S. person under the Code.

Interest

Generally, the amount of any stated interest payments on a Note (including Additional Amounts, if
any, and without reduction for any tax withholding) will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as ordinary income in
accordance with the U.S. Holder’s method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Disposition of a Note

A U.S. Holder generally will recognize gain or loss on a sale, redemption or other taxable disposition
of a Note in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between the amount realized (less any accrued but
unpaid interest, which will be taxable as interest to the extent not previously taxed) and the U.S. Holder’s
adjusted tax basis in the Note. A U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in a Note generally will be the amount
paid for the Note. Any gain or loss on disposition of a Note generally will be capital gain or loss. Any
capital gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder has held the Note for more than
one year. Long-term capital gains of noncorporate U.S. Holders are eligible for reduced rates of taxation.
The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Additional Notes

Additional Notes issued in subsequent offerings by the Issuer may have identical terms to the Notes
issued in this offering, but may not be fungible for U.S. federal income tax purposes with the Notes issued
in this offering. Additional Notes may not be fungible unless they are issued in a qualified reopening of the
offering. Whether the issuance of Additional Notes is a qualified reopening will depend on the interval
after the original offering, the yield of the outstanding Notes at that time (based on their fair market
value), whether the Additional Notes would otherwise be issued with Original Issue Discount (“OID”) and
whether any outstanding Notes are publicly traded or quoted at the time of the new issuance. If issuance of
the Additional Notes is not a qualified reopening, the Additional Notes may have original issue discount. If
the Additional Notes have original issue discount, that may adversely affect the market value of the
previously outstanding Notes unless the Additional Notes can be distinguished from the Notes.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Backup withholding of U.S. federal income tax at a rate of 28% may apply to interest payments
(including payments of Additional Amounts, if any) on the Notes to U.S. Holders that are not exempt
recipients and that fail to provide certain certifications and identifying information (such as certification of
the U.S. Holder’s taxpayer identification number on IRS Form W-9) in the required manner. Generally,
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corporations and certain other entities are exempt from backup withholding on interest payments,
provided that they may be required to certify their exempt status. In addition, upon a sale, exchange,
redemption, retirement or other taxable disposition of a Note to (or through) certain U.S. or U.S.-related
brokers, the broker generally must withhold backup withholding tax from the purchase price, unless either
(i) the broker determines that the seller is an exempt recipient or (ii) the seller provides, in the required
manner, certain certifications and identifying information.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding
rules from a payment to a beneficial owner would be allowed as a refund or a credit against such beneficial
owner’s U.S. federal income tax liability provided that such beneficial owner timely provides the required
information to the IRS. We will furnish annually to the IRS, and to record holders of the Notes to whom
we are required to furnish such information, information relating to the amount of interest paid and the
amount of tax withheld, if any, with respect to payments on the Notes. Information reporting also may
apply to proceeds from the sale, exchange, redemption, retirement or other taxable disposition of a Note.

Substitution of the Issuer

If a Successor is substituted for the Issuer, the substitution may depending on the circumstances be
treated as an exchange of the Notes for deemed new notes of the Successor. In such an event, unless a
nonrecognition provision applies, a U.S. Holder generally will recognize any gain or loss realized in the
deemed exchange in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between (i) the issue price of the new notes
(which would be their fair market value assuming the Notes are trading on an established market) and
(ii) the U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Notes. If the stated principal amount of the new notes
received in the deemed exchange exceeds their issue price by as much as 0.25% multiplied by the number
of complete years to maturity, a U.S. Holder may be required to recognize original issue discount (“OID”)
as ordinary income on the new notes as a result of the substitution. The OID would generally be the
amount by which the stated principal amount of the new notes exceeds their issue price. Regardless of its
regular method of tax accounting, a U.S. Holder would be required to accrue any OID as ordinary income
on a constant yield to maturity basis whether or not it received cash payments. U.S. holders should consult
their own advisors regarding the foregoing.

Medicare Tax on Unearned Income

Certain U.S. Holders that are individuals, estates or trusts are required to pay an additional 3.8% tax
on “net investment income,” which includes, among other things, interest on and gains from the sale,
redemption or other disposition of notes. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding such
additional 3.8% tax.

Non-U.S. Holders

You are a non-U.S. Holder for purposes of this discussion if you are a beneficial owner of Notes that,
for U.S. federal income tax purposes, is an individual, corporation, estate or trust and is not a U.S. Holder.

Payments of Interest

Under the portfolio interest exemption (“Portfolio Interest Exemption”), payments of interest on the
Notes that are not effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S. Holder will not be
subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax, provided that:

* such holder (i) does not own, actually or constructively, 10% or more of the total combined
voting power of all classes of the voting stock of the Issuer, (ii) is not a controlled foreign
corporation related, directly or indirectly, within the meaning of section 864(d)(4) of the Code to
the Issuer, and (iii) is not a bank receiving interest described in section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code;
and

* the certification requirement, as described below, has been fulfilled with respect to the beneficial
owner.

The certification requirement referred to above will be fulfilled if either (A) the non-U.S. Holder
provides to the applicable withholding agent an applicable IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E (or
applicable successor form) that includes such holder’s name and address and certifies as to its non-U.S.
status or (B) a securities clearing organization, bank or other financial institution that holds customers’
securities in the ordinary course of its trade or business, and holds the Note on behalf of the beneficial
owner, provides a statement to us or our paying agent in which the organization, bank or financial
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institution certifies that an applicable IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E (or applicable successor form)
has been received by it from the non-U.S. Holder or from another financial institution acting on behalf of
the non-U.S. Holder and furnishes the applicable withholding agent with a copy. Other methods might be
available to satisfy the certification requirements described above, depending upon the circumstances
applicable to the non-U.S. Holder.

If a non-U.S. Holder cannot satisfy the requirements of the Portfolio Interest Exemption with respect
to interest payments that are not effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S.
Holder, there will be withholding on such payments made to such non-U.S. Holder at the regular 30% U.S.
federal withholding tax rate unless a treaty applies to reduce or eliminate such withholding (as certified on
an applicable IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E or applicable successor form).

If a non-U.S. Holder is engaged in a trade or business in the United States and if interest on the Note
is effectively connected with such trade or business, then the non-U.S. Holder generally will be subject to
U.S. federal income tax on such interest on a net basis in the same manner as if it were a U.S. Holder,
unless an applicable income tax treaty provides otherwise. If the non-U.S. Holder is a foreign corporation,
it may also be subject to a branch profits tax at a rate of 30% on its effectively connected earnings and
profits, subject to adjustments, unless reduced or eliminated by an applicable tax treaty. If you are a
corporate non-U.S. Holder, you should consult your own tax advisor regarding the possible application of
the branch profits tax. Effectively connected income is not subject to withholding tax if the non-U.S.
Holder provides the applicable withholding agent with a properly completed IRS Form W-8ECI (or other
applicable form).

Disposition of Notes

Generally, no U.S. federal withholding tax will be required with respect to any gain realized by a
non-U.S. Holder upon a sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other disposition of a Note. A non-U.S.
Holder will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on gain realized on the sale, exchange, retirement,
redemption or other disposition of a Note unless (a) the non-U.S. Holder is an individual who is present in
the United States for a period or periods aggregating 183 or more days in the taxable year of the
disposition and certain other conditions are met (in which case the non-U.S. Holder generally will be
subject to a 30% U.S. federal income tax on any gain recognized, which may be offset by certain U.S.
losses), or (b) such gain is effectively connected with the non-U.S. Holder’s U.S. trade or business (in
which case, unless a treaty provides otherwise, the non-U.S. Holder will be subject to tax in the same
manner as discussed above with respect to effectively connected interest).

Additional Notes

As discussed in more detail in the U.S. Holder section, if Additional Notes are issued in subsequent
offerings that have identical terms to the Notes issued in this offering but are not fungible with the Notes
issued in this offering because the Additional Notes are deemed to have OID, that may adversely affect the
market value of the previously outstanding Notes unless the Additional Notes can be distinguished from
the Notes.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Information reporting may apply with respect to interest payments that we make to a non-U.S. Holder
and proceeds from a sale, exchange, redemption, retirement or other taxable disposition of a Note. Backup
withholding at a rate of 28% generally will not apply if the non-U.S. Holder properly certifies its non-U.S.
status.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding
rules from a payment to a beneficial owner would be allowed as a refund or a credit against such beneficial
owner’s U.S. federal income tax liability provided that such beneficial owner timely provides the required
information to the IRS.

Substitution of the Issuer

As discussed in more detail in the U.S. Holder section, if a Successor is substituted for the Issuer, the
substitution may, depending on the circumstances, be treated as a potentially taxable exchange of the
Notes for deemed new notes of the Successor.
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Foreign Accounts Tax Compliance Act (“FATCA”)

Under the provisions of the Code referred to as FATCA, additional U.S. federal withholding tax may
apply to certain types of payments made to “foreign financial institutions,” as specially defined under such
rules, and certain other non-U.S. entities (including in circumstances where the foreign financial institution
or other non-U.S. entity is acting as an intermediary). The legislation generally imposes a 30% withholding
tax on interest on, or gross proceeds from the sale, redemption or other disposition of, notes paid to a
foreign financial institution unless the foreign financial institution enters into an agreement with the U.S.
Treasury to provide certain information regarding such institution’s account holders and owners of its
equity or debt or, in the case of a foreign financial institution in a jurisdiction that has entered into an
intergovernmental agreement with the United States, complies with the requirements of such agreement.
In addition, the legislation generally imposes a 30% withholding tax on the same types of payments to a
non-financial foreign entity unless the entity certifies that it does not have any substantial U.S. owners or
furnishes identifying information regarding each substantial U.S. owner. The legislation applies to
payments of interest on the notes and, after December 31, 2016, to gross proceeds from the sale or other
disposition of notes. Prospective investors should consult their tax advisors regarding this legislation.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION AND OFFER OF THE NOTES
General

Under the terms and conditions contained in a purchase agreement to be signed on or about the date
of this offering memorandum, the Issuer will agree to sell the Notes to the Initial Purchasers named
therein and, subject to certain conditions contained therein, the Initial Purchasers party to the purchase
agreement will severally agree to purchase Notes from the Issuer pursuant to the terms of the purchase
agreement. Each Initial Purchaser party to the purchase agreement is obligated to purchase and accept
delivery of all the Notes of the Issuer it has agreed to purchase under such purchase agreement if any such
Notes are purchased.

The following table sets forth the amount of Notes due 2020 to be purchased by the Initial Purchasers
in the offering of the Notes due 2020:

Aggregate Principal
Amount of Notes due 2020

Initial Purchaser to be Purchased
Wells Fargo Securities, LLC . . . . ... ... $166,650,000
Citigroup Global Markets Inc. .. ..... ... .. ... . . i $ 55,550,000
Deutsche Bank Securities InC. . . ... oottt $ 55,550,000
Scotia Capital (USA) Inc. . ... ... i $ 55,550,000
HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. . ... e $ 33,350,000
SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc. . ........ ... . ... ... . ......... $ 33,350,000
BBVA Securities INC. . . . o oot $ 12,500,000
BNP Paribas Securities COrp. . . ..o oottt $ 12,500,000
DNB Markets, INC. . . .ottt e $ 12,500,000
Mitsubishi UFJ Securities (USA), Inc. . ...... ... . ... . . ... $ 12,500,000
PNC Capital Markets LLC. . . . ... ... i $ 12,500,000
Santander Investment Securities Inc. ... ... ... . ... ... . $ 12,500,000
SMBC Nikko Capital Markets Limited . ... ........... ... ... ......... $ 12,500,000
TD Securities (USA) LLC . . . ..o $ 12,500,000

$500,000,000

The following table sets forth the amount of Notes due 2024 to be purchased by the Initial Purchasers
in the offering of the Notes due 2024:

Aggregate Principal
Amount of Notes due 2024

Initial Purchaser to be Purchased
Wells Fargo Securities, LLC . . . ... ... e $133,320,000
Citigroup Global Markets Inc. ... ........ ... ... . . ... . . ... $ 44,440,000
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. . . ....... ... ... .. . . . $ 44,440,000
Scotia Capital (USA) InC. ... ...t e $ 44,440,000
HSBC Securities (USA) InC. . ..o ovi e e $ 26,680,000
SunTiust Robinson Humphrey, Inc. .. ........ ... ... ... ... ...... $ 26,680,000
BBVA Securities InC. . ... ... $ 10,000,000
BNP Paribas Securities COrp. ... ..ot $ 10,000,000
DNB Markets, INC. . . . oot et e e e $ 10,000,000
Mitsubishi UFJ Securities (USA), Inc. .. ... ... .. ... ... $ 10,000,000
PNC Capital Markets LLC. . .. .. .. e $ 10,000,000
Santander Investment Securities Inc. .. ........ ... ... .. .. .. .. . ... ... $ 10,000,000
SMBC Nikko Capital Markets Limited . ........... ... ... ... ...... $ 10,000,000
TD Securities (USA) LLC . . . ...ttt e e $ 10,000,000

$400,000,000

The Initial Purchasers will be entitled, under certain circumstances, to terminate the agreement
reached with the Issuer and the Guarantors. In such event, no Notes will be delivered to investors.

The Issuer and the Guarantors have agreed to indemnify the Initial Purchasers, their controlling
persons and certain other related parties against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of

102



the Notes including liabilities under the Securities Act, and to contribute to payments that the Initial
Purchasers may be required to make in respect thereof.

The Notes and the Guarantees have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and
may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons
except to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act and to certain
persons in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act. Terms used in this
paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act. Resales of the Notes
are restricted as described under “Transfer Restrictions”.

In addition, until 40 days after the later of (i) the commencement of the offering and (ii) the issue date
of the Notes, an offer or sale of the Notes initially sold in reliance on Regulation S within the United States
by a dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the
Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with Rule 144A.

Sales in the United States may be made through certain affiliates of the Initial Purchasers. One or
more of the Initial Purchasers may use affiliates or other appropriately licensed entities for sales of the
Notes in jurisdictions in which such Initial Purchasers are not otherwise permitted.

Persons who purchase Notes from the Initial Purchasers may be required to pay stamp duty, taxes and
other charges in accordance with the laws and practice of the country of purchase in addition to the
offering prices set forth on the cover page of this offering memorandum.

The Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this offering memorandum
nor any other offering material or advertisements in connection with the Notes may be distributed or
published, in or from any country or jurisdiction, except in compliance with any applicable rules and
regulations of any such country or jurisdiction. This offering memorandum does not constitute an offer to
sell or a solicitation of an offer to purchase in any jurisdiction where such offer or solicitation would be
unlawful. Persons into whose possession this offering memorandum comes are advised to inform
themselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to the offering of the Notes, the distribution of
this offering memorandum and resale of the Notes. See “Notice to Investors” and ‘““Transfer Restrictions.”

The Notes are a new issue of securities for which there currently is no market. The Issuer has applied
to list the Notes on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to admit the Notes to trading
on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, a market appearing on the list of regulated
markets issued by the European Commission pursuant to Directive 2004/39/EC of April 21, 2004 on
markets in financial instruments; however, the Issuer cannot assure you that such listing will be
maintained. The Initial Purchasers have advised the Issuer that they intend to make a market in the Notes
as permitted by applicable law. The Initial Purchasers are not obligated, however, to make a market in the
Notes, and any market-making may be discontinued at any time at their sole discretion without notice. In
addition, any such market-making activity will be subject to the limits imposed by the Securities Act and
the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Accordingly, the Issuer
cannot assure you that any market for the Notes will develop, or that it will be liquid if it does develop.

In connection with this offering, the Initial Purchasers may engage in transactions that stabilize,
maintain or otherwise affect the price of the Notes. Specifically, the Initial Purchasers may overallot this
offering, creating a syndicate short position. The Initial Purchasers may bid for and purchase the Notes in
the open market to cover syndicate short positions. In addition, the Initial Purchasers may bid for and
purchase the Notes in the open market to stabilize the price of the Notes. These activities may stabilize or
maintain the market price of the Notes above independent market levels. The Initial Purchasers are not
required to engage in these activities and may end these activities at any time. See “Risk Factors — Risks
Relating to the Notes — There is presently no active trading market for the Notes.”

The Initial Purchasers and certain of their affiliates have provided and may provide in the future
certain commercial banking, financial advisory and investment banking services for us, our subsidiaries, the
Guarantors and certain of our affiliates, for which they receive, or will receive customary fees and expense
reimbursement. Certain of the Initial Purchasers and/or their affiliates have acted as managers and/or
arrangers on certain of our offerings of debt securities and have acted and/or currently act as agents and/or
lenders under our credit facilities or other lines of credit, including the 2012 Credit Agreement and the
A/R Facility, where in each case, we have paid customary fees in connection therewith. Certain of the
Initial Purchasers and/or their affiliates are lenders under Term Loan A-2 under our 2012 Credit
Agreement and will receive a portion of the net proceeds of the offering in such capacity. See “Use of
Proceeds.”
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In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Initial Purchasers and their affiliates
may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related
derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the
accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or
instruments of ours or our affiliates. If any Initial Purchaser or its affiliates have a lending relationship with
us, the Initial Purchaser or its affiliates routinely hedge, and the Initial Purchaser or its affiliates may
hedge, their credit exposure to us consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, an
Initial Purchaser and its affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of
either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in our securities, including
potentially the Notes offered hereby. Any such credit default swaps or short positions could adversely
affect future trading prices of the Notes offered hereby. The Initial Purchasers and their respective
affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research
views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they
acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments.

Application has been made to the CSSF in its capacity as competent authority under the Luxembourg
Prospectus Law, which implements the Prospectus Directive into Luxembourg law, for a separate
prospectus to be approved. If approved, that prospectus will be published in electronic form together with
all documents incorporated by reference on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(www.bourse.lu).

Each Initial Purchaser has or will have acknowledged that other than explicitly mentioned in this
offering memorandum no action is taken or will be taken by the Issuer or the Guarantors in any
jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of the Notes, or possession or distribution of any offering
material relating to them, in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Each Initial
Purchaser has or will have represented and agreed that it will comply with all applicable laws and
regulations in each jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or has in its possession
or distributes any offering material relating to them.

The Notes will be offered and sold by the Initial Purchasers (i) to institutional investors in the
European Economic Area in compliance with Regulation S under the Securities Act, (ii) to “qualified
institutional buyers” as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act (see “Transfer Restrictions,” below),
(iii) in offerings to the public in Luxembourg only following the approval of the separate prospectus filed
with the CSSF and publication of such prospectus and (iv) in offerings to the public in Germany only
following the Notification of such prospectus by the CSSF according to Article 18 of the Prospectus
Directive and publication of the prospectus. Following the publication of the approved prospectus in
Luxembourg and Germany, the Notes may be offered with the approval of the Issuer to the public in
Luxembourg and Germany in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations in such
jurisdiction. Unless and until such publication is made in Luxembourg and Germany, and at all times in
other Relevant Member States (as defined below), offers will be made only pursuant to an exception under
Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive as implemented in the Relevant Member State. In addition, in the
case of a secondary market public offer, specific procedures relating to the (i) time period, including any
possible amendments, during which the offer will be open and the description of the application process,
(ii) details of the minimum and/or maximum amount of application (whether in number of Notes or
aggregate amount to invest), (iii) method and time limits for paying and for delivery of the Notes, (iv) the
full description of the manner in and the date on which results of the offer are to be made public and
(v) plan of distribution and allotment (including the various categories of potential investors to which the
Notes are offered, the process for notification to applicants of the amount allotted and indication whether
dealing may begin before this notification is made) may be determined and communicated by any person
making an offer. Any investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes from any person making an
offer (“Offeror”) should be aware that, in the context of an offer to the public as defined in the Prospectus
Directive, the Issuer may be responsible to the investor for the prospectus only if the Issuer is acting in
association with that Offeror to make the offer to the investor. Each investor should therefore verify with
the Offeror whether or not the Offeror is acting in association with the Issuer. If the Offeror is not acting in
association with the Issuer, the investor should confirm with the Offeror whether anyone is responsible for a
prospectus for the purposes of Article 6 of the Prospectus Directive as implemented by the national
legislation of each Relevant Member State in the context of the offer to the public and, if so, who that person
is. If the investor is in any doubt about whether it can rely on the prospectus and/or who is responsible for its
contents it should seek legal advice.

In relation to each member state of the EEA which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each,
a “Relevant Member State”), each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed that with effect from and
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including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the
“Relevant Implementation Date”) it has not made and will not make an offer of the Notes to the public in
that Relevant Member State, unless and until a prospectus has been approved by the competent regulatory
authority and, as applicable, published and notified to the relevant competent authority in another
Relevant Member State in accordance with the Prospectus Directive as implemented in such other
Relevant Member State, except that it may make an offer of such Notes in such Relevant Member State:

(a) to any person or entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;

(b) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the
Prospectus Directive), as permitted under the Prospectus Directive, subject to obtaining the prior
consent of the Initial Purchasers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or

(c) in any other circumstances falling within Article 3 para. (2) of the Prospectus Directive,
provided that no such offer of Notes shall require the Issuer or the Initial Purchasers to publish a
prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer of Notes to the public” in relation to any
Notes in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient
information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to
purchase or subscribe the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure
implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State, and the expression “Prospectus Directive”
means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, inter alia, by directive 2010/73/EU of the European Parliament
and of the Council of November 24, 2010).

United Kingdom
Each Initial Purchaser has agreed that:

a) (i) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or
disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (ii) it has not
offered or sold and will not offer or sell the notes other than to persons whose ordinary activities
involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or as agent) for
the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose
of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses where the issue of the notes
would otherwise constitute a contravention of Section 19 of the FSMA by the issuer;

(b) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause
to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the
meaning of section 21 of FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Securities in
circumstances in which section 21(1) of FSMA does not apply to the Issuer or the Company; and

(c) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of FSMA with respect to
anything done by it in relation to the Securities in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Any investor who submitted an order in relation to the Notes whose order has been accepted will be
notified of its allotment of Notes. Before an investor receives a confirmation that its purchase order for the
Notes has been accepted, the investor may reduce or withdraw its purchase orders. There is no minimum
or maximum amount of Notes to be purchased. Investors may place offers to purchase Notes in any
amount, subject to minimum denomination requirements.

Subscription rights for the Notes will not be issued; therefore, there are no procedures in place for the
exercise of any rights of pre-emption, the negotiability of subscription rights or the treatment of
subscription rights not exercised. There are no conditions to which the offer is subject. In particular, there
is no minimum or maximum amount of the Notes required to be purchased. Investors may place offers to
purchase the Notes in any amount.

The Issuer will not charge any costs, expenses or taxes directly to any investor to participate in the
offer of the Notes. Investors must inform themselves about any costs, expenses or taxes in connection with
the purchase of Notes which are generally applicable in their respective country of residence, including any
charges of their own depository banks, financial intermediaries or other entities in connection with the
purchase or holding of securities.
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TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

The Notes have not been registered under the Securities Act and they may not be offered or sold
within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except pursuant to an
exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act.
Accordingly, the Notes offered hereby are being offered and sold only (i) to Qualified Institutional Buyers
in compliance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act and (ii) pursuant to offers and sales that occur
outside the United States to persons other than U.S. persons (“foreign purchasers”, which term includes
dealers or other professional fiduciaries in the United States acting on a discretionary basis for foreign
beneficial owners, other than an estate or trust) in offshore transactions meeting the requirements of
Rule 903 of Regulation S under the Securities Act. As used herein, the terms “offshore transaction,”
“United States” and “U.S. person” have the respective meanings given to them in Regulation S.

Each purchaser of Notes, by its acceptance thereof, will be deemed to have acknowledged,
represented to and agreed with us and the Initial Purchasers as follows:

(1) It understands and acknowledges that the Notes have not been registered under the
Securities Act or any other applicable securities law, are being offered for resale in transactions not
requiring registration under the Securities Act or any other securities laws, including sales pursuant to
Rule 144A under the Securities Act, and may not be offered, sold or otherwise transferred except in
compliance with the registration requirements of the Securities Act or any other applicable securities
law, pursuant to an exemption therefrom, or in a transaction not subject thereto, and in each case in
compliance with the conditions for transfer set forth in paragraph (4) below.

(2) Itis not an “affiliate,” as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, of us, or acting on our
behalf and it is either:

(a) a Qualified Institutional Buyer within the meaning of Rule 144A under the Securities
Act and is aware that any sale of Notes to it will be made in reliance on Rule 144A. Such
acquisition will be for its own account or for the account of another Qualified Institutional Buyer,
or

(b) an institution that, at the time the buy order for the Notes was originated, was outside
the United States and was not a U.S. person (and was not purchasing for the account or benefit
of a U.S. person) within the meaning of Regulation S under the Securities Act.

(3) It acknowledges that none of us or the Initial Purchasers or any person representing us or
the Initial Purchasers has made any representation to it with respect to us or the offering or sale of
any Notes, other than the information contained in the offering memorandum, which has been
delivered to it and upon which it is relying in making its investment decision with respect to the Notes.
Accordingly, it acknowledges that no representation or warranty is made by the Initial Purchasers as
to the accuracy or completeness of such materials. It has had access to such financial and other
information concerning us and the Notes as it has deemed necessary in connection with its decision to
purchase any of the Notes, including an opportunity to ask questions of and request information from
us and the Initial Purchasers.

(4) Itis purchasing the Notes for its own account, or for one or more investor accounts for which
it is acting as a fiduciary agent, in each case for investment, and not with a view to, or for offer or sale
in connection with, any distribution thereof in violation of the Securities Act, subject to any
requirement of law that the disposition of its property or the property of such investor account or
accounts be at all times within its or their control and subject to its or their ability to resell Notes
pursuant to Rule 144A, Regulation S or any exemption from registration available under the
Securities Act. It agrees on its own behalf and on behalf of any investor account for which it is
purchasing the Notes, and each subsequent holder of the Notes by its acceptance thereof will agree, to
offer, sell or otherwise transfer such Notes during the holding period then imposed by Rule 144, or its
successor, after the later of the date of the original issue and the last date on which we or any of our
affiliates were the owner of such Notes, or any predecessor thereto (the “Resale Restriction
Termination Date”), only:

(a) to us or any of our subsidiaries,

(b) pursuant to a registration statement which has been declared effective under the
Securities Act,
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(c) for so long as the Notes are eligible for resale pursuant to Rule 144A, to a person it
reasonably believes is a Qualified Institutional Buyer that purchases for its own account or for the
account of a Qualified Institutional Buyer to whom notice is given that the transfer is being made
in reliance on Rule 144A,

(d) pursuant to offers and sales to non-U.S. persons that occur outside the United States
within the meaning of Regulation S under the Securities Act, or

(e) pursuant to any other available exemption from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act, subject in each of the foregoing cases to any requirement of law that the
disposition of its property or the property of such investor account or accounts be at all times
within its or their control and in compliance with any applicable state securities laws.

Each purchaser acknowledges that we and the trustee reserve the right prior to any offer, sale or
other transfer of the Notes pursuant to clause (e) above prior to the Resale Restriction Termination
Date to require delivery of an opinion of counsel, certifications and/or other information satisfactory
to us and the trustee.

Each purchaser acknowledges that each security will contain a legend substantially to the
following effect:

“THE SECURITY (OR ITS PREDECESSOR) EVIDENCED HEREBY WAS ORIGINALLY
ISSUED IN A TRANSACTION EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION UNDER SECTION 5 OF
THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES
ACT”), AND THE SECURITY EVIDENCED HEREBY MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR
OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION OR AN
APPLICABLE EXEMPTION THEREFROM. EACH PURCHASER OF THE SECURITY
EVIDENCED HEREBY IS HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT THE SELLER MAY BE RELYING ON
THE EXEMPTION FROM THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT
PROVIDED BY RULE 144A THEREUNDER. THE HOLDER OF THE SECURITY
EVIDENCED HEREBY AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE ISSUER THAT (A) SUCH
SECURITY MAY BE RESOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, ONLY
(1)(a) INSIDE THE UNITED STATES TO A PERSON WHO THE SELLER REASONABLY
BELIEVES IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER (AS DEFINED IN RULE 144A
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) PURCHASING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE
ACCOUNT OF A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER IN A TRANSACTION MEETING
THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, (b) OUTSIDE THE
UNITED STATES TO NON-U.S. PERSONS IN A TRANSACTION MEETING THE
REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 903 OR RULE 904 OF REGULATION S UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT, (c) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144 THEREUNDER (IF APPLICABLE) OR
(d) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANOTHER EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT (AND BASED UPON AN OPINION OF
COUNSEL ACCEPTABLE TO THE ISSUER IF THE ISSUER SO REQUESTS), (2) TO THE
ISSUER OR (3) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT AND, IN
EACH CASE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY
STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER APPLICABLE JURISDICTION AND
(B) THE HOLDER WILL, AND EACH SUBSEQUENT HOLDER IS REQUIRED TO, NOTIFY
ANY PURCHASER OF THE SECURITY EVIDENCED HEREBY OF THE RESALE
RESTRICTIONS SET FORTH IN CLAUSE (A) ABOVE. NO REPRESENTATION CAN BE
MADE AS TO THE AVAILABILITY OF THE EXEMPTION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 FOR
RESALE OF THE SECURITY EVIDENCED HEREBY.”

(5) It agrees that it will give to each person to whom it transfers Notes notice of any restrictions
on transfer of such security.

(6) If it is a purchaser in a sale that occurs outside the United States within the meaning of
Regulation S, it acknowledges that until the expiration of the 40-day distribution compliance period
within the meaning of Rule 903 of Regulation S, any offer or sale of the Notes shall not be made by it
to a U.S. person or for the account or benefit of a U.S. person within the meaning of Rule 902(k) of
the Securities Act except in accordance with Regulation S.
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(7) It acknowledges that the trustee will not be required to accept for registration of transfer any
Notes acquired by it, except upon presentation of evidence satisfactory to us and the trustee that the
restrictions set forth herein have been complied with.

(8) It acknowledges that we, the Initial Purchasers and others will rely upon the truth and
accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgments, representations, warranties and agreements, and agrees
that if any of the acknowledgments, representations, warranties and agreements deemed to have been
made by it by its purchase of the Notes are no longer accurate, it shall promptly notify us and the
Initial Purchasers. If it is acquiring any Notes as a fiduciary or agent for one or more investor
accounts, it represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such investor account
and that it has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgments, representations and agreements on
behalf of each such investor account.

(9) It shall not sell or otherwise transfer such Notes to, and each purchaser represents and
covenants that it is not acquiring the Notes for or on behalf of, and will not transfer the Notes to
(i) any employee benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA?)), (ii) “plan” (as defined in Section 4975(e)(1) of the
Code) or (iii) any entity whose underlying assets include assets of any such employee benefit plan or
plan pursuant to 29 C.ER. Section 2510.3-101 (as modified by Section 3(42) of ERISA) or otherwise
(each of the foregoing, a “Plan”), except that such a purchase for or on behalf of a “Plan” shall be
permitted:

(a) to the extent such purchase is made by or on behalf of a bank collective investment fund
maintained by the purchaser in which no Plan (together with any other Plans maintained by the
same employer or employee organization) has an interest in excess of 10% of the total assets in
such collective investment fund and the conditions of Section III of Prohibited Transaction Class
exemption 91-38 issued by the Department of Labor are satisfied;

(b) to the extent such purchase is made by or on behalf of an insurance company pooled
separate account maintained by the purchaser in which no Plan (together with any other Plans
maintained by the same employer or employee organization) has an interest in excess of 10% of
the total assets in such pooled separate account and the conditions of Section III of Prohibited
Transaction Class Exemption 90-1 issued by the Department of Labor are satisfied;

(c) to the extent such purchase is made on behalf of a Plan by (i) an investment adviser
registered under the U.S. Investment Advisers Act 1940, as amended (the “Advisers Act”), that
has total client assets under its management and control in excess of $85,000,000 as of the last day
of its most recent fiscal year, and had shareholders’ or partners’ equity in excess of $1,000,000 as
shown in its most recent balance sheet prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, (ii) a bank as defined in Section 202(a)(2) of the Advisers Act, that has the
power to manage, acquire or dispose of assets of a Plan, with equity capital in excess of
$1,000,000 as of the last day of its most recent fiscal year, (iii) an insurance company which is
qualified under the laws of more than one U.S. State to manage, acquire or dispose of any assets
of a Plan, which insurance company has, as of the last day of its most recent fiscal year, net worth
in excess of $1,000,000 and which is subject to supervision and examination by a U.S. State
authority having supervision over insurance companies; or (iv) a savings and loan association, the
accounts of which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, that has made
application for and been granted trust powers to manage, acquire or dispose of assets of a Plan by
a U.S. State or Federal authority having supervision over savings and loan associations, which
savings and loan association has, as of the last day of its most recent fiscal year, equity capital or
net worth in excess of $1,000,000 and, in any case, such investment adviser, bank, insurance
company or savings and loan is otherwise a “qualified professional asset manager” and is an
“independent fiduciary” as such terms are used in Prohibited Transaction Class Exemption 84-14
issued by the Department of Labor, with respect to such Plan, and the assets of such Plan
managed by such investment advisor, bank, insurance company or savings and loan, when
combined with the assets of other Plans established or maintained by the same employer (or
affiliate thereof, as defined in such exemption) or employee organization and managed by such
investment adviser, bank, insurance company or savings and loan do not represent more than
20% of the total client assets managed by such investment adviser, bank, insurance company or
savings and loan, and the conditions of Part I of such exemption are otherwise satisfied;
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(d) to the extent such purchase is made by or on behalf of an insurance company with assets
in its insurance company general account, if no Plan (together with any other Plans maintained by
the same employer or employee organization) has an interest in the general account, the amount
of reserves and liabilities for which exceed 10% of the total reserves and liabilities of the general
account plus surplus, determined as set forth in Prohibited Transaction Class Exemption 95-60
issued by the Department of Labor, and the conditions of Sections I and IV of such exemption
are otherwise satisfied;

(e) to the extent such purchase is made on behalf of a Plan by an “in-house asset manager”
(the “INHAM?”) as defined in Part IV of Prohibited Transaction Class Exemption 96-23 issued by
the Department of Labor, Plans maintained by affiliates of the INHAM and/or the INHAM have
aggregate assets in excess of $250 million, and the conditions of Part I of such exemption are
otherwise satisfied;

(f) to the extent such Plan is a governmental plan (as defined in Section 3(32) of ERISA),
church plan (as defined in Section 3(33) of ERISA) or foreign plan which is not subject to the
provisions of Title I of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code, or any other federal, state, local or
foreign law or regulation that is substantially similar to the foregoing provisions of ERISA and
the Code (“Similar Law”) or

(g) to the extent such purchase is exempt from the prohibited transaction provisions of
Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code pursuant to Section 408(b)(17) of ERISA
and Section 4975(d)(20) of the Code.

(10) It understands that no action has been taken in any jurisdiction (including the United States)
by us or the Initial Purchasers that would result in a public offering of the Notes or the possession,
circulation or distribution of this offering memorandum any other material relating to us or the Notes
in any jurisdiction where action for such purpose is required, except that we have applied to the CSSF
for a separate prospectus to be approved and we have or will request the CSSF to provide the
competent authority in Germany with a certificate of approval attesting that such prospectus has been
prepared in accordance with the Luxembourg Prospectus Law (the “Notification”). Consequently, any
transfer of the Notes will be subject to the selling restrictions set forth under “Notice to New
Hampshire Residents,” “Notice to Investors,” “Notice to Investors in Germany and Luxembourg,” “Notice
to Investors in the Netherlands,” “Notice to Investors in the European Economic Area,” “Notice to
Investors in the United Kingdom,” “Notice to Certain Other European Investors,” “Plan of distribution
and Offer of the Notes,” and “Transfer Restrictions.”

SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEABILITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

We are a German company. Some of our directors and executive officers and some of the experts
named in this offering memorandum are residents of Germany. A substantial portion of our assets and the
assets of those individuals is located outside the U.S. As a result, it may be difficult or impossible for
investors to effect service of process upon those persons within the U.S. with respect to matters arising
under the U.S. federal securities laws or to enforce against them in U.S. courts judgments of U.S. courts
predicated on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws. We have been advised by our
German counsel, Noerr LLP, that there may be doubt as to the enforceability in Germany, in original
actions, of liabilities predicated on the U.S. federal securities laws and that in Germany both recognition
and enforcement of U.S. court judgments are solely governed by the provisions of the German Civil
Procedure Code (Zivilprozessordnung). In some cases, especially when according to the German statutory
provisions, the international jurisdiction of the U.S. court will not be recognized or if the judgment
conflicts with basic principles of German law (e.g., the restrictions to compensatory damages and pre-trial
discovery), the U.S. judgment might not be recognized by a German court. The service of process in U.S.
proceedings on persons in Germany is regulated by a multilateral treaty guaranteeing service of writs and
other legal documents in civil cases if the current address of the defendant is known.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 and for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2013 included in the Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA Annual Report
on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2013 have been incorporated by reference herein in
reliance upon the report of KPMG AG Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, independent registered public
accounting firm, incorporated by reference herein, and upon the authority of said firm as experts in
accounting and auditing.

The consolidated financial statements of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA prepared in
accordance with IFRS as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, have been incorporated by reference into this offering
memorandum in reliance upon the report of KPMG AG Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, independent
public accountants, incorporated by reference herein, and upon the authority of said firm as experts in
accounting and auditing.

The auditors’ address is The Squaire, Am Flughafen, 60549 Frankfurt am Main, Germany. KPMG AG
is a member of the German Chamber of Public Accountants (Wirtschaftspriiferkammer), Berlin, Germany.

The unconsolidated financial statements of Fresenius Medical Care US Finance II, Inc. at and for the
years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 included in this offering memorandum have been
audited by KPMG LLP, 60 South Street, Boston, Massachusetts, 02111. KPMG LLP is registered with the
U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and is a member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the Notes and the Note Guarantees and certain matters with respect to the Issuer and
Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. will be passed upon for the Company by Baker & McKenzie LLP,
New York, New York, USA, and certain matters with respect to the Company and Fresenius Medical Care
Deutschland GmbH will be passed upon by Noerr LLP. Dr. Dieter Schenk, a partner of Noerr LLP, is Vice
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of the Company’s general partner and of the Company’s Supervisory
Board, and is also Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Management SE. Dr. Schenk is
one of the executors of the estate of the late Mrs. Else Kroner. Else Kroner-Fresenius-Stiftung, a
charitable foundation established under the will of the late Mrs. Kroner, owns 100% of the voting shares of
the general partner of Fresenius SE. Dr. Schenk is also the Chairman of the advisory board of Else Kroner-
Fresenius-Stiftung. Certain matters will be passed upon for the Initial Purchasers by Cahill Gordon &
Reindel LLP, New York, New York, USA and Gleiss Lutz PartmbB, Frankfurt, Germany.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We file annual reports on Form 20-F and furnish periodic reports on Form 6-K to the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). You may read and copy any of these reports at the
SEC’s public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C., 20549, U.S.A., and its public
reference rooms in New York, New York, U.S.A. and Chicago, Illinois, U.S.A. Please call the SEC
at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference rooms. The reports may also be
obtained from the web site maintained by the SEC at http://www.sec.gov, which contains reports and other
information regarding registrants that file electronically with the SEC. The New York Stock Exchange
currently lists American Depositary Shares representing our ordinary shares. Our periodic reports,
registration statements and other information that we file with the SEC are also available for inspection
and copying at the offices of the New York Stock Exchange, 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005,
U.S.A. Our SEC filings are also available to the public from commercial document retrieval services.

We prepare annual and interim period reports both in conformity with U.S. GAAP as well as in
conformity with IFRS. Our annual reports contain financial statements examined and reported upon, with
opinions expressed by, our independent auditors. The consolidated financial statements of Fresenius
Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA included in the annual reports that we file with the SEC are prepared in
conformity with U.S. GAAP. We publish our consolidated annual financial statements, according to IFRS
on our website and through the Electronic Federal Gazette (elektronischer Bundesanzeiger), in accordance
with German laws. These annual and quarterly reports to our shareholders are posted on our web site at
www.fmc-ag.com. In furnishing our web site address in this offering memorandum, however, we do not
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intend to incorporate any information on our web site into this offering memorandum, and you should not
consider any information on our web site to be part of this offering memorandum.

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

We have elected to “incorporate by reference” certain information in this offering memorandum. By
incorporating by reference, we can disclose important information to you by referring you to another
document we have filed with the SEC and the CSSE We incorporate by reference the documents listed
below, which have been (i) filed with the SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act and (ii) filed with the CSSF:

Our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2013;

Our Report on Form 6-K filed with the SEC on March 13, 2014 reporting changes to our General
Partner’s Management Board;

Our Report on Form 6-K filed with the SEC on April 4, 2014 announcing the Company’s
long-term financial target for 2020;

Our Report on Form 6-K filed with the SEC on May 6, 2014 containing our unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2014;

Our Report on form 6-K filed with the SEC on June 27, 2014, disclosing our investment of
approximately $550 million for a majority interest in Sound Inpatient Physicians, Inc. and our
acquisition of MedSpring Urgent Care Centers;

Our Report on Form 6-K filed with the SEC on July 31, 2014 containing our unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements as of and for the three months and six months ended
June 30, 2014;

Our Report on Form 6-K filed with the SEC on September 16, 2014, containing our
announcement of our placing of the Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds; and

Our Report on Form 6-K filed with the SEC on October 9, 2014, containing our announcement
of our determination of the initial conversion price of the Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds.
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Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS Incorporated by Reference

In addition to the reports that we have filed with the SEC incorporated by reference and listed above,
the specified pages of the following documents which were prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the
European Union (“IFRS”) and which have previously been published at the Company’s website at
www.fmc-ag.com/5198.htm and which have been filed with the CSSF are incorporated by reference into
this offering memorandum and form part of it.

The page numbers set out below refer to the page numbers of the respective pdf documents which are
available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu):

(1) The German language audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
financial year ended on December 31, 2012 (Konzernabschluss zum 31. Dezember 2012 nach den
International Financial Reporting Standards) consisting of

Consolidated Statement of Income (Konzern-Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung) (page 2 in the
Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS Filing) 2012),

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Konzern-Gesamtergebnisrechnung) (page 3 in
the Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS Filing) 2012),

Consolidated Balance Sheet (Konzern-Bilanz) (page 4 in the Consolidated Financial Statements
(IFRS Filing) 2012),

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Konzern-Kapitalflussrechnung) (page 5 in the Consolidated
Financial Statements (IFRS Filing) 2012),

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Eigenkapitalverinderungsrechnung) (page 6 in the
Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS Filing) 2012),

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Konzernanhang) (pages 7 to 86 in the
Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS Filing) 2012),

Independent Auditor’s Report (Bestdtigungsvermerk des Abschlusspriifers) (page 207 in the
Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS Filing) 2012).!

(2) The German language audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
financial year ended on December 31, 2013 (Konzernabschluss zum 31. Dezember 2013 nach den
International Financial Reporting Standards) consisting of

Consolidated Statement of Income (Konzern-Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung) (page 2 in the
Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS Filing) 2013),

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Konzern-Gesamtergebnisrechnung) (page 3 in
the Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS Filing) 2013),

Consolidated Balance Sheet (Konzern-Bilanz) (page 4 in the Consolidated Financial Statements
(IFRS Filing) 2013),

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Konzern-Kapitalflussrechnung) (page 5 in the Consolidated
Financial Statements (IFRS Filing) 2013),

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Eigenkapitalverinderungsrechnung) (page 6 in the
Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS Filing) 2013),

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Konzernanhang) (pages 7 to 96 in the
Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS Filing) 2013),

Independent Auditor’s Report (Bestdtigungsvermerk des Abschlusspriifers) (page 226 in the
Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS Filing) 2013).!

! The Independent Auditor’s Reports have been issued in accordance with § 322 HGB and relate to the
complete annual report 2013 and 2012, respectively, comprising the statements of income, statements
of comprehensive income, balance sheets, statements of cash flows, statements of shareholders’ equity
and notes and the group management reports for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. The
group management reports are neither included nor incorporated by reference in this offering
memorandum.
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(3) The German language unaudited consolidated interim financial statements of the Company for
the six-months period ended June 30, 2014 consisting of

*  Consolidated Statement of Income (Konzern-Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung) (page 27 in the
Six-month Report (IFRS Filing) 2014),

*  Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Konzern-Gesamtergebnisrechnung) (page 28
in the Six-month Report (IFRS Filing) 2014),

e Consolidated Balance Sheet (Konzern-Bilanz) (page 29 in the Six-month Report (IFRS Filing)
2014),

*  Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Konzern-Kapitalflussrechnung) (page 30 in the Six-month
Report (IFRS Filing) 2014),

*  Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Eigenkapitalverinderungsrechnung) (page 31 in the
Six-month Report (IFRS Filing) 2014),

* Notes to the Consolidated Interim Financial Statements (Anmerkungen zum Konzernabschluss)
(pages 32 to 59 in the Six-month Report 2014).

The information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-reference list is considered
as additional information and is not required by the relevant schedules of Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004
(“the Prospectus Regulation™).

For so long as any Note is outstanding, copies of the documents incorporated by reference into the
offering memorandum will be available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(www.bourse.lu).

English language translations of the financial statements of the Company prepared in accordance with
IFRS incorporated by reference do not form part of this offering memorandum. These documents are
available at the Company’s website at www.fmc-ag.com/5198.htm.

For purposes of the application to list the Notes for trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s
regulated market and for listing on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, all information
contained in the documents incorporated by reference, but not required to be included in the offering
memorandum under the Luxembourg Prospectus Law, are incorporated for information purposes only.

Any statement contained in this offering memorandum or in a document that is incorporated by
reference herein will be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this offering memorandum
to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document that also is
incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such statement. The modifying or superseding
statement need not state that it has modified or superseded a prior statement or include any other
information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes. The making of a modifying or
superseding statement will not be deemed an admission for any purposes that the modified or superseded
statement, when made, constituted a misrepresentation, an untrue statement of a material fact or an
omission to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not
misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. Any such statement so modified or
superseded will not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this offering
memorandum.
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We will provide without charge to each person to whom a copy of this offering memorandum is
delivered, including any beneficial owner, upon the written or oral request of such person, a copy of any or
all of the documents incorporated by reference herein (other than exhibits to such documents, unless such
exhibits are specifically incorporated by reference into the information that this offering memorandum
incorporates). Requests should be directed to:

Investor Relations
Worldwide:

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
Investor Relations
61346 Bad Homburg
Germany

Oliver Maier
Senior Vice President Investor Relations
Gerrit Jost
Vice President Investor Relations
Tel. +49 (0) 6172-609 2525
Fax. +49 (0) 6172-609 2301

In the United States
Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc.
Investor Relations
5412 Maryland Way, Suite 208
Brentwood TN 37027

Terry Morris
Vice President Investor Relations
Tel. +1 800 949 2538
Fax. +1 615 345 5605

If at any time we are not subject to the information requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act, we will furnish to holders of notes and prospective purchasers thereof the information
required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144(d)(4) under the Securities Act in order to permit
compliance with Rule 144A in connection with the resales of the notes.
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LISTING AND GENERAL INFORMATION
Listing and Admission to Trading

Application has been made to admit the Notes to listing on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange and to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. For so long as the
Notes are listed on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and as the rules of that stock
exchange require, copies of the following documents may be inspected and obtained free of charge at the
specified office of the listing agent in Luxembourg during normal business hours of any business day in
Luxembourg:

e the Indenture (including forms of the guarantees);

e the articles of association and/or articles of incorporation of the Issuer and each of the
Guarantors;

* the most recent audited consolidated financial statements published by the Company; and any
interim quarterly financial statements published by the Company; and

e the most recent audited unconsolidated financial statements published by the Issuer.

For so long as the Notes are listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and
admitted to trading on the regulated market and the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange so require,
the Issuer will make available the notices to the public on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange,
www.bourse.lu, or in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to
be the Luxemburger Wort or the ‘Benelux’ edition of the Financial Times) or in written form at places
indicated by announcements to be so published as described before, or by any other means considered
equivalent by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. As of the date of this offering memorandum, our most
recent audited financial statements available were as of and for the year ended December 31, 2013. KPMG
AG Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft, our auditor, has given and not withdrawn its consent to the
incorporation by reference into this offering memorandum of their audit reports for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011. Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaAs consolidated financial
statements are published annually and are audited.

Clearing Information

The Regulation S Notes and the Rule 144A Notes represent a new issue of fixed rate, senior-ranking
securities and have been accepted for clearance through the facilities of DTC. The CUSIP numbers, and
international securities identification numbers and common codes of the Notes are as follows:

Notes due 2020 Notes due 2024
CUSIP: CUSIP:
Rule 144A  35802XAH6 Rule 144A  35802XAJ2
Regulation S U31434AD2 Regulation S U31434AE0
ISIN: ISIN:
Rule 144A  US35802XAH61 Rule 144A  US35802XAJ28
Regulation S USU31434AD25 Regulation S USU31434AE(8
COMMON CODE: COMMON CODE:
Rule 144A 110881703 Rule 144A 110881711
Regulation S 110881690 Regulation S 110881673

No Significant Change

Except for the incurrence of $600 million of additional term indebtedness pursuant to Term Loan A-2
under our 2012 Credit Agreement on July 1, 2014 and the issuance of €400 million aggregate principal
amount of Equity-neutral Convertible Bonds on September 19, 2014, there has been no significant change
in the financial or trading position of the Company or any Guarantor since June 30, 2014.

Tiend Information

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer or any of the Guarantors
since the date of the last published audited financial statements as of December 31, 2013.
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Litigation

Except as disclosed in Note 11, “Commitments and Contingencies” of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements (unaudited) incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum, and in Note 20,
“Commitments and Contingencies” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements incorporated by
reference in this offering memorandum and below under “Legal and Regulatory Matters,” none of the
Issuer or the Guarantors has, during the last twelve months prior to the date of this offering memorandum,
been involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceeding which is material in the context of the
issue of the Notes and, so far as we are aware, no such material governmental, legal or arbitration
proceeding is pending or threatened.

Legal and Regulatory Matters

The Company is routinely involved in numerous claims, lawsuits, regulatory and tax audits,
investigations and other legal matters arising, for the most part, in the ordinary course of its business of
providing healthcare services and products. Legal matters that the Company currently deems to be
material or noteworthy are described below. For the matters described below in which the Company
believes a loss is both reasonably possible and estimable, an estimate of the loss or range of loss exposure is
provided. For the other matters described below, the Company believes that the loss probability is remote
and/or the loss or range of possible losses cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. The outcome of
litigation and other legal matters is always difficult to predict accurately and outcomes that are not
consistent with the Company’s view of the merits can occur. The Company believes that it has valid
defenses to the legal matters pending against it and is defending itself vigorously. Nevertheless, it is
possible that the resolution of one or more of the legal matters currently pending or threatened could have
a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition.

Commercial Litigation

On August 27, 2012, Baxter International Inc. filed suit in the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of Illinois, styled Baxter International Inc., et al., v. Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc., Case
No. 12-cv-06890, alleging that the Company’s Liberty™ cycler infringes certain U.S. patents that were
issued to Baxter International Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliates between October 2010 and June 2012.
The Company believes it has valid defenses to these claims, and will defend this litigation vigorously.

On April 5, 2013, the U.S. Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation ordered that the numerous
lawsuits filed and anticipated to be filed in various federal courts alleging wrongful death and personal
injury claims against FMCH and certain of its affiliates relating to FMCH’s acid concentrate products
NaturaLyte® and Granuflo® be transferred and consolidated for pretrial management purposes into a
consolidated multidistrict litigation in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts,
styled In Re: Fresenius Granuflo/Naturalyte Dialysate Products Liability Litigation, Case No. 2013-md-02428.
The Massachusetts state courts subsequently established a similar consolidated litigation for such cases
filed in Massachusetts county courts, styled In Re: Consolidated Fresenius Cases, Case No. MICV
2013-03400-O (Massachusetts Superior Court, Middlesex County). These lawsuits allege generally that
inadequate labeling and warnings for these products caused harm to patients. In addition, similar cases
have been filed in state courts outside Massachusetts, in some of which the judicial authorities have
established consolidated proceedings for their disposition. FMCH believes that these lawsuits are without
merit, and will defend them vigorously.

Other Litigation and Potential Exposures

On February 15, 2011, a qui tam relator’s complaint under the False Claims Act against FMCH was
unsealed by order of the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts and served by the
relator. The United States has not intervened in the case United States ex rel. Chris Drennen v. Fresenius
Medical Care Holdings, Inc., 2009 Civ. 10179 (D. Mass.). The relator’s complaint, which was first filed
under seal in February 2009, alleges that the Company seeks and receives reimbursement from
government payors for serum ferritin and hepatitis B laboratory tests that are medically unnecessary or not
properly ordered by a physician. On March 6, 2011, the United States Attorney for the District of
Massachusetts issued a subpoena seeking the production of documents related to the same laboratory tests
that are the subject of the relator’s complaint. FMCH has cooperated fully in responding to the subpoena,
and will vigorously contest the relator’s complaint.

Subpoenas or search warrants have been issued by federal and state law enforcement authorities
under the supervision of the United States Attorneys for the Districts of Connecticut, Southern Florida,

116



Eastern Virginia and Rhode Island to American Access Care LLC (AAC), which the Company acquired in
October 2011, and to the Company’s Fresenius Vascular Access subsidiary which now operates former
AAC centers as well as its own original facilities. Subpoenas have also been issued to certain of the
Company’s outpatient hemodialysis facilities for records relating to vascular access treatment and
monitoring. The Company is cooperating fully in these investigations. Communications with certain of the
investigating United States Attorney Offices indicate that the inquiry encompasses invoicing and coding for
procedures commonly performed in vascular access centers and the documentary support for the medical
necessity of such procedures. The AAC acquisition agreement contains customary indemnification
obligations with respect to breaches of representations, warranties or covenants and certain other specified
matters. As of October 18, 2013, a group of the prior owners of AAC exercised their right pursuant to the
terms of the acquisition agreement to assume responsibility for responding to certain of the subpoenas.
Pursuant to the AAC acquisition agreement the prior owners are obligated to indemnify the Company for
certain liabilities that might arise from those subpoenas.

The Company has received communications alleging conduct in countries outside the U.S. and
Germany that may violate the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) or other anti-bribery laws. The
Audit and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company’s Supervisory Board is conducting an
investigation with the assistance of independent counsel. The Company voluntarily advised the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”). The
Company’s investigation and dialogue with the SEC and DOJ are ongoing. The Company has received a
subpoena from the SEC requesting additional documents and a request from the DOJ for copies of the
documents provided to the SEC. The Company is cooperating with the requests.

Conduct has been identified that may result in monetary penalties or other sanctions under the FCPA
or other anti-bribery laws. In addition, the Company’s ability to conduct business in certain jurisdictions
could be negatively impacted. The Company has previously recorded a non-material accrual for an
identified matter. Given the current status of the investigations and remediation activities, the Company
cannot reasonably estimate the range of possible loss that may result from identified matters or from the
final outcome of the investigations or remediation activities.

The Company’s independent counsel, in conjunction with the Company’s Compliance Department,
have reviewed the Company’s anti-corruption compliance program, including internal controls related to
compliance with international anti-bribery laws, and appropriate enhancements are being implemented.
The Company is fully committed to FCPA compliance.

In December 2012 and January 2013, FMCH received subpoenas from the United States Attorneys
for the District of Massachusetts and the Western District of Louisiana requesting production of a broad
range of documents. Communications with the investigating United States Attorney Offices indicate that
the inquiry relates to products manufactured by FMCH, which encompasses the Granuflo® and
Naturalyte® acid concentrate products that are also the subject of personal injury litigation described
above, as well as electron-beam sterilization of dialyzers, the Liberty peritoneal dialysis cycler, and 2008
series hemodialysis machines as related to the use of Granuflo® and Naturalyte®. FMCH is cooperating
fully in the government’s investigation.

On June 13, 2014, the Ministry of Commerce of the People’s Republic of China, (MOFCOM)
launched an anti-dumping investigation into producers of hemodialysis equipment in the European Union
and Japan, which includes certain of the Company’s subsidiaries. The Company intends to cooperate in
this investigation.

The Company filed claims for refunds contesting the Internal Revenue Service’s (“IRS”) disallowance
of FMCH’s deductions for civil settlement payments taken by FMCH in prior year tax returns. As a result
of a settlement agreement with the IRS, the Company received a partial refund in September 2008 of
$37 million, inclusive of interest and preserved its right to pursue claims in the United States Courts for
refunds of all other disallowed deductions, which totaled approximately $126 million. On December 22,
2008, the Company filed a complaint for complete refund in the United States District Court for the
District of Massachusetts, styled as Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. v. United States. On August 15,
2012, a jury entered a verdict for FMCH granting additional deductions of $95 million. On May 31, 2013,
the District Court entered final judgment for FMCH in the refund amount of $50.4 million. On August 13,
2014, the United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit (Boston) affirmed the District Court’s order.

In August 2014, FMCH received a subpoena from the United States Attorney for the District of
Maryland inquiring into FMCH’s contractual arrangements with hospitals and physicians, including
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contracts relating to the management of hospital-based outpatient chronic dialysis facilities and in-patient
acute dialysis services. FMCH is cooperating in the investigation.

From time to time, the Company is a party to or may be threatened with other litigation or arbitration,
claims or assessments arising in the ordinary course of its business. Management regularly analyzes current
information including, as applicable, the Company’s defenses and insurance coverage and, as necessary,
provides accruals for probable liabilities for the eventual disposition of these matters.

The Company, like other healthcare providers, conducts its operations under intense government
regulation and scrutiny. It must comply with regulations which relate to or govern the safety and efficacy of
medical products and supplies, the marketing and distribution of such products, the operation of
manufacturing facilities, laboratories and dialysis clinics, and environmental and occupational health and
safety. With respect to its development, manufacture, marketing and distribution of medical products, if
such compliance is not maintained, the Company could be subject to significant adverse regulatory actions
by the FDA and comparable regulatory authorities outside the U.S. These regulatory actions could include
warning letters or other enforcement notices from the FDA, and/or comparable foreign regulatory
authority which may require the Company to expend significant time and resources in order to implement
appropriate corrective actions. If the Company does not address matters raised in warning letters or other
enforcement notices to the satisfaction of the FDA and/or comparable regulatory authorities outside the
U.S., these regulatory authorities could take additional actions, including product recalls, injunctions
against the distribution of products or operation of manufacturing plants, civil penalties, seizures of the
Company’s products and/or criminal prosecution. FMCH is currently engaged in remediation efforts with
respect to three pending FDA warning letters. See “Regulatory and Legal Matters—Product Regulation”
section of the 2013 Annual Report on Form 20-F for additional information. The Company must also
comply with the laws of the United States, including the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal False
Claims Act, the federal Stark Law and the federal Foreign Corrupt Practices Act as well as other federal
and state fraud and abuse laws. Applicable laws or regulations may be amended, or enforcement agencies
or courts may make interpretations that differ from the Company’s interpretations or the manner in which
it conducts its business. Enforcement has become a high priority for the federal government and some
states. In addition, the provisions of the False Claims Act authorizing payment of a portion of any recovery
to the party bringing the suit encourage private plaintiffs to commence “qui tam” or “whistle blower”
actions. By virtue of this regulatory environment, the Company’s business activities and practices are
subject to extensive review by regulatory authorities and private parties, and continuing audits, subpoenas,
other inquiries, claims and litigation relating to the Company’s compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The Company may not always be aware that an inquiry or action has begun, particularly in the
case of “whistle blower” actions, which are initially filed under court seal.

The Company operates many facilities throughout the United States and other parts of the world. In
such a decentralized system, it is often difficult to maintain the desired level of oversight and control over
the thousands of individuals employed by many affiliated companies. The Company relies upon its
management structure, regulatory and legal resources, and the effective operation of its compliance
program to direct, manage and monitor the activities of these employees. On occasion, the Company may
identify instances where employees or other agents deliberately, recklessly or inadvertently contravene the
Company’s policies or violate applicable law. The actions of such persons may subject the Company and its
subsidiaries to liability under the Anti-Kickback Statute, the Stark Law, the False Claims Act and the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, among other laws and comparable laws of other countries.

Physicians, hospitals and other participants in the healthcare industry are also subject to a large
number of lawsuits alleging professional negligence, malpractice, product liability, worker’s compensation
or related claims, many of which involve large claims and significant defense costs. The Company has been
and is currently subject to these suits due to the nature of its business and expects that those types of
lawsuits may continue. Although the Company maintains insurance at a level which it believes to be
prudent, it cannot assure that the coverage limits will be adequate or that insurance will cover all asserted
claims. A successful claim against the Company or any of its subsidiaries in excess of insurance coverage
could have a material adverse effect upon it and the results of its operations. Any claims, regardless of
their merit or eventual outcome, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s reputation and
business.

The Company has also had claims asserted against it and has had lawsuits filed against it relating to
alleged patent infringements or businesses that it has acquired or divested. These claims and suits relate
both to operation of the businesses and to the acquisition and divestiture transactions. The Company has,
when appropriate, asserted its own claims, and claims for indemnification. A successful claim against the
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Company or any of its subsidiaries could have a material adverse effect upon its business, financial
condition, and the results of its operations. Any claims, regardless of their merit or eventual outcome,
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s reputation and business.

General Information about The Issuer and The Guarantors

For certain information about the Issuer, see “The Issuer” and for certain information about the
Guarantors, see “The Guarantors.”

The Notes have been issued pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors of the Issuer passed on
October 13, 2014. The Note Guarantees have been authorized by (i) a resolution of the management board
of the general partner of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA on August 20, 2014 and a resolution of
the supervisory board of the general partner of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA on
September 29/October 1, 2014, (ii) written resolutions of the shareholder of D-GmbH dated October 21,
2014 and (iii) resolutions of the board of directors of FMCH dated October 13, 2014.

Credit Ratings

A credit rating assesses the creditworthiness of an entity and informs an investor therefore about the
probability of the entity being able to redeem invested capital. It is not a recommendation to buy, sell or
hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time. A suspension, reduction
or withdrawal of the rating assigned to the Issuer may adversely affect the market price of the Notes.

As of the date of this offering memorandum, none of the Issuer or the Subsidiary Guarantors has
been assigned any credit rating with its cooperation or at its request.

Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services Europe Limited (German Branch)M® has assigned a
long-term credit rating of BB+ (positive) to the Company.

Moody’s Deutschland GmbH®® has assigned a long-term credit rating of Bal (stable) to the
Company.

Fitch Ratings Limited)® has assigned a long-term credit rating of BB+ (positive) to the Company.

In addition, the following credit ratings have been issued for senior notes of the Issuer:()

Standard & Poor’s®  Moody’s®

USD 400 million 6.5% senior notes, due September 15, 2018 ......... BB+ Ba2
USD 800 million 5%% senior notes, due July 31, 2019 .............. BB+ Ba2
USD 700 million 57% senior notes, due January 31, 2022 ........... BB+ Ba2

As of the date of this offering memorandum, Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch, the leading credit
rating agencies, have issued the following credit ratings for the Company:("

Standard & Poor’s®  Moody’s® Fitch®

Corporate Credit Rating . ........................... BB+ Bal BB+
Outlook . . ... positive stable  positive
(1) The European Securities and Markets Authority publishes on its website

(http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registeredand-certified-CRAs) a list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance
with the CRA Regulation. That list is updated within five working days following the adoption of a decision under Article 16, 17
or 20 CRA Regulation. The European Commission shall publish that updated list in the Official Journal of the European Union
within 30 days following such update.

(2) Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services Europe Limited (German Branch) is established in the European Community and is
registered under the CRA Regulation. According to Standard & Poor’s: “BB+ is considered the highest speculative grade by
market participants.” “An obligation rated ‘BB’ is less vulnerable to nonpayment than other speculative issues. However, it faces
major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to adverse business, financial, or economic conditions which could lead to the obligor’s
inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation. The ratings may be modified by the addition of a
plus (+) or minus (—) sign to show relative standing within the major rating categories.”

(3) Moody’s Deutschland GmbH is established in the European Community and is registered under the CRA Regulation.
According to Moody’s: “Obligations rated Ba are judged to have speculative elements and are subject to substantial credit risk.
Moody’s appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to the respective rating classification. The modifier 1 indicates that the
obligation ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking.”

(4) Fitch Ratings Limited is established in the European Community and is registered under the CRA Regulation. According to
Fitch: ““BB’ ratings indicate an elevated vulnerability to default risk, particularly in the event of adverse changes in business or
economic conditions over time; however, business or financial flexibility exists which supports the servicing of financial
commitments. The modifiers ‘+’ or ‘—’ may be appended to a rating to denote relative status within major rating categories.”
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s PG L

Two Financial Center
60 South Street
Boston, MA 02111

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Shareholder
Fresenius Medical Care US Finance II, Inc.:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Fresenius Medical Care US Finance 11, Inc.,
which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related statements of
operations, stockholder’s equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the
related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. we conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumanstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects, the
financial position of Fresenius Medical Care US Finance II, Inc. as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 in
accordance with US generally accepted accounting principles.

KPMe LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
April 1, 2014

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership,
the U.S. member firm of KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Balance Sheets
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(In thousands, except share and per-share data)

2013 2012
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ... ........... ..ttt $ 1 3 19
Short term derivative assets . .. .. ... .ottt 2,148 5,934
Interest receivables from affiliates .............................. 45,802 44,177
Total currents assetS . . . . oot i it e e 47,951 50,130
Notes receivable from affiliates .. ... ......... ... .. ... ... ... ...... 2,094,003 2,013,118
Long term derivative assets . . . . .. ..ottt e 4,505 26,192
Deferred tax assets . . . . .ottt e 31,201 12,700
Deferred charges .. ... ... ... 12,525 14,662
TOtal @SSELS o v v v e e e e e e $2,190,185 $2,116,802
Liabilities and Stockholder’s Equity
Current liabilities:
Accrued Habilities . . . . ..ot $ 42,570 40,948
Accrued INCOME LAXES . o v v v vt e e e e e e e e e e e e e 762 172
Deferred tax liabilities . . . . .. ... . e 787 2,172
Total current liabilities . . ... ... .. i i e 44,119 43,292
Long term derivative liabilities. . . .. ........ ... ... .. 168,605 66,879
Long term debt, net of discount ........... ... ... ... . ... . ... ... 1,896,297 1,895,511
Total liabilities . . . .. ... . e 2,109,021 2,005,682
Equity:
Additional paid-in capital . . . ... ... L 125,000 125,000
Accumulated deficit. . . ..... ... L (43,836) (13,880)
Total stockholder’s equity . .. ... ... ... . 81,164 111,120
Total liabilities and stockholder’s equity . . ... ....... ... ... .. ... ... $2,190,185 2,116,802

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Statements of Operations
Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
(In thousands)

2013 2012
Unrealized losses on derivative instruments . ......................... $(127,199) $ (34,753)
Realized gains on derivative instruments. . .. .........c.. .ot 4,626 6,156
Foreign currency exchange gains ............ ... ... .. ... . . ... ... 72,893 5,987
Interest income from affiliates . ... ...... ... .. .. .. ... ... .. .. .. . .... 117,470 109,355
Interest expense to third parties . .. ......... . ... . L i ... (115,052)  (108,950)
Loss before income taxes . . . ...ttt (47,262)  (22,205)
Income tax benefit . ... .. ... .. . . ... 17,306 8,127
Netloss .. ..o $ (29,956) $ (14,078)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
(In thousands)

2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:
NEt 1OSS « o v v $(29,956) $ (14,078)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash and deferred charges provided
by operating activities:
Amortization of discount on long termdebt .. ........ ... ... . ... 2,923 2,803
Amortization of discount on notes receivable ..................... (1,325) (1,215)
Unrealized losses on derivative instruments. . . ... ................. 127,199 34,753
Unrealized foreign currency exchange gains . ..................... (72,893) (5,987)
Deferred income tax benefit . ......... ... ... . . L i L. (19,886) (10,528)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in accrued liabilities . ............. ... .. .. .. .. ...... 1,622 33,292
Increase in interest receivables from affiliates . .................. (1,625) (35,748)
Decrease in accounts payable to affiliates ... ................... — (443)
Increase in accrued inCOMeE taxes . . ...........uveuuneunnenn.. 590 57
Net cash provided by operating activities . .................... 6,649 2,906
Cash flows from investing activities:
Issuance of notes to affiliates, net of discount. . ..................... (8,675)  (1,599,445)
Payments received on notes from affiliates . . . ...................... 2,008 2,910
Net cash used in investing activities . .. ...................... (6,667)  (1,596,535)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of long term debt, net of discount . ............ ... ... ... ... — 1,500,000
Proceeds received from issuance of common stock . .................. — 105,000
Debt iSSUANCE COSES .+« v vt e e et e — (11,358)
Net cash provided by financing activities ..................... — 1,593,642
Change in cash and cash equivalents . ....................... (18) 13
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period. .. ................... 19 6
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period . .. .......... ... ... ..... $ 1 3 19
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid forinterest . . . ........ ... ... ... ... . . . . $112,125  § 70,331
Cash paid for income taxes . . ........... ... ... . . i 1,991 2,345

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(In thousands)

(1) The Company

Fresenius Medical Care US Finance II, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the Company) is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, a German partnership limited by shares
(FMC-AG & Co. KGaA or the Parent Company). The Company was formed on August 22, 2011 to
primarily engage in effecting any lawful financing act or activity between the Parent Company and
Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. (FMCH) and any other acts related to or in furtherance thereof, for
which corporations may be organized and incorporated under the general corporation law of the state of
Delaware.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP). These financial statements reflect all adjustments that, in the
opinion of management, are necessary for the fair presentation of the results for the period presented.

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through April 1, 2014, which is the date these financial
statements were issued.
(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(¢) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash funds and all short-term, liquid investments with original
maturities of up to three months.
(d) Deferred Charges

Costs related to issuance of debt are amortized over the term of the related obligation.

(e) Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for future consequences attributable to
temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of the existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amount of the deferred tax
assets unless it is more likely than not that such assets will be realized.

(f) Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims assessments, litigation, fines, penalties and other
matters are recorded when it is probable that the liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability
can be reasonably estimated. The Company is currently not a party to any such claims or proceedings.

(g) Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable from
affiliates, long term borrowings, derivatives and accrued liabilities.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(In thousands)

(h) Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments for foreign currency forward contracts are recognized as assets or
liabilities at fair value in the balance sheets (see note 5). The Company’s derivatives do not quality for
hedge accounting, and therefore the changes in fair value are recorded in the statements of operations and
offset the changes in value recorded in the statements of operations for the underlying asset or liability.

(i) Foreign Currency Transaction Gains and Losses

The Company has transactions in foreign currencies other than its functional currency, the U.S. dollar.
The Company records transaction gains and losses in the statements of operations related to the recurring
measurement and settlement of such transactions.

(3) Long Term Debt

On September 14, 2011, the Company issued $400,000 aggregate principal amount of senior
unsecured notes with a coupon of 6.50% (the 6.50% Dollar-denominated Senior Notes) at an issue price of
98.623%. The 6.50% Dollar-denominated Senior Notes had a yield to maturity of 6.75% and are due
September 15, 2018. The Company may redeem the 6.50% Dollar-denominated Senior Notes at any time
at 100% of principal plus accrued interest and a premium calculated pursuant to the terms of the
applicable indenture. The holders of the 6.50% Dollar-denominated Senior Notes have a right to request
that the respective issuers of the notes repurchase the applicable issue of notes at 101% of principal plus
accrued interest upon the occurrence of a change of control of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA followed by a
decline in the rating of the respective notes. The 6.50% Dollar-denominated Senior Notes are guaranteed
on a senior basis jointly and severally by FMC-AG & Co. KGaA and by FMCH and Fresenius Medical
Care Deutschland GmbH. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the balance of 6.50% Dollar-denominated
Senior Notes was $396,297 and $395,511, respectively, net of an amortized discount of $3,703 and $4,489,
respectively.

On January 26, 2012, the Company issued $800,000 aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured
notes with a coupon of 5%% (the 5%% Senior Notes) at par and $700,000 aggregate principal amount of
senior unsecured notes with a coupon of 5%% (the 5%% Senior Notes) at par (together the 2012 Dollar-
denominated Senior Notes). The 5%% Senior Notes are due July 31, 2019 while the 574% Senior Notes are
due January 31, 2022. The Company may redeem the 2012 Dollar-denominated Senior Notes at any time
at 100% of principal plus accrued interest and a premium calculated pursuant to the terms of the
applicable indenture. The holders of the 2012 Dollar-denominated Senior Notes have a right to request
that the respective issuers of the notes repurchase the applicable issue of notes at 101% of principal plus
accrued interest upon the occurrence of a change of control of the Company followed by a decline in the
rating of the respective notes. The 2012 Dollar-denominated Senior Notes are guaranteed on a senior basis
jointly and severally by FMC-AG & Co. KGaA and by FMCH and Fresenius Medical Care
Deutschland GmbH.

(4) Receivables from Affiliates

On September 14, 2011, the Company entered into a loan agreement (the Loan) with FMCH in the
principal amount of $408,942, net of discount and fees, to be paid on September 15, 2018. The unpaid
principal amount shall bear interest at a rate of 7.00% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on;
(i) March 15 and September 15 of each year, commencing on March 15, 2012; (ii) upon maturity; or (iii) on
any prepayment or demand of the principal amount. Interest is computed on a 360-day year comprised of
twelve 30-day months. The obligations under the Loan may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time upon
payment of an additional amount sufficient to compensate the Company for all reasonable losses, expenses
and liabilities incurred as a result of such prepayment.

On September 14, 2011, the Company entered into an intercompany loan agreement (the
Intercompany Loan) with National Medical Care, Inc. (NMC), which allows the Company to loan all
excess cash to NMC, at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 1.125%. The Intercompany Loan shall be paid by
NMC no later than one business day after receipt of demand for payment not to exceed September 15,
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(In thousands)

2018. Accrued interest shall be due and payable quarterly in arrears on; (i) the first day of each interest
period commencing December 15, 2011; (ii) upon maturity; or (iii) any demand of the principal amount
and shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year, for the actual number of days elapsed (including the
first day and excluding the last day). The obligations under the Intercompany Loan may be prepaid in
whole or any part at any time without penalty or premium.

On January 26, 2012, the Company entered into an intercompany promissory note with the Parent
Company in the principal amount of €604,032, net of a discount of €4,564, to be paid on July 31, 2019. The
unpaid principal amount shall bear interest at a rate of 5.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears
on; (i) January 31 and July 31 of each year, commencing on July 31, 2012, (ii) upon maturity; or (iii) on any
demand of the principal amount. Interest is computed on a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day
months.

On January 26, 2012, the Company entered into an intercompany promissory note with the Parent
Company in the principal amount of €528,528, net of a discount of €3,994, to be paid on January 31, 2022.
The unpaid principal amount shall bear interest at a rate of 5.45% per annum, payable semi-annually in
arrears on; (i) January 31 and July 31 of each year, commencing on July 31, 2012, (ii) upon maturity; or
(iii) on any demand of the principal amount. Interest is computed on a 360-day year comprised of twelve
30-day months.

On January 26, 2012, the Company entered into an intercompany promissory note with Fresenius
Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH (FMC Beteiligungsgesellschaft) in the principal amount of
€79,878, to be paid on July 31, 2019. The unpaid principal amount shall bear interest at a rate of 5.25% per
annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on; (i) January 31 and July 31 of each year, commencing on
July 31, 2012, (ii) upon maturity; or (iii) on any demand of the principal amount. Interest is computed on a
360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, receivables from affiliates consist of the following:

2013 2012

FMCH at arate of 700% . . . . . ... e $ 408,942 408,942
National Medical Care, Inc. at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.125% . ............ 9,895 3,229
FMC-AG & Co. KGaA atarate of 5.25% .. .. ... .. ... 834,670 797,630
FMC-AG & Co. KGaA atarate of 545% .. ....... .. ... 730,336 697,926
FMC Beteiligungsgesellschaft at a rate of 5.25% . .................. ... 110,160 105,391
Accrued interest on notes receivables from affiliates . . .. ................ 45,802 44,177

Total ... $2,139,805 2,057,295

(5) Financial Instruments
(a) Nonderivative Financial Instruments

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s nonderivative
financial instruments at December 31, 2013 and 2012.

The carrying amounts in the table are included in the balance sheets under the indicated captions.

2013 2012
Fair value  Carrying Carrying
hierarchy amount Fair value amount Fair value
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . . . .............. 1 $ 1 1 19 19
Notes receivable from affiliates . ............ 2 2,094,003 2,139,082 2,013,118 2,041,069
Liabilities:
Long termdebt ........... ... ... ..... 2 $1,896,297 2,059,000 1,895,511 2,087,000
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(In thousands)

The significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of nonderivative financial
instruments are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value which equals the fair value.

Short term financial instruments such as interest receivables from affiliates, and accrued liabilities are
valued at their carrying amounts, which are reasonable estimates of the fair value due to the relatively
short period to maturity of these instruments.

The valuation of long term notes receivable are calculated at the present value of the respective future
cash flows. To determine the present values, the prevailing interest rates and credit spreads for the Parent
Company as of the balance sheet dates are used.

The fair value of long term debt financial liabilities are calculated on the basis of market information,
using market quotes.

(b) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to manage
the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations related to its intercompany promissory notes, the Company
has entered into three currency exchange agreements with FMCH with notional principal amounts of
$800,000, $700,000, and $105,000 U.S. dollars, respectively, and an equivalent Euro amount based on the
foreign exchange rate at the time the exchange agreements were entered into. The currency exchange
agreements require that at each periodic settlement date, FMCH is obligated to pay to the Company Euro
interest on the Euro equivalent of $800,000, $700,000, and $105,000 U.S. dollars, respectively. Conversely,
at the periodic settlement date, the Company is obligated to pay to FMCH, the interest on the $800,000,
$700,000, and $105,000 in U.S. dollars, respectively. Upon the respective maturity dates (July 2019, January
2022, and July 2019), FMCH is obligated to pay to the Company the Euro equivalent of each exchange
agreement converted at a spot rate and the Company will pay to FMCH the final settlement amount of
$800,000, $700,000, and $105,000 U.S. dollars, respectively (plus any outstanding interest payments).

The Company’s derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting but are utilized for economic purposes
(economic hedges). The Company does not use financial instruments for trading purposes. The Company
established guidelines for risk assessment procedures and controls for the use of financial instruments.
They include a clear segregation of duties with regard to the execution on one side and administration,
accounting, and controlling on the other.

For financial reporting purposes, the Company uses the U.S. dollar as its reporting currency. The
Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in foreign exchange rates relates to transactions such as
interest bearing loans made in Euros. For the purposes of hedging existing and foreseeable foreign
exchange transaction exposures, the Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts for
intercompany loans in foreign currency that do not qualify for hedge accounting but are utilized for
economic hedges as defined above. In these cases, the change in the value of the economic hedge is
recorded in the statement of operations and usually offsets the change in value recorded in the statements
of operations for the underlying asset or liability. The notional amounts of economic hedges that do not
qualify for hedge accounting totaled $2,260,001 and $2,352,031 at December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Derivative instruments are marked to market each reporting period resulting in carrying amounts
being equal to fair value at the reporting date. To determine the fair value of foreign exchange forward
contracts, the contracted forward rates are compared to the current forward rate for the remaining term of
the contract as of the balance sheet date. The result is then discounted on the basis of the market interest
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date for the applicable currency. The valuation of the Company’s
derivatives were determined using significant other observable inputs (Level 2) in accordance with the fair
value hierarchy levels established by U.S. GAAP.

The Company includes its own credit risk for financial instruments deemed liabilities and
counterparty-credit risks for financial instruments deemed assets when measuring the fair value of
derivative financial instruments.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(In thousands)

The Company recorded unrealized losses on derivatives of $127,199 and $34,753 in the statements of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
(6) Income Taxes

Income tax benefit attributable to losses from continuing operations for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 is as follows:

Year ended
December 31
2013 2012
Current tax expense:
Federal . . . ..o $(2,465) (2,240)
StatE . i e (115) (161)
Total current tax . ... ... ... (2,580) (2,401)
Deferred tax benefit:
Federal . . . ... 18,992 9,820
StaAtE . e 894 708
Total deferred tax. . . ... .. i 19,886 10,528
Total income tax benefit . .. ... ... ... ... $17,306 8,127

The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 differed from the
amount of income taxes determined by applying the applicable statutory federal income tax rate to pre-tax
earnings as a result of the following differences:

Year ended
December 31
205 200
Statutory federal income tax 1ate . . . . .. vttt 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit ... ... ... ... ... . .. ... ... ... ... .. L6 16
Effective tax rate . . . . . . .. i 36.6% 36.6%
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following:
Year ended
December 31
2013 2012
Unrealized losses on derivative inStruments. . . ... ...... .ottt .. $ 59,320 12,719
Unrealized foreign currency exchange gains . ............. ... ..., (28,906) (2,191)
Net deferred tax asSets . . . . . v vttt e e $ 30,414 10,528

The Company has not established any valuation allowances for deferred tax assets as of December 31,
2013 and 2012. It is the Company’s expectation that it is more likely than not that its deferred tax assets will
be realized, considering carrybacks permitted under the tax laws and its future taxable income.

The Company recognizes accounting for uncertain tax positions in accordance with Accounting
Standards Codification 740, Income Taxes (ASC 740), formerly Financial Accounting Standards Board
“FASB” Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109. ASC 740 prescribes a two step approach to the recognition and measurement of all tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The enterprise must determine whether it is more
likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related
appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. If the recognition threshold is
met, the tax position is measured at the largest amount of the benefit that is greater than 50% likely of
being realized upon settlement and is recognized in the financial statements. As of December 31, 2013, the
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(In thousands)

Company does not have any significant uncertain tax positions. Fiscal years 2011 through 2013 remain
subject to tax examinations.

(7) Related Party Transactions

As discussed in note 1, the Company and FMCH are affiliated entities. FMCH is primarily engaged in
(i) providing kidney dialysis services and clinical lab testing; (ii) manufacturing and distributing products
and equipment for kidney dialysis treatment; and (iii) providing other medical ancillary services in the
United States. FMCH provides certain support to the Company including human resource management,
benefit plan administration, accounting, treasury, payroll, tax services, and management oversight as
required and/or warranted. These services are not accounted for in the Company’s financial statements.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.
Financial Statements
Six Months Ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Balance Sheets
June 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands, except share and per-share data)

(unaudited)
2014 2013
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . .. ........ ... ... .. ... ... ... ....... $ 47 28
Short term derivative assets . .. .. ... .ottt 2,977 6,727
Interest receivables from affiliates .............................. 45,442 43,869
Total currents assetS . . . . oot i it e e 48,466 50,624
Notes receivable from affiliates .. ... ......... ... ... .. ... ... ...... 2,081,003 2,003,970
Long term derivative assets . . . . .. ..o vttt e 4,684 25,661
Deferred tax assets . . . . .ottt e 43,539 26,449
Deferred charges .. ... ... ... 11,457 13,593
Total SSELS . . v o vttt $2,189,149 2,120,297
Liabilities and Stockholder’s Equity
Current liabilities:
Accrued Habilities . . . . ..ot $ 42,207 40,639
Accrued INCOME tAXES . . v v v ottt e e e e 323 3,456
Deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . ... . e 1,079 2,462
Total current liabilities . . ... ... .. i i e 43,609 46,557
Long term derivative liabilities. . . .. ........ ... ... .. 186,637 84,007
Long term debt, net of discount ........... ... ... ... . ... . ... ... 1,896,691 1,895,904
Total liabilities . . . .. ... . e 2,126,937 2,026,468
Equity:
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 1,000 shares authorized,

100 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2014 and 2013 ......... — —
Additional paid-in capital . . . ... ... L 125,000 125,000
Accumulated deficit. . . ..... ... L (62,788) (31,171)

Total stockholder’s equity . .. ... ... ... . 62,212 93,829

Total liabilities and stockholder’s equity . . ... ....... ... ... .. ... ... $2,189,149 2,120,297

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Statements of Operations
For the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
2014 2013
Unrealized losses on derivative instruments . . ... ........................ $(17,024) (16,868)
Realized gains on derivative inStruments . .. ... .........c.iinneenneen .. 1,977 1,865
Foreign currency exchange losses . ............ ... .. ... .. ... (16,239) (13,919)
Net interest income from affiliates . ............ ... ... ... ... ....... 59,101 59,172
Interest expense to third parties . ........... .. ... . . L i ... (57,525) (57,524)
Loss before income taxes . ... ... ...ttt (29,710) (27,274)
Income tax benefit . . . . .. ... . e 10,758 9,983
NEt 0SS « o oot e e e e $(18,952) (17,291)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Statements of Stockholder’s Equity
For the Six Month ended June 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands, except share data)

Common stock Total

7 Additional Accumulated  stockholder’s

Shares Amount paid-in capital deficit equity
Balance as of December 31, 2012 ......... 100 $— 125,000 (13,880) 111,120
Netloss . ......o . — — — (17,291) (17,291)
Balance as of June 30,2013 ............. 100 $: 125,000 (31,171) 93,829
Balance as of December 31, 2013 ......... 100 — 125,000 (43,836) 81,164
Netloss . ......o . — — — (18,952) (18,952)
Balance as of June 30,2013 ............. 100 $— 125,000 (62,788) 62,212

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Statements of Cash Flows
For the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Nt L0SS . o vt
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash and deferred charges provided by
operating activities:
Amortization of deferred charges and discount on long term debt ........
Amortization of discount on notes receivable. . .. ........ ... ... ....
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments . .........................
Unrealized foreign currency exchange losses .. ......................
Deferred income tax benefit . . .. ... ... L L
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in accrued liabilities . .. ......... ... ...
Decrease in interest receivables from affiliates . . ... ................
(Decrease) increase in accrued income taxes . . .................. ..

Net cash provided by operating activities . ......................

Cash flows from investing activities:
Issuance of notes to affiliates, net of discount . ... .....................
Payments received on notes from affiliates . ......... ... ... ... .....

Net cash used in investing activities . .............. ... ........

Change in cash and cash equivalents . .........................
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . . . .....................

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period . ......... ... ... ... ......

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest . .. ... ...

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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2014 2013
$(18,952)  (17,291)
1,461 1,461
(663) (662)
17,024 16,868
16,239 13,919
(12,046)  (13,459)
(361) (309)
360 308
(439) 3,284
2,623 4,119
(4340)  (4,318)
1,763 208
(2,577)  (4,110)
46 9
1 19
$ 47 28
$56,063 56,063



FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)

(1) The Company

Fresenius Medical Care US Finance II, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the Company) is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, a German partnership limited by shares
(FMC-AG & Co. KGaA or the Parent Company). The Company was formed on August 22, 2011 to
primarily engage in effecting any lawful financing act or activity between the Parent Company and
Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. (FMCH) and any other acts related to or in furtherance thereof, for
which corporations may be organized and incorporated under the general corporation law of the state of
Delaware.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP). These financial statements reflect all adjustments that, in the
opinion of management, are necessary for the fair presentation of the results for the period presented.

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through October 9, 2014, which is the date these
financial statements were issued.
(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(¢) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash funds and all short-term, liquid investments with original
maturities of up to three months.
(d) Deferred Charges

Costs related to issuance of debt are amortized over the term of the related obligation.

(e) Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for future consequences attributable to
temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of the existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amount of the deferred tax
assets unless it is more likely than not that such assets will be realized.

(f) Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims assessments, litigation, fines, penalties and other
matters are recorded when it is probable that the liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability
can be reasonably estimated. The Company is currently not a party to any such claims or proceedings.

(g) Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable from
affiliates, long term borrowings, derivatives and accrued liabilities.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)

(h) Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments for foreign currency forward contracts are recognized as assets or
liabilities at fair value in the balance sheets (see note 5). The Company’s derivatives do not quality for
hedge accounting, and therefore the changes in fair value are recorded in the statements of operations and
offset the changes in value recorded in the statements of operations for the underlying asset or liability.

(i) Foreign Currency Transaction Gains and Losses

The Company has transactions in foreign currencies other than its functional currency, the U.S. dollar.
The Company records transaction gains and losses in the statements of operations related to the recurring
measurement and settlement of such transactions.

(3) Long Term Debt

On September 14, 2011, the Company issued $400,000 aggregate principal amount of senior
unsecured notes with a coupon of 6.50% (the 6.50% Dollar-denominated Senior Notes) at an issue price of
98.623%. The 6.50% Dollar-denominated Senior Notes had a yield to maturity of 6.75% and are due
September 15, 2018. The Company may redeem the 6.50% Dollar-denominated Senior Notes at any time
at 100% of principal plus accrued interest and a premium calculated pursuant to the terms of the
applicable indenture. The holders of the 6.50% Dollar-denominated Senior Notes have a right to request
that the respective issuers of the notes repurchase the applicable issue of notes at 101% of principal plus
accrued interest upon the occurrence of a change of control of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA followed by a
decline in the rating of the respective notes. The 6.50% Dollar-denominated Senior Notes are guaranteed
on a senior basis jointly and severally by FMC-AG & Co. KGaA and by FMCH and Fresenius Medical
Care Deutschland GmbH. At June 30, 2014 and 2013, the balance of 6.50% Dollar-denominated Senior
Notes was $396,691 and $395,904, respectively, net of an amortized discount of $3,310 and $4,096,
respectively.

On January 26, 2012, the Company issued $800,000 aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured
notes with a coupon of 5%% (the 5%% Senior Notes) at par and $700,000 aggregate principal amount of
senior unsecured notes with a coupon of 5%% (the 5%% Senior Notes) at par (together the 2012 Dollar-
denominated Senior Notes). The 5%% Senior Notes are due July 31, 2019 while the 574% Senior Notes are
due January 31, 2022. The Company may redeem the 2012 Dollar-denominated Senior Notes at any time
at 100% of principal plus accrued interest and a premium calculated pursuant to the terms of the
applicable indenture. The holders of the 2012 Dollar-denominated Senior Notes have a right to request
that the respective issuers of the notes repurchase the applicable issue of notes at 101% of principal plus
accrued interest upon the occurrence of a change of control of the Company followed by a decline in the
rating of the respective notes. The 2012 Dollar-denominated Senior Notes are guaranteed on a senior basis
jointly and severally by FMC-AG & Co. KGaA and by FMCH and Fresenius Medical Care
Deutschland GmbH.

(4) Receivables from Affiliates

On September 14, 2011, the Company entered into a loan agreement (the Loan) with FMCH in the
principal amount of $408,942, net of discount and fees, to be paid on September 15, 2018. The unpaid
principal amount shall bear interest at a rate of 7.00% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on;
(i) March 15 and September 15 of each year, commencing on March 15, 2012; (ii) upon maturity; or (iii) on
any prepayment or demand of the principal amount. Interest is computed on a 360-day year comprised of
twelve 30-day months. The obligations under the Loan may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time upon
payment of an additional amount sufficient to compensate the Company for all reasonable losses, expenses
and liabilities incurred as a result of such prepayment.

On September 14, 2011, the Company entered into an intercompany loan agreement (the
Intercompany Loan) with National Medical Care, Inc. (NMC), which allows the Company to loan all
excess cash to NMC, at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 1.125%. The Intercompany Loan shall be paid by
NMC no later than one business day after receipt of demand for payment not to exceed September 15,
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)

2018. Accrued interest shall be due and payable quarterly in arrears on; (i) the first day of each interest
period commencing December 15, 2011; (ii) upon maturity; or (iii) any demand of the principal amount
and shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year, for the actual number of days elapsed (including the
first day and excluding the last day). The obligations under the Intercompany Loan may be prepaid in
whole or any part at any time without penalty or premium.

On January 26, 2012, the Company entered into an intercompany promissory note with the Parent
Company in the principal amount of €604,032, net of a discount of €4,564, to be paid on July 31, 2019. The
unpaid principal amount shall bear interest at a rate of 5.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears
on; (i) January 31 and July 31 of each year, commencing on July 31, 2012, (ii) upon maturity; or (iii) on any
demand of the principal amount. Interest is computed on a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day
months.

On January 26, 2012, the Company entered into an intercompany promissory note with the Parent
Company in the principal amount of €528,528, net of a discount of €3,994, to be paid on January 31, 2022.
The unpaid principal amount shall bear interest at a rate of 5.45% per annum, payable semi-annually in
arrears on; (i) January 31 and July 31 of each year, commencing on July 31, 2012, (ii) upon maturity; or
(iii) on any demand of the principal amount. Interest is computed on a 360-day year comprised of twelve
30-day months.

On January 26, 2012, the Company entered into an intercompany promissory note with Fresenius
Medical Care Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH (FMC Beteiligungsgesellschaft) in the principal amount of
€79,878, to be paid on July 31, 2019. The unpaid principal amount shall bear interest at a rate of 5.25% per
annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on; (i) January 31 and July 31 of each year, commencing on
July 31, 2012, (ii) upon maturity; or (iii) on any demand of the principal amount. Interest is computed on a
360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months.

Receivables from affiliates consist of the following as of June 30:

2014 2013

FMCH at arate of 700% . . . . . ... e $ 408,942 408,942
National Medical Care, Inc. at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.125% . ............ 12,472 7,337
FMC-AG & Co. KGaA atarate of 5.25% .. .. ... .. ... 826,929 791,101
FMC-AG & Co. KGaA atarate of 545% .. ....... .. ... 723,562 692,109
FMC Beteiligungsgesellschaft at a rate of 5.25% . .................. ... 109,098 104,481
Accrued interest on notes receivables from affiliates . . .. ................ 45,442 43,869

Total ... $2,126,445 2,047,839

(5) Financial Instruments
(a) Nonderivative Financial Instruments

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s nonderivative
financial instruments at June 30, 2014 and 2013.

The carrying amounts in the table are included in the balance sheets under the indicated captions.

2014 2013
Fair value Carrying Carrying
hierarchy amount Fair value amount Fair value
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents. . .. ........ 1 $ 47 47 28 28
Notes receivable from affiliates . ... .. .. 2 2,081,003 2,110,705 2,003,970 2,031,906
Liabilities:
Long termdebt ................... 2 $1,896,690 2,096,500 1,895,904 1,920,361
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)

The significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of nonderivative financial
instruments are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value which equals the fair value.

Short term financial instruments such as interest receivables from affiliates, and accrued liabilities are
valued at their carrying amounts, which are reasonable estimates of the fair value due to the relatively
short period to maturity of these instruments.

The valuation of long term notes receivable are calculated at the present value of the respective future
cash flows. To determine the present values, the prevailing interest rates and credit spreads for the Parent
Company as of the balance sheet dates are used.

The fair value of long term debt financial liabilities are calculated on the basis of market information,
using market quotes.

(b) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to manage
the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations related to its intercompany promissory notes, the Company
has entered into three currency exchange agreements with FMCH with notional principal amounts of
$800,000, $700,000, and $105,000 U.S. dollars, respectively, and an equivalent Euro amount based on the
foreign exchange rate at the time the exchange agreements were entered into. The currency exchange
agreements require that at each periodic settlement date, FMCH is obligated to pay to the Company Euro
interest on the Euro equivalent of $800,000, $700,000, and $105,000 U.S. dollars, respectively. Conversely,
at the periodic settlement date, the Company is obligated to pay to FMCH, the interest on the $800,000,
$700,000, and $105,000 in U.S. dollars, respectively. Upon the respective maturity dates (July 2019, January
2022, and July 2019), FMCH is obligated to pay to the Company the Euro equivalent of each exchange
agreement converted at a spot rate and the Company will pay to FMCH the final settlement amount of
$800,000, $700,000, and $105,000 U.S. dollars, respectively (plus any outstanding interest payments).

The Company’s derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting but are utilized for economic purposes
(economic hedges). The Company does not use financial instruments for trading purposes. The Company
established guidelines for risk assessment procedures and controls for the use of financial instruments.
They include a clear segregation of duties with regard to the execution on one side and administration,
accounting, and controlling on the other.

For financial reporting purposes, the Company uses the U.S. dollar as its reporting currency. The
Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in foreign exchange rates relates to transactions such as
interest bearing loans made in Euros. For the purposes of hedging existing and foreseeable foreign
exchange transaction exposures, the Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts for
intercompany loans in foreign currency that do not qualify for hedge accounting but are utilized for
economic hedges as defined above. In these cases, the change in the value of the economic hedge is
recorded in the statement of operations and usually offsets the change in value recorded in the statements
of operations for the underlying asset or liability. The notional amounts of economic hedges that do not
qualify for hedge accounting totaled $2,213,984 and $2,306,016 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Derivative instruments are marked to market each reporting period resulting in carrying amounts
being equal to fair value at the reporting date. To determine the fair value of foreign exchange forward
contracts, the contracted forward rates are compared to the current forward rate for the remaining term of
the contract as of the balance sheet date. The result is then discounted on the basis of the market interest
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date for the applicable currency. The valuation of the Company’s
derivatives were determined using significant other observable inputs (Level 2) in accordance with the fair
value hierarchy levels established by U.S. GAAP.

The Company includes its own credit risk for financial instruments deemed liabilities and
counterparty-credit risks for financial instruments deemed assets when measuring the fair value of
derivative financial instruments.

F-21



FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE US FINANCE II, INC.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)

The Company recorded unrealized losses on derivatives of $17,024 and $16,868 in the statements of
operations for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

(6) Related Party Transactions

As discussed in note 1, the Company and FMCH are affiliated entities. FMCH is primarily engaged in
(i) providing kidney dialysis services and clinical lab testing; (ii) manufacturing and distributing products
and equipment for kidney dialysis treatment; and (iii) providing other medical ancillary services in the
United States. FMCH provides certain support to the Company including human resource management,
benefit plan administration, accounting, treasury, payroll, tax services, and management oversight as
required and/or warranted. These services are not accounted for in the Company’s financial statements.

(7) Subsequent Events

On July 1, 2014 FMCH increased the 2012 Credit Agreement by establishing an incremental term
loan tranche of $600,000 (“Term Loan A-2”) to finance an investment in the U.S. into Sound Inpatient
Physicians, Inc., which closed in July of 2014, and for general corporate purposes. The Company is a
guarantor of FMCH for its 2012 Credit Agreement.
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